
TRAVERSE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
TUESDAY, November 1, 2016 

7:30 P.M. 
Commission Chambers 

Governmental Center, 2nd Floor 
400 Boardman Avenue 

Traverse City, Michigan 49684 
 

Posted: 10/28/16 
 

AGENDA 
 

The City of Traverse City does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to or 
treatment or employment in, its programs or activities. Penny Hill, Assistant City Manager, 400 
Boardman Avenue, Traverse City, Michigan 49684, 922-4440, T.D.D., 922-4766, has been designated to 
coordinate compliance with the non-discrimination requirements. If you are planning to attend and you 
have a disability requiring any special assistance at the meeting and/or if you have any concerns, please 
immediately notify the ADA Coordinator. 
 
Planning Commission 
c/o Russell Soyring, Planning Director 
400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City, MI 49684 
231-922-4778 
 
1.  CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
 
2.  ROLL CALL   
 
3.       ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping non-controversial 
items together to be dealt with by one Commission motion without discussion. Any 
member of the Commission, staff or the public may ask that any item on the consent 
calendar be removed therefrom and be placed elsewhere on the agenda for full discussion. 
Such requests will be automatically respected. If an item is not removed from the consent 
calendar, the action noted in parentheses on the agenda is approved by a single 
Commission action adopting the consent calendar. 
 
A. October 4, 2016 Regular Meeting minutes and October 18, 2016  

Study Session minutes (Approval recommended) 
B. Consideration of an Amendment to the Planning Commission Bylaws Revised 

September 28, 2016 to change the Planning Commission meeting start time from 
7:30 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. (Approval recommended) 



Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 2 
 
 

 
5. OLD BUSINESS 

A. Public Hearing to consider an amendment to the Traverse City Code of Ordinances 
Development (D-1, D-2, D-3) District, Section 1347.01 Uses Allowed regarding 
allowing manufacturing or processing of various products (Action requested) 

B. Public Hearing to consider a Special Land Use Permit (16-SLUP-02) request by Grand 
Traverse Area Catholic Schools to allow for a school at 218 Vine Street (currently 
known as 215 N. Division Street) (Action requested) 

C. Consideration of requests by Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools for Site Plan 
Review  (16-SPR-04) for a school and Master Site and Facilities Plan approval for the 
Immaculate Conception Campus located at 218 Vine Street (currently known as 215 
N. Division Street) (Action requested) 

D. Consideration a conditional rezoning request initiated by Thomas Darga of 
DargaWorks, Inc. to rezone properties commonly known as 205 and 211 Union 
Street and 205 Garland Street from C-4a (Regional Center District) to C-4b (Regional 
Center District) with conditions (Action requested) 
 

6. NEW BUSINESS 
A. Letter from Kim Pontius of Traverse Area Association of Realtors regarding 833 Fern 

Street (Discussion) 
B. Consideration of an amendment to the Traverse City Code of Ordinances Chapter 

868 Tourist Homes and Section 1332.01 Single Family Dwelling (R-1a, R-1b) District 
Uses Allowed regarding changing the conditions allowing tourist homes. (For 
introduction and possibly scheduling a Public Hearing for December 6, 2016) 
 

7. CORRESPONDENCE   
A. Community Development Update from Jean Derenzy of Grand Traverse County 

Planning and Development Department 
 

8. REPORTS 
A. City Commission - Commissioners Richardson and Howe 
B. Board of Zoning Appeals – Commissioner Koebert 
C. Grand Traverse Commons Joint Planning Commission - Commissioners Serratelli and Grant 
D. Arts Commission- Koebert 
E. Planning Commission 

1. Master Plan Review Committee—Commissioner Dow 
2. Parking Regulation Committee- Commissioner Serratelli 
3. Traffic Calming Review Committee- Commissioner Weatherholt 

F. Planning Department—Mr. Soyring 
1. Public Engagement Plan Committee- Commissioners Dow, Koebert and 

Fleshman 
2. Community Development/Economic Development- Mr. Soyring 
3. Capital Improvement Program- Mrs. Luick 
 



Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 3 
 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 



 
MINUTES 

TRAVERSE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting 

 
Tuesday, October 4, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
Commission Chambers 

Governmental Center, 2nd Floor 
400 Boardman Avenue 

Traverse City, Michigan 49684 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER Chairperson Serratelli called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2.  ROLL CALL- Mrs. Luick called roll for the Planning Commission. 
 

PRESENT: Commissioners Michael Dow, Janet Fleshman, Michael Grant, Gary Howe, Vice-
Chairperson Linda Koebert, Ross Richardson, Chairperson John Serratelli, Jim 
Tuller, and Camille Weatherholt 

ABSENT: None. 
STAFF: Russ Soyring, Planning Director; Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering Assistant 
 

3. ANNOUNCEMENTS- Mr. Soyring announced that two public presentations by Joe Minicozzi 
regarding an analysis of our tax base will be held at 7:00 p.m. on October 10 at the State 
Theater and at 7:00 p.m. on October 11 at Lars Hockstad Auditorium. 
 
Chairperson Serratelli thanked the Planning Department staff for their work related to 
tonight’s large packet. 

 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping non-controversial 
items together to be dealt with by one Commission motion without discussion. Any 
member of the Commission, staff or the public may ask that any item on the consent 
calendar be removed therefrom and be placed elsewhere on the agenda for full discussion. 
Such requests will be automatically respected. If an item is not removed from the consent 
calendar, the action noted in parentheses on the agenda is approved by a single 
Commission action adopting the consent calendar. 
 
A. September 7, 2016 Regular Meeting minutes, September 20, 2016 Special Meeting 

minutes and September 26, 2016 Joint Study Session with the City Commission 
Meeting minutes (Approval recommended) 

B. Removed from the Consent Calendar 
C. Consideration of an Amendment to the Planning Commission Bylaws Revised 

September 28, 2016 to change the Planning Commission meeting start time from 
7:30 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. (For introduction and possible action on November 1, 2016) 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 2             
 
 

Commissioner Richardson asked that Item B be removed from the Consent 
Calendar. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Richardson, second by Commissioner Koebert, that the 
Consent Calendar be adopted as amended. 
 
Motion carried 8-0 (Commissioner Grant absent.) 
 

ITEM(S) REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT CALENDAR 
• Grand Traverse County Awards Nominations (Approval recommended) 

 
Motion by Commissioner Richardson, second by Commissioner Howe, that the 
Planning Commission nominate Tim Lodge, City Engineer and Nate Elkins, Influence 
Design Forum for a Certificate of Appreciation award for outstanding work on the 
Pine Street Pedestrian Bridge; and nominate Pine Street Pedestrian Bridge and 
Garland Street projects for  Placemaking Awards; and finally, that the Planning 
Commission nominate Jan Warren for the Frank Purvis Stewardship Award to the 
Grand Traverse County Chapter of Michigan Townships Association and the Grand 
Traverse County Planning Department for their Annual Awards Banquet. 
 
Motion carried 8-0 (Commissioner Grant absent.) 
 
Motion by Commissioner Howe that the Planning Commission nominates Hotel 
Indigo as an Outstanding Development Project to the Grand Traverse County 
Chapter of Michigan Townships Association and the Grand Traverse County 
Planning Department for their Annual Awards Banquet. 
 
Motion failed due to lack of second. 

 
5. APPOINTMENTS 

A. Planning Commission appointment to Grand Traverse Commons Joint Planning 
Commission (Action requested) 
 
Motion by Commissioner Howe, second by Commissioner Dow to nominate 
Commissioner Mike Grant to the Grand Traverse Commons Joint Planning 
Commission. 
 
Motion carried 8-0 (Commissioner Grant absent). 
 

B. Planning Commission appointment to Arts Commission (Action requested) 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 3             
 
 

Motion by Commissioner Howe, second by Commissioner Dow to nominate 
Commissioner Jim Tuller to the Arts Commission. 
 
Motion failed 2-6 (Commissioners Dow, Fleshman, Koebert, Richardson, Tuller and 
Weatherholt opposed, Commissioner Grant absent). 

 
Motion by Commissioner Weatherholt, second by Commissioner Richardson to 
nominate Commissioner Linda Koebert to the Arts Commission. 
 
Motion carried 8-0 (Commissioner Grant absent). 

 
6. CORRESPONDENCE   

A. Community Development report from Jean Derenzy 
 

Commissioner Grant arrived at 7:10 p.m. 
 

7. REPORTS 
A. City Commission - Commissioners Richardson and Howe reported. 
B. Board of Zoning Appeals – No report. 
C. Grand Traverse Commons Joint Planning Commission - Commissioner Serratelli reported. 
D. Arts Commission- Commissioner Serratelli reported. 
E. Planning Commission 

1. Master Plan Review Committee—Commissioner Dow reported. 
2. Parking Regulation Committee- Commissioner Serratelli reported. 
3. Traffic Calming Review Committee- Commissioner Weatherholt reported. 

F. Planning Department—None. 
1. Public Engagement Plan Committee- No report. 
2. Community Development/Economic Development- No report. 
3. Capital Improvement Program- No report. 
 

8. OLD BUSINESS 
A. Consideration of an amendment to the Traverse City Code of Ordinances 

Development (D-1, D-2, D-3) District, Section 1347.01 Uses Allowed regarding 
allowing manufacturing or processing of various products.  (For introduction and 
possibly scheduling a Public Hearing for November 1, 2016) 
 
Mr. Soyring summarized his September 28, 2016 memo to the commission 
regarding adding additional manufacturing/processing uses to the Development 
District with a limitation of 10,000 square feet in size for such use. 
 
Commission discussion.  



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 4             
 
 

 
Motion by Commissioner Howe, second by Commissioner Weatherholt, that a 
Public Hearing be scheduled for November 1, 2016 to consider an amendment to 
the Traverse City Code of Ordinances, Development Districts (D-1, D-2, D-3), Section 
1347.01 Uses Allowed, regarding allowing manufacturing or processing of various 
products.   
 
Motion carried 9-0. 
 
At 7:20 p.m., the meeting went into recess because the following agenda items 
could not be discussed prior to 7:30 p.m. due to the published public hearing 
notices. 
 
The meeting reconvened at 7:30 p.m. 

 
B. Public Hearing to consider an amendment to the Traverse City Code of Ordinances 

Section 1332.01 Single Family Dwelling (R-1a, R-1b) District Uses Allowed regarding 
changing the conditions allowing accessory dwelling units in the single-family 
dwelling districts. (Action requested) 
 
Mrs. Luick summarized the September 29, 2016 communication to the Planning 
Commission on the topic. Staff conducted research, reviewed each permitted 
accessory dwelling unit (ADU) as part of the annual administrative review, sent 
surveys to those who live near the 9 completed accessory dwelling units and 
provided articles on the subject for consideration. After reviewing the information 
gathered, it is staff’s recommendation to not proceed with an amendment to the 
ADU ordinance at this time. 
 
Commission discussion.  
 
A Public Hearing was opened. The following individuals addressed the commission: 

• Brian Haas, 227 E. 10th Street 
• Kathy Delaney-Borox, 214 W. 11th Street 
• Jan Clelland, 211 W. 12th Street 
• Linda Ludke, 750 Pine Street 
• Tom Krause, city business owner 

 
The Public Hearing was closed. 

 
Commission discussion.  
 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 5             
 
 

Motion by Commissioner Howe, second by Commissioner Grant, that an 
amendment to the Traverse City Code of Ordinances, Single Family Dwelling 
Districts (R-1a and R-1b), Section 1332.01 Uses Allowed, regarding changing the 
conditions allowing accessory dwelling units be recommended for approval to the 
City Commission.   
 
Motion failed 3-6 (Commissioners Dow, Fleshman, Richardson, Serratelli, Tuller and 
Weatherholt opposed.) 
 
Commission discussion included that a committee should possibly be established to 
review the ordinance and possibly recommend an amendment to the current 
ordinance. 
 

C. Public Hearing to consider a Special Land Use Permit (16-SLUP-01) request by 
Munson Medical Center to allow for a taller building at 1105 Sixth Street (Action 
requested) 
 
Commissioner Weatherholt recused herself from agenda items 8C-8F due to an 
appearance of a conflict as she is employed by Munson Medical Center. 
Commissioner Weatherholt left the meeting at 8:19 p.m. 
 
Mr. Soyring summarized the information provided in the Communication to the 
Planning Commission dated September 30, 2016. Staff reviewed the submission and 
finds it to be in conformance with the requirements provided two (2) conditions are met 
as detailed in the attached Staff Report 16-SLUP-01.  

The following individuals presented to the Commission: 
 
Steve Tongue, Vice President of Facilities 
Chris DeGood, AECOM  
 
Commission discussion. 
 
A Public Hearing was opened. The following individuals addressed the commission: 

• Brenda Quick, 542 Fifth Street 
 

The Public Hearing was closed. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Koebert, second by Commissioner Richardson, that 
the request from Steve Tongue, Vice President of Facilities at Munson Medical 
Center for a Special Land Use Permit for a “Taller building” at 1105 Sixth Street 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 6             
 
 

be recommended for approval with  conditions as outlined in Staff Report 
16-SLUP-01 to the City Commission. 
 
Motion carried 7-1 (Commissioner Grant opposed, Commissioner 
Weatherholt recused.) 
 

D. Consideration of a Site Plan Review  (16-SPR-02) request by Munson Medical Center 
for a family birth and children’s center medical building located at 1105 Sixth Street 
(Action requested) 

 
Mr. Soyring stated that Staff reviewed the site plan and finds it to be in 
conformance with the requirements provided seven (7) conditions are met as 
detailed in the attached Staff Report 16-SPR-02. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Richardson, second by Commissioner Koebert, that the 
request by Steve Tongue, Vice President of Facilities at Munson Medical Center for Site 
Plan Review 16-SPR-02 for development of a family birth and children’s center, 
surgery addition and parking deck located at 1105 Sixth Street be approved with 7 
conditions as outlined in Site Plan Review Staff Report 16-SPR-02. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 
Motion carried 8-0 (Commissioner Weatherholt recused.) 
 

E. Public Hearing to consider a street vacation request by Munson Medical Center to 
vacate the 1100 block of Sixth Street and the opening of a new street approximately 
200 feet north of this block (Action requested) 
 
A Public Hearing was opened. The following individuals addressed the commission: 

• Ellen Boyer, 722 Sixth Street 
 

The Public Hearing was closed. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Koebert, second by Commissioner Richardson, that the 
request by Steve Tongue, Vice President of Facilities at Munson Medical Center to vacate 
the 1100 Block of Sixth Street as requested by the applicant in their submittal provided any 
and all utility easements and associated costs with the relocation of the utilities and the street 
are borne by the applicant be hereby approved by the Planning Commission and such 
recommendation be forwarded to the City Commission for their consideration. 
  
Motion carried 8-0 (Commissioner Weatherholt recused.) 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 7             
 
 

Commissioner Weatherholt rejoined the meeting at 9:16 p.m. 
 

F. Public Hearing to consider a conditional rezoning request initiated by Thomas Darga 
of DargaWorks, Inc. to rezone properties commonly known as 205 and 211 Union 
Street and 205 Garland Street from C-4a (Regional Center District) to C-4b (Regional 
Center District) with conditions (Action requested) 
 
Mr. Soyring summarized the information provided in the communication to the 
Planning Commission dated September 30, 2016. Staff concluded that the current 
zoning is adequate and did not recommend the conditional rezoning request be 
denied. 
 
The following individuals presented to the Commission: 
 
Nick Darga, DargaWorks, Inc. 
Thom Darga, DargaWorks, Inc. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 
A Public Hearing was opened. The following individuals addressed the commission: 

• Rick Buckhalter, 932 Kelley Street 
• Kent Nordine, 1331 S. Martin Lane, Empire 
• Todd Okerstrom, 808 Westminster Road 
• Jay Wheeler, 101 N. Park Street 
• Rob Bacigalupi, DDA Executive Director 
• Scott Hardy, 520 Washington Street 
• Chuck Judson, downtown business owner 
• Pete Kirkwood, 861 Washington 
• Ellen Fivenson, 717 Bloomfield 
• Patty Mercer, city property owner 

 
The Public Hearing was closed. 
 
Commission discussion.  
 
Motion by Commissioner Richardson, second by Commissioner Weatherholt to 
defer taking action on the request until the November 1, 2016 Planning Commission 
meeting.  
 
Motion carried 9-0. 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 8             
 
 

 
9. NEW BUSINESS 

 
Chairperson Serratelli informed the Commission that per the Planning Commission bylaws, 
no new items requiring action shall be taken after 10:00 p.m. unless otherwise determined 
by a majority of the Commission present.  
 
Motion by Commissioner Richardson, second by Commissioner Dow to continue the 
meeting.  
 
Motion carried 8-1 (Commissioner Howe opposed.) 
 
A five minute recess was held. 
 
The meeting reconvened at 10:44 p.m. 
 
A. Consideration of a Site Plan Review (16-SPR-03) request by Theodore R. Johnson of 

TJ Design Strategies, Ltd, on behalf of Costco Wholesale for a wholesale store and 
fuel station located at 125 E. South Airport Road (Action requested) 
 
Mr. Soyring summarized the communication to the Planning Commission dated 
September 30, 2016. Staff reviewed the site plan and finds it to be in conformance with 
the requirements provided nine (9) conditions are met as detailed in the attached Staff 
Report 16-SPR-03.  

The following individuals presented to the Commission: 
 
Ted Johnson, TJ Design Stratigies, presented on behalf of Costco Wholesale 
Karrie Zeits, presented on behalf of the Airport Commission 
 
Commission discussion.  

Motion by Commissioner Howe, second by Commissioner Weatherholt, that the 
request from Theodore R. Johnson, TJ Design Strategies, Ltd. on behalf of Costco 
Wholesale for Site Plan Review 16-SPR-03 for development of a wholesale store and fuel 
station located at 125 E. South Airport Road be approved with 9 conditions as outlined 
in Site Plan Review Staff Report 16-SPR-03 with consideration of the meeting findings 
held on October 3, 2016 with Airport Director, TART Trails Director, GT County Road 
Commission staff and East Bay Township planning staff regarding additional 
considerations for a 10 foot-wide multi-use path, sidewalk connections and pedestrian 
crossing. 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 4, 2016 
Page 9             
 
 

Motion carried 9-0. 
 
10. PUBLIC COMMENT- none. 
 
11. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Chairperson Serratelli adjourned the meeting at 11:18 p.m. 
 

      Respectfully submitted, 
 
Date: __________________________  ___________________________________ 

      Janet Fleshman, Secretary  



 
MINUTES 

TRAVERSE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
Study Session 

 
TUESDAY, October 18, 2016 

7:30 P.M. 
Commission Chambers 

Governmental Center, 2nd Floor 
400 Boardman Avenue 

Traverse City, Michigan 49684 
 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER- Chairperson Serratelli called the meeting to order at 7:30 

p.m. 
 
2. ROLL CALL   

Mrs. Luick called roll for the Planning Commission. 
 

PRESENT: Commissioners Michael Dow, Janet Fleshman, Mike Grant, Gary Howe, Vice-
Chairperson Linda Koebert, Ross Richardson (arrived at 7:31 p.m.), 
Chairperson John Serratelli, Jim Tuller and Camille Weatherholt 

ABSENT: None. 
STAFF: Russ Soyring, Planning Director; Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering 

Assistant 
 

3. KIDS CREEK PROJECT, LOW IMPACT DESIGN AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
PRESENTATION, The Watershed Center (Discussion) 
 
Commissioner Richardson arrived at 7:31 p.m. 
 
Sarah U’Ren, The Watershed Center, presented. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 

4. TREE CANOPY GRANT, The Watershed Center (Discussion) 
 

Christine Crissman, The Watershed Center, addressed the Commission. 
 
Commission discussion. 

 
5. NATURAL FEATURES OVERVIEW, Tim Lodge, Russ Soyring (Discussion) 

 
Mr. Soyring and Mr. Lodge addressed the Commission. 
 
Commission discussion. 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
STUDY SESSION MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 18, 2016 
Page 2              
 

 
6. SAW GRANT OVERVIEW, Tim Lodge (Discussion) 

 
Mr. Lodge addressed the Commission. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 

7. OVERVIEW OF CHAPTER 1068 GROUND-WATER PROTECTION AND STORM-WATER 
RUNOFF CONTROL ORDINANCE AND ITS GUIDELINES, Tim Lodge (Discussion) 
 
Mr. Lodge addressed the Commission. 
 
Commission discussion. 
 

8. IMPERVIOUS SURFACE LIMITS (SECTION 1368.03), Russ Soyring (Discussion) 
 

Mr. Soyring addressed the Commission. 
 
Commission discussion. 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
Mr. Soyring commented that there are informational mailers regarding the 2016 Grand 
Traverse County Road Millage ballot proposal available at the Governmental Center. 

 
10. ADJOURNMENT-Meeting was adjourned at 9:52 p.m. 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Date: __________________________  ___________________________________ 

      Janet Fleshman, Secretary  



PLANNING COMMISSION BYLAWS 
TRAVERSE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
(Adopted December 13, 1988) 
(Revised December 6, 1994) 

(Revised August 9, 1995) 
(Revised January 19, 2000) 
(Revised August 23, 2000) 

(Revised June 6, 2007) 
(Revised May 7, 2008) 

(Revised January 7, 2009) 
(Revised September 9, 2009) 
(Revised November 1, 2011) 

(Revised November 25, 2013) 
(Revised February 21, 2014) 
(Revised October 22, 2014) 

(Revised September 28, 2016) 
 
PURPOSE:  
These Planning Commission Bylaws are adopted pursuant to the Traverse City Code to acquaint the 
people of Traverse City and persons appearing before the Commission with the operation of the 
Commission so that matters coming before this body can be handled in an understanding, prompt and 
efficient manner. 
 
I. AUTHORITY AND JURISDICTION: 

The City Planning Commission derives its authority from the City Charter Section 160, which 
states The City Commission shall by ordinance establish and maintain a City Planning 
Commission having the powers and duties prescribed by State law; and the Traverse City 
Code (Chapter 1220).  That these laws state that the City Planning Commission shall have the 
powers and duties authorized and directed by the City Charter, the Michigan Zoning Enabling 
Act of P.A. 12 of 2008 as amended, and the Michigan Planning Enabling Act of P.A. 33 of 
2008 as amended. This section also provides for establishing the membership of the 
Commission, the meetings of the Commission and grants the authority to the Commission to 
adopt rules and procedures for the conduct of their business. 

 
II. OFFICERS: 

A. A Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson and Secretary shall be elected by majority vote of 
the members of the Commission every year at the first regular meeting in the month of 
January. 

 
Such other officers as are deemed necessary and advisable for the conduct of business 
shall be appointed as required and provided for by the Commission. 

 



 
 

B. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings and shall appoint such committees as 
may be authorized by the Commission, and be an ex-officio member of such 
committees. 

 
The Chairperson, subject to these rules, shall decide all points of order or procedure, 
subject to appeal by a member of the Commission, which shall be determined by a 
majority of the members of the Commission present.  In the event an appeal is taken 
by any member from the ruling of the presiding officer, the Commissioner desiring to 
appeal shall state that a claim of appeal is being taken and shall state briefly what in 
that Commissioner’s opinion the ruling should have been.  If this appeal is seconded, 
the recording secretary shall state clearly the question at issue, and then shall call for 
the vote of the Commission on the question: “Shall the decision of the presiding 
officer be sustained?”  Such decision shall be final and shall be binding on the 
presiding officer.  
 

C. The Vice-Chairperson shall preside and exercise all of the duties of the Chairperson in 
his or her absence.  Should neither the Chairperson, nor the Vice-Chairperson be 
present at a meeting, a temporary Chairperson shall be elected by a majority of the 
members present. 

 
D. The Secretary shall record the meeting minutes. 

 
E. In the event that an officer shall leave the Commission before the expiration of his or 

her term, an individual shall be appointed to the vacancy in the same manner for 
Planning Commission appointments as defined by City ordinance 

 
III. MEETINGS: 

A. All Commission meetings shall be open to the public. 
 

B. The regular meetings of the Commission shall be held on the first Tuesday of each 
month, except when such Tuesday falls on a legal holiday or conflicts with the City 
Commission meeting schedule. 

 
C. A special meeting of the Commission may be called by the Planning Director, 

Chairperson, the Vice-Chairperson in the event the Chairperson is out of town, or any 
three members of the Commission.  Each member of the Commission must receive at 
least eighteen (18) hours notice as to the time, place and purpose of the meeting in 
writing, delivered or served personally at his or her usual place of residence, except 
that the announcement of a special meeting at a time at which all members are present 
shall be sufficient notice of such meeting.  In the event a request to call a Special 
Meeting is initiated by a member of the Commission other than the Chairperson, or 
Vice-Chairperson in the event the Chairperson is out of town, the initiating 
Commissioner shall submit a written request to the Planning Director requesting the 
Special Meeting.  The request shall contain the item(s) to be considered.  The Planning 
Director shall then forward the request within two business days to the Commission 
and request if there are two (2) additional Commissioners who would like to call the 



Planning Commission Bylaws     Adopted December 13, 1988 
Last Revised October 22, 2014 September 28, 2016     Page 3  
 

 
 

Special Meeting; and any Commissioner who would like to join in making the request 
shall respond directly to the Planning Director.  

 
D. Study meetings may be held on the third Tuesday of the month, as called for by the 

Commission or Chairperson, except when such Tuesday falls on a legal holiday or 
conflicts with the City Commission meeting schedule. 

 
E. Meeting agendas shall be prepared by the Planning Director. The Planning Director 

and any member of the Commission may place items on the agenda; items to be placed 
on the agenda by a member of the Commission shall be submitted at least seven 
calendar days in advance of the given meeting, unless for a Special Meeting called for 
a specific purpose in accordance with these Bylaws.  The agenda shall be sent to the 
Commission no later than on the Friday preceding the regularly scheduled meeting.  
The Commission shall only consider the items listed on the originally released agenda, 
unless seven (7) members of the Planning Commission, by affirmative vote, suspend 
this rule to add an item to the agenda.    

 
F. A quorum of five (5) members must be present to constitute an official meeting of the 

Commission. 
 

G. All regular meetings shall begin at 7:00 7:30 p.m. and no new items requiring action 
shall be taken after 10:00 p.m. unless otherwise determined at the meeting by a 
majority of the Commission present. 

 
H. The conduct of the Planning Commission business shall be governed by the current 

edition of Robert’s Rules of Order unless otherwise modified by law, ordinance, or 
these rules of the Planning Commission. 

 
IV. VOTES: 

The concurring vote of a majority of members present at a regular or special meeting shall be 
necessary to pass on any matter referred to them.  The adoption of a master plan, or of any 
such part, amendment, extension or addition shall require the concurring vote of six (6) 
members of the Commission. 

 
V. CONFLICT OF INTEREST: 

Upon disclosure of a conflict of interest the member may recuse themselves from voting on 
the issue or participating in the making of a decision. . 

 
A. Appearance of Conflict.  An appearance of a conflict exists when a reasonable person 

would believe that because of certain facts a Planning Commissioner's participation in 
a proceeding would create an appearance of impropriety, partiality, bias or lack of 
fairness. 

 



Planning Commission Bylaws     Adopted December 13, 1988 
Last Revised October 22, 2014 September 28, 2016     Page 4  
 

 
 

B. Contractual Conflicts of Interest. The conduct of City officials and employees in 
relation to conflicts of interest involving contracts shall be as established by State law. 

 
C. Financial Conflict of Interest. An official or employee who has a financial interest, 

direct or indirect, in any matter to be decided by the Planning Commission, other than 
with respect to a contract, shall make that interest known and shall refrain from voting 
upon or otherwise participating in the making of the decision. Violation of this 
subsection with the knowledge, express or implied, of the person or corporation 
dealing with the Planning Commission shall render the decision voidable by the City 
Manager or the City Commission. Any official or employee violating the provisions of 
this subsection shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction shall 
forfeit office. A financial conflict of interest may be waived by the City Commission 
after full disclosure of such conflict to the Commission. Unless otherwise provided by 
law or ordinance, the remaining members of the Commission in a unanimous vote may 
rule that the best interests of the City are to be served by removing the prohibition on 
voting and participating in the matter.  

 
VI. PROCEDURE: 

A. All inquiries, applications or matters requiring official action by the Commission 
which is not specifically mentioned below shall be submitted in writing at the offices 
of the Planning Department.  This must be done at least seven (7) days prior to the 
meeting of the Commission at which consideration is requested. 

 
B. Requests for rezoning subdivision approvals, Special Land Use Permits and Planned 

Unit Developments shall be filed on application forms obtained from the Planning 
Department. 

 
C. Rezoning, Special Land Use Permit, Planned Unit Development, subdivision approval, 

lot split and alley and street vacationing requests shall be submitted at least seven (7) 
days prior to the meeting for introduction before the Commission.  If the Commission 
finds the submission complete, then a public hearing date shall be scheduled to 
consider the request. 

 
D. The Commission and/or the Planning Director may require such surveys, plans or 

other information as may be reasonably required by said Commission for the proper 
evaluation or consideration of the matter. Written documentation from the petitioner 
should be presented to the Commission which will give full information as to the 
intentions of the petitioner, as well as a legal and informal description of the property 
in question. 

 



Planning Commission Bylaws     Adopted December 13, 1988 
Last Revised October 22, 2014 September 28, 2016     Page 5  
 

 
 

E. All proceedings, decisions and resolutions of the Commission shall be initiated by 
motion.  The vote upon motions and resolutions may be recorded by roll-call vote.  All 
members, including the Chairperson, shall vote on each motion unless they have stated 
there is a conflict of interest, or the appearance of a conflict of interest, as defined in 
these bylaws.   

 
F. In the event a petitioner requests that his or her item be tabled, after it has been 

published, noticed and scheduled, the public hearing may be held to allow interested 
citizens an opportunity to speak to the request, then tabled to a specific future meeting 
and scheduled in sequence on the agenda. 

 
G. Whenever there is an administrative decision to be made by the Commission, 

members of the Commission shall avoid ex parte contact.  An administrative decision 
is when there is an applicant for a decision to be made by the Planning Commission, 
such as a rezoning, a Special Land Use Permit or a Planned Unit Development.  Ex 
parte contact is contact with the applicant outside of a Planning Commission meeting 
when there is a pending administrative decision, regardless of means, such as a 
telephone conversation, email, in-person conversation. In the event such contact is 
made, the member of the Commission shall submit a document to the Planning 
Director outlining the nature of the contact, what was said, and the Planning Director 
shall provide the document to the members of the Commission and include the 
document in the next meeting packet, and feature it on the agenda as a “report.” 

 
VII. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

A. The primary function of the public hearing process is the gathering of information 
through public testimony and written documentation.  The nature of the evidence 
received during this process will in many cases require further careful consideration to 
assure a logical and just decision.  The Commission shall therefore determine at each 
public hearing the meeting date at which a decision will be rendered. 

 
B. The applicant or the applicant=s authorized agent must be present at the public hearing 

to properly answer questions concerning the request.  If the applicant or agent is not 
present, the request may be tabled until the next meeting or dismissed at the discretion 
of the Commission. 

 
C. The Commission shall hold a public hearing on any proposed amendment to the 

zoning ordinance or zoning map.  Official notice for the Commission public hearings 
shall comply with the requirements and procedures established by Section 1320.04 of 
the City Code of Ordinances.  The Commission shall recommend approval or denial of 
the amendment, and shall transmit, in writing, its recommendation to the City 
Commission for official action. 



Planning Commission Bylaws     Adopted December 13, 1988 
Last Revised October 22, 2014 September 28, 2016     Page 6  
 

 
 

 
D. The Commission shall hold a public hearing on any proposed City Commission 

authorized Special Land Use Permit.  The official notice of public hearing shall 
comply with Section 1364.04, of the City Code of Ordinances.  The Commission may 
recommend denial, approval or approval with conditions after said hearing and 
notification as provided herein.  Its recommendation shall be incorporated in a 
statement of conclusions specifying the basis for the recommendation and any 
conditions imposed, which statement shall be transmitted to the City Commission for 
official hearing and action. 

 
E. The Commission may hold a public hearing with such notice as it deems advisable for 

Planned Unit Developments.  After review by the Commission, it shall submit a 
written recommendation to the City Commission. 

 
F. In the case of lots splits resulting in the creation of a new buildable lot, the 

Commission may in its discretion hold a public hearing on the matter and make a 
recommendation to the City Commission for appropriate action. 

 
G. The Commission may hold a public hearing with such notice as is deemed advisable 

for public street and alley vacations and openings.  After review by the Commission, it 
shall submit a written recommendation to the City Commission. 

 
H. The Commission will not reconsider any request on which a negative decision has 

been rendered within one (1) year from the date of the Commission’s decision on the 
request unless it can be shown by the petitioner that substantial new information 
affecting the request which was not presented to the Commission at the previous 
hearing(s) is now available and would affect the original decision rendered.  Said 
substantial new information shall be described in writing by the applicant at the time 
of application.  Before re-hearing the request, the Commission shall decide whether 
there is substantial new information allowing the new hearing. 

 
VIII. PUBLIC COMMENT AT REGULAR MEETINGS.  The Planning Commission welcomes 

public comment and has prescribed the following to facilitate the conduct of public business. 
 

A. Public Comment during Agenda Items.  Any interested person wishing to address the 
Planning Commission regarding an Agenda Item may do so during discussion of an 
agenda item prior to action recognized by the presiding officer or upon request of any 
Commissioner.  All persons must identify themselves and their address and direct their 
comments to the Commission.  The comment of any member of the public or any 
special interest group may be limited in time to five minutes except as provided in 
subsection (D).  As part of its deliberation, the Planning Commission may clarify, 
answer questions and ask questions as a result of public comment. 



Planning Commission Bylaws     Adopted December 13, 1988 
Last Revised October 22, 2014 September 28, 2016     Page 7  
 

 
 

 
B. Public Comment during the designated Public Comment Section - General.  Any 

interested person wishing to address the Planning Commission regarding other matters 
may do so under the designated Public Comment section.  All persons must identify 
themselves and their address and direct their comments to the Commission.  The 
comment of any member of the public or any special interest group may be limited in 
time to five minutes except as provided in subsection (D).  Questions posed may be 
answered at the meeting or may be referred to staff for response at a later time. 

 
C. Public Comment during the designated Public Comment Section - Planning 

Commissioners.  Planning Commissioners interested in making a public comment may 
do so under the designated Public Comment section.  Further, Planning 
Commissioners may briefly respond for clarification purposes as a result of public 
comment. 

 
D. Order and Duration of any Public Comment.   The presiding officer shall control the 

order and duration of any public comment subject to appeal.  The presiding officer 
shall have the authority to limit and terminate any public comment that becomes 
disruptive, unduly repetitive, or impedes the orderly progress of the meeting.  Items 
not appearing on the agenda will not be acted upon by the Planning Commission 
except in accordance with these rules. 

 
IX. AMENDMENTS: 

A. These bylaws may be amended or modified provided that such amendment or 
modification is presented in writing at a meeting, and that favorable action is taken 
thereon at a subsequent meeting. 

 
B. Six (6) members of the Commission by due motion and recorded vote may suspend or 

vary the application of these rules to a particular application, case, problem or 
proceeding pending before the Commission. 

 
I hereby certify that the above 
document was adopted by the Traverse 
City Planning Commission at their 
November 4, 2014 1, 2016 regular 
meeting. 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Jan Warren Janet Fleshman, Secretary 
Traverse City Planning Commission 



 

 Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Item No. 5D  
 

              Communication to the Planning Commission  
             
  
      FOR THE MEETING OF:  November 1, 2016 
 
      FROM:  Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering Assistant 
 

SUBJECT: Development Districts Amendment  
 
       DATE:  October 26, 2016 
 
At the September 7, 2016 regular meeting, the Planning Commission discussed a request to amend 
the Development District uses to allow a coffee roastery. Subsequently, at the October 4, 2016 
regular meeting, the Planning Commission scheduled a Public Hearing to consider an amendment to 
the Development District that would allow a coffee roastery use as well as additional smaller scale 
manufacturing and processing uses in that district. 

After holding the Public Hearing, if you are supportive of the amendment, the following motion 
would be appropriate: 
 

I move that a Public Hearing be scheduled for November 1, 2016 to consider an 
amendment to the Traverse City Code of Ordinances, Development Districts (D-1, D-2, D-
3), Section 1347.01 Uses Allowed, regarding allowing manufacturing or processing of 
various products.   

 

 Attachment:  Development District proposed amendment 



   Page 1 of 2 
 

TRAVERSE CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 
 
 ORDINANCE AMENDMENT NO. ______ 
 Effective date: _______________ 
 
TITLE: Development District amendment to allow small-scale manufacturing or 

processing uses 
 
THE CITY OF TRAVERSE CITY ORDAINS: 
 
That the Development Districts Section 1347.01, Uses Allowed, of the Zoning Code of the 
Traverse City Code of Ordinances, be amended to read in its entirety as follows: 
  
1347.01 - Uses allowed.  

No use shall be open to the public between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m.  

The following uses of land and buildings, together with accessory uses, are allowed:  

Ironworks (D-1), Depot (D-2) and Red Mill (D-3) areas:  

• C-2 uses without drive-throughs;  

• Banquet halls or conference rooms;  

• Communication establishments;  

• Contractors' offices with no outside storage;  

• Lodging facilities;  

• Markets, public or municipal;  

• Manufacturing or processing, no larger than 10,000 square feet, of:  

(1) Apparel and other finished products made from fabrics and similar materials;  

(2) Bakery products;  

(3) Beverages;  

(4) Canned, frozen and preserved fruits, vegetable and food specialties;  

(5) Dairy products;  

(6) Food preparations and kindred products—miscellaneous;  

(7) Furniture and fixtures;  

(8) Leather and leather products (finished), except leather tanning and finishing;   

(9) Measuring, analyzing and controlling instruments, photographic, medical and 
optical goods, matches and clocks;   

• Parking structures, public or private, subject to the following standards:  

(1) Parking structures shall be designed to have horizontal versus stepped or sloping 
levels at areas of public view. Ramping shall be concealed from public view to the 
greatest degree possible.  

(2) Openings shall not exceed 60 percent of the total wall surface. Openings shall be 
vertical or square.  



   Page 2 of 2 
 

(3) Sloped roofs are not required for parking decks, however:  

a. The upper and lowest level of parking shall incorporate sufficient screening to 
shield cars from public view.  

b. Parapet treatment is required to terminate the deck and give proper 
architectural finish to the structure. Cornices, overhangs and other devices 
which are consistent with the language of historical buildings may be 
employed.  

(4) The design of parking decks shall be consistent with the design of historical 
buildings in the area.  

• Stores, retail, no larger than 8,000 square feet per floor per single retailer;  

• Theaters, except outdoor theaters.  

 
The effective date of this Ordinance is the ________ day of ______________, 2016. 

 

I hereby certify the above ordinance amendment was 
introduced on ____________________, 2016, at a regular 
meeting of the City Commission and was enacted on 
_______________________, 2016, at a regular meeting of 
the City Commission by a vote of Yes: ____ No: ___ at the 
Commission Chambers, Governmental Center, 400 
Boardman Avenue,  Traverse City, Michigan. 

_____________________________________________ 

James Carruthers, Mayor 

_____________________________________________ 

Benjamin C. Marentette, City Clerk 

I hereby certify that a notice of adoption of the above 
ordinance was published in the Traverse City Record 
Eagle, a daily newspaper published in Traverse City, 
Michigan, on ___________________________. 

_____________________________________________ 

Benjamin C. Marentette, City Clerk 

 

 

 



Agenda Item No. 5B-C  
 

              Communication to the Planning Commission  
              
      
 FOR THE MEETING OF:  November 1, 2016 
 
      FROM: RUSS SOYRING, PLANNING DIRECTOR 
 

SUBJECT: Special Land Use Permit, Site Plan Review and Master Site and Facility 
Plan requests by Mike Buell, Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools for 
a school at 218 Vine Street (commonly known as 215 N. Division 
Street) 

 
       DATE: October 26, 2016 
 
The Planning Department received a request from, Mike Buell, Superintendent of Grand Traverse 
Area Catholic Schools for a Special Land Use Permit to construct a School at 218 Vine Street. (The 
property is currently addressed at 215 N. Division, but the applicant is currently in the process of 
assigning the school address to be 218 Vine Street.)    
 
A request to approve the site plan as well as the Master Site and Facilities Plan is also being 
requested at this time.  The school is proposed to be located partly on the portion of Vine Street that 
was recently approved for a vacation by the City on the condition that the school is built.  Most of 
the new school building would be positioned on land that is currently occupied by a parking lot. 
 
The proposed building would replace an existing 2-story school building.  The new 2-story school will 
have 32 classrooms in the 44,410 square feet building.  The main entrance faces south.  The east side 
of the school would front Division Street.  Current parking locations and circulation routes would be 
altered.  Access to the existing church and school would be from Third, Cedar and Vine Streets.  No 
direct vehicular access to Division Street is proposed.  
 
The property is zoned R-1b  (Single Family Dwelling District) which allows Schools by Special Land Use 
Permit.   
 
The Master Plan designates this area as a TC-3 Traditional Neighborhood where it states these 
neighborhood types will focus on historic patterns.  Neighborhood level services, schools, parks and 
places of worship are envisioned to be part of this neighborhood type.  
 
 



Page 2 of 3 

 
 

 
Agenda item 5B: If the proposal as meets all the Special Land Use Permit standards and 
requirements along with other codes and regulations, the request must be recommended for 
approval.  If the proposal fails to meet one or more of the standards or requirements, the request 
must be recommended for denial specifying the unmet standard or conditions placed on the 
approval that will ensure all standards and conditions can be met.  

Staff reviewed the submission and finds it to be in conformance with the requirements as detailed in 
the attached Staff Report 16-SLUP-02.  

After reviewing the material and holding a public hearing, if you feel that the request for a “school” 
meets all the Special Land Use Permit General Standards in Section 1364.02 and Specific 
requirements in Section 1364.08(11), the following motion would be appropriate: 

 
I move that the request by Mike Buell, Superintendent for Grand Traverse Area 
Catholic Schools for a Special Land Use Permit (16-SLUP-02)  for a School at 218 
Vine Street (currently known as 215 N. Division Street) be recommended for 
approval as presented and as outlined in Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 to the City 
Commission.  
 

Agenda Item 5C: The Planning Commission shall review the site plan and Master Site and 
Facilities Plan according to the standards in Chapter 1366 of the Zoning Code. The Planning 
Commission shall approve or deny the site plan (not the use) according to the standards 
and requirements of the Zoning Code.  
 

 



Page 3 of 3 

Staff reviewed the Master Site and Facilities Plan (labeled C1-0 in the plan set, dated 10/26/16) and 
find it to be in conformance with the standards in Section 1366.08(d). If you agree with staff’s 
assessment, the following motions would be appropriate: 
 

I move that the Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools Master Site and Facilities 
Plan (dated 10/26/16) for the Immaculate Conception Campus which includes a 
church, school and food pantry located at 218 Vine Street (currently known as 215 
N. Division Street) be approved. 

 
Staff reviewed the site plan and finds it to be in conformance with the requirements provided five (5) 
conditions are met as detailed in the attached Staff Report 16-SPR-04. If you agree with staff’s 
assessment, the following motion would be appropriate: 

 
I move that the request by Mike Buell, Superintendent for Grand Traverse Area 
Catholic Schools for Site Plan Review (16-SPR-04) for a school located at 218 Vine 
Street (currently known as 215 N. Division Street) be approved with 5 conditions as 
outlined in Staff Report 16-SPR-04. 
 
 

RAS/mll 
 
Attachments:  Special Land Use Permit Application 
  Site Plan Review Application 
  Letter from Scott Jozwiak, Consulting Engineer dated October 26, 2016 
  Statement of SLUP conformance provided by the applicant dated October 10, 2016 
  Plan Set dated 10/26/16 (includes Master Site and Facilities Plan) 
  Traffic Study dated October 18, 2016 
  Staff report 16-SLUP-02 
  Staff report 16-SPR-04 
  

 







 

    
October 26, 2016 
 
Russ Soyring 
Planning Director 
City of Traverse City 
 
RE: Special Land Use Application 

Immaculate Conception Campus Reconstruction Project 

Dear Russ: 

Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools (GTACS) has continued to work on the project that we started laying the 
ground work for over a year ago and is now in the final stages of fund raising which appears to put the project on 
track for a Spring 2017 start.  Revamping the campus of Immaculate Conception is first on the list of improvements 
both at this and the St. Francis campus on 11th St.  As demonstrated to you previously, evaluations of the existing 
school have deemed it to be beyond the useful life and too costly to renovate in order to meet current codes and 
needs.  The most feasible solution is to construct a new school. 
 
Last year, we introduced this project to the planning commission as we sought to increase the impervious restriction 
and to vacate a portion of Second Street and Vine Street.  Both requests were accepted.  Since those applications, the 
building and the site plan were carefully reviewed and some minor tweaks were made.  The changes made, though 
minimal, include a slight reduction in the school footprint and an increase to the landscape island areas.  The plans 
have been further scrutinized to minimize impervious surfaces including sidewalk areas around the existing church.  
Overall, the project currently sits at 58 percent impervious lot coverage and parking counts that put us right on track 
with the ordinance and with the church’s needs. 
 
We are now looking to finalize our approval project by submitting our plans and application for the Special Land Use 
process.  We look forward to showing other aspects of the project that are now incorporated that follow the 
comments we heard through the prior reviews.  Stormwater, green space (including tree canopy coverage), along 
with pedestrian interconnectivity were some of the more prominent comments that we heard. 
 
Stormwater Management 
We have reviewed the existing drainage system for the Immaculate Conception Campus and found that almost all of 
the campus plus the soon to be removed Second and Vine Streets directly flows into the city storm.  This does not 
include the existing parking lot that is along Division Street which currently is served by infiltration basins.  Our initial 
thoughts on stormwater were to provide an infiltration system for the parking lot and church and develop another 
means that would allow the school runoff to drain to the city storm.  Our plans changed and now provide capacity for 
the school runoff as well.  We have not finalized our design of the system since we are working with various 
manufacturers to determine the product that will best serve our needs.  We will continue to develop the 
underground system and will do so with staff input.  Our office has successfully used underground infiltration systems 
within the city on other projects and are confident that this type of system will best serve this project.  To reiterate, 
we are receiving the stormwater from the site and reintroducing it into the ground.  For storms that exceed our 25-
year design, we will request a connection to the city storm system where we will introduce an overflow device.  In 
other words, all stormwater will enter our system.  When a higher intensity storm is experienced, the water will flow 
through the overflow once our system tops out. 



Page 2 

Green Space 
We have reviewed our site plan and have now developed it such that we have 58% lot coverage by asphalt and 
buildings.  This does not include sidewalks which accounts for another 10%.  Therefore, over 30% of the property will 
be vegetated.  Trees are proposed throughout as it is our desire to develop a plan the nearly replicates the existing 
tree canopy. 
 
Landscaping 
We have secured a contract with Anita Silverman who is a locally know landscape architect who lives in the city limits 
to review our project and to provide us with a landscaping plan.  Her initial review of the project resulted in a few 
ideas which we incorporated.  One idea was to increase the green area in front of the church by removing a portion 
of the sidewalk near the entry.  This provided ample space to include a few more trees which increases the canopy 
cover that was discussed during a previous planning commission meeting.  The plans we are submitting today do 
depict the landscaping plan ideas that Anita preliminarily for us.  In the coming week, she will update her concept 
plan and we will share it with you on September 20th.  She will further develop the plan into a complete landscape 
plan upon a favorable review of our project.  
 
Pedestrian Interconnectivity 
Pedestrian routes and sidewalks are paramount in using the campus to its fullest.  Perimeter sidewalks have always 
been a part of the plan and we are open to discussions on where additional sidewalks may be introduced.  We 
reviewed some of the sidewalks that we had in our previous plan and revamped our thoughts based on actual 
conditions in the field and based on a thought of not increasing impervious surfaces where not specifically warranted.  
We did omit the sidewalk along the north side of the new Second Street.  Our thought on this was that we would 
maintain a maximum amount of privacy for the adjacent homeowner and we can keep three additional trees that 
would be impacted if we were to add the sidewalk.  The sidewalk along the south side of the new Second Street 
remains. 
 
The sidewalk along Cedar between Third and “old Second” has been added to the plan.  A meeting with city staff and 
our landscape architect developed a method by which both landscaping and the sidewalk can coexist.  We have 
added a connection through the campus that connects with the sidewalk on the west side of Division Street.  This 
connection will be gated while school is in session and opened at all other times.  As always, we allow the community 
to use the playgrounds at all of our campuses when school is not in session. 
 
We look forward to discussing these items and other components of our project at the November 1st planning 
commission meeting.  Should you have any questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to 
contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
Jozwiak Consulting, Inc. 

Scott M. Jozwiak, P.E. 
Principal 
 



 

    
October 10, 2016 
 
RE: General Standards for Approval 
 Special Land Use Permit 

Immaculate Conception Campus Reconstruction Project 
 

1364.02  General standards for approval 

a) The use shall be designed, constructed, operated and maintained so as to be harmonious and compatible in 
appearance with the intended character of vicinity. 

The building has been designed to integrate with the commercial character of Division Street, while also 
providing a transition to the predominantly residential Slabtown neighborhood to the north and west.  The 
collegiate gothic style of the building exterior features a historical/institutional character consistent with 
the Division Street corridor while also harmonizing with the residential context in which it is located (much 
as the Central Grade School does in the Central neighborhood). 

b) The use shall not be hazardous nor disturbing to existing or planned uses in the vicinity. 

The proposed campus redevelopment plan will not change the overall character of the vicinity.  Schools and 
churches are allowed in the zoning district.  Traffic is the single factor that places the most burden to the 
vicinity.  The redevelopment plan eases the pressure of traffic during pick-up times by providing ample 
stacking within the campus.  This is demonstrated on sheet C1.0.  Further, this proposed plan creates a 
campus atmosphere thereby shielding nearby properties from activities occurring on the premises. 

c) The use shall be served adequately by existing or proposed public infrastructure and services, including but 
not limited to, streets and highways, police and fire protection, refuse disposal; water, waste water, and 
storm sewer facilities; electrical service, and schools. 

The redevelopment of this campus allows us the opportunity to reduce the burden on public infrastructure 
and services.  As part of this redevelopment, the city services will be less impacted as follows: 
Streets:  The existing curb cut to Division will be eliminated.  A street vacation request granted by the city 
allows for a more concise campus development plan which addresses vehicle stacking and allows it to 
mostly occur on our property. 
Fire:  The new school building will meet current fire regulations thereby providing a safer environment over 
the existing school which dates back 100 years.  Fire suppression, alarms and accessibility are items that 
reduce the potential for a dangerous environment should fire services be called to the property. 
Refuse:  Screened dumpster pads are provided 
Water:  The new school will require similar water requirements to that of the existing school.  Water will 
also be needed for fire suppression. 
Sewer:  The new school will require similar sewer needs to that of the existing school. 
Storm sewer:  The proposed redevelopment consists of an infiltration system located under the proposed 
parking lot.   By implementing this system, we are almost completely removing reliance on the city storm 
sewer system. 
Electrical service:  The new school will require similar electrical needs to that of the existing school.  The 
school is larger, however, new lighting and mechanical equipment affords less energy consumption. 
Schools:  This is a school 
 



Page 2 

d) The use shall not create excessive additional requirements for infrastructure, facilities, and services provided 
at public expense. 

From our perspective, the net requirements for public infrastructure, facilities and services will be reduced 
from that which it is reliant on today.  This is due to the reduction on the impact to the city storm sewer 
system and the use of the latest energy saving fixtures and building materials. 

e) The use shall not involve any activities, processes, materials, equipment or conditions of operation that 
would be detrimental to any person or property or to the general welfare by reason of excessive production 
of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, odors or water runoff. 

The proposed campus redevelopment project will increase efficiencies associated with traffic and the pick-
up process which currently results in cars exclusively utilizing city right of way for stacking.  The new 
campus plan will allow for 40 vehicles to stack within the campus before needing to extend into city right of 
way.  Noise, smoke, fumes, glare and odors are not nuisances commonly associated with schools.  Water 
runoff is addressed with the inclusion of a stormwater management system that utilizes collection and 
infiltration versus discharge into the city storm sewer which is the primary method of stormwater 
management currently.  

f) Where possible, the use shall preserve, renovate and restore historic buildings or landmarks affected by the 
development.  If the historic structure must be moved from the site, the relocation shall be subject to the 
standards of this section. 

The existing Immaculate Conception School building consists of the original brick school building (190?) and 
a 196? Addition.  Although historic in terms of their age, neither of these buildings possess architectural 
merit that warrants their preservation.  Whereas the existing buildings are functionally substandard due to 
their age and deteriorating construction, the proposed building features state-of-the-art K-12 school design 
and modern construction principles which will meet the needs of the GTACS community and become a new 
landmark for many generations to come. 

g) Elements shall relate the design characteristics of an individual structure or development to existing or 
planned developments in a harmonious manner, resulting in a coherent overall development pattern and 
streetscape. 

The use of red face brick with natural cast stone trim in a one and two story façade is consistent with the 
nearest neighboring building to the north, as well as several existing buildings along Division Street (e.g., 
physician's office, bank, drug/convenience store). 

h) The use shall be consistent with the intent and purposes of the zoning district in which it is proposed. 

Immaculate Conception School is currently operating at this site and has been for over 100 years.  This 
redevelopment project does not change the character of the neighborhood and is an allowed use in this 
district. 

 

1364.08 Special Land Use Permits Granted by the City Commission 

Schools subject to the following:  
 

1) The use is located in an R-1a, R-1b, R-2, R-9, R-15, R-29, C-1, C-2 C-3 or GP district. 

The campus is located in the R-1b zoning district. 



Page 3 

2) A master site and facilities plan is submitted to and approved by the Planning Commission showing: 
a. Existing facilities and planned facilities for the ensuing five years. 

The plan presented is inclusive of any planned expansion for the ensuing five years. 

b. Adequate street crossing facilities, pedestrian routes and projected number of pedestrians. 

Plans have been prepared that maximize pedestrian circulation to the extent possible considering this is a 
school and safety of the children is paramount.  Sidewalks are proposed where appropriate and 
illustrations in the submittal depict the circulation patterns. 

c. Sufficient areas for motor vehicle and bus circulation routes, together with areas for pick up and 
drop off of students. 

The proposed campus plan allows for stacking within the confines of the property.  Only during brief 
periods do we anticipate cars stacking within the public right of way.  An illustration of this stacking can be 
found in the submittal plan set.  Bus circulation is minimal since only a few shuttle buses arrive at the site 
daily. 

d. If child care use is provided, the facilities for such use shall be designated in the plan, together 
with the child care hours of operation. 

Child care is not provided at this campus. 

e. The building and parking area shall not exceed 70 percent of the lot area. 

The building and parking area consumes less than 60% of the property thereby complying with this 
requirement. 

3) A traffic study must be submitted to the Planning Commission. 

Fleis and Vandenbrink is our consultant providing traffic engineering/study services.  A traffic study is 
included. 

























CANOPY TREES:

ORNAMENTAL
TREES:

PERENNIALS:

DECIDUOUS &
EVERGREEN SHRUBS:

SUGAR MAPLE

RED OAK

HONEYLOCUST

CRABAPPLE

SERVICEBERRY

LIMELIGHT HYDRANGEA BROADMOOR JUNIPER VIBURNUM

ANTHONY WATERER SPIREA DENSE YEW

ROZANNE GERANIUM ELEGANS HOSTA CAREX 'ICE DANCE' PRAIRIE DROPSEED BLACKEYED STELLA DAYLILY



UP

REF.

A B

C

1

A 311

4

A 312 UNIT A UNIT B

UNIT A UNIT B

KINDERGARTEN

109

KINDERGARTEN

107

KINDERGARTEN

106

KINDERGARTEN

104
CONFERENCE

103

WORK ROOM

102

VESTIBULE

100

WELCOME CENTER

147

SICK ROOM

146

OFFICE

145

DEV. KIND.

143

DEV. KIND.

141

PRE SCHOOL

140

PRE SCHOOL

138

MUDROOM

139

MUDROOM

142

MUDROOM

105
MUDROOM

108

FIRST GRADE

CLASSROOM

111

FIRST GRADE

CLASSROOM

112

FIRST GRADE

CLASSROOM

113

FIRST GRADE

CLASSROOM

114

CORRIDOR

C102

PUBLIC RESTROOM

115

CAFE STORAGE

119

SERVING

121

KITCHEN

122
COOLER

122C

FREEZER

122D

DISH WASHING

122E

BOILER / MECH.

129

MUSIC

130

MUSIC PRACTICE

131

MUSIC PRACTICE

132

LIBRARY

135

VESTIBULE

137

CORRIDOR

C103

CR TOILET

140A

CR TOILET

141A

CR TOILET

138A

CR TOILET

114A

CR TOILET

113A

CR TOILET

112A

CR TOILET

111A

ELEC. RM

110

CR TOILET

109A

EGRESS STAIR

S-2

CR TOILET

107A

CR TOILET

106A

CR TOILET

104A

EGRESS STAIR

S-3

PUBLIC RESTROOM

116

283' - 4"

6' - 0" 92' - 0" 17' - 4" 52' - 0" 116' - 0"

2
2

' 
- 

8
"

3
7

' 
- 

4
"

1
5

' 
- 

4
"

2
6

' 
- 

8
"

3
4

' 
- 

8
"

5
8

' 
- 

0
"

JANITOR'S CLOSET

117

CAFETERIA

118

2

A 311

F

A

B

C

D

E

G

H

1 2

CR TOILET

143A

MUSIC PRACTICE

133

A 355

1

A 402

1

A 355

2

A 351

3

A 355

4

A 355

5

A 353

3

A 352

3

A 355

3

3

A 312

LIBRARY OFFICE

134

OFFICE

144

ST. THOMAS ROOM

136

A 302

1

A 301

4

A 302

2

A 402

8

A 402

7

A 301

3

OFFICE

101
TOILET

146A

STAIR

S-4

STAIR

S-5

STAIR

S-6 8
' 
- 

0
"

STORAGE

C103A

J

A 405

4

8' - 8 3/8"

LOCKER RM.

169

GYM STOR.

168

LOCKER RM.

128

GYM OFFICE

126

CORRIDOR

C104

72' - 4 3/8"

11 5/8"

8' - 8 3/8"

3

2
4

"

16"

15' - 4"

DUPSTER LOCATION

19' X 11"

CONCRETE PAD

2
1

' 
- 

1
"

12' - 4"

NOT FOR C
ONSTRUCTIO

N

PRELIM
IN

ARY

Tower Pinkster Titus Associates Inc.

242 East Kalamazoo Avenue, Suite 200

Kalamazoo, Michigan   49007-5828

269.343.6133 PHONE      269.343.6633 FAX

TOWERPINKSTER.COM

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED2015©

DATE

PROJECT TITLE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

4 East Fulton Street, Suite 200

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503

616.456.9944 PHONE      616.456.5936 FAX

MAY 13, 2016

NEW

IMMACULATE

CONCEPTION

ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL

TRAVERSE CITY,

MI

OVERALL FIRST

FLOOR PLAN

14188.10

A 101

GRAND

TRAVERSE AREA

CATHOLIC

SCHOOLS

CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS 100%

ISSUED FOR                            DATE

IMMACULATE CONCEPTION

UNIT A

UNIT B

KEY PLAN
SCALE: NO SCALE

0'

5'

10'

15' 25'

1/8" = 1'-0"  GRAPHIC SCALE



DN

A B

C

1

A 311

4

A 312

700 SF

MECHANICAL

ROOM
217

813 SF

FIFTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM218

761 SF

FIFTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM219

769 SF

FIFTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM220

793 SF

FIFTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM221

201 SF

SMALL

GROUP

STUDY222

823 SF

FOURTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM223825 SF

FOURTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM224

825 SF

FOURTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM225

825 SF

FOURTH

GRADE

CLASSROOM226

995 SF

CORRIDOR

C203

959 SF

LIBRARY

216

975 SF

ART

215

418 SF

PUBLIC

RESTROOM
212

1833 SF

GATHERING

201A

59 SF

ELEV

E-1.2

135 SF

STAIR

S-1

737 SF

CHAPEL

201

94 SF

ELECTRICAL

228

410 SF

TEACHER

LOUNGE
227

824 SF

SECOND

GRADE

CLASSROOM210

802 SF

SECOND

GRADE

CLASSROOM209

802 SF

THIRD

GRADE

CLASSROOM208

824 SF

THIRD

GRADE

CLASSROOM207

93 SF

EGRESS

STAIR
S-2

1243 SF

CORRIDOR

C202

825 SF

THIRD

GRADE

CLASSROOM206

825 SF

THIRD

GRADE

CLASSROOM205

825 SF

SECOND

GRADE

CLASSROOM204

824 SF

SECOND

GRADE

CLASSROOM203

UNIT A UNIT B

UNIT A UNIT B

54 SF

KILN RM

215A

283' - 4"

6' - 0" 277' - 4"

50 SF

STORAGE

215B

2

A 311

F

A

B

C

D

E

G

H

1 2

EGRESS STAIR

S-3

A 355

4

3

A 312

A 355

6

A 402

2

488 SF

SPECIAL

CLASSROOM
202

JANITOR'S CLOSET

213

A 302

1

A 301

4

A 301

3

A 302

2

424 SF

PUBLIC

RESTROOM
211

A 356

1

1
7

3
' 
- 

4
"

8
' 
- 

0
"

1
8

1
' 
- 

4
"

283' - 4"

1
8

1
' 
- 

4
"

4
8

' 
- 

0
"

7
8

' 
- 

0
"

5
5

' 
- 

4
"

6' - 0" 103' - 4" 21' - 4" 28' - 0" 21' - 4" 103' - 4"

A 355

7

J

3

251 SF

STORAGE

174

442 SF

MUSIC AND

COMPOSITION
176

433 SF

VISUALIZATION

175

76 SF

MEN'S

TOILET
177

76 SF

WOMEN'S

TOILET
17824"

OPEN TO

GYMNASIUM

BELOW

NOT FOR C
ONSTRUCTIO

N

PRELIM
IN

ARY

Tower Pinkster Titus Associates Inc.

242 East Kalamazoo Avenue, Suite 200

Kalamazoo, Michigan   49007-5828

269.343.6133 PHONE      269.343.6633 FAX

TOWERPINKSTER.COM

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED2015©

DATE

PROJECT TITLE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

4 East Fulton Street, Suite 200

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503

616.456.9944 PHONE      616.456.5936 FAX

MAY 13, 2016

NEW

IMMACULATE

CONCEPTION

ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL

TRAVERSE CITY,

MI

OVERALL

SECOND FLOOR

PLAN

14188.10

A 102

GRAND

TRAVERSE AREA

CATHOLIC

SCHOOLS

CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS 100%

 3/32" = 1'-0"

OVERALL SECOND FLOOR PLAN

ISSUED FOR                            DATE

IMMACULATE CONCEPTION

UNIT A

UNIT B

KEY PLAN
SCALE: NO SCALE

0'

5'

10'

15' 25'

1/8" = 1'-0"  GRAPHIC SCALE



FIRST FLOOR

100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

1

4

2

4

W2 W2 W1 W1 W2 W2 W1

W3W3W3W3

W1

W3

W7

W3

W3 W3

W1

W3

W1 W1

W3 W3

W1

CS8

CS1

CS2

CS3

TYP.

CS7

CS5

CS6

CS3

2
TYP.

W3

CS8
CS4 CS4

CS1 CS1

CS2

CS2CS2

CS2

CS1 CS1CS1CS1

CS2CS2

CS1

CS2

CS7
CS7 CS7 CS7CS7

CS7

CS4 CS4
CS8CS8

TYP.

CS13

CS12

TYP.
CS14CS11 CS14CS11

CS13

CS12
TYP.

CS14 CS11

CS11
TYP.

TYP.
CS11

TYP.

TYP. TYP.

CS15 CJ, TYP.

CJ, TYP.

CJ, TYP.

CJ, TYP.

4

1
TYP.

4
' 
- 

4
"

2
9

 '
-4

".

3
3

' 
-4

".

4
8

' 
- 

0
"

FIRST FLOOR

100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

FIRST FLOOR GYM

96' - 8"

W3

W3

W1

W1

W1

TYP.

2

3

TYP.

CS1A

TYP.

CS7

CS4

CS1A

TYP.

CS13

TYP.
CS12

CS13
TYP.

TYP.

CS14 CS11

CS11 TYP.
CS11

CJ, TYP.

CS15

CJ CJ

W3 W2

W2 CJ, TYP.

2
2

'-
 8

".

3
7

'-
4

".

3
3

'-
4

".

BRICK 1

EXTERIOR ELEVATION KEY

CAST STONE

EXTERIOR ELEVATION KEY NOTES

1 FACE BRICK

3 METAL RAILING

4 STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

#

2 STAINED GLASS

1 REFER TO SHEET A-303 AND A-304 FOR CS1 - CS14, CAST STONE

SPECIALTY PIECES.

EXTERIOR ELEVATION GENERAL NOTES

EXPANSION JOINT

CONTROL JOINT

EJ

CJ

CAST STONE SPECIALTY PIECECS-#

2 REFER TO SHEET A-502 FOR WINDOW SCHEDULE AND DETAILS.

3 REFER TO SHEET A-351, A-352, A-353, AND A-354 FOR ADDITIONAL

ELEVATION NOTES.

NOT FOR C
ONSTRUCTIO

N

PRELIM
IN

ARY

Tower Pinkster Titus Associates Inc.

242 East Kalamazoo Avenue, Suite 200

Kalamazoo, Michigan   49007-5828

269.343.6133 PHONE      269.343.6633 FAX

TOWERPINKSTER.COM

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED2015©

DATE

PROJECT TITLE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

4 East Fulton Street, Suite 200

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503

616.456.9944 PHONE      616.456.5936 FAX

MAY 13, 2016

NEW

IMMACULATE

CONCEPTION

ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL

TRAVERSE CITY,

MI

EXTERIOR

ELEVATIONS

14188.10

A 301

GRAND

TRAVERSE AREA

CATHOLIC

SCHOOLS

CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS 100%

 1/8" = 1'-0"A 301

3 SOUTH ELEVATION

IMMACULATE CONCEPTION

UNIT A

UNIT B

KEY PLAN
SCALE: NO SCALE

 1/8" = 1'-0"A 301

4 WEST ELEVATION

4

3

ISSUED FOR                            DATE

Note:
Front elevation has
changed slightly to
incorporate a clock.
See elevation depicted
below



FIRST FLOOR

100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

FIRST FLOOR GYM

96' - 8"

1

4

3

W3

W3W1

W2 W3

W3

W3

W3

W3

W3 W4

W3 W1

CS8

CS9

CS1A

CS6

CS1

TYP.

TYP.

CS7

CS9

CS1A

CS2 CS2

CS1CS1

LOUVER - SEE

MECHANICAL

CS7CS7

2

TYP.

CS13

CS12

TYP.

TYP.
TYP.

CS14
CS11

CS11

TYP.

CS13

CS12

TYP.

CJ, TYP.

CJ, TYP.

CS15

METAL LADDER

FIRST FLOOR

100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

FIRST FLOOR GYM

96' - 8"

3

W3 W3

1 1

CS4

CS7

CS1CS1

CS2CS2

CS4

TYP.

TYP.

CS13

CS12

TYP.

TYP.

TYP.
CS14

CS11
TYP.

CS11

TYP.

CS13

CS12

TYP.

TYP.

CS14

TYP.
CS11

TYP.
METAL LADDER

BRICK 1

EXTERIOR ELEVATION KEY

CAST STONE

EXTERIOR ELEVATION KEY NOTES

1 FACE BRICK

3 METAL RAILING

4 STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

#

2 STAINED GLASS

1 REFER TO SHEET A-303 AND A-304 FOR CS1 - CS14, CAST STONE

SPECIALTY PIECES.

EXTERIOR ELEVATION GENERAL NOTES

EXPANSION JOINT

CONTROL JOINT

EJ

CJ

CAST STONE SPECIALTY PIECECS-#

2 REFER TO SHEET A-502 FOR WINDOW SCHEDULE AND DETAILS.

3 REFER TO SHEET A-351, A-352, A-353, AND A-354 FOR ADDITIONAL

ELEVATION NOTES.

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

CS5

CS6

W8

1

TYP.

CS11 CS11

4

CJCJ CJ CJ

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

CS5

1

TYP.

CS11

4 4

CJCJ

NOT FOR C
ONSTRUCTIO

N

PRELIM
IN

ARY

Tower Pinkster Titus Associates Inc.

242 East Kalamazoo Avenue, Suite 200

Kalamazoo, Michigan   49007-5828

269.343.6133 PHONE      269.343.6633 FAX

TOWERPINKSTER.COM

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED2015©

DATE

PROJECT TITLE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

4 East Fulton Street, Suite 200

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503

616.456.9944 PHONE      616.456.5936 FAX

MAY 13, 2016

NEW

IMMACULATE

CONCEPTION

ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL

TRAVERSE CITY,

MI

EXTERIOR

ELEVATIONS

14188.10

A 302

GRAND

TRAVERSE AREA

CATHOLIC

SCHOOLS

CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS 100%

 1/8" = 1'-0"A 302

2 EAST ELEVATION

 1/8" = 1'-0"A 302

1 NORTH ELEVATION

IMMACULATE CONCEPTION

UNIT A

UNIT B

KEY PLAN
SCALE: NO SCALE

1

2

ISSUED FOR                            DATE

 1/8" = 1'-0"A 302

3 CHAPEL ENLARGED ELEVATION
 1/8" = 1'-0"A 302

4 CHAPEL ENLARGED NORTH ELEVATION

4

3



FIRST FLOOR

100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

2

A 311

A 322

3

FOURTH GRADE

CLASSROOM

224

FOURTH GRADE

CLASSROOM

223

PRE SCHOOL

138

PRE SCHOOL

140

DEV. KIND.

141

DEV. KIND.

143

OFFICE

145

WELCOME

CENTER

147

VESTIBULE

100

CONFERENCE

103

KINDERGARTEN

104

KINDERGARTEN

106

KINDERGARTEN

107

KINDERGARTEN

109

FOURTH GRADE

CLASSROOM

225

FOURTH GRADE

CLASSROOM

226

TEACHER

LOUNGE

227

CHAPEL

201

SECOND GRADE

CLASSROOM

203

SECOND GRADE

CLASSROOM

204

THIRD GRADE

CLASSROOM

205

THIRD GRADE

CLASSROOM

206

EGRESS STAIR

S-2

A 323

6

1 2

SPECIAL

CLASSROOM

202

128' - 3 1/4"

3

SECOND FLOOR

114' - 5"

ROOF

129' - 5"

FIRST FLOOR GYM

96' - 8"

LIBRARY

216

KITCHEN

122

CAFETERIA

118

GATHERING

201A
CHAPEL

201

VESTIBULE

100

A 322

5

A 322

4

FA B C D E G H

A 323

7

A 351

1

OPEN

TO

GYM

J

NOT FOR C
ONSTRUCTIO

N

PRELIM
IN

ARY

Tower Pinkster Titus Associates Inc.

242 East Kalamazoo Avenue, Suite 200

Kalamazoo, Michigan   49007-5828

269.343.6133 PHONE      269.343.6633 FAX

TOWERPINKSTER.COM

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED2015©

DATE

PROJECT TITLE

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

4 East Fulton Street, Suite 200

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503

616.456.9944 PHONE      616.456.5936 FAX

MAY 13, 2016

NEW

IMMACULATE

CONCEPTION

ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL

TRAVERSE CITY,

MI

BUILDING

SECTIONS

14188.10

A 311

GRAND

TRAVERSE AREA

CATHOLIC

SCHOOLS

CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENTS 100%

 1/8" = 1'-0"A 311

1 EAST/ WEST BUILDING SECTION

IMMACULATE CONCEPTION

UNIT A

UNIT B

KEY PLAN
SCALE: NO SCALE

 1/8" = 1'-0"A 311

2 BUILDING SECTION THROUGH CAFETERIA

1 1

2

2

4

4

ISSUED FOR                            DATE

3 3



IMMACULATE CONCEPTION
PANTRY

IMMACULATE CONCEPTION
PANTRY

12
3
 E

A
S
T
 E

L
E
V
E
N
T
H
 S

T
R
E
E
T

T
R
A
V
E
R
S
E
 C

IT
Y
, 
M
I 
4
9
6
84

G
R
A
N
D
 T

R
A
V
E
R
S
E
 A

R
E
A

C
A
T
H
O
L
IC

 S
C
H
O
O
L
S

IM
M
A
C
U
L
A
T
E
 C

O
N
C
E
P
T
IO

N
P
A
N
T
R
Y

2
0
5
 N

O
R
T
H
 D

IV
IS

IO
N
 S

T
R
E
E
T

T
R
A
V
E
R
S
E
 C

IT
Y
, 
M
I 
4
9
6
84

ICF_PLAN

10
-1
6
-1
5

0
4
-0

7
-1
6

0
5
-0

6
-1
6

0
6
-0

2
-1
6

© COPYRIGHT 2016 ARCHITECTURE TECHNOLOGY, P.C.

A
R
C
H
IT

E
C
T
:

O
W

N
E
R
:

P
R
O
J
E
C
T
:

S
H
E
E
T
 C

O
N
T
E
N
T
S
:

R
E
V
:

R
E
V
:

IS
S
U
E
D
:

R
E
V
:

R
E
V
:

R
E
V
:

A1

P
R
E
L
IM

IN
A
R
Y
 D

E
S
IG

N
A

R
C

H
I
T

E
C

T
U

R
E

 
T

E
C

H
N

O
L

O
G

Y
,
 
P

.
C

.

1
3

0
4
 
B

U
S

I
N

E
S

S
 
P

A
R

K
 
D

R
I
V

E

T
R

A
V

E
R

S
E

 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
M

I
 
4

9
6
8
6

(
2
3
1

)
 
9
3
3

-
4
4

8
9

A
R

C
H

I
T

E
C

T
U

R
E

T
E

C
H

N
O

L
O

G
Y

P  R  E  L  I  M  I  N  A  R  Y

NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION



 
 
 
 

Memo 

27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150 
Farmington Hills, MI 48334 

P: 248.536.0080 
F: 248.536.0079 

Immaculate Conception Campus School Evaluation FINAL Memo 10-18-16  www.fveng.com 

 VIA EMAIL 

To: Mr. Michael R. Buell, Superintendent 
Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools 

From: 
Michael J. Labadie, P.E. 
Julie M. Kroll, P.E., PTOE 
Steven J. Russo, E.I.T. 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering 

Date: October 18, 2016 

Re: 
Immaculate Conception Campus 
Traverse City, Michigan 
Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Study  

Introduction 

The Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools (GTACS) is currently developing plans to combine the operations 
of the Holy Angels Elementary and Preschool and Immaculate Conception Elementary School on a central 
campus to be located on the existing Immaculate Conception site.  Fleis & VandenBrink (F&V) was retained 
to complete a Traffic Impact Study (TIS) and site circulation evaluation for the proposed school consolidation.   

The scope of this study was developed to address the traffic related impacts of the consolidation and provide 
recommendations for any road improvements and/or traffic management plans that would be required to 
mitigate any traffic impacts.  Additionally, F&V provided analysis and recommendations for on-site traffic 
circulation to adequately accommodate parent pick-up / drop-off activities.   

This study was conducted in accordance with accepted traffic engineering practice to provide information and 
recommendations to GTACS and address concerns of the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) 
and City of Traverse City.  The evaluation includes the following study intersections: 

• US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Front Street,  
• US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Randolph Street,  
• US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Second Street,  
• US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) Third Street,  
• Randolph Street & Vine Street,  
• Cedar Street & Second Street / Vine Street,  
• Third Street & Existing Site Driveway, and 
• The proposed site driveways 

Data Collection  

The Immaculate Conception school start time is 7:30 AM and the dismissal time is 2:40 PM.  The analysis 
study focuses on the AM student arrival hour (7:00 AM to 8:00 AM) and the PM student dismissal hour (2:00 
PM to 3:00 PM), when traffic volumes generated by the school are at their peaks.  On October 20th-22nd, 2015 
F&V collected AM and PM peak hour traffic volume data at the study intersections. 

In addition, the adjacent Immaculate Conception Church has the following: Mass 8:15 AM Tuesday-Friday 
and 12:15 PM on Friday only, and Food Pantry Tuesday and Thursday from 7:00 to 8:00 PM. Although some 



Immaculate Conception Campus | Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Evaluation 
October 18, 2016 │ Page 2 of 7 

 

Immaculate Conception Campus School Evaluation FINAL Memo 10-18-16   

of these activities are concurrent with the school hours, they are not conflicting with the pick-up/drop-off time 
periods and therefore would not be impacted by the school operations. 

A review of the PM count data at the existing site driveways indicates traffic volumes were highest during the 
last 15-minute interval counted and therefore may not reflect the peak hour for school traffic; therefore, in 
order to validate the PM count data the site-generated trips during the AM and PM peak hours were 
compared.  The results of this comparison indicate that the site-generated trips during the PM peak hour were 
approximately 30% less than the AM peak hour.  Based on this information, the PM peak hour traffic volumes 
were adjusted upward and distributed to the study road network based on existing traffic patterns.   

Existing Conditions 

Existing peak hour vehicle delays and Levels of Service (LOS) were calculated at the study intersections 
using Synchro, Version 9 traffic analysis software.  The results of the analysis of existing conditions were 
based on the existing lane usage and traffic control shown on the attached Figure 1, the existing traffic 
volumes shown on the attached Figure 2, and the methodologies presented in the Highway Capacity Manual, 
2010 (HCM).  Descriptions of LOS “A” through “F” as defined in the HCM are attached for unsignalized and 
signalized intersections.  Typically, LOS D is considered acceptable, with LOS A representing minimal delay, 
and LOS F represent failing conditions.  The results of the analysis of existing conditions are attached and 
summarized in Table 1.   

Table 1       Existing Intersection Operations           
     AM Peak PM Peak 
     Delay   Delay   
Intersection Control Approach (s/veh) LOS (s/veh) LOS 
            1.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) Signalized EB 53.7 D 59.7 E 
  & Front Street  WB 39.1 D 61.0 E 
    NB 58.0 E 39.0 D 
    SB 47.0 D 38.0 D 
    Overall 51.2 D 46.7 D 
                            2.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) STOP EB 20.7 C 20.5 C 
  & Third Street (Minor) WB 11.8 B 27.1 D 
    NB LT 10.1 B 10.2 B 
    SB LT 10.1 B 10.4 B 
                            3.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) STOP WB 34.8 D 21.2 C 
  & Second Street (Minor) NB Free Free 
    SB LT 10.0 B 10.4 B 
                            4.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) STOP EB 114.6 F 125.0 F 
  & Randolph Street (Minor) WB 55.6 F 46.3 E 
    NB LT 9.7 A 10.1 B 
    SB LT 9.8 A 10.4 B 
                            5.  Randolph Street STOP EB Free Free 
  & Vine Street (Minor) WB LT 7.4 A 7.5 A 
    NB 10.4 B 11.0 B 
                            6.  Cedar Street STOP EB LT 7.2 A 7.3 A 
  & Second Street (Minor) WB LT 7.3 A 7.3 A 
    NB 9.3 A 9.8 A 
    SB 10.8 B 10.3 B 
                            7.  Third Street STOP EB LT 0.0 1 A 7.4 A 
  & Site Drive (Minor) WB Free Free 
    SB 9.0 A 9.2 A 
                

The results of the existing conditions analysis indicate that the signalized intersection of US-31 / M-37 & Front 
Street currently operates at an overall LOS D during both peak periods; however, the northbound approach 



Immaculate Conception Campus | Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Evaluation 
October 18, 2016 │ Page 3 of 7 

 

Immaculate Conception Campus School Evaluation FINAL Memo 10-18-16   

during the AM peak hour and eastbound and westbound approaches during the PM peak hour currently 
operate at a LOS E.  At the unsignalized study intersections and driveways all approaches currently operate 
acceptably at a LOS D or better during both peak periods except the eastbound and westbound approaches 
at the intersection US-31 / M-37 & Randolph Street which currently operate at a LOS E or F during the peak 
periods.   

The study network operations and vehicle queues were evaluated using the SimTraffic simulation.  The 
network was calibrated based on the actual and simulated number of entering vehicles based on MDOT 
standards.  Review of the network simulations indicates acceptable traffic operations during the AM peak 
hour. Brief periods of long vehicle queues are observed during the PM peak hour for the eastbound and 
westbound approaches on Front Street at the intersection of US-31 / M-37; however, the queues dissipate 
and are not present throughout the duration of the peak period. 

Trip Generation 

The number of AM and PM peak hour trips that would be generated by the proposed school consolidation 
was forecast based on the existing and projected future enrollment information provided by GTACS.  The 
existing 2015 enrollment of the two schools is 498 students.  The potential max enrollment with the new 
consolidated building is 560 students.  Based on information provided by GTACS, approximately 25% of 
existing students at both Holy Angels and Immaculate Conception either ride the bus, or are enrolled in the 
before/after school program (St. Joseph Club) and therefore do not generate peak hour vehicle trips. The 
peak hour trip generation for the remaining students was forecast based on the current ratio of 1.6 students 
per family and existing trip distribution percentages during the peak hours.  The existing peak hour trips were 
then removed from the future trip generation forecast in order to determine the number of site generated trips 
that would be new to the road network.  The trip generation forecast is summarized in Table 2.   

Table 2 
           Site Trip Generation                        

                          
   

AM Peak Hour 
 

PM Peak Hour   
Land Use Amount Units 

 
In Out Total 

 
In Out Total   

                                      Existing Trips 
   

185 176 361 
 

180 171 351   
Trip Distribution 

   
51% 49% 

  
51% 49% 

 
  

                                      Bus / After School Program 140 Students 
 

0 0 0 
 

0 0 0   
              

Elementary School 420 Students 
 

263 253 516 
 

263 253 516   
                                     NEW TRIPS 560 

  
78 77 155 

 
83 82 165 

                         
Note: Not all students from the Holy Angels School will result in new trips to the road network. Based on 
information provided by the GTACS, approximately 81 parents currently pick-up and drop-off students at both 
the Immaculate Conception and Holy Angles schools.   

Traffic Assignment 

The peak hour site trips shown in Table 2 were assigned to the adjacent road network based on existing peak 
hour traffic patterns.  Further, existing peak hour trips for the school were reassigned to the study road 
network where appropriate based on the proposed site circulation plan which requires all vehicles wishing to 
pick-up / drop-off must enter the site via the site driveway to Cedar Street aligned with Second Street from the 
south.  This reassignment involved the following steps: 

1. Determine the existing traffic patterns for the trips currently generated by the school. 
2. Remove the existing trips for the school from the existing traffic volumes within the study road 

network. 
3. Determine the future traffic patterns for the existing trips based on the proposed site circulation plan 

and available routes for school traffic. 
4. Reassign the school trips to the adjacent road network to and from the school site.   

The trip distribution model for the trip assignments is shown in Table 3 and the traffic assignments are shown 
on the attached Figure 3.  The site-generated trips and reassignments were added to the existing traffic 



Immaculate Conception Campus | Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Evaluation 
October 18, 2016 │ Page 4 of 7 

 

Immaculate Conception Campus School Evaluation FINAL Memo 10-18-16   

volumes shown on the attached Figure 2 in order to determine the future traffic volumes shown on the 
attached Figure 4.  

Table 3 
      Site Trip Distribution   AM PM 

              From via 
 

IN OUT IN OUT 
                        North M-37 / US-31 (Division) 

 
30% 16% 34% 11% 

South M-37 / US-31 (Division) 
 

14% 43% 14% 35% 
East Front Street 

 
8% 9% 9% 11% 

West Front Street 
 

48% 32% 43% 43% 
  

  
100% 100% 100% 100% 

              
Future Conditions 
Future peak hour vehicle delays and LOS with the proposed school campus were calculated based on the 
existing lane use and traffic control, the proposed site access and circulation plan, the future traffic volumes, 
and the methodologies presented in the HCM.  Additionally, SimTraffic simulations were utilized to evaluate 
network operations and vehicle queues.  The results of the analysis of total future conditions are attached and 
are summarized in Table 4. 

Table 4       Future Intersection Operations             
     AM Peak PM Peak 
     Delay   Delay   
Intersection Control Approach (s/veh) LOS (s/veh) LOS 
            1.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) Signalized EB 60.3 E 61.4 E 
  & Front Street  WB 39.9 D 63.2 E 
    NB 59.4 E 39.5 D 
    SB 46.7 D 38.1 D 
    Overall 53.3 D 47.6 D 
                            2.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) STOP EB 21.7 C 21.9 C 
  & Third Street (Minor) WB 11.8 B 42.0 E 
    NB LT 10.3 B 10.9 B 
    SB LT 10.1 B 10.4 B 
                            3.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) STOP WB 33.3 D 21.0 C 
  & Second Street (Minor) NB Free Free 
    SB LT 10.0 B 10.4 B 
                            4.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) STOP EB 155.1 F 224.0 F 
  & Randolph Street (Minor) WB 47.8 E 39.3 E 
    NB LT 9.8 A 10.2 B 
    SB LT 9.8 A 10.4 B 
                            6.  Cedar Street STOP EB LT 7.4 A 7.3 A 
  & Second Street (Minor) WB LT 8.1 A 8.1 A 
    NB 14.3 B 29.0 D 
    SB 25.8 D 27.4 D 
                

The future conditions results indicate that the proposed school consolidation would not have a significant 
impact on the signalized intersection of US-31 / M-37 & Front Street.  Future vehicle delays and LOS as 
shown in Table 4 will be similar to existing conditions and minor increases in vehicle delay will not be 
discernable.  Additionally, future traffic volumes at the intersection will increase by 2% or less during the peak 
periods, which is not significant.   



Immaculate Conception Campus | Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Evaluation 
October 18, 2016 │ Page 5 of 7 

 

Immaculate Conception Campus School Evaluation FINAL Memo 10-18-16   

At the unsignalized study intersections all study intersection approaches will continue to operate in a manner 
similar to existing conditions except the westbound approach on Third Street at the intersection of US-31 / M-
37 which will be reduced to a LOS E during the PM peak period.  However, HCM calculated 95th percentile 
queue lengths for this approach are calculated to be one vehicle, which is not significant.  Review of network 
simulations also indicates future traffic operations will be similar to existing conditions.   

The eastbound and westbound approaches on Randolph Street at US-31 / M-37 will continue to operate at a 
LOS E or F during the peak hours, with increased vehicle delays.  Therefore, improvements to help improve 
traffic operations at the intersection were investigated.  The results of this analysis indicate that the City 
should consider prohibiting parking on Randolph Street between Vine Street and US-31 / M-37 and restriping 
the approach to provide a shared left turn/through lane and exclusive right turn lane.  With the addition of this 
improvement, future traffic operations at the intersection will be similar to existing conditions as shown in 
Table 5.  

The City has indicated they do not typically stripe left turn lanes on primarily residential streets such as 
Randolph Street.  As such, F&V recommends the City monitors future traffic operations at the intersection 
including vehicle queuing, and crashes to determine if restriping the approach or prohibition of left turns is 
necessary.   

Table 5       Future Intersection Operations With Improvements         
     AM Peak PM Peak 
     Delay   Delay   
Intersection Control Approach (s/veh) LOS (s/veh) LOS 
            4.  US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) STOP EB 95.2 F 156.1 F 
  & Randolph Street (Minor) WB 47.8 E 39.3 E 
    NB LT 9.8 A 10.2 B 
    SB LT 9.8 A 10.4 B 
                

On-Site Facilities 

In order to accommodate school traffic volumes on-site, proper vehicle facilities must be provided for pick-up / 
drop-off activities.  Providing the necessary on-site operations minimizes the impact to adjacent off-site traffic 
operations.  The recommended site access for pick-up / drop-off facilities are summarized below.   

Pick-Up / Drop-Off Area 

Data collected by F&V staff for previous school studies indicate that 80% of AM peak hour traffic typically 
arrives in a peak 20 minute period and 70% of PM peak hour traffic typically arrives in a peak 30 minute 
period. During the AM peak period a minimum of 150 feet of on-site loading space should be provided, based 
on an average drop-off rate of 45 seconds per vehicle.  During the PM peak period, a minimum of 675 feet of 
on-site loading space should be provided, based on an average pick-up rate of 5.5 minutes per vehicle. 

In order to accommodate pick-up and drop-off activities, 675 feet of on-site sidewalk loading space should be 
provided.  Based on the most recent site plan, the pick-up / drop-off zone should be provided along the 
sidewalk along the east side of the parking lot and in front of the school.  In order to accommodate this, 
parking will need to be prohibited in the parking spaces along the sidewalk during pick-up / drop-off times.   

The pick-up / drop-off loading area should be designed with a one-way counterclockwise circulation with a 
width of 24 feet.  This design will provide for student loading on the passenger side of the vehicle and allow 
for vehicle passing in the loading zone with minimal vehicle-pedestrian conflicts.  Parents should be instructed 
to pull into the next available space in the pick-up / drop-off area and park along the curb while the child 
enters / exits the vehicle.  Once loading is complete the parent can then pull away from the curb and use the 
drive lane to exit the site.   

It is important that parents do not wait in line to pick-up / drop-off their child at the front door.  This 
will result in poor traffic operations and long vehicle queues which will spill out of the site onto 
adjacent streets.  



Immaculate Conception Campus | Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Evaluation 
October 18, 2016 │ Page 6 of 7 

 

Immaculate Conception Campus School Evaluation FINAL Memo 10-18-16   

Pedestrian Activity 

F&V also completed a review of existing pedestrian and bicycle activity in the area.  Based on the count data 
collected, school pedestrian activity in the area is minimal and school crossing guards are not required.  

Conclusions 

1. The signalized intersection of US-31 / M-37 & Front Street currently operates at an overall LOS D 
during both peak periods; however, the northbound approach during the AM peak hour and 
eastbound and westbound approaches during the PM peak hour currently operate at a LOS E. 

2. All unsignalized study intersections and driveway approaches currently operate acceptably at a LOS 
D or better during both peak periods except the eastbound and westbound approaches at the 
intersection US-31 / M-37 & Randolph Street which currently operate at a LOS E of F during the peak 
periods.   

3. The proposed school consolidation will generate 155 AM peak hour trips (78 inbound and 77 
outbound) and 165 PM peak hour trips (83 inbound and 82 outbound).   

4. Existing vehicle trips were reassigned to the study road network based on the proposed site access 
and circulation plan.  

5. Future traffic operations at the study intersections included existing traffic volumes collected, the 
redistributed existing trips generated the Immaculate Conception school and the projected traffic 
volumes from the school expansion.  

6. Future traffic operations at the signalized intersection of US-31 / M-37 & Front Street will be similar to 
existing conditions and minor increases in vehicle delay will not be discernable.  

7. At the unsignalized study intersections all study intersection approaches will continue to operate in a 
manner similar to existing conditions except the westbound approach at the intersection of US-31 / M-
37 & Third Street which will be reduced to a LOS E during the PM peak period.  However, HCM 
calculated 95th percentile queue lengths for this approach are calculated to be 1 vehicle, which is not 
significant.   

8. Pedestrian and bicycle activity is minimal and school crossing guards are not required at any study 
intersections  

9. Parking in the vehicle circulation loop may be permitted only during non-loading times (currently 8:00 
AM-3:00 PM) and during non-school hours.  

Recommendations 

1. Create a one-way counter-clockwise vehicle circulation loop for student drop-off / pick-up activities, 
utilizing the entire sidewalk adjacent to the north and east sides of the proposed parking lot.  A 
minimum of 675 feet of on-site loading space should be provided for the pick-up / drop-off area.  

2. Access to the main parking lot via the driveways at Third Street and Cedar Street should prohibited 
by the use of cones or other delineation during the pick-up / drop-off times (currently 7:00 AM-8:00 
AM and 2:00 PM-3:00 PM). 

3. In order to improve traffic operations at the intersection of US-31 / M-37 & Randolph Street the City 
should consider prohibiting parking on Randolph Street between Vine Street and US-31 / M-37 and 
restriping the approach to provide a shared left turn/through lane and exclusive right turn lane.  

4. If a parent wishes to park in a parking space and escort their child to/from school that is acceptable.  
The parent should only use the designated parking area adjacent to Vine Street to park and walk their 
child on the sidewalk to the main entrance.  Parking should not be permitted in the main parking lot, 
or in the proposed on-street parking area on Cedar Street.  

Additionally, the following should be encouraged improved use of the student loading facilities: 

5. Site circulation instructions should be distributed to the parents prior to the start of school each year 
and/or when changes are made in the operation.   

6. Allocate staff to direct drivers in the loading zones and encourage efficient entrance/exiting 
procedures.  



Immaculate Conception Campus | Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Evaluation 
October 18, 2016 │ Page 7 of 7 

 

Immaculate Conception Campus School Evaluation FINAL Memo 10-18-16   

7. An informational meeting should be considered to distribute a pamphlet and discuss with parents and 
staff outlining the curb loading zones, circulation pattern, proposed traffic operations and parking 
restrictions.   

8. Students should enter/exit their parent’s vehicles only on the passenger side.   

Any questions related to this memorandum, study, analyses, and results should be addressed to Fleis & 
VandenBrink.   

Attached: Traffic Volume Data 
  Figures 1 – 4 
  Synchro Results 
   











Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DZ0LP5~S
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/22/2015
Page No : 1

Project: TC Immaculate Conception
Weather: Dry, 60's
Location: M-37 (Division) & Front

Groups Printed- Unshifted
DIVISION

Southbound
FRONT

Westbound
DIVISION

Northbound
FRONT

Eastbound
Start Time Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Int. Total
07:00 AM 13 116 9 0 2 28 13 0 24 71 20 0 6 35 43 0 380
07:15 AM 22 129 36 0 1 47 23 1 25 99 34 0 6 65 56 1 545
07:30 AM 33 137 36 1 6 57 27 0 29 141 49 0 11 89 80 1 697
07:45 AM 36 149 28 0 7 74 29 4 53 168 52 0 13 87 62 2 764

Total 104 531 109 1 16 206 92 5 131 479 155 0 36 276 241 4 2386

****BREAK****

02:00 PM 29 146 27 1 27 45 46 4 27 154 46 0 13 52 49 2 668
02:15 PM 32 139 20 0 38 61 56 3 40 148 50 0 17 65 50 0 719
02:30 PM 35 151 28 1 33 59 49 2 41 152 42 0 10 84 57 3 747
02:45 PM 33 161 32 0 30 68 51 4 36 186 41 0 14 81 46 4 787

Total 129 597 107 2 128 233 202 13 144 640 179 0 54 282 202 9 2921

Grand Total 233 1128 216 3 144 439 294 18 275 1119 334 0 90 558 443 13 5307
Apprch % 14.7 71.4 13.7 0.2 16.1 49.1 32.8 2.0 15.9 64.8 19.3 0.0 8.2 50.5 40.1 1.2  

Total % 4.4 21.3 4.1 0.1 2.7 8.3 5.5 0.3 5.2 21.1 6.3 0.0 1.7 10.5 8.3 0.2

DIVISION

DIVISION

F
R

O
N

T
F

R
O

N
T

2
1

6

216

1
1

2
8
  1

5
7

7

1
1

2
8
  

1
5

1
2

2
3

3

233 144

1
4

4

294

2
9

4

877  439439  1006
1
1

1
9
  

1
7

2
8

1
1

1
9
  1

7
0

6

2
7

5

275

3
3

4

334

443

4
4

3

558  1091 1049  558

90

9
0

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DZ0LP5~S
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/22/2015
Page No : 2

DIVISION
Southbound

FRONT
Westbound

DIVISION
Northbound

FRONT
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 07:00 AM to 11:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 07:00 AM

Volume 104 531 109 1 745 16 206 92 5 319 131 479 155 0 765 36 276 241 4 557 2386
Percent 14.0 71.3 14.6 0.1 5.0 64.6 28.8 1.6 17.1 62.6 20.3 0.0 6.5 49.6 43.3 0.7

07:45
Volume

36 149 28 0 213 7 74 29 4 114 53 168 52 0 273 13 87 62 2 164 764

Peak
Factor

0.781

High Int. 07:45 AM 07:45 AM 07:45 AM 07:30 AM
Volume 36 149 28 0 213 7 74 29 4 114 53 168 52 0 273 11 89 80 1 181

Peak
Factor

0.874 0.700 0.701 0.769

DIVISION

DIVISION

F
R

O
N

T
F

R
O

N
T

1
0

9

109

5
3

1
  7

4
4

5
3
1

  
6

5
9

1
0

4

104 16

1
6

92

9
2

314  206206  465
4
7
9

  
7

6
5

4
7

9
  7

3
6

1
3
1

131

1
5
5

155

241

2
4

1

276  553 516  276

36

3
6

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

07:45 AM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DZ0LP5~S
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/22/2015
Page No : 3

DIVISION
Southbound

FRONT
Westbound

DIVISION
Northbound

FRONT
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 12:00 PM to 02:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 02:00 PM

Volume 129 597 107 2 835 128 233 202 13 576 144 640 179 0 963 54 282 202 9 547 2921
Percent 15.4 71.5 12.8 0.2 22.2 40.5 35.1 2.3 15.0 66.5 18.6 0.0 9.9 51.6 36.9 1.6

02:45
Volume

33 161 32 0 226 30 68 51 4 153 36 186 41 0 263 14 81 46 4 145 787

Peak
Factor

0.928

High Int. 02:45 PM 02:15 PM 02:45 PM 02:30 PM
Volume 33 161 32 0 226 38 61 56 3 158 36 186 41 0 263 10 84 57 3 154

Peak
Factor

0.924 0.911 0.915 0.888

DIVISION

DIVISION

F
R

O
N

T
F

R
O

N
T

1
0

7

107

5
9

7
  8

3
3

5
9
7

  
8
5

3

1
2

9

129 128

1
2

8

202

2
0
2

563  233233  541

6
4
0

  
9
6

3

6
4

0
  9

7
0

1
4
4

144

1
7
9

179

202

2
0

2

282  538 533  282

54

5
4

 1 - Unshifted

 

02:00 PM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : D4E8R6~N
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 1

Project: TC Immaculate Conception
Weather: Dry
Location: M-37 (Division) & Randolph

Groups Printed- Unshifted
DIVISION STREET

Southbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Westbound
DIVISION STREET

Northbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Eastbound
Start Time Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Int. Total
07:00 AM 11 127 1 0 0 0 0 0 6 113 1 0 26 1 3 0 289
07:15 AM 16 171 1 0 0 1 1 0 4 162 2 0 42 0 7 0 407
07:30 AM 16 161 4 0 1 1 0 0 4 203 5 0 44 4 17 0 460
07:45 AM 7 193 9 0 1 0 2 0 6 204 11 1 28 3 11 3 479

Total 50 652 15 0 2 2 3 0 20 682 19 1 140 8 38 3 1635

****BREAK****

02:00 PM 7 180 4 0 2 0 0 0 7 199 6 0 5 1 6 0 417
02:15 PM 8 199 9 1 6 0 3 0 5 204 7 0 16 2 3 0 463
02:30 PM 9 206 2 0 2 1 2 0 3 223 7 1 31 1 8 2 498
02:45 PM 5 196 6 0 4 0 0 0 5 224 15 0 35 1 5 0 496

Total 29 781 21 1 14 1 5 0 20 850 35 1 87 5 22 2 1874

Grand Total 79 1433 36 1 16 3 8 0 40 1532 54 2 227 13 60 5 3509
Apprch % 5.1 92.5 2.3 0.1 59.3 11.1 29.6 0.0 2.5 94.1 3.3 0.1 74.4 4.3 19.7 1.6  

Total % 2.3 40.8 1.0 0.0 0.5 0.1 0.2 0.0 1.1 43.7 1.5 0.1 6.5 0.4 1.7 0.1

DIVISION STREET

DIVISION STREET

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

3
6

36

1
4

3
3
  1

5
4

8

1
4

3
3
  

1
6

6
8

7
9

79 16

1
6

8

8

27  33  136
1
5

3
2
  

1
6

2
6

1
5

3
2
  1

6
0

8

4
0

40

5
4

54

60

6
0

13  300 89  13

227

2
2

7

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : D4E8R6~N
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 2

DIVISION STREET
Southbound

RANDOLPH STREET
Westbound

DIVISION STREET
Northbound

RANDOLPH STREET
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 07:00 AM to 11:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 07:00 AM

Volume 50 652 15 0 717 2 2 3 0 7 20 682 19 1 722 140 8 38 3 189 1635
Percent 7.0 90.9 2.1 0.0 28.6 28.6 42.9 0.0 2.8 94.5 2.6 0.1 74.1 4.2 20.1 1.6

07:45
Volume

7 193 9 0 209 1 0 2 0 3 6 204 11 1 222 28 3 11 3 45 479

Peak
Factor

0.853

High Int. 07:45 AM 07:45 AM 07:45 AM 07:30 AM
Volume 7 193 9 0 209 1 0 2 0 3 6 204 11 1 222 44 4 17 0 65

Peak
Factor

0.858 0.583 0.813 0.727

DIVISION STREET

DIVISION STREET

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

1
5

15

6
5

2
  7

1
7

6
5
2

  
7

9
5

5
0

50 2

2

3

3

7  22  71
6
8
2

  
7

2
1

6
8

2
  7

2
2

2
0

20

1
9

19

38

3
8

8  186 43  8

140

1
4
0

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

07:45 AM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : D4E8R6~N
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 3

DIVISION STREET
Southbound

RANDOLPH STREET
Westbound

DIVISION STREET
Northbound

RANDOLPH STREET
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 12:00 PM to 02:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 02:00 PM

Volume 29 781 21 1 832 14 1 5 0 20 20 850 35 1 906 87 5 22 2 116 1874
Percent 3.5 93.9 2.5 0.1 70.0 5.0 25.0 0.0 2.2 93.8 3.9 0.1 75.0 4.3 19.0 1.7

02:30
Volume

9 206 2 0 217 2 1 2 0 5 3 223 7 1 234 31 1 8 2 42 498

Peak
Factor

0.941

High Int. 02:15 PM 02:15 PM 02:45 PM 02:30 PM
Volume 8 199 9 1 217 6 0 3 0 9 5 224 15 0 244 31 1 8 2 42

Peak
Factor

0.959 0.556 0.928 0.690

DIVISION STREET

DIVISION STREET

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

2
1

21

7
8

1
  8

3
1

7
8
1

  
8
7

3

2
9

29 14

1
4

5

5

20  11  65

8
5
0

  
9
0

5

8
5

0
  8

8
6

2
0

20

3
5

35

22

2
2

5  114 46  5

87

8
7

 1 - Unshifted

 

02:00 PM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DTUWD3~R
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 1

Project: TC Immaculate Conception
Weather: Dry
Location: M-37 (Division) & Second

Groups Printed- Unshifted
DIVISION

Southbound
SECOND

Westbound
DIVISION

Northbound
SECOND
Eastbound

Start Time Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Int. Total
07:00 AM 0 156 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 280
07:15 AM 0 224 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 172 0 0 0 0 0 0 397
07:30 AM 0 204 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 208 0 0 0 0 0 0 416
07:45 AM 0 229 5 0 0 0 1 0 1 231 0 0 0 0 0 0 467

Total 0 813 9 0 0 0 2 0 3 733 0 0 0 0 0 0 1560

****BREAK****

02:00 PM 0 194 1 0 3 0 1 1 1 218 0 1 0 0 0 0 420
02:15 PM 0 217 2 0 2 0 1 0 1 223 0 1 0 0 0 0 447
02:30 PM 0 233 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 232 0 0 0 0 0 0 471
02:45 PM 0 229 5 0 0 0 0 0 3 231 0 0 0 0 0 0 468

Total 0 873 13 0 5 0 2 1 6 904 0 2 0 0 0 0 1806

Grand Total 0 1686 22 0 5 0 4 1 9 1637 0 2 0 0 0 0 3366
Apprch % 0.0 98.7 1.3 0.0 50.0 0.0 40.0 10.0 0.5 99.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0  

Total % 0.0 50.1 0.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.3 48.6 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

DIVISION

DIVISION

S
E

C
O

N
D

S
E

C
O

N
D

2
2

1
6

8
6
  1

7
0

8

1
6

8
6
  

1
6

9
0

5

4

4

    

1
6

3
7
  

1
6

4
6

1
6

3
7
  1

6
4

2

9

9

  
  

    

    31      

    

  
  

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DTUWD3~R
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 2

DIVISION
Southbound

SECOND
Westbound

DIVISION
Northbound

SECOND
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 07:00 AM to 11:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 07:00 AM

Volume 0 813 9 0 822 0 0 2 0 2 3 733 0 0 736 0 0 0 0 0 1560

Percent 0.0 98.9 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
100.

0
0.0 0.4 99.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

07:45
Volume

0 229 5 0 234 0 0 1 0 1 1 231 0 0 232 0 0 0 0 0 467

Peak
Factor

0.835

High Int. 07:45 AM 07:30 AM 07:45 AM 6:45:00 AM
Volume 0 229 5 0 234 0 0 1 0 1 1 231 0 0 232

Peak
Factor

0.878 0.500 0.793

DIVISION

DIVISION

S
E

C
O

N
D

S
E

C
O

N
D

98
1

3
  8

2
2

8
1

3
  
8

1
5

2

2

    

7
3

3
  
7

3
6

7
3

3
  7

3
3

3

3

  
  

    

    12      

    

  
  

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

07:45 AM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DTUWD3~R
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 3

DIVISION
Southbound

SECOND
Westbound

DIVISION
Northbound

SECOND
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 12:00 PM to 02:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 02:00 PM

Volume 0 873 13 0 886 5 0 2 1 8 6 904 0 2 912 0 0 0 0 0 1806
Percent 0.0 98.5 1.5 0.0 62.5 0.0 25.0 12.5 0.7 99.1 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

02:30
Volume

0 233 5 0 238 0 0 0 0 0 1 232 0 0 233 0 0 0 0 0 471

Peak
Factor

0.959

High Int. 02:30 PM 02:00 PM 02:45 PM
Volume 0 233 5 0 238 3 0 1 1 5 3 231 0 0 234

Peak
Factor

0.931 0.400 0.974

DIVISION

DIVISION

S
E

C
O

N
D

S
E

C
O

N
D

1
3

8
7

3
  8

8
6

8
7
3

  
8
7

5

5

2

2
    

9
0
4

  
9
1

0

9
0

4
  9

0
9

6

6

  
  

    

    19      

    

  
  

 1 - Unshifted

 

02:00 PM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DUSAZ6~Q
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 1

Project: TC Immaculate Conception
Weather: Dry
Location: M-37 (Division) & Third

Groups Printed- Unshifted
DIVISION

Southbound
THIRD

Westbound
DIVISION

Northbound
THIRD

Eastbound
Start Time Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Int. Total
07:00 AM 5 149 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 116 2 0 2 0 1 0 276
07:15 AM 10 195 2 0 1 0 0 0 4 166 3 0 2 0 0 0 383
07:30 AM 5 201 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 204 5 0 5 0 1 0 423
07:45 AM 9 219 0 0 1 0 0 0 5 229 6 0 4 0 1 0 474

Total 29 764 2 0 4 0 0 0 10 715 16 0 13 0 3 0 1556

****BREAK****

02:00 PM 2 202 0 0 2 0 0 0 4 207 1 1 4 0 0 0 423
02:15 PM 6 208 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 207 2 1 6 0 2 1 437
02:30 PM 5 227 1 0 3 0 1 0 3 224 2 0 7 0 0 0 473
02:45 PM 9 220 2 1 1 1 1 0 1 234 8 0 7 0 2 0 487

Total 22 857 3 2 9 1 2 0 8 872 13 2 24 0 4 1 1820

Grand Total 51 1621 5 2 13 1 2 0 18 1587 29 2 37 0 7 1 3376
Apprch % 3.0 96.5 0.3 0.1 81.3 6.3 12.5 0.0 1.1 97.0 1.8 0.1 82.2 0.0 15.6 2.2  

Total % 1.5 48.0 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.5 47.0 0.9 0.1 1.1 0.0 0.2 0.0

DIVISION

DIVISION

T
H

IR
D

T
H

IR
D

51
6

2
1
  1

6
7

7

1
6

2
1
  

1
6

6
0

5
1

51 13

1
3

2

2

16  11  81
1
5

8
7
  

1
6

3
4

1
5

8
7
  1

6
0

7

1
8

18

2
9

29

7

  4423  

37

3
7

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DUSAZ6~Q
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 2

DIVISION
Southbound

THIRD
Westbound

DIVISION
Northbound

THIRD
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 07:00 AM to 11:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 07:00 AM

Volume 29 764 2 0 795 4 0 0 0 4 10 715 16 0 741 13 0 3 0 16 1556

Percent 3.6 96.1 0.3 0.0
100.

0
0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 96.5 2.2 0.0 81.3 0.0 18.8 0.0

07:45
Volume

9 219 0 0 228 1 0 0 0 1 5 229 6 0 240 4 0 1 0 5 474

Peak
Factor

0.821

High Int. 07:45 AM 07:00 AM 07:45 AM 07:30 AM
Volume 9 219 0 0 228 1 0 0 0 1 5 229 6 0 240 5 0 1 0 6

Peak
Factor

0.872 1.000 0.772 0.667

DIVISION

DIVISION

T
H

IR
D

T
H

IR
D

27
6

4
  7

9
5

7
6

4
  
7

7
7

2
9

29 4

4

4    45
7
1

5
  
7

4
1

7
1

5
  7

2
2

1
0

10

1
6

16

3

  1612  

13

1
3

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

07:45 AM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : DUSAZ6~Q
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/21/2015
Page No : 3

DIVISION
Southbound

THIRD
Westbound

DIVISION
Northbound

THIRD
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 12:00 PM to 02:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 02:00 PM

Volume 22 857 3 2 884 9 1 2 0 12 8 872 13 2 895 24 0 4 1 29 1820
Percent 2.5 96.9 0.3 0.2 75.0 8.3 16.7 0.0 0.9 97.4 1.5 0.2 82.8 0.0 13.8 3.4

02:45
Volume

9 220 2 1 232 1 1 1 0 3 1 234 8 0 243 7 0 2 0 9 487

Peak
Factor

0.934

High Int. 02:30 PM 02:30 PM 02:45 PM 02:15 PM
Volume 5 227 1 0 233 3 0 1 0 4 1 234 8 0 243 6 0 2 1 9

Peak
Factor

0.948 0.750 0.921 0.806

DIVISION

DIVISION

T
H

IR
D

T
H

IR
D

38
5

7
  8

8
2

8
5
7

  
8
8

3

2
2

22 9

9

2

2

12  11  36

8
7
2

  
8
9

3

8
7

2
  8

8
5

8

8

1
3

13

4
  2811  

24

2
4

 1 - Unshifted

 

02:00 PM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : V6H63C~Q
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 1

Project: TC Immaculate Conception
Weather: Dry
Location: Randolph & Vine

Groups Printed- Unshifted

Southbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Westbound
VINE

Northbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Eastbound
Start Time Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Int. Total
07:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 7 2 1 17 0 8 0 5 13 0 0 53
07:15 AM 0 0 0 0 0 11 3 0 48 0 14 0 6 14 0 0 96
07:30 AM 0 0 0 0 0 19 2 0 56 0 8 0 1 20 0 0 106
07:45 AM 0 0 0 0 0 17 2 0 10 0 3 0 1 24 0 0 57

Total 0 0 0 0 0 54 9 1 131 0 33 0 13 71 0 0 312

****BREAK****

02:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 10 5 2 1 0 2 0 3 11 0 0 34
02:15 PM 0 0 0 0 0 6 6 0 1 0 3 0 2 10 0 0 28
02:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 7 7 0 30 0 6 0 7 20 0 0 77
02:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 17 8 0 26 0 18 0 3 13 0 1 86

Total 0 0 0 0 0 40 26 2 58 0 29 0 15 54 0 1 225

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 0 94 35 3 189 0 62 0 28 125 0 1 537
Apprch % 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 71.2 26.5 2.3 75.3 0.0 24.7 0.0 18.2 81.2 0.0 0.6  

Total % 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.5 6.5 0.6 35.2 0.0 11.5 0.0 5.2 23.3 0.0 0.2

VINE

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

    

  
  
  

6
3

    

    

35

3
5

129  9494  156

  
  
  

2
5
1

1
8

9

189

6
2

62

    

125  153 314  125

28

2
8

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : V6H63C~Q
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 2

Southbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Westbound
VINE

Northbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 07:00 AM to 11:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 07:00 AM

Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 54 9 1 64 131 0 33 0 164 13 71 0 0 84 312
Percent 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 84.4 14.1 1.6 79.9 0.0 20.1 0.0 15.5 84.5 0.0 0.0

07:30
Volume

0 0 0 0 0 0 19 2 0 21 56 0 8 0 64 1 20 0 0 21 106

Peak
Factor

0.736

High Int. 6:45:00 AM 07:30 AM 07:30 AM 07:45 AM
Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 2 0 21 56 0 8 0 64 1 24 0 0 25

Peak
Factor

0.762 0.641 0.840

VINE

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

    

  
  
  
2
2

    

    

9

9

63  5454  87

  
  
  
1
6
4

1
3
1

131

3
3

33

    

71  84 202  71

13

1
3

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

07:45 AM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : V6H63C~Q
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 3

Southbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Westbound
VINE

Northbound
RANDOLPH STREET

Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 12:00 PM to 02:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 02:00 PM

Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 26 2 68 58 0 29 0 87 15 54 0 1 70 225
Percent 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 58.8 38.2 2.9 66.7 0.0 33.3 0.0 21.4 77.1 0.0 1.4

02:45
Volume

0 0 0 0 0 0 17 8 0 25 26 0 18 0 44 3 13 0 1 17 86

Peak
Factor

0.654

High Int. 02:45 PM 02:45 PM 02:30 PM
Volume 0 0 0 0 0 0 17 8 0 25 26 0 18 0 44 7 20 0 0 27

Peak
Factor

0.680 0.494 0.648

VINE

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
A

N
D

O
L

P
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

    

  
  

  
4
1

    

    

26

2
6

66  4040  69

  
  

  
8
7

5
8

58

2
9

29

    

54  69 112  54

15

1
5

 1 - Unshifted

 

02:00 PM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : TEYOLQ~5
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 1

Project: TC Immaculate Conception
Weather: Dry
Location: Third & Site Drive

Groups Printed- Unshifted
SITE DRIVE
Southbound

THIRD STREET
Westbound Northbound

THIRD STREET
Eastbound

Start Time Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Int. Total
07:00 AM 0 0 0 0 2 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 10
07:15 AM 0 0 1 0 3 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 16
07:30 AM 0 0 0 1 3 4 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 9 0 0 20
07:45 AM 0 0 2 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 18

Total 0 0 3 1 8 23 0 3 0 0 0 1 0 22 0 3 64

****BREAK****

02:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 10
02:15 PM 1 0 1 0 1 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 16
02:30 PM 0 0 5 0 1 12 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 1 0 25
02:45 PM 0 0 3 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 24

Total 1 0 9 0 2 44 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 15 3 0 75

Grand Total 1 0 12 1 10 67 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 37 3 3 139
Apprch % 7.1 0.0 85.7 7.1 12.3 82.7 0.0 4.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 86.0 7.0 7.0  

Total % 0.7 0.0 8.6 0.7 7.2 48.2 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 26.6 2.2 2.2

SITE DRIVE

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

1
2

12

  
0

1 10

1
0

77  6767  68

  
0

3

37  40 49  37

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : TEYOLQ~5
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 2

SITE DRIVE
Southbound

THIRD STREET
Westbound Northbound

THIRD STREET
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 07:00 AM to 11:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 07:00 AM

Volume 0 0 3 1 4 8 23 0 3 34 0 0 0 1 1 0 22 0 3 25 64

Percent 0.0 0.0 75.0 25.0 23.5 67.6 0.0 8.8 0.0 0.0 0.0
100.

0
0.0 88.0 0.0 12.0

07:30
Volume

0 0 0 1 1 3 4 0 2 9 0 0 0 1 1 0 9 0 0 9 20

Peak
Factor

0.800

High Int. 07:45 AM 07:15 AM 07:30 AM 07:45 AM
Volume 0 0 2 0 2 3 9 0 0 12 0 0 0 1 1 0 11 0 0 11

Peak
Factor

0.500 0.708 0.250 0.568

SITE DRIVE

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

3

3

  
0

8

8

31  2323  23

  
0

22  22 25  22

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

07:45 AM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : TEYOLQ~5
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 3

SITE DRIVE
Southbound

THIRD STREET
Westbound Northbound

THIRD STREET
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 12:00 PM to 02:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 02:00 PM

Volume 1 0 9 0 10 2 44 0 1 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 3 0 18 75
Percent 10.0 0.0 90.0 0.0 4.3 93.6 0.0 2.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 83.3 16.7 0.0

02:30
Volume

0 0 5 0 5 1 12 0 1 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 1 0 6 25

Peak
Factor

0.750

High Int. 02:30 PM 02:45 PM 02:00 PM
Volume 0 0 5 0 5 0 19 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 6

Peak
Factor

0.500 0.618 0.750

SITE DRIVE

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

9

9

  
0

1 2

2

46  4444  45

  
0

3

15  18 24  15

 1 - Unshifted

 

02:00 PM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : CDENLF~X
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 1

Project: TC Immaculate Conception
Weather: Dry
Location: Cedar & Second / Vine

Groups Printed- Unshifted
CEDAR STREET

Southbound
SECOND/VINE STREET

Westbound
CEDAR STREET

Northbound
SECOND STREET

Eastbound
Start Time Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Right Thru Left Peds Int. Total
07:00 AM 0 0 5 0 0 2 2 0 23 0 1 0 0 9 0 0 42
07:15 AM 0 3 15 0 0 2 1 0 24 3 1 1 0 11 0 0 61
07:30 AM 0 6 14 3 0 0 1 0 38 0 1 0 5 6 0 3 77
07:45 AM 0 3 3 1 0 0 1 0 6 4 1 0 1 1 2 0 23

Total 0 12 37 4 0 4 5 0 91 7 4 1 6 27 2 3 203

****BREAK****

02:00 PM 0 5 0 0 1 0 4 0 2 7 4 0 1 1 0 0 25
02:15 PM 0 4 2 0 0 1 2 0 4 3 1 0 0 1 0 0 18
02:30 PM 1 3 1 4 1 0 4 1 28 6 2 1 0 2 1 3 58
02:45 PM 0 6 4 0 1 1 2 0 31 6 4 0 0 7 0 0 62

Total 1 18 7 4 3 2 12 1 65 22 11 1 1 11 1 3 163

Grand Total 1 30 44 8 3 6 17 1 156 29 15 2 7 38 3 6 366
Apprch % 1.2 36.1 53.0 9.6 11.1 22.2 63.0 3.7 77.2 14.4 7.4 1.0 13.0 70.4 5.6 11.1  

Total % 0.3 8.2 12.0 2.2 0.8 1.6 4.6 0.3 42.6 7.9 4.1 0.5 1.9 10.4 0.8 1.6

CEDAR STREET

CEDAR STREET

S
E

C
O

N
D

/V
IN

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T
S

E
C

O
N

D
 S

T
R

E
E

T

4
4

44

3
0

  7
5

3
0

  
5
4

1

1 3

3

17

1
7

26  66  22
2
9

  
2
0

0

2
9

  3
5

1
5

6

156

1
5

15

3

3

38  48 238  38

7

7

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

02:45 PM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : CDENLF~X
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 2

CEDAR STREET
Southbound

SECOND/VINE STREET
Westbound

CEDAR STREET
Northbound

SECOND STREET
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 07:00 AM to 11:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 07:00 AM

Volume 0 12 37 4 53 0 4 5 0 9 91 7 4 1 103 6 27 2 3 38 203
Percent 0.0 22.6 69.8 7.5 0.0 44.4 55.6 0.0 88.3 6.8 3.9 1.0 15.8 71.1 5.3 7.9

07:30
Volume

0 6 14 3 23 0 0 1 0 1 38 0 1 0 39 5 6 0 3 14 77

Peak
Factor

0.659

High Int. 07:30 AM 07:00 AM 07:30 AM 07:30 AM
Volume 0 6 14 3 23 0 2 2 0 4 38 0 1 0 39 5 6 0 3 14

Peak
Factor

0.576 0.563 0.660 0.679

CEDAR STREET

CEDAR STREET

S
E

C
O

N
D

/V
IN

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T
S

E
C

O
N

D
 S

T
R

E
E

T

3
7

37

1
2

  4
9

1
2
  

2
3

5

5

9  44  8
7
  
1

0
2

7
  9

9
1

91

4

4

2

2

27  35 155  27

6

6

 1 - Unshifted

 

07:00 AM

07:45 AM

North



Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering, Inc.
27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 150

Farmington Hills, MI 48334 File Name : CDENLF~X
Site Code : 00000000
Start Date : 10/20/2015
Page No : 3

CEDAR STREET
Southbound

SECOND/VINE STREET
Westbound

CEDAR STREET
Northbound

SECOND STREET
Eastbound

Start Time
Righ

t
Thru Left

Ped
s

App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Righ
t

Thru Left
Ped

s
App.
Total

Int.
Total

Peak Hour From 12:00 PM to 02:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Intersection 02:00 PM

Volume 1 18 7 4 30 3 2 12 1 18 65 22 11 1 99 1 11 1 3 16 163
Percent 3.3 60.0 23.3 13.3 16.7 11.1 66.7 5.6 65.7 22.2 11.1 1.0 6.3 68.8 6.3 18.8

02:45
Volume

0 6 4 0 10 1 1 2 0 4 31 6 4 0 41 0 7 0 0 7 62

Peak
Factor

0.657

High Int. 02:45 PM 02:30 PM 02:45 PM 02:45 PM
Volume 0 6 4 0 10 1 0 4 1 6 31 6 4 0 41 0 7 0 0 7

Peak
Factor

0.750 0.750 0.604 0.571

CEDAR STREET

CEDAR STREET

S
E

C
O

N
D

/V
IN

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T
S

E
C

O
N

D
 S

T
R

E
E

T

7

7

1
8

  2
6

1
8
  

3
1

1

1 3

3

12

1
2

17  22  14

2
2
  

9
8

2
2

  2
6

6
5

65

1
1

11

1

1

11  13 83  11

1

1

 1 - Unshifted

 

02:00 PM

02:45 PM

North



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing Conditions
1: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Front Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception Synchro 9 Report
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering 10/26/2015

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 247 276 36 92 206 16 155 490 131 118 574 112
Future Volume (veh/h) 247 276 36 92 206 16 155 490 131 118 574 112
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 1 6 16 5 2 12
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 321 358 47 131 294 23 221 700 187 136 660 129
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 2 0 1 2 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.87 0.87 0.87
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 358 435 57 293 460 36 350 754 201 323 806 157
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.27 0.27 0.09 0.27 0.27 0.13 0.27 0.27 0.13 0.27 0.27
Sat Flow, veh/h 1774 1612 212 1774 1705 133 1774 2763 738 1774 2953 576
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 321 0 405 131 0 317 221 448 439 136 395 394
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1774 0 1824 1774 0 1838 1774 1770 1731 1774 1770 1760
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.6 0.0 20.8 0.0 0.0 15.2 4.9 24.7 24.7 1.8 20.9 21.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 6.6 0.0 20.8 0.0 0.0 15.2 4.9 24.7 24.7 1.8 20.9 21.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.12 1.00 0.07 1.00 0.43 1.00 0.33
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 358 0 492 293 0 496 350 483 473 323 483 480
V/C Ratio(X) 0.90 0.00 0.82 0.45 0.00 0.64 0.63 0.93 0.93 0.42 0.82 0.82
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 409 0 492 345 0 496 350 483 473 323 483 480
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 40.0 0.0 34.2 39.9 0.0 32.2 37.9 35.4 35.4 37.7 34.0 34.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 20.2 0.0 14.3 1.1 0.0 6.2 3.7 26.4 26.9 0.9 14.3 14.5
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 10.7 0.0 12.4 3.4 0.0 8.6 5.9 15.6 15.4 3.4 12.1 12.1
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 60.2 0.0 48.6 41.0 0.0 38.4 41.5 61.8 62.3 38.6 48.3 48.5
LnGrp LOS E D D D D E E D D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 726 448 1108 925
Approach Delay, s/veh 53.7 39.1 58.0 47.0
Approach LOS D D E D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 18.9 33.0 15.1 33.0 18.9 33.0 15.1 33.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0 * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 10 * 27 12.0 27.0 * 10 * 27 12.0 27.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.9 23.0 2.0 22.8 3.8 26.7 8.6 17.2
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.4 1.9 1.1 1.0 0.6 0.4 0.5 1.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 51.2
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
2: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Third Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 0 20 0 0 4 16 727 10 2 784 29
Future Vol, veh/h 5 0 20 0 0 4 16 727 10 2 784 29
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 67 67 67 95 95 95 77 77 77 87 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 0 30 0 0 4 21 944 13 2 901 33

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1436 1921 467 1447 1931 479 934 0 0 957 0 0
          Stage 1 922 922 - 992 992 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 514 999 - 455 939 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 94 66 542 92 65 533 729 - - 714 - -
          Stage 1 291 347 - 264 322 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 511 319 - 554 341 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 88 62 542 82 61 533 729 - - 714 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 88 62 - 82 61 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 273 345 - 248 302 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 476 299 - 520 339 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 20.7 11.8 0.5 0
HCM LOS C B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 729 - - 267 533 714 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.029 - - 0.14 0.008 0.003 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.1 0.3 - 20.7 11.8 10.1 0 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - C B B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0.5 0 0 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
3: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Second Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 0 733 3 9 813
Future Vol, veh/h 2 0 733 3 9 813
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 50 50 79 79 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 4 0 928 4 10 924

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1412 466 0 0 932 0
          Stage 1 930 - - - - -
          Stage 2 482 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.84 6.94 - - 4.14 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.84 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.84 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 3.32 - - 2.22 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 129 543 - - 730 -
          Stage 1 344 - - - - -
          Stage 2 587 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 125 543 - - 730 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 125 - - - - -
          Stage 1 344 - - - - -
          Stage 2 571 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 34.8 0 0.2
HCM LOS D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 125 730 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.032 0.014 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 34.8 10 0.1
HCM Lane LOS - - D B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.1 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
4: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Randolph Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 16.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 41 8 153 3 2 2 19 694 20 15 666 50
Future Vol, veh/h 41 8 153 3 2 2 19 694 20 15 666 50
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 73 73 73 58 58 58 81 81 81 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 56 11 210 5 3 3 23 857 25 17 774 58

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1321 1772 420 1350 1789 445 836 0 0 884 0 0
          Stage 1 841 841 - 919 919 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 480 931 - 431 870 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 115 82 582 109 80 561 794 - - 761 - -
          Stage 1 326 379 - 292 348 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 536 344 - 573 367 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 102 74 580 57 72 559 793 - - 760 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 102 74 - 57 72 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 307 362 - 275 327 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 497 323 - 340 351 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 114.6 55.6 0.5 0.4
HCM LOS F F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 793 - - 261 83 760 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.03 - - 1.06 0.145 0.023 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.7 0.3 - 114.6 55.6 9.8 0.2 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - F F A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 11.2 0.5 0.1 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
5: Vine Street & Randolph Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 71 13 9 62 33 131
Future Vol, veh/h 71 13 9 62 33 131
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 76 76 64 64
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 85 15 12 82 52 205

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 100 0 197 92
          Stage 1 - - - - 92 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 105 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1493 - 792 965
          Stage 1 - - - - 932 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 919 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1493 - 786 965
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 786 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 932 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 912 -

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.9 10.4
HCM LOS B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 923 - - 1493 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.278 - - 0.008 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.4 - - 7.4 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.1 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
6: Cedar Street & Second Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 7.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 27 6 5 4 0 4 7 91 37 12 0
Future Vol, veh/h 2 27 6 5 4 0 4 7 91 37 12 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 4 0 1 1 0 4
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 68 68 68 56 56 56 66 66 66 58 58 58
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 3 40 9 9 7 0 6 11 138 64 21 0

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 11 0 0 53 0 0 93 83 51 157 87 14
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 54 54 - 29 29 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 39 29 - 128 58 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1608 - - 1553 - - 891 807 1017 809 803 1066
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 958 850 - 988 871 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 976 871 - 876 847 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1603 - - 1549 - - 862 794 1010 683 791 1059
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 862 794 - 683 791 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 952 845 - 982 862 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 944 862 - 743 842 -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.4 4.1 9.3 10.8
HCM LOS A B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 985 1603 - - 1549 - - 707
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.157 0.002 - - 0.006 - - 0.119
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.3 7.2 0 - 7.3 0 - 10.8
HCM Lane LOS A A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 0 - - 0 - - 0.4



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
7: Third Street & Site Drive AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 22 37 8 3 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 22 37 8 3 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 57 57 71 71 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 39 52 11 6 0

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 63 0 - 0 97 58
          Stage 1 - - - - 58 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 39 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1540 - - - 902 1008
          Stage 1 - - - - 965 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 983 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1540 - - - 902 1008
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 902 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 965 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 983 -

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 9
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 1540 - - - 902
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - 0.007
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - - 9
HCM Lane LOS A - - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Existing Conditions (Adjusted Volumes)
1: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Front Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 202 282 54 202 236 128 182 643 144 116 654 139
Future Volume (veh/h) 202 282 54 202 236 128 182 643 144 116 654 139
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 1 6 16 5 2 12
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 227 317 61 222 259 141 198 699 157 126 711 151
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 2 0 1 2 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 260 386 74 286 287 156 317 1000 224 319 1011 215
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.25 0.25 0.09 0.25 0.25 0.09 0.35 0.35 0.09 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 1774 1515 291 1774 1129 614 1774 2872 645 1774 2905 617
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 227 0 378 222 0 400 198 431 425 126 433 429
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1774 0 1806 1774 0 1743 1774 1770 1747 1774 1770 1752
Q Serve(g_s), s 7.7 0.0 21.7 5.6 0.0 24.4 1.9 23.1 23.1 0.0 23.2 23.3
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 7.7 0.0 21.7 5.6 0.0 24.4 1.9 23.1 23.1 0.0 23.2 23.3
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.16 1.00 0.35 1.00 0.37 1.00 0.35
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 260 0 460 286 0 444 317 616 608 319 616 610
V/C Ratio(X) 0.87 0.00 0.82 0.78 0.00 0.90 0.62 0.70 0.70 0.40 0.70 0.70
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 291 0 460 316 0 444 317 616 608 319 616 610
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 47.0 0.0 38.7 45.5 0.0 39.7 42.1 30.9 30.9 39.9 30.9 30.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 22.3 0.0 15.2 10.6 0.0 24.1 3.8 6.5 6.6 0.8 6.6 6.7
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 8.4 0.0 12.8 7.3 0.0 14.7 5.9 12.4 12.2 3.5 12.4 12.3
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 69.3 0.0 53.9 56.2 0.0 63.7 45.9 37.4 37.5 40.7 37.5 37.6
LnGrp LOS E D E E D D D D D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 605 622 1054 988
Approach Delay, s/veh 59.7 61.0 39.0 38.0
Approach LOS E E D D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.9 44.0 16.1 34.0 15.9 44.0 16.1 34.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0 * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 8.3 * 38 12.0 28.0 * 8.3 * 38 12.0 28.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 3.9 25.3 7.6 23.7 2.0 25.1 9.7 26.4
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.4 4.6 0.6 0.9 0.5 4.6 0.4 0.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 46.7
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions (Adjusted Volumes)
2: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Third Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 0 28 2 1 9 20 945 8 3 879 34
Future Vol, veh/h 5 0 28 2 1 9 20 945 8 3 879 34
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 0 2 2 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 81 81 81 75 75 75 92 92 92 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 6 0 35 3 1 12 22 1027 9 3 925 36

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1509 2030 484 1546 2044 521 962 0 0 1037 0 0
          Stage 1 950 950 - 1076 1076 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 559 1080 - 470 968 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 83 57 529 78 56 500 711 - - 666 - -
          Stage 1 280 337 - 234 294 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 481 293 - 543 330 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 74 52 527 68 51 499 710 - - 665 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 74 52 - 68 51 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 259 333 - 217 272 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 432 271 - 501 326 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 20.5 27.1 0.6 0.1
HCM LOS C D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 710 - - 273 179 665 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.031 - - 0.149 0.089 0.005 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.2 0.4 - 20.5 27.1 10.4 0.1 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - C D B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0.5 0.3 0 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions (Adjusted Volumes)
3: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Second Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 5 953 6 13 914
Future Vol, veh/h 2 5 953 6 13 914
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 1 0 2 2 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 40 40 95 95 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 5 13 1003 6 14 983

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1526 508 0 0 1010 0
          Stage 1 1007 - - - - -
          Stage 2 519 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.84 6.94 - - 4.14 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.84 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.84 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 3.32 - - 2.22 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 108 510 - - 682 -
          Stage 1 314 - - - - -
          Stage 2 562 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 103 509 - - 681 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 103 - - - - -
          Stage 1 314 - - - - -
          Stage 2 536 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21.2 0 0.3
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 239 681 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.073 0.021 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 21.2 10.4 0.2
HCM Lane LOS - - C B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.2 0.1 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions (Adjusted Volumes)
4: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Randolph Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 13.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 29 5 109 5 1 14 36 902 20 21 813 39
Future Vol, veh/h 29 5 109 5 1 14 36 902 20 21 813 39
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 69 69 69 56 56 56 93 93 93 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 42 7 158 9 2 25 39 970 22 22 856 41

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1488 1994 451 1538 2003 499 899 0 0 993 0 0
          Stage 1 923 923 - 1060 1060 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 565 1071 - 478 943 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 86 60 556 79 59 517 751 - - 692 - -
          Stage 1 290 347 - 239 299 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 477 295 - 537 339 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 69 49 554 43 49 516 750 - - 691 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 69 49 - 43 49 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 256 324 - 211 264 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 398 260 - 351 317 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 125 46.3 0.8 0.5
HCM LOS F E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 750 - - 199 122 691 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.052 - - 1.041 0.293 0.032 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.1 0.5 - 125 46.3 10.4 0.3 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - F E B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 9.3 1.1 0.1 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions (Adjusted Volumes)
5: Vine Street & Randolph Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.6

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 56 21 36 40 40 87
Future Vol, veh/h 56 21 36 40 40 87
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 1 1 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 65 65 68 68 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 86 32 53 59 80 174

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 118 0 267 103
          Stage 1 - - - - 102 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 165 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1470 - 722 952
          Stage 1 - - - - 922 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 864 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1469 - 695 951
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 695 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 922 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 831 -

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 3.6 11
HCM LOS B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 852 - - 1469 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.298 - - 0.036 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11 - - 7.5 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.3 - - 0.1 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions (Adjusted Volumes)
6: Cedar Street & Second Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 15 1 19 3 5 11 22 91 10 18 1
Future Vol, veh/h 1 15 1 19 3 5 11 22 91 10 18 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 3 3 0 1 4 0 1 1 0 4
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 57 57 57 75 75 75 60 60 60 75 75 75
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 2 26 2 25 4 7 18 37 152 13 24 1

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 15 0 0 32 0 0 110 100 34 191 98 14
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 35 35 - 62 62 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 75 65 - 129 36 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1603 - - 1580 - - 868 790 1039 769 792 1066
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 981 866 - 949 843 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 934 841 - 875 865 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1598 - - 1575 - - 830 771 1032 620 773 1059
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 830 771 - 620 773 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 976 862 - 944 826 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 889 824 - 712 861 -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.4 5.2 9.8 10.3
HCM LOS A B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 954 1598 - - 1575 - - 719
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.217 0.001 - - 0.016 - - 0.054
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.8 7.3 0 - 7.3 0 - 10.3
HCM Lane LOS A A A - A A - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 0 - - 0 - - 0.2



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions (Adjusted Volumes)
7: Third Street & Site Drive PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 4 19 52 3 14 3
Future Vol, veh/h 4 19 52 3 14 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 0 1 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 75 75 62 62 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 5 25 84 5 28 6

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 89 0 - 0 122 87
          Stage 1 - - - - 86 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 36 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1506 - - - 873 971
          Stage 1 - - - - 937 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 986 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1505 - - - 870 970
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 870 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 937 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 983 -

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.3 0 9.2
HCM LOS A

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 1505 - - - 886
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.004 - - - 0.038
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 - - 9.2
HCM Lane LOS A A - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.1



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Future Conditions
1: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Front Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 247 281 62 92 211 17 155 496 131 120 582 103
Future Volume (veh/h) 247 281 62 92 211 17 155 496 131 120 582 103
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 1 6 16 5 2 12
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.99 1.00 0.99 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 321 365 81 131 301 24 221 709 187 138 669 118
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 2 0 1 2 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.87 0.87 0.87
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 357 398 88 267 460 37 345 757 199 315 821 145
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.27 0.27 0.09 0.27 0.27 0.13 0.27 0.27 0.13 0.27 0.27
Sat Flow, veh/h 1774 1475 327 1774 1702 136 1774 2771 731 1774 3008 530
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 321 0 446 131 0 325 221 453 443 138 393 394
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1774 0 1803 1774 0 1838 1774 1770 1732 1774 1770 1768
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.9 0.0 24.0 1.1 0.0 15.7 4.9 25.0 25.0 2.1 20.8 20.8
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 6.9 0.0 24.0 1.1 0.0 15.7 4.9 25.0 25.0 2.1 20.8 20.8
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.18 1.00 0.07 1.00 0.42 1.00 0.30
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 357 0 487 267 0 496 345 483 473 315 483 483
V/C Ratio(X) 0.90 0.00 0.92 0.49 0.00 0.65 0.64 0.94 0.94 0.44 0.81 0.82
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 404 0 487 313 0 496 345 483 473 315 483 483
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 40.0 0.0 35.4 40.8 0.0 32.4 38.1 35.5 35.5 38.1 34.0 34.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 20.8 0.0 24.5 1.4 0.0 6.6 3.9 27.9 28.4 1.0 14.0 14.1
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 10.7 0.0 15.2 3.4 0.0 8.9 6.0 15.9 15.7 3.5 12.0 12.1
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 60.9 0.0 59.9 42.2 0.0 39.0 42.0 63.4 63.9 39.0 48.0 48.1
LnGrp LOS E E D D D E E D D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 767 456 1117 925
Approach Delay, s/veh 60.3 39.9 59.4 46.7
Approach LOS E D E D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 18.6 33.0 15.4 33.0 18.6 33.0 15.4 33.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0 * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 10 * 27 12.0 27.0 * 10 * 27 12.0 27.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.9 22.8 3.1 26.0 4.1 27.0 8.9 17.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.4 2.0 1.0 0.3 0.6 0.2 0.5 1.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 53.3
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
2: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Third Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 0 124 0 0 4 23 727 10 2 681 79
Future Vol, veh/h 5 0 124 0 0 4 23 727 10 2 681 79
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 67 67 50 95 95 95 50 77 77 87 87 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 0 248 0 0 4 46 944 13 2 783 158

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1430 1915 470 1439 1988 479 941 0 0 957 0 0
          Stage 1 866 866 - 1043 1043 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 564 1049 - 396 945 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 95 67 540 94 60 533 724 - - 714 - -
          Stage 1 314 369 - 245 305 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 478 303 - 601 339 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 84 58 540 45 52 533 724 - - 714 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 84 58 - 45 52 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 271 367 - 212 264 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 410 262 - 323 337 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21.7 11.8 1 0
HCM LOS C B

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 724 - - 466 533 714 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.064 - - 0.548 0.008 0.003 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.3 0.6 - 21.7 11.8 10.1 0 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - C B B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 3.2 0 0 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
3: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Second Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 0 733 3 9 760
Future Vol, veh/h 2 0 733 3 9 760
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 50 50 79 79 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 4 0 928 4 10 864

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1382 466 0 0 932 0
          Stage 1 930 - - - - -
          Stage 2 452 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.84 6.94 - - 4.14 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.84 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.84 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 3.32 - - 2.22 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 135 543 - - 730 -
          Stage 1 344 - - - - -
          Stage 2 608 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 131 543 - - 730 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 131 - - - - -
          Stage 1 344 - - - - -
          Stage 2 592 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 33.3 0 0.2
HCM LOS D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 131 730 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.031 0.014 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 33.3 10 0.1
HCM Lane LOS - - D B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.1 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
4: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Randolph Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 12.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 53 8 50 3 2 2 19 694 20 15 716 23
Future Vol, veh/h 53 8 50 3 2 2 19 694 20 15 716 23
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 73 73 73 58 58 58 81 81 81 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 73 11 68 5 3 3 23 857 25 17 833 27

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1364 1815 434 1379 1816 445 862 0 0 884 0 0
          Stage 1 884 884 - 919 919 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 480 931 - 460 897 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 106 77 570 104 77 561 776 - - 761 - -
          Stage 1 307 362 - 292 348 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 536 344 - 551 357 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 93 69 568 74 69 559 775 - - 760 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 93 69 - 74 69 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 288 345 - 274 327 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 496 323 - 449 341 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 155.1 47.8 0.5 0.4
HCM LOS F E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 775 - - 143 96 760 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.03 - - 1.063 0.126 0.023 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.8 0.3 - 155.1 47.8 9.8 0.2 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - F E A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 8.1 0.4 0.1 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
6: Cedar Street & Second Street/Site Drive AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 10.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 0 6 213 0 40 4 7 264 0 12 0
Future Vol, veh/h 2 0 6 213 0 40 4 7 264 0 12 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 4 0 1 1 0 4
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 68 68 68 50 50 50 66 66 50 58 58 58
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 3 0 9 426 0 80 6 11 528 0 21 0

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 84 0 0 13 0 0 920 950 11 1180 915 47
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 14 14 - 896 896 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 906 936 - 284 19 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1513 - - 1606 - - 251 260 1070 167 273 1022
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 1006 884 - 335 359 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 331 344 - 723 880 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1509 - - 1601 - - 180 185 1063 63 194 1015
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 180 185 - 63 194 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 1000 879 - 333 257 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 218 246 - 358 875 -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 1.8 6.8 14.3 25.8
HCM LOS B D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 927 1509 - - 1601 - - 194
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.588 0.002 - - 0.266 - - 0.107
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.3 7.4 0 - 8.1 0 - 25.8
HCM Lane LOS B A A - A A - D
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 3.9 0 - - 1.1 - - 0.4



HCM 2010 Signalized Intersection Summary Future Conditions
1: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Front Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 202 286 60 202 242 129 188 648 144 121 681 117
Future Volume (veh/h) 202 286 60 202 242 129 188 648 144 121 681 117
Number 7 4 14 3 8 18 1 6 16 5 2 12
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.98 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900 1863 1863 1900
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 227 321 67 222 266 142 204 704 157 132 740 127
Adj No. of Lanes 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 2 0 1 2 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.89 0.89 0.89 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 259 380 79 283 290 155 312 1001 223 313 1052 180
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.25 0.25 0.09 0.25 0.25 0.09 0.35 0.35 0.09 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 1774 1491 311 1774 1137 607 1774 2876 641 1774 3021 518
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 227 0 388 222 0 408 204 433 428 132 433 434
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1774 0 1802 1774 0 1744 1774 1770 1747 1774 1770 1770
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.1 0.0 22.5 6.1 0.0 25.0 2.3 23.2 23.3 0.0 23.3 23.3
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.1 0.0 22.5 6.1 0.0 25.0 2.3 23.2 23.3 0.0 23.3 23.3
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.17 1.00 0.35 1.00 0.37 1.00 0.29
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 259 0 459 283 0 444 312 616 608 313 616 616
V/C Ratio(X) 0.87 0.00 0.85 0.78 0.00 0.92 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.42 0.70 0.70
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 285 0 459 309 0 444 312 616 608 313 616 616
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 46.9 0.0 38.9 45.7 0.0 39.9 42.5 30.9 30.9 40.6 30.9 31.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 23.3 0.0 17.2 11.6 0.0 26.6 4.8 6.6 6.7 0.9 6.6 6.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 8.4 0.0 13.4 7.4 0.0 15.3 6.2 12.4 12.3 3.7 12.4 12.5
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 70.2 0.0 56.2 57.3 0.0 66.5 47.4 37.5 37.6 41.5 37.5 37.6
LnGrp LOS E E E E D D D D D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 615 630 1065 999
Approach Delay, s/veh 61.4 63.2 39.5 38.1
Approach LOS E E D D

Timer 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.6 44.0 16.4 34.0 15.6 44.0 16.4 34.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0 * 5.7 * 5.7 6.0 6.0
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 8.3 * 38 12.0 28.0 * 8.3 * 38 12.0 28.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 4.3 25.3 8.1 24.5 2.0 25.3 10.1 27.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.4 4.6 0.6 0.8 0.6 4.6 0.3 0.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 2010 Ctrl Delay 47.6
HCM 2010 LOS D

Notes



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
2: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Third Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 3 0 118 2 1 9 26 945 8 3 799 98
Future Vol, veh/h 3 0 118 2 1 9 26 945 8 3 799 98
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 2
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 81 81 50 75 75 75 50 92 92 95 95 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 4 0 236 3 1 12 52 1027 9 3 841 196

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1565 2087 522 1565 2181 521 1038 0 0 1037 0 0
          Stage 1 946 946 - 1137 1137 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 619 1141 - 428 1044 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 75 52 499 75 45 500 665 - - 666 - -
          Stage 1 281 338 - 215 275 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 443 274 - 575 304 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 60 42 498 33 36 499 664 - - 665 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 60 42 - 33 36 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 229 334 - 175 224 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 350 223 - 299 300 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21.9 42 1.4 0.1
HCM LOS C E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 664 - - 448 113 665 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.078 - - 0.535 0.142 0.005 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.9 0.9 - 21.9 42 10.4 0.1 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - C E B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 3.1 0.5 0 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
3: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Second Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 5 951 6 13 898
Future Vol, veh/h 2 5 951 6 13 898
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 1 0 2 2 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 40 40 95 95 93 93
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 5 13 1001 6 14 966

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1516 507 0 0 1008 0
          Stage 1 1005 - - - - -
          Stage 2 511 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.84 6.94 - - 4.14 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.84 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.84 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 3.32 - - 2.22 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 110 511 - - 683 -
          Stage 1 315 - - - - -
          Stage 2 567 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 105 510 - - 682 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 105 - - - - -
          Stage 1 315 - - - - -
          Stage 2 541 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21 0 0.3
HCM LOS C

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 243 682 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.072 0.02 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 21 10.4 0.2
HCM Lane LOS - - C B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.2 0.1 -



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
4: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Randolph Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 12.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 40 5 29 5 1 14 36 900 20 21 877 3
Future Vol, veh/h 40 5 29 5 1 14 36 900 20 21 877 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 69 69 69 56 56 56 93 93 93 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 58 7 42 9 2 25 39 968 22 22 923 3

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1535 2040 466 1569 2031 498 928 0 0 991 0 0
          Stage 1 971 971 - 1058 1058 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 564 1069 - 511 973 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 79 56 543 75 57 518 733 - - 693 - -
          Stage 1 271 329 - 240 300 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 478 296 - 514 329 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 63 46 541 53 47 517 732 - - 692 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 63 46 - 53 47 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 238 307 - 211 264 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 398 260 - 432 307 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 224 39.3 0.9 0.5
HCM LOS F E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 732 - - 93 140 692 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.053 - - 1.153 0.255 0.032 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.2 0.6 - 224 39.3 10.4 0.3 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - F E B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 7.3 1 0.1 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions
6: Cedar Street & Second Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 18.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 230 0 28 11 22 262 0 18 1
Future Vol, veh/h 1 0 1 230 0 28 11 22 262 0 18 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 1 0 3 3 0 1 4 0 1 1 0 4
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 57 57 57 50 50 50 60 60 50 75 75 75
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 2 0 2 460 0 56 18 37 524 0 24 1

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 60 0 0 6 0 0 973 988 8 1241 961 35
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 8 8 - 952 952 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 965 980 - 289 9 -
Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1544 - - 1615 - - 231 247 1074 152 256 1038
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 1013 889 - 312 338 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 306 328 - 719 888 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1540 - - 1610 - - 159 172 1067 50 178 1031
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 159 172 - 50 178 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 1008 885 - 311 237 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 193 230 - 349 884 -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 3.7 7.2 29 27.4
HCM LOS D D

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 706 1540 - - 1610 - - 186
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.82 0.001 - - 0.286 - - 0.136
HCM Control Delay (s) 29 7.3 0 - 8.1 0 - 27.4
HCM Lane LOS D A A - A A - D
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 8.8 0 - - 1.2 - - 0.5



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions W / Improvements
4: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Randolph Street AM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 8.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 53 8 50 3 2 2 19 694 20 15 716 23
Future Vol, veh/h 53 8 50 3 2 2 19 694 20 15 716 23
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 73 73 73 58 58 58 81 81 81 86 86 86
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 73 11 68 5 3 3 23 857 25 17 833 27

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1364 1815 434 1379 1816 445 862 0 0 884 0 0
          Stage 1 884 884 - 919 919 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 480 931 - 460 897 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 106 77 570 104 77 561 776 - - 761 - -
          Stage 1 307 362 - 292 348 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 536 344 - 551 357 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 93 69 568 74 69 559 775 - - 760 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 93 69 - 74 69 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 288 345 - 274 327 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 496 323 - 449 341 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 95.2 47.8 0.5 0.4
HCM LOS F E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 775 - - 89 568 96 760 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.03 - - 0.939 0.121 0.126 0.023 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.8 0.3 - 163.2 12.2 47.8 9.8 0.2 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - F B E A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 5.3 0.4 0.4 0.1 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC Future Conditions W / Improvements
4: US-31 / M-37 (Division Street) & Randolph Street PM Peak Hour

Immaculate Conception 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering

Synchro 9 Report 
10/18/2016

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 9.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Traffic Vol, veh/h 40 5 29 5 1 14 36 900 20 21 877 3
Future Vol, veh/h 40 5 29 5 1 14 36 900 20 21 877 3
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 69 69 69 56 56 56 93 93 93 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 58 7 42 9 2 25 39 968 22 22 923 3

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1535 2040 466 1569 2031 498 928 0 0 991 0 0
          Stage 1 971 971 - 1058 1058 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 564 1069 - 511 973 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 6.94 4.14 - - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 3.32 2.22 - - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 79 56 543 75 57 518 733 - - 693 - -
          Stage 1 271 329 - 240 300 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 478 296 - 514 329 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 63 46 541 53 47 517 732 - - 692 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 63 46 - 53 47 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 238 307 - 211 264 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 398 260 - 432 307 - - - - - - -

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 156.1 39.3 0.9 0.5
HCM LOS F E

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 732 - - 61 541 140 692 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.053 - - 1.069 0.078 0.255 0.032 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.2 0.6 - 248.8 12.2 39.3 10.4 0.3 -
HCM Lane LOS B A - F B E B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 5.2 0.3 1 0.1 - -



Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 1 of 12 

 

S T A FF R E P O R T 
 16-SLUP-02 
 DATE: October 28, 2016 
 
APPLICANT:     Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools (Diocese of 

Gaylord) 
      123 E. Eleventh Street 
      Traverse City, MI 49684 
 
PROPERTY OWNERS:    Grand Traverse Area Catholic Schools (Diocese of 

Gaylord) 
      123 E. Eleventh Street 
      Traverse City, MI 49684 
 
STATUS OF APPLICANT:   Property Owner 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS:    215 North Division Street 

Tax I.D. # 28-51-626-001-00 
 
REQUESTED ACTION:     
 

 DESCRIPTION:     LOTS 5 THRU 12 INCL BLK 1 LOTS 1 THRU 4 INCL 
BLK 5. ALL OF BLK 6 LOTS 5-6-7 BLK 2 HANNAH LAY 
& CO'S 3RD ADD. ALSO N 50 FT OF LOT 5 BLK 5 
HANNAH LAY & CO'S 1ST SUB. ALSO VAC VINE ST 
COM AT NE COR BLK 6 HANNAH LAY & CO'S 3RD 
ADD TH S 250 FT TH E 33 FT TH N 50 FT TH E 33 FT 
TH N 200 FT TH W TO POB ALSO VACATED 2NDST 
BETWEEN LOTS 11-12 BLK 1 & LOTS 1-2-3-4 BLK 5 
HANNAH LAY & CO'S 3RD ADD. Subject to the 
vacation of a portion of Vine Street and Second 
Street. 

 
EXISTING CONDITIONS 
SITE SIZE:     4.8 acres.  Subject to the vacation of a portion of 

Vine Street and Second Street. 
         
TOPOGRAPHY:    Flat. 
 
VEGETATION:     Grass, shrubs and trees. 
 
SOILS:      RrA sandy loam, 0-2% Slope 
 
EXISTING ZONING:    R-1b (Single Family Dwelling District). 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING/LAND USE 
NORTH:     R-1b (Single Family Dwelling District) and C-2 

(Neighborhood Center District).  Residential, retail, 
restaurant and office. 



Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 2 of 12 

 

 
SOUTH:     R-1b (Single Family Dwelling District)  
 
EAST: R-1b (Single Family Dwelling District) 
 
WEST:                                   C-1 (Office Service District) and C-2 (neighborhood 

Center District). Offices.  
 
ZONING HISTORY:  
From 1958 to 1999 the property was zoned C-1 (Office Service District). In 1999, the property 
was rezoned to R-1b (Single Family Dwelling District).   
 
RELEVANT SECTIONS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE:  
Chapter 1332 R-1a and R-1b Single Family Dwelling Districts  
Section 1366.08 Master Site and Facilities Plans  
Section 1364.01 Types of Special Land Use Permit Review 
Section 1364.02 General Standards for SLUP Approval  
Section 1364.08 (11) Specific Requirements for schools in an R-1b District 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO THE CITY PLAN:  
The Future Land Use Map designates this neighborhood as a TC-3 Neighborhood. 
Neighborhood level services, schools, parks and places of worship should be conveniently 
located.  The Parks and Recreation Element, Goal #9, states “Work with schools to make 
recreation facilities and programs part of the education system.”  
 

 
 

Future Land Use Map 

School Location 

https://www.municode.com/library/mi/traverse_city/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTTHIRTEENZOCO_TITTWOZOCO_CH1358OSDI
https://www.municode.com/library/mi/traverse_city/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTTHIRTEENZOCO_TITTWOZOCO_CH1366SIPLSIDEST_1366.08MASIFAPL
https://www.municode.com/library/mi/traverse_city/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTTHIRTEENZOCO_TITTWOZOCO_CH1364SPLAUSRE_1364.01TYSPLAUSPERE
https://www.municode.com/library/mi/traverse_city/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTTHIRTEENZOCO_TITTWOZOCO_CH1364SPLAUSRE_1364.02GESTAP
https://www.municode.com/library/mi/traverse_city/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTTHIRTEENZOCO_TITTWOZOCO_CH1364SPLAUSRE_1364.08SPLAUSPEGRCO


 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 3 of 12 

 

 

PUBLIC UTILITIES:    
There are adequate utilities to serve the proposed school.  An existing 6-inch water main 
located on the west side of Division Street will service the school with a 2-inch domestic water 
service and a 6 inch fire suppression service.  An additional 6-inch water main and a 21-inch 
sanitary sewer run along the north side of the building from Cedar Street to Division Street in a 
66-foot wide utility easement.  Storm water control shall meet the requirements of Chapter 
1068.  The proposed project will utilize an underground storm water infiltration system to 
retain stormwater on site for a 25 year storm.  Dave, please check on the capacity. T.C.L.P will 
service the new school with an existing 3-phase primary. It has been determined that existing 
electrical capacity is adequate to serve the proposed school.  
 
TRAFFIC 
The applicant has prepared a Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Study for the proposed school. 
 The new school will combine the operations of the Holy Angels Elementary (HA) and Preschool 
located at 130 East Tenth Street and Immaculate Conception Elementary School (IC).  The 
number of AM and PM peak hour trips that would be generated by the proposed school 
consolidation was based on the existing and projected future enrollment.  The existing 2015 
enrollment of the two schools is 498 students.  The potential max enrollment with the new 
consolidated school will be 560 students.  Based on information provided by the applicant, 
approximately 25% of the existing students at both Holy Angels and Immaculate Conception 
either ride the bus, or are enrolled in the before/after school program and do not contribute to 
the peak hour vehicle trips. 
 
With the combination of the two schools (IC and HA) at one campus the total population will 
increase from 264 student to a maximum of 560 students, which is more than double the 
current population.  However, many of the families have students that attend both HA and IC.  
Therefore, by consolidating the campuses, the overall trips will be reduced since drop-off will 
only occur at one central location.  The existing school generates 361 AM peak hour trips (185 
inbound and 178 outbound) and 351 PM peak hour trips (180 inbound and 171 outbound).  
According to the Traffic Impact Study the proposed consolidated school will generate 155 AM 
additional peak hour trips (78 inbound and 77 outbound) and 165 PM additional peak hour 
trips (83 inbound and 82 outbound).   
  
ACCESS:      
The proposed school location requires the vacation of a portion of Vine Street and a vacation 
and rededication of a portion of Second Street.  These vacations and rededication were 
approved by the Planning Commission and subsequently approved by the City Commission on 
February 16, 2016.  The construction cost for this change will be paid for by GTACS.  Access to 
the school will be from Division Street to the east, Randolph Street to the north, Cedar Street to 
the west, Third Street to the south and Vine Street and new Second Street to the northwest  A 
new curb and gutter is proposed along the east side of Cedar Street from Third Street north to 
the New Second Street.  The City Engineer will be working with the applicant to take a complete 
street approach for Cedar Street from Randolph to Front Street. 
 
Sidewalks internal to the campus are proposed and connect to existing and proposed public 
sidewalks in the general vicinity.  A new public sidewalk is proposed on the east side of Cedar 



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 4 of 12 

 

 

Street from Second Street to Third Street.    Second Street will have a new public sidewalk on 
the south side adjacent to the curb and tie into the existing sidewalk along Vine Street. A new 
public sidewalk will also be added to the north side of Third Street from Division street west to 
the entrance on Third Street.  All new public sidewalks and the curbing along Cedar Street will 
be paid for by GTACS.  
 
PARKING:      
The proposed new school is part of a campus that is includes the church and a food pantry and 
parking is shared between all three entities.  The new school will be located where the existing 
parking lot is located north of the existing school.  A new 75 space parking lot west of the new 
school and south of the church is proposed and there are 64 parking existing spaces adjacent to 
the church.  A new curb and gutter is proposed along the east side of Cedar Street from Third 
Street north to Second Street with on-street parking for 12 vehicles and 11 on-street parking 
spaces are planned for on Second Street.  The City Engineer will be working with the applicant 
to take a complete street approach for Cedar Street from Randolph to Front Street. The total 
onsite parking is 139 spaces with 23 on- street parking spaces for a total of 162 parking spaces 
available to the Campus.  
 
General Standards 1364.02: 
 

 
1) The use shall be designed, constructed, operated and maintained so as to be 

harmonious and compatible in appearance with the intended character of the 
vicinity. 
 
Analysis: 
The building is designed to integrate with the commercial character of Division 
Street, while also providing a transition to the predominantly residential Slabtown 
Neighborhood to the north and west. The collegiate gothic style of the building 
exterior features a historical/institutional character consistent with the Division 
Street corridor while also harmonizing with the residential context in which it is 
located (much as the Central Grade School does in the Central neighborhood). 
 
Finding – Met. 
 

2) The use shall not be hazardous nor disturbing to existing or planned uses in the 
vicinity. 
 
Analysis 
The proposed school will not be hazardous nor disturbing the existing or planned uses 
in the general vicinity.  Schools and churches are allowed in the R-1b Zoning District 
through a Special Land Use Permit process.  Traffic and parking are the factors that 
place the most burdens to the vicinity.  The redevelopment plan eases the pressure 
of traffic during pick-up times by providing ample stacking within the campus. The 



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 5 of 12 

 

 

proposed plan creates a campus atmosphere thereby shielding nearby properties 
from activities occurring on the premises. 
 
The proposed new school is part of a campus that includes the church and a 
food pantry and parking is shared between all three entities.  The new school 
will be located where the existing parking lot is located north of the existing 
school.  A new 75-space parking lot west of the new school and south of the 
church is proposed and there are 64 existing parking spaces adjacent to the 
church.  New curb and gutter is proposed along the east side of Cedar Street 
from Third Street north to Second Street with on-street parking for 12 vehicles 
and 11 on-street parking spaces are planned for the newly constructed Second 
Street. The City Engineer will be working with the applicant to take a complete 
street approach for Cedar Street from Randolph to Front Street. The total onsite 
parking is 139 spaces with 23 on-street parking spaces for a total of 162 parking 
spaces available to the Campus. 
 
 The minimum parking required by the Zoning Code is 1 parking space per 4 
seats for the church and 1.5 parking spaces per classroom.  The church currently 
has 520 seats and the proposed school will have 32 classrooms.  A minimum of 
178 parking spaces are required.  Two buses service the school and the 
maneuvering lane of the parking lot around the church will be utilized for drop-
off/pick-up and will accommodate up to 40 stacked vehicles. 
 
The Diocese has had, and continues to have agreements for cross-sharing 
parking with Sleders in the event that either Sleders or the church needs 
additional capacity.  The Planning Director is willing to grant an exception 
pursuant to Section 1374.03(e) for the 16 parking space deficiency since the 
church peak parking demands typically would not occur when school is in full 
session.  The redevelopment plan eases the pressure of traffic during pick-up times 
by providing ample stacking within the campus. Further, this proposed plan creates a 
campus atmosphere thereby shielding nearby properties from activities occurring on 
the premises. 
 
The applicant has prepared a Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Study for the 
proposed school.  The new school will combine the operations of the Holy Angels 
Elementary (HA) and Preschool located on 10th Street and Immaculate 
Conception Elementary School (IC).  The number of AM and PM peak hour trips 
that would be generated by the proposed school consolidation was based on the 
existing and projected future enrollment.  The existing 2015 enrollment of the 
two schools is 498 students.  The potential max enrollment with the new 
consolidated school will be 560 students.  Based on information provided by the 
applicant, approximately 25% of the existing students at both Holy Angels and 



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 6 of 12 

 

 

Immaculate Conception either ride the bus, or are enrolled in the before/after 
school program and do not generate peak hour vehicle trips. 
With the combination of the two schools (IC and HA) at one campus the total 
population will increase from 264 student to a maximum of 560 students, which 
is more than double the population.  However, many of the families have 
students that attend both HA and IC.  Therefore, by consolidating the campuses, 
the overall trips will be reduced since drop-off will only occur at one central 
location.  The existing school generates 361 AM peak hour trips (185 inbound and 
178 outbound) and 351PM peak our trips (180 inbound and 171 outbound).  
According to the Traffic Impact Study the proposed consolidated school will 
generate an additional 155 AM peak hour trips (78 inbound and 77 outbound) 
and 165 PM peak hour trips (83 inbound and 82 outbound).  
 
Finding – Met.  
 

3) The use shall be served adequately by existing or proposed public infrastructure 
and services, including but not limited to, street and highways, police and fire 
protection, refuse disposal; water, waste water and stormwater facilities; 
electrical service and schools.  

 
Analysis:  
 
The redevelopment of this campus allows us the opportunity to reduce the burden 
on public infrastructure and services. As part of this redevelopment, the city 
services will be less impacted.  
 
Streets: An existing curb cut to Division will be eliminated. The proposed school 
requires the vacation of a portion of Vine Street and a vacation and rededication 
of a portion of Second Street.  These vacations and rededication were approved 
by the Planning Commission and subsequently approved by the City Commission 
on February 16, 2016.  The construction cost for this change will be paid for by 
GTACS.  Access to the school will be from Division Street to the east, Randolph 
Street to the north, Cedar Street to the west, Third Street to the south and Vine 
Street and new Second Street to the northwest.  A new 75 space parking lot is 
proposed on the south side of the school and will be accessed both from Cedar 
Street and Third Street.  A new curb and gutter is proposed along the east side of 
Cedar Street from Third Street north to the New Second Street with on Street 
parking for 12 vehicles.  The City Engineer will be working with the applicant to 
take a complete street approach for Cedar Street from Randolph to Front Street. 

 
Sidewalks internal to the campus are proposed and connect to existing and 
proposed public sidewalks in the general vicinity.  A new public sidewalk is 
proposed on the west side of Cedar Street from Second Street to Third Street.    
Second Street will have a new public sidewalk on the south side adjacent to the 



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 7 of 12 

 

 

curb and tie into the existing sidewalk along Vine Street. A new public sidewalk 
will also be added to the north side of Third Street from Division street west to 
the entrance on Third Street.  All new public sidewalks and the curbing along 
Cedar Street will be paid for by GTACS.  
 
Police:  The new school will combine the operations of the Holy Angels 
Elementary and Preschool located on 10th Street and Immaculate Conception 
Elementary School located on the subject parcel.  Having all of the elementary 
children in one location will decrease police response times and not require any 
additional police services.  

 
Fire:  The applicant has met with the Fire Marshal several times to discuss the 
proposed project and he believes the new school, built to current codes, creates a 
much safer building  than  the existing school which dates back 100 years.  A n e w  
fire suppression, alarms and improved accessibility are items that will reduce the 
potential for a dangerous environment should fire services be called to the property. 
The proposed fire suppression system will be served by a 6 inch water main. 

 
Refuse: Additional students will create additional trash.  There are several 
commercial businesses in the surrounding area as well as an elementary school which 
is served adequately by the existing commercial waste hauler.  There are two 
dumpsters proposed for the school which will be fully enclosed.   
 
Water/Sewer: The new school will require similar water and sewer requirements 
to that of the existing school.  The project Architect has confirmed that low 
flow plumbing fixtures will be used in the new school. An existing 6-inch 
water main located on the west side of Division Street will service the school 
with a 2-inch domestic water service and a 6-inch fire suppression service.  An 
additional 6-inch water main and a 21-inch sanitary sewer run along the north 
side of the building from Cedar Street to Division Street in a 66-foot wide 
utility easement.   
 
Storm sewer: Storm water control shall meet all the requirements of Chapter 
1068.  City Engineering will require the entire site be brought up to compliance 
with this Chapter. The existing site has many direct connections to the City’s 
storm sewer system which will need to be addressed. The proposed 
redevelopment will utilize an infiltration system located under the proposed parking 
lot.  Implementing this system will almost completely remove reliance on the City’s 
storm sewer system. 
 
Electrical service: The new school will require similar electrical needs to that of 
the existing school. The school is larger, however, new lighting and mechanical 
equipment will require less energy consumption.  T.C.L.P will service the new 
school utilizing an existing 3-phase primary that adequate to serve the 
proposed development. 



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 8 of 12 

 

 

 
Finding - Met 
 

4) The use shall not create excessive additional requirements for infrastructure, 
facilities and services provided at public expense.  
 
Analysis  
The proposed school requires the vacation of a portion of Vine Street and a 
vacation and rededication of a portion of Second Street.  These vacations and 
rededication were approved by the Planning Commission and subsequently 
approved by the City Commission on February 16, 2016.  The construction cost 
for this change will be paid for by GTACS. 
 
New curb and gutter is proposed along the east side of Cedar Street from Third 
Street north to the new Second Street with on-street parking for 12 vehicles.  A 
new public sidewalk is proposed on the east side of Cedar Street from Third 
Street to Second Street and will also be paid for by GTACS. 
 
The new school will require similar water and sewer requirements to that of the 
existing school.  The project Architect has confirmed that low flow plumbing 
fixtures will be used in the new school. An existing 6-inch water main located on 
the west side of Division Street will service the school with a 2-inch domestic 
water service and a 6-inch fire suppression service.  An additional 6-inch water 
main and a 21-inch sanitary sewer run along the north side of the building from 
Cedar Street to Division Street in a 66-foot wide utility easement.  
 
 The proposed redevelopment will utilize an infiltration system located under the 
proposed parking lot.  Implementing this system will almost completely remove 
reliance on the City’s storm sewer system. 
 
The new school will require similar electrical needs to that of the existing school. The 
school is larger, however, new lighting and mechanical equipment requires less energy 
consumption.   
 
Finding - Met 
 

5) The use shall not involve any activities, processes, materials, equipment or 
conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any person or property or to 
the general welfare by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, 
fumes, glare, odors or water runoff. 
 
Analysis  
The proposed school is consistent with the existing use and will not involve any 
excessive production of traffic, noise, fumes, glare, or odors that would be 
detrimental to any person, property, or general public.  



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 9 of 12 

 

 

 
The applicant has prepared a Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Study for the 
proposed school.  The new school will combine the operations of the Holy Angels 
Elementary (HA) and Preschool (located on 10th Street) and Immaculate 
Conception Elementary School (IC).  The number of AM and PM peak hour trips 
that would be generated by the proposed school consolidation was based on the 
existing and projected future enrollment.  The existing 2015 enrollment of the 
two schools is 498 students.  The potential max enrollment with the new 
consolidated school will be 560 students.  Based on information provided by the 
applicant, approximately 25% of the existing students at both Holy Angels and 
Immaculate Conception either ride the bus, or are enrolled in the before/after 
school program and do not generate peak hour vehicle trips. 
With the combination of the two schools (IC and HA) at one campus the total 
population will increase from 264 student to a maximum of 560 students, which 
is more than double the population.  However, many of the families have 
students that attend both HA and IC.  Therefore, by consolidating the campuses, 
the overall trips will be reduced since drop-off will only occur at one central 
location.  The existing school generates 361 AM peak hour trips (185 inbound and 
178 outbound) and 351PM peak our trips (180 inbound and 171 outbound).  
According to the Traffic Impact Study the proposed consolidated school will 
generate an additional 155 AM peak hour trips (78 inbound and 77 outbound) 
and 165 PM peak hour trips (83 inbound and 82 outbound).   
 
The new campus plan will allow for 40 vehicles to stack within the campus before 
needing to extend into city right of way.   
 
Water runoff is addressed with the inclusion of a storm water management system 
that utilizes collection and infiltration versus discharge into the city storm sewer 
which is the primary method of storm water management currently. 
 
Finding - Met 

 
6) Where possible, the use shall preserve, renovate and restore historic buildings 

or landmarks affected by the development.  If the historic structure must be 
moved from the site, the relocation shall be subject to the standards of this 
section. 
 
Analysis 
The existing Immaculate Conception School building consists of the original brick 
school building (1900’s) and a 1960’s addition.  Although historic in age, the 
property is not within a local Historic District and the school is not designated 
as Local, State or Federal Landmark.  There is no mention of the school in the 
Historic Resource Element of the Master Plan.  The project Architect has stated 
that the existing buildings are functionally substandard due to their age and 



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 10 of 12 

 

 

deteriorating construction. The US-31/M-37 (Division Street) Planning and 
Environmental Linkages Process Final Report referenced that the Immaculate 
Conception Church and School Complex as an eligible National Register historic 
district. For purposes of right-of-way improvements on Division Street, the report 
indicates there are historic potential concerns that will involve both formal State 
Historic Preservation Office consultation and likely Section 4(f) impacts.  Such 
reference has implications for the use of federal funds to modify the highway if 
historic properties are impacted negatively.   No federal funds will be used for this 
project. 
 
Finding - Met 

 
7) Elements shall relate to the design characteristics of an individual structure or 

development to existing or planned developments in a harmonious manner, 
resulting in a coherent overall development pattern and streetscape. 

   
  Analysis  

The building is designed to integrate with the commercial character of Division 
Street, while also providing a transition to the predominantly residential Slabtown 
Neighborhood to the north and west. The use of red face brick with natural cast 
stone trim in a one and two story façade is consistent with the nearest neighboring 
building to the north, as well as several existing buildings along Division Street (e.g., 
physician's office, bank, drug/convenience store). 
 
Finding - Met 

 
8) The use shall be consistent with the intent and purposes of the zoning district 

in which it is proposed. 
 

Analysis  
Immaculate Conception School is currently operating at this site and has been for 
over 100 years. This redevelopment project will not change the character of the 
neighborhood and is an allowed as a special use in this district.  The City Master 
Plan states that schools are should be located in the TC-3 Neighborhood 
type which is where this school is proposed to be located.  
 
Finding - Met 

 
Specific Requirements 1364.08 (11) 
 

a. The use is located in an R-1a, R-1b, R-2, R-9, R-15, R-29, C-1, C-2,C-3 or GP 
District. 

 
  Analysis  



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 11 of 12 

 

 

The existing and proposed school is located in an R-1b District 
 

 Finding - Met 
 

b. A Master Site and Facilities Plan is submitted to and approved by the Planning  
             Commission showing: 

 
1. Existing Facilities and Planned facilities for the ensuing 5 years. 
2. Adequate street crossing facilities, pedestrian routes and projected 

number of pedestrians. 
3. Sufficient areas for motor vehicle and bus circulation routes, together 

with areas for pick-up and drop-off of students 
4. If child care is provided, the facilities for such use shall be designated in 

the plan, together with child care hours of operation. 
5. The building and parking areas shall not exceed 70 percent of the lot 

area. 
 

Analysis  
The existing church, new pantry and school are the only planned facilities for the 
ensuing 5 years. 
 
The potential maximum enrollment with the new consolidated school will be 
560 students.   There are four marked pedestrian crossings internal to the 
parking lot, two new marked pedestrian crossings on the reconstructed Second 
Street and existing marked pedestrian crossings exist at intersections on 
Randolph from Division Street west to Elmwood Avenue. Sidewalks internal to 
the campus are proposed and connect to existing and proposed public sidewalks 
in the general vicinity.  A new public sidewalk is proposed on the east side of 
Cedar Street from Second to Third Streets.   The new Second Street will have a 
public sidewalk on the south side adjacent to the curb and tie into the existing 
sidewalk along Vine Street. A new public sidewalk will also be added to the 
north side of Third Street from Division street west to the entrance on Third 
Street.   
 
Two shuttle school buses service the school and will pick-up and drop-off 
students in front of the main entry of the church.  One bus provides 
transportation of students to the St. Elizabeth Ann Seton Campus in East Bay 
Township and the other bus provides transportation of students to and from 
Central High School for students requiring bus service to their home. The 
maneuvering lane of the parking lot around the church will be utilized for drop-
off/pick-up and will accommodate up to 40 vehicles.   
 
No child care is being offer at the school, only before and after school programs 
will be provided.  
 



 
 

Staff Report 16-SLUP-02 
Page 12 of 12 

 

 

The building and parking areas cover 58.4% of the site which is below the 70% 
limit. 

 
Finding - Met 

 
c. A traffic study must be submitted to the Planning Commission. 
 

The applicant has prepared a Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Study for the 
proposed school.   
 
Finding - Met 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends the request 16-SLUP-02 be approved as presented. 
 

 
 



215 N. Division Street   Page 1 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

          
  Site Plan Review Staff Report  

                   
 
 16-SPR-04: Prepared for property commonly known as 215 North Division Street 
 
SITE PLAN REQUIREMENTS CHECKLIST 

 
 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

 
x 

 
 

 
Filing fee 

 
x 

 
 

 
Sealed by a registered architect or engineer (except site plans to be referred to the 
Planning Commission for approval may defer this requirement until receiving Planning 
Commission approval.)   

 
x 

 
 

 
Drawn to scale with a scale on the plan 

 
x 

 
 

 
Rendered on a minimum sheet size of 24 inches by 36 inches 

 
x 

 
 

 
Legal description 

 
x 

 
 

 
Property lines and dimensions 

 
x 

 
 

 
North arrow 

 
x 

 
 

 
Date 

 
x 

 
 

 
Vicinity map 

 
x 

 
 

 
Property owner’s and applicant’s name and address 

 
x 

 
 

 
Preparer’s name and address 

 
x 

 
 

 
Street names 

 
x 

 
 

 
Existing street and alley widths 

 
x 

 
 

 
Location and width of utility easements 

 
x 

 
 

 
Size and location of existing and proposed utilities and building service lines 

 
x 

 
 

 
The zoning classification of the site and surrounding properties and, where applicable, 
the zoning request 

 
x 

 
 

 
 
Required setback lines, lot size, lot coverage (impervious surface) and any variance to be 
requested 
 
The lot size is approximately 4.8 acres, the proposed school is setback 12 feet from the 



215 N. Division Street   Page 2 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

property line along Division Street and the impervious surface ratio is 58.4% which is less 
than the 70% maximum.  

 
 
x 

 
 

 
The size and location of existing buildings and improvements on and adjacent to the 
subject parcel 
 

x  
 The existing building use and proposed building use, location, shape, building height, 

elevations, floor area and unit computations and dimensions and a description of all 
exterior building materials 
 
The proposed project calls for the demolition of the existing school and the construction of 
a new school, food pantry and associated parking.   The school will be a 2-story building at 
a height of 29 feet, 4 Inches and incorporate a steeple/clock tower at a height of 48 feet.  
The maximum height of building in the R-1b District is 35 feet and steeples/clock towers 
may be erected to a height not exceeding twice the height of the building. The total 
square footage of the school will be 70,765 square feet and the food pantry will be 2,300 
square feet.  The exterior of the walls of the school will be made of masonry construction 
with cast stone accents. The food pantry will be masonry construction as well with siding 
in the gables for accents. The windows will have anodized aluminum frames and clear 
glazing.  

 
x 

 
 

 
A land use tabulation summary provided in the margin of the plan indicating types of 
uses, acreage for each land use, number of units, densities and land use intensities 

 
x 

 
 

 
The proposed number and location of parking spaces, maneuvering lanes, sidewalks, 
driveways and loading areas, and their dimensions and proposed points of access to the 
site from public streets and alleys.   
 
The proposed new school is part of a campus that is includes the church and a food pantry 
and parking is shared between all three entities.  The new school will be located where the 
existing parking lot is located north of the existing school.  A new 75 space parking lot 
west of the new school and south of the church is proposed and there are 64 parking 
existing spaces adjacent to the church.  A new curb and gutter is proposed along the east 
side of Cedar Street from Third Street north to  Second Street with on street parking for 12 
vehicles and 11 on street parking spaces are planned for on Second Street.  The City 
Engineer will be working with the applicant to take a complete street approach for Cedar 
Street from Randolph to Front Street. The total onsite parking is 139 spaces with 23 on 
street parking spaces for a total of 162 parking spaces available to the Campus.  The 
minimum parking required by the Zoning Code is 1 parking space per 4 seats for the 
church and 1.5 parking spaces per classroom.  The church currently has 520 seats and the 
proposed school will have 32 classrooms.  A minimum of 178 parking spaces are required.  
Two busses service the school and the maneuvering lane of the parking lot around the 
church will be utilized for drop-off/pick-up and will accommodate up to 40 vehicles.  
Finally, the Diocese has had, and continues to have agreements for cross-sharing parking 
with Sleders in the event that either Sleders or the church needs additional capacity.  The 
Planning Director is willing to grant an exception pursuant to Section 1374.03(e) for the 16 



215 N. Division Street   Page 3 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

parking space deficiency.   An area for bike racks is shown on the plans but a quantity is 
not noted. The Zoning Coded requires a minimum of 3 bike racks able to accommodate 6 
bikes.   
 
Sidewalks internal to the campus are proposed and connect to existing and proposed 
public sidewalks in the general vicinity.  A new public sidewalk is proposed on the west 
side of Cedar Street from Second Street to Third Street.    Second Street will have a new 
public sidewalk on the south side adjacent to the curb and tie into the existing sidewalk 
along Vine Street. A new public sidewalk will also be added to the north side of Third 
Street from Division street west to the entrance on Third Street.  All new public sidewalks 
and the curbing along Cedar Street will be paid for by GTACS.  

 
x 

 
 

 
The proposed location and dimensions of site drainage areas, walkways, landscaped 
areas, recreation areas, open space and screen walls. 
 
The applicant shall meet the requirements of the Storm Water Runoff Control Ordinance 
(CH 1068). City Engineering will require the entire site be brought up to compliance with 
this Chapter. The existing site has many direct connections to the City’s storm sewer 
system which will need to be addressed. The proposed redevelopment will utilize an 
infiltration system located under the proposed parking lot.  Implementing this system will 
almost completely remove reliance on the City’s storm sewer system.  Pedestrian travel ways 
adequately serve the proposed expansions. Sidewalks internal to the campus are proposed 
and connect to existing and proposed public sidewalks in the general vicinity.  A new 
public sidewalk is proposed on the west side of Cedar Street from Second Street to Third 
Street.    Second Street will have a new public sidewalk on the south side adjacent to the 
curb and tie into the existing sidewalk along Vine Street. A new public sidewalk will also be 
added to the north side of Third Street from Division Street west to the entrance on Third 
Street. There will be a large playground east of the new parking lot and it will be screened 
along Division Street with landscaping and an aluminum decorative fence with masonry 
piers.   

 
x 

 
 

 
Natural features, such as unique topographic features, wetlands, 100-year flood plain 
elevations, creeks, springs and others, with an indication as to which are proposed to be 
maintained, altered or removed during site development. 
 
No natural features are noted and the parcel(s) are not within the 100-year floodplain, or 
adjacent to any creeks or springs. 
 

 
x 

 
 

 
Any other information necessary to establish compliance with City ordinances. 
 
The applicant has stated that there will be both parking lot and exterior building lighting.  
All lighting will be dark sky compliant and be shielded from neighboring properties and 
streets. 



215 N. Division Street   Page 4 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
 Site plans are required to meet the following requirements: 

 
x 

 
 

 
Landscaping - meets landscaping requirements of Chapter 1372. 
 
 A conceptual landscape plan has been submitted and it appears to be compliant with the 
requirements of Chapter 1372 of the Zoning Code.  A detailed Landscape plan will need to 
be submitted and approved prior to the issuance of any permits.  

 
x 

 
 

 
Parking - meets parking requirements of Chapter 1374. 
 
The new school will be located where the existing parking lot is located north of the 
existing school.  A new 75 space parking lot west of the new school and south of the 
church is proposed and there are 64 parking existing spaces adjacent to the church.  A new 
curb and gutter is proposed along the east side of Cedar Street from Third Street north to  
Second Street with on street parking for 12 vehicles and 11 on street parking spaces are 
planned for on Second Street.  The City Engineer will be working with the applicant to take 
a complete street approach for Cedar Street from Randolph to Front Street.  The total 
onsite parking is 139 spaces with 23 on street parking spaces for a total of 162 parking 
spaces available to the Campus.  The minimum parking required by the Zoning Code is 1 
parking space per 4 seats for the church and 1.5 parking spaces per classroom.  The church 
currently has 520 seats and the proposed school will have 32 classrooms.  A minimum of 
178 parking spaces are required.  Two busses service the school and the maneuvering lane 
of the parking lot around the church will be utilized for drop-off/pick-up and will 
accommodate up to 40 vehicles.  Finally, the Diocese has had, and continues to have 
agreements for cross-sharing parking with Sleders in the event that either Sleders or the 
church needs additional capacity.  The Planning Director is willing to grant an exception 
pursuant to Section 1374.03(e) for the 16 parking space deficiency.   An area for bike racks 
is shown on the plans but a quantity is not noted. The Zoning Coded requires a minimum 
of 3 bike racks able to accommodate 6 bikes.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



215 N. Division Street   Page 5 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 CHECKLIST OF STANDARDS 

 FOR GRANTING SITE PLAN APPROVAL    
 
Yes 

 
No 

 
The Planning Commission or Planning Director must consider the following standards for 
granting site plan approval.   These items must be indicated on the site plan. 

 
x 

 
 

 
Primary structures shall be oriented so that their main entrance faces the street upon 
which the lot fronts.  If the development is on a corner lot, the main entrance may be 
oriented to either street or to the corner. 
 
A main entrance to the school will face Division Street. Additional entrances will be 
located on the south and east elevations as well. 

 
 x 

 
 

 
All roof-mounted equipment, including satellite dishes and other communication 
equipment, must be screened from recreation trails or from public sidewalks adjacent to 
the site by a parapet wall or similar architectural feature.  
 
Roof-mounted equipment is not shown in the elevations or the plan view drawings. A flat roof 
with a parapet with a steeple/clock tower is planned for the school.   Any rooftop equipment 
will need to be screened and meet the requirements of section 1342.09(m).   

 
x 

 
 

 
Reasonable visual and sound mitigation for all dwelling units shall be provided.  Fences, 
walks, barriers and landscaping shall be used appropriately for the protection and 
enhancement of property and for the privacy of its occupants. 
 
No dwellings are proposed with this expansion.  

 
x 

 
 

 
Every principal building or groups of buildings shall be so arranged as to permit 
emergency access by some practical means to all sides. 
 
Access to the school will be from Division Street to the east, Randolph Street to the north, 
Cedar Street to the west, Third Street to the south and Vine Street and new Second Street 
to the northwest.  A new 75 space parking lot is proposed on the south side of the school 
and will be accessed both from Cedar Street and Third Street.  A n e w  fire suppression, 
alarms and improved accessibility are items that will reduce the potential for a dangerous 
environment should fire services be called to the property. The proposed fire suppression 
system will be served by a 6 inch water main. 

 
x 

 
 

 
Every development shall have legal access to a public or private street. 
 
The proposed expansions will require the vacation and rededication of a portion of Sixth 
Street which will be paid for by GTACS. All necessary easements will be obtained as a part 
of the vacation and rededication.  Access to the school will be from Division Street to the 



215 N. Division Street   Page 6 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
The Planning Commission or Planning Director must consider the following standards for 
granting site plan approval.   These items must be indicated on the site plan. 
east, Randolph Street to the north, Cedar Street to the west, Third Street to the south and 
Vine Street and new Second Street to the northwest.  A new 75 space parking lot is 
proposed on the south side of the school and will be accessed both from Cedar Street and 
Third Street.  
 

   
x 

 
  

The development, where possible, shall provide vehicular and pedestrian circulation 
systems which reflect and extend the pattern of streets, pedestrian and bicycle ways in 
the area.  Travel ways which connect and serve adjacent development shall be designed 
appropriately to carry the projected traffic. 
 
Sidewalks internal to the campus are proposed and connect to existing and proposed 
public sidewalks in the general vicinity.  A new public sidewalk is proposed on the west 
side of Cedar Street from Second Street to Third Street.    Second Street will have a new 
public sidewalk on the south side adjacent to the curb and tie into the existing sidewalk 
along Vine Street.  A new public sidewalk will also be added to the north side of Third 
Street from Division street west to the entrance on Third Street.     
There are four marked pedestrian crossings internal to the parking lot, two new marked 
pedestrian crossings on the reconstructed Second Street and existing marked pedestrian 
crossings exist at intersections on Randolph from Division Street west to Elmwood 
Avenue. 
 

x  
 A pedestrian circulation system shall be provided which is physically separated and 

insulated as reasonably possible from the vehicular circulation system. 
 
The buildings will have direct access from the public walks to the main entries without the 
need to travel through a parking lot. There are four marked pedestrian crossings internal 
to the parking lot, two new marked pedestrian crossings on the reconstructed Second 
Street and existing marked pedestrian crossings exist at intersections on Randolph from 
Division Street west to Elmwood Avenue. 

 
x 

 
 

 
All parking areas shall be designed to facilitate safe and efficient vehicular and pedestrian 
circulation, minimize congestion at points of access and egress to intersecting roads, to 
encourage the appropriate use of alleys and minimize the negative visual impact of such 
parking areas.  
 
The new parking lot will be screened along Division Street with landscaping and an 
aluminum decorative fence with masonry piers.   
 

 
x 

 
 

 
Where the opportunity exists, developments shall use shared drives.  Unnecessary curb 
cuts shall not be permitted. 
 
 There is one curb cut on Division street that will be removed. There are no unnecessary 
curb cuts proposed with the new school. The school will be accessed from Vine/Second 



215 N. Division Street   Page 7 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
The Planning Commission or Planning Director must consider the following standards for 
granting site plan approval.   These items must be indicated on the site plan. 
Street, Cedar street and Third Street. 

 
X 

 
 

 
All loading and unloading areas and outside storage areas, including areas for the storage 
of trash, which are visible from residential districts or public rights-of-way shall be 
screened by a vertical screen consisting of structural and/or plant materials not less than 
six feet in height. 
 
There are two dumpsters in an enclosure on the northwest side of the school.  Staff will 
make sure when final plans are submitted that the enclosure is at least 6 feet in height.  
 

X  
 Exterior light sources shall be deflected downward and away from adjacent properties 

and rights-of-way and shall not violate night sky provisions of the Traverse City Code of 
Ordinances. 
 
The applicant has stated that there will be both parking lot and exterior building lighting.  
All lighting will be dark sky compliant and be shielded from neighboring properties and 
streets. 

X  
 Adequate utilities shall be provided to properly serve the development.  All utilities shall 

be placed underground. 
 
There are adequate utilities to serve the proposed school.  An existing 6 inch water main 
located on the west side of Division Street will service the school with a 2 inch domestic 
water service and a 6 inch fire suppression service.  An additional 6 inch water main and a 
21 inch sanitary sewer run along the north side of the building from Cedar Street to 
Division Street in a 66 foot wide utility easement.  Storm water control shall meet the 
requirements of Chapter 1068.  The proposed school shall utilize an underground storm 
water infiltration system.  T.C.L.P will service the new school an existing 3-phase primary 
and it has been determined that existing electrical capacity is adequate.  All utilities will 
be placed underground.  

 
X 

 
 Sites at which hazardous substances and potential pollutants are stored, used or 

generated shall be designed to prevent spills and discharges to the air, surface of the 
ground, groundwater, lakes, streams, rivers or wetlands. 
 
No hazardous substances will be generated with this project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



215 N. Division Street   Page 8 of 8 
16-SPR-04  

 
 

 
Staff recommends that 16-SPR-04 for the property commonly known as 215 N. Division 
Street be approved provided the following conditions are met.  

 
1. Any rooftop equipment will need to be screened and meet the requirements of section 

1342.09(m).   
 

2. All exterior lighting will be dark sky compliant and be shielded from neighboring properties and 
streets. 

 
3. All necessary easements will be obtained as a part of the vacation and dedication of the new 

street. 
 

4. Trees placed in the public right of way will need to be approved by the City Parks Department. 
 

5. Installation of a minimum of 3 bike racks able to accommodate 6 bikes meeting the 
requirements of Section 1374.02(c). 

 
 



Agenda Item No. 5D  
 

              Communication to the Planning Commission  
             
  
      FOR THE MEETING OF:  NOVEMBER 1, 2016 
 
      FROM:  RUSS SOYRING, PLANNING DIRECTOR 
 

SUBJECT: CONDITIONAL REZONING REQUEST TO REZONE A PARCEL 
LOCATED AT 205 GARLAND STREET, 205. N. UNION STREET 
AND 211 N. UNION STREET FROM C-4A TO C-4B 

 
       DATE:  October 26, 2016 
 
On September 7 and October 4, 2016 the Planning Commission discussed a request to conditional 
rezone 205 Garland Street and 211 N. Union Street from C-4a to C-4b.  The rezoning, if approved 
would allow for a taller building on these properties.   The proposal is to build a four-story, 60 foot 
mixed use building with a commercial first floor and upper story residences.  A parking structure is 
also proposed and would be enclosed by the commercial and residential building.  Access to the 
parking structure would be from Garland Street.  The site is currently developed with a single story 
drive-through bank and large private surface parking lot managed by the City Parking System.   The 
Boardman River runs close to the south property line. 

 

The property is currently zoned C-4a (Regional Center District) which limits building heights to 45 
feet.  Recently height variances were approved by the Board of Zoning Appeals to allow small parts 
of the building to be as tall as 60 feet just to the north and northwest of the subject parcel.  The 



Page 2 of 3 

applicant, Thom Darga has offered to limit the building to 60 feet in height if the property is rezoned 
along with a number of other offers.   

The project as presented is consistent with the Traverse City Master Plan and advances a number of 
the Master Plan’s goals including expanding residential choices, providing transportation choices and 
developing in a pedestrian friendly fashion.   As purported in the Master Plan, TC-5 Downtown 
Neighborhood is to have centralized parking and buildings to be of the “Greatest mass within the city 
with appropriate balance and scale.”  The Master Plan also states that buildings are to be placed 
close the sidewalks and long buildings should be divided into smaller increments.  The proposed 
building is close to the sidewalk and the façade along Garland Street is varied to break up the long 
building wall as recommended in the Urban Design Element for buildings in the TC-5 Neighborhood.  

Although the project is quite compelling and consistent with the Traverse City Master Plan in a 
number of ways, staff has come to the conclusion a conditional rezoning of this property is not the 
best approach on the basic premise such a rezoning would give preferential treatment to this 
property owner that is not afforded to other similar property owners in the C-4a District.  

Instead, staff recommends that the Planning Commission consider either a district wide rezoning of 
the Warehouse District properties or that a critical review of the building height standards for 
buildings in the C-4 District be initiated.  The recently developed Form-Based Code drafts for West 
Front Street and Eighth Street provides a different approach by limiting the maximum number of 
floors while providing a range of heights each floor can be.  When the Zoning Code was amended in 
2014 requiring that the first floor to be a minimum of 15 feet this change in essence impacted the 
construction methods, possibly building costs and the number of floors could be accommodated in 
the commercially zoned districts.   With the recent height variances approved for two nearby 
properties along with the recent text amendment for first floor heights, it is time to review the 
building heights for at least the C4-a District. 

It is our intention to recommend re-establishing the Housing and Building Committee in December 
to be tasked with making recommendations on a range of housing and building topics such as but 
not limited to building heights, tourist homes, accessory dwelling unit ordinance, impervious surface 
requirements and dockline setbacks.   

If you agree with staff’s recommendation, the following motion would be appropriate: 

I move that the request by Thomas Darga, of Dargaworks Inc., of 101 North Park Street , 
Traverse City, Michigan, to conditionally rezone the properties located at 205 Garland 
Street, 205 North Union Street and 211 North Union Street from C-4a (Regional Center) to 
C-4b (Regional Center) with conditions be recommended for denial to the City 
Commission. 
 

If you find that the conditional rezoning request is appropriate and moves the City in the direction of 
the Master Plan and protects the health, safety and welfare of the community then the following 
motion would be appropriate: 



Page 3 of 3 

I move that the request by Thomas Darga, of Dargaworks Inc., of 101 North Park Street , 
Traverse City, Michigan, to conditionally rezone the properties located at 205 Garland 
Street, 205 North Union Street and 211 North Union Street from C-4a (Regional Center) to 
C-4b (Regional Center) with conditions be recommended for approval to the City 
Commission. 

 
RS 

Attachments:  Conditional Rezoning offer letter from Dargaworks and related drawings 
 207, 211 and 221 West Grandview Parkway Board of Zoning Appeals communication and related 

drawings 



























































 

 Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Item No. 6B  
 

              Communication to the Planning Commission  
             
  
      FOR THE MEETING OF:  November 1, 2016 
 
      FROM:  Missy Luick, Planning and Engineering Assistant 
 

SUBJECT: Tourist Home Amendment  
 
       DATE:  October 27, 2016 
 
The City Commission discussed the Tourist Home ordinance at their August 1, 2016 meeting. The 
action taken at that meeting was as follows, "That the City Commission refers the request from 
Commissioner Brian Haas for a review of the City’s Tourist Home Ordinance, to include the review of 
the requirement that there be a 1,000 foot distance between tourist homes as well as the current 
marketplace and related technologies, to the Planning Commission for it to conduct a public hearing 
and report back on progress by January 1, 2017."  

The zoning code defines a Tourist Home as “a single-family dwelling owned and occupied by a 
person renting out not more than 3 rooms for compensation to persons who do not stay for more 
than 7 consecutive days.” The zoning code also defines a Vacation Home Rental as “a commercial 
use of a dwelling where the dwelling is rented or sold for any term less than 30 consecutive days.”  

Vacation Home Rentals are not allowed in the Residential Districts, but are allowed in all of the 
Commercial Districts.   

Currently, there are 19 licensed tourist homes in the City (see map.) If the distance requirement 
between tourist homes was lessoned to 500 feet, there could be approximately 96 tourist homes in 
the City and if it was increased to 2000 feet, there could be approximately 24 tourist homes in the 
City.  

On October 27 a search on Airbnb for occupancy for the weekend of 10/28-30 yielded 20 listings in 
the City limits. A similar search on vrbo.com for the same time period yielded 10 listings in Traverse 
City. Are all of these listings abiding by the regulations in our ordinances? It is difficult to assess. 

The City Assessor’s office regularly does research on internet sites (proactive) and the City gets 
complaints submitted by neighbors (reactive) for both tourist home and vacation home rental 
possible violations.  

This year, the city sent 26 letters sent to property owners informing them of the need to obtain a 
Tourist Home license to operate and 11 letters sent to property owners informing them to cease and 
desist operation because they do not meet the distance requirement and therefore cannot operate. 



 

 Page 2 of 2 

Likewise related to Vacation Home Rentals, this year, the city sent 11 cease and desist letters and 17 
letters last year. 

It is our intention to recommend re-establishing the Housing and Building Committee in December 
to be tasked with making recommendations on a range of housing and building topics such as but 
not limited to tourist homes, accessory dwelling unit ordinance, building heights, impervious surface 
requirements and dockline setbacks.   

An amendment to Section 1332.01 has been prepared for your review and consideration that 
suggests either reducing the distance between tourist homes to 500 feet or increasing the distance 
between to 2000 feet. In addition to the conditions in the zoning code in section 1332.01 pertaining 
to Tourist Homes, Chapter 868 covers Tourist Home licensing, conditions (that are different from 
those in the zoning code), fees, inspections and infractions. At this time, staff is not recommending 
an amendment to Chapter 868, but would like to include it in the Public Hearing notice should the 
Planning Commission decide that changes in that Chapter are deemed necessary. 
 
The Planning Commission has been directed by the City Commission to consider an amendment to 
and hold a public hearing on the matter. To do this, the following motion would be appropriate: 
 

I move that a Public Hearing be scheduled for December 6, 2016 to consider an 
amendment to the Traverse City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 868 Tourist Homes and 
Single Family Dwelling Districts (R-1a and R-1b), Section 1332.01 Uses Allowed, regarding 
changing the conditions allowing tourist homes.   

 

 Attachment:  Tourist Home draft amendment to Section 1332.01 
  Chapter 868 Tourist Homes 
  Tourist Home Parcel map showing 1000 foot buffer 
  Sample Tourist Home map showing 500 foot buffer 
  Sample Tourist Home map showing 2000 foot buffer 

Could You Bnb My Neighbor? article by Jeffrey Goodman published in Planning, the 
Magazine of the American Planning Association 

What I Think Every Time I See an Airbnb Renter in My Neighborhood op-ed article by 
Pete Harrison published by nextcity.org  

Regulating Short-Term Rentals: A Guidebook for Equitable Policy by Sustainable 
Economies Law Center- Excerpt only (LINK: 
http://www.theselc.org/regulating_short_term_rentals_a_guidebook_for_equit
able_policy) 

Residential Rentals: The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights by 
Robinson & Cole for the National Association of Realtors – excerpt table of 
contents only (Full version not available online, Summary Link: 
http://www.realtor.org/educsessmid.nsf/sphandout/ShortTermResidentialRenta
ls2016.pdf/$File/ShortTermResidentialRentals2016.pdf) 

http://www.theselc.org/regulating_short_term_rentals_a_guidebook_for_equitable_policy
http://www.theselc.org/regulating_short_term_rentals_a_guidebook_for_equitable_policy
http://www.realtor.org/educsessmid.nsf/sphandout/ShortTermResidentialRentals2016.pdf/$File/ShortTermResidentialRentals2016.pdf
http://www.realtor.org/educsessmid.nsf/sphandout/ShortTermResidentialRentals2016.pdf/$File/ShortTermResidentialRentals2016.pdf


  Page 1 

TRAVERSE CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES 
 
 ORDINANCE AMENDMENT NO. ______ 
 Effective date: _______________ 
 
TITLE: Tourist Home Amendment 
 
THE CITY OF TRAVERSE CITY ORDAINS: 
 
That the Single Family Dwelling Districts Section 1332.01, Uses Allowed, of the Zoning Code of 
the Traverse City Code of Ordinances, be amended to read in its entirety as follows: 

1332.01 - Uses allowed.  

The following uses of land and buildings, together with accessory uses, are allowed in the Single-
Family districts:  

• Accessory Dwelling Units meeting the following requirements:  

The intent of this section is to:  

(a) Preserve and maintain the character of predominately single-family residential neighborhoods 
while broadening housing choices.  

(b) Have owner-occupancy to provide the necessary on-site supervision that enhances 
maintenance and the preservation of the character of the City's single-family neighborhoods.  

(c) Prevent disruption in the stability of the single-family neighborhoods, speculation and absentee 
ownership.  

(d) Diversify housing options and create more affordable housing within existing single-family 
neighborhoods.  

(e) Enhance neighborhood stability by providing extra income that potentially could allow 
homeowners to live in their houses longer and maintain their property better.  

(f) Provide homeowners with a means of accommodating extended families, companionship, 
security, or services through tenants in either the accessory dwelling unit or principal dwelling.  

(1) The existing site and use are substantially in compliance with this Zoning Code.  

(2) There shall be a maximum limit of 10 newly registered accessory dwelling units per 
calendar year.  

(3) The accessory dwelling unit is allowed only on a lot having at least 5,000 square feet.  

(4) Only 1 accessory dwelling unit per parcel is allowed with a maximum of 2 dwellings per 
parcel.  

(5) The accessory dwelling unit is clearly incidental to the principal dwelling unit and the 
structures' exterior appear to be single-family.  

(6) Accessory dwelling units must meet the following additional requirements:  

a. Location of entrances. Only 1 entrance may be located on the façade of the primary 
dwelling facing the street, unless the primary dwelling contained additional entrances 
before the accessory dwelling unit was created. An exception to this regulation is 
entrances that do not have access from the ground such as entrances from balconies 
or decks.  

b. Exterior stairs. Fire escapes or exterior stairs for access to an upper level accessory 
dwelling shall not be located on the front of the primary dwelling.  



  Page 2 

(7) Individual site plans, floor plans, elevation drawings and building plans for the proposed 
accessory dwelling unit shall be submitted with the application for a land use permit.  

(8) The accessory dwelling unit incorporated in the principal dwelling may be no more than 
800 square feet or the size of the principal dwelling, whichever is less. A unit in an 
accessory building may not exceed 800 square feet and must meet all the requirements of 
Section 1332.07. The accessory dwelling unit must have at least 250 square feet of gross 
floor area.  

(9) At least 1 owner of record shall occupy either the primary dwelling unit or the accessory 
dwelling unit. The owner occupant shall meet the requirements for a principal residence tax 
exemption.  

(10) The accessory dwelling unit shall be registered with the City Clerk's office.  

(11) The accessory dwelling unit shall not be leased for a period of less than 3 months at a 
time. Upon request of the City, the owner of record shall provide a lease agreement 
evidencing the length of the lease.  

(12) Each registered Accessory Dwelling Unit is subject to annual administrative review by the 
City. Registrant shall provide additional information as requested by the City.  

• Adult foster care family home;  

• Athletic fields;  

• Boat houses if they are an accessory use, if they are designed for housing a boat, if provisions 
are made for routing of any boardwalk, and if proper state and federal permits are obtained;  

• Community Gardens;  

• Dwellings, single-family;  

• Essential services;  

• Golf courses;  

• Home occupations subject to the following conditions:  

(1) A home occupation shall be conducted within the dwelling which is the bona fide residence 
of the principal practitioner of the occupation, or in a building accessory to such dwelling.  

(2) All business activity and storage shall take place within the interior of the dwelling and/or 
accessory building.  

(3) No alteration to the exterior of the residential dwelling, accessory building or yard that 
alters the residential character of the premises is permissible.  

(4) The home occupation shall not generate vehicular traffic beyond 8 trip-ends per day.  

(5) Only off-street parking facilities customary for a residential use and located on the 
premises may be used.  

(6) No vehicles used in the conduct of the occupation may be parked, kept or otherwise be 
present on the premises, other than such as are customarily used for domestic or 
household purposes.  

(7) Home occupations shall be conducted solely by persons residing at the residence, and no 
more than 2 such persons shall be employed in the home occupation.  

(8) Any sign identifying the occupation must conform to the regulations of Traverse City Code 
Chapter 1476, Signs.  

(9) No sale or rental of goods is allowed on the premises, except as secondary and incidental 
to the furnishing of a service.  



  Page 3 

(10) Instruction in crafts and fine arts are recognized as allowable home occupations if they meet the 
above conditions.  

(11) The use shall not generate noise, vibration or odors detectible beyond the property line.  

• Medical marihuana cultivation on a parcel containing 1 single-family dwelling meeting the 
following requirements:  

(1) No more than the maximum number of plants 1 person may cultivate under the Michigan 
Medical Marihuana Act shall be cultivated per parcel;  

(2) The medical marihuana cultivation shall comply at all times with the Michigan Medical 
Marihuana Act and the General Rules of the Michigan Department of Community Health, 
as they may be amended from time to time;  

(3) All medical marihuana plants cultivated shall be contained within a fully enclosed locked 
facility inaccessible on all sides and equipped with locks or other security devices that 
permit access only by the primary caregiver or qualifying patient cultivating the plants;  

(4) Cultivation shall be conducted so as not to create unreasonable dust, glare, noise, odors, 
or light spillage beyond the parcel and shall not be visible from an adjoining public way;  

(5) The principal use of the parcel shall be a dwelling and shall be in actual use as such.  

(6) No transfer of medical marihuana to qualifying patients other than qualifying patients 
residing on the parcel shall occur.  

(7) No alteration to the exterior of the residential dwelling, accessory building or yard that 
alters the residential character of the premises is permissible.  

(8) No vehicles used in cultivation may be parked, kept or otherwise be present on the parcel, 
other than such as are customarily used for domestic or household purposes.  

• Medical marihuana cultivation on a parcel containing more than 1 single-family dwelling, a two-
family dwelling, or a multiple family dwelling meeting the following requirements:  

(1) No more than 12 medical marihuana plants shall be cultivated per dwelling unit;  

(2) The medical marihuana cultivation shall comply at all times with the Michigan Medical 
Marihuana Act and the General Rules of the Michigan Department of Community Health, 
as they may be amended from time to time;  

(3) All medical marihuana plants cultivated shall be contained within a fully enclosed locked 
facility inaccessible on all sides and equipped with locks or other security devices that 
permit access only by the primary caregiver or qualifying patient cultivating the plants;  

(4) Cultivation shall be conducted so as not to create unreasonable dust, glare, noise, odors, 
or light spillage beyond the dwelling unit and shall not be visible from an adjoining public 
way;  

(5) The principal use of the dwelling unit shall be a dwelling and shall be in actual use as such;  

(6) No transfer of medical marihuana to qualifying patients other than qualifying patients 
residing within the dwelling unit shall occur;  

(7) No alteration to the exterior of the residential dwelling, accessory building or yard that 
alters the residential character of the premises is permissible.  

(8) No vehicles used in cultivation may be parked, kept or otherwise be present on the parcel, 
other than such as are customarily used for domestic or household purposes.  

• Playgrounds;  

• Tourist homes meeting the following requirements:  



  Page 4 

(1) Rooms utilized for sleeping shall be part of the primary residential structure and shall not 
be specifically constructed or remodeled for rental purposes.  

(2) The tourist home shall not be closer than 1,000 500 - 2,000 feet to an existing licensed 
tourist home.  

(3) The exterior appearance of the structure shall not be altered from its single-family 
character.  

(4) There shall be no separate or additional kitchen facility for the guests.  

(5) Off-street parking shall be provided as required by this Zoning Code and shall be 
developed in such a manner that the residential character of the property is preserved.  

(6) A site plan is approved according to the Zoning Code. Certain site plan information may be 
waived at the discretion of the Planning Director.  

(7) A City tourist home license is maintained.  

(8) A tourist home shall be an incidental and secondary use of a dwelling unit for business 
purposes. The intent of this provision is to ensure compatibility of such business use with 
other permitted uses of the residential districts and with the residential character of the 
neighborhoods involved, and to ensure that tourist homes are clearly secondary and 
incidental uses of residential buildings.  

 

The effective date of this Ordinance is the ________ day of ______________, 2016. 

 

I hereby certify the above ordinance amendment was 
introduced on ____________________, 2016, at a regular 
meeting of the City Commission and was enacted on 
_______________________, 2016, at a regular meeting of 
the City Commission by a vote of Yes: ____ No: ___ at the 
Commission Chambers, Governmental Center, 400 
Boardman Avenue,  Traverse City, Michigan. 

_____________________________________________ 

James Carruthers, Mayor 

_____________________________________________ 

Benjamin C. Marentette, City Clerk 

I hereby certify that a notice of adoption of the above 
ordinance was published in the Traverse City Record 
Eagle, a daily newspaper published in Traverse City, 
Michigan, on ___________________________. 

_____________________________________________ 

Benjamin C. Marentette, City Clerk 



  Page 1 

Chapter 868 - Tourist Homes[22]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (22) ---  

State Law reference— Lodging houses, hotels, motels, tourist cabins and temporary camps, M.C.L.A. § 
427.1 et seq.  

Cross reference— Lodging houses, Ch. 836; Application of rental housing regulations to tourist homes, 
§ 1482.16; Smoke detectors in lodging houses, § 1610.14(b)  

 

868.01 - Definitions.  

As used in this chapter:  

(1) Owner means any person who has equitable or legal title to any premises, dwelling or dwelling 
unit.  

(2) Tourist home means a single-family building owned and occupied by a person renting out not 
more than three rooms for compensation to persons who do not stay for more than seven 
consecutive days.  

(Ord. 245. Passed 2-1-88.)  

868.02 - License required.  

No person shall operate a tourist home without first obtaining a license therefor as required by this 
chapter. Only an owner shall be allowed to hold a license under this chapter.  

(Ord. 245. Passed 2-1-88.)  

868.03 - Conditions for issuance.  

A tourist home license shall be issued subject to the following conditions, which conditions, are in 
addition to conditions contained elsewhere in these Codified Ordinances:  

(1) The home is occupied and operated by the owner and is a single-family residential dwelling.  

(2) A guest room shall not be located in the basement.  

(3) Not more than three occupants per room shall be allowed.  

(4) A person who does not reside at the home shall not be employed to assist in the conduct of a 
tourist home, except as usual for a single-family residence.  

(5) The home shall not be used by the public or paying guests for the hosting of receptions, private 
parties or the like.  

(6) A list shall be maintained of all guests and their places of residence.  

(7) A fire escape plan shall be developed and graphically displayed in each guest room.  

(Ord. 245. Passed 2-1-88.)  



  Page 2 

868.04 - Notice of license application.  

Upon receipt of a completed tourist home license application, the City Clerk shall notify all persons to 
whom real property is assessed within 300 feet of the proposed tourist home location. There shall be a 
14-day period for comment to the City Clerk regarding the proposed operation, which comment period 
shall be stated in the notice.  

(Ord. 245. Passed 2-1-88.)  

868.05 - License fee.  

The annual license fee shall be established by resolution of the City Commission.  

(Ord. 245. Passed 2-1-88.)  

868.06 - Inspections.  

A tourist home shall meet all conditions of this chapter and other applicable ordinances and laws. 
There shall be an annual inspection of the premises by the City.  

(Ord. 245. Passed 2-1-88.)  

868.07 - Lapse of operation.  

The active operation of a tourist home shall not lapse for more than nine months.  

(Ord. 245. Passed 2-1-88.)  

868.08 - Municipal civil infraction.  

A person who violates any provision of this chapter is responsible for a municipal civil infraction.  

(Ord. 657. Passed 12-6-04.)  

868.99 - Penalty.  

Editor's note— See § 202.99 for general Code penalty if no specific penalty is provided.  







10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 1/10

Hello Melissa   (/myapa/)

(https://www5.smartadserver.com/click?
imgid=17142301&insid=5966188&pgid=584791&uid=2425364546473263122&tgt=%24dt%3d1t%3b%24dma%3d540%3b%3b%24hc&systgt=%24qc%3d1307001530%3b%24ql%3dmedium%3b%24qpc%3d49684%3b%24qpp%3d231%3b%24qt%3d152_2137_6261t%3b%24dma%3d540%3b%24b%3d16540%3b%24o%3d11061%3b%24sw%3d1920%3b%24sh%3d1080&go=http%3a%2f%2fwww.worldcampus.psu.edu%2fdegrees-

and-certi⥀cates%2fcommunity-and-economic-development-
masters%2foverview%3futm_source%3dapa%26utm_medium%3dbanner%26utm_campaign%3dCEDEV%2b16-

17%26utm_content%3d728x90%26cid%3dBNNR24548)




(/) My APA (/myapa/) Log Out (/logout/)


MENU

Search

Home (/)  >  Knowledge Center (/knowledgecenter/)  >  APA Publications (/publications/)  >  Planning Magazine (/planning/)  >

Could You Bnb My Neighbor?
A planner's take on the sharing economy.

Planning February 2016
IN THIS ISSUE:

Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

By Jeffrey Goodman

Since I live in New Orleans, I live near a bar. People are always walking by my house to this bar, so
perhaps one day I start offering beer to passersby from my porch. Maybe I sell a beer or two — I could
always use the money — and people here have always sold drinks as a hustle during Mardi Gras, so what
is the difference?

Perhaps eventually I sell beer all the time and people start coming to my house instead of the bar and
maybe I pick up a sponsorship and a little press. Soon, people are coming from miles around to my
house, spending money at shops in my neighborhood; everything's great. If I were then to go my local
alcohol board, or my zoning board, or my neighborhood association, and argue that since my house-bar
is so popular, the rules need to be rewritten to accommodate me — well, I would be run out of town on a
rail.

Yet in some ways, this is the path taken in regulating another controversial industry: short-term rentals.
Backed by billions of investment dollars and an aggressive strategy of "disruption" that favors expansion
above cooperation, companies like Airbnb, VRBO, and others have generated as much controversy as
they have pro⥀ts, stubbornly resisting cities' attempts to rein the industry in.

Of course, what these platforms offer is nothing new; home owners have taken in lodgers since the ⥀rst
settlement of cities. But with such a huge scope — over 34,000 cities on Airbnb alone — how do we
balance the potential bene⥀ts of these businesses with their real impacts on our communities?

Enter keyword or phrase

https://www.planning.org/myapa/
https://www5.smartadserver.com/click?imgid=17142301&insid=5966188&pgid=584791&uid=2425364546473263122&tgt=%24dt%3d1t%3b%24dma%3d540%3b%3b%24hc&systgt=%24qc%3d1307001530%3b%24ql%3dmedium%3b%24qpc%3d49684%3b%24qpp%3d231%3b%24qt%3d152_2137_6261t%3b%24dma%3d540%3b%24b%3d16540%3b%24o%3d11061%3b%24sw%3d1920%3b%24sh%3d1080&go=http%3a%2f%2fwww.worldcampus.psu.edu%2fdegrees-and-certificates%2fcommunity-and-economic-development-masters%2foverview%3futm_source%3dapa%26utm_medium%3dbanner%26utm_campaign%3dCEDEV%2b16-17%26utm_content%3d728x90%26cid%3dBNNR24548
https://www.planning.org/
https://www.planning.org/myapa/
https://www.planning.org/logout/
https://www.planning.org/
https://www.planning.org/knowledgecenter/
https://www.planning.org/publications/
https://www.planning.org/planning/


10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 2/10

Illustration by John Ueland, uelandillustration.com

Opposing narratives

Because the debate over short-term rentals intersects with so many issues — the role of government,
what constitutes a business, the rights of neighbors, and on and on — attempts at regulation can generate
impassioned responses from hosts and residents alike. These narratives can be dif⥀cult for planners to
reconcile.

In the view of short-term renters, hosting has been a great boon for individuals to make a little extra
money, for neighborhoods to see tourist dollars, and for cities to promote tourism. The kindly old woman
with a bedroom to let to excited millennials: This is the narrative that Airbnb and others focus on when
expanding and promoting their services.

Regarding a San Francisco ballot measure, an Airbnb spokesperson was quoted in the Wall Street Journal
as saying, "This initiative, at the end of the day, is an attack on the middle class of San Francisco, who
share their homes to help make ends meet. Home-sharing in this city is a lifeline for thousands."



10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 3/10

However, to opponents, Airbnb's hoodie-and-�ip-�ops vibe obscures a $25 billion behemoth whose
business model has depended on ignoring local regulations in the name of growth and pro⥀t. Abetted by
these platforms, hosts �out safety, housing, and zoning codes, turn quiet homes into frat parties, drive up
rent by displacing residents, outcompete bed-and-breakfasts, and fail to pay their share of taxes.

The narrative of opponents focuses on the absentee landlord with a portfolio of crash pads for bachelor
parties; they say this is the reality ignored by Airbnb that planners have to clean up. As one exasperated
neighbor in Austin told a New York Times reporter, "[Hosts] are leveraging our neighborhood for their
pro⥀t, telling people to come stay in this beautiful place ... and they are making people miserable."

These competing identities have meant particularly contentious ⥀ghts over regulation. In San Francisco,
a proposed short-term rental ordinance led to 12-hour public meetings, allegations of vote tampering,
and a $9 million proposition ⥀ght. (Though Airbnb and the other short-term rental companies prevailed
in the end, Airbnb's ad campaign for the proposition essentially told San Franciscans where they could
stick the tax money the company pays. People were not amused.)

There is no monolithic "short-term host" but a spectrum of users (couch-sur⥀ng holdovers, empty
nesters, young couples, and, yes, speculators and pro⥀teers) and a spectrum of uses (occasional hosting,
seasonal hosting, and, yes, the faux-hotel.) All of them, to some degree or another, have taken advantage
of a regulatory Wild West in order to make money without proper oversight and without proper
accountability.

An Airbnb-financed group put this billboard up in San Francisco before a ballot initiative in November that would have limited the home-sharing service. Aퟬ�er helping defeat Proposition F,
Airbnb pledged to cooperate with local governments. Jason Henry/The New York Times.

Getting past the noise

In order to regulate an industry effectively, planners need to understand how these platforms are being
used and by whom, and what kinds of impacts they have on neighborhoods.

This is somewhat easier said than done; Airbnb and other companies do not freely release data, citing
privacy concerns. When they do use data, the companies present a glowing picture of their activity, one
that seems irresistible: Airbnb guests stay twice as long and spend twice as much as a typical visitor, with
nearly half of all spending occurring in local neighborhoods.

According to the company, more than half of its hosts are "low to moderate income" and say hosting
helped them stay in their homes. In New York City, Airbnb claims to have generated $632 million in
economic activity in one year alone. Opponents note, however, that the company has no reason to release



10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 4/10

numbers that paint their activity and their tactics in a negative light.

In order to get a clearer picture of the realities on the ground, researchers have had to rely on other
means of gathering information, largely by "scraping" the public listings of these websites. (Airbnb, in
turn, claims that this type of data collection is �awed.) Another option is to sue for access to the data,
which is what the New York State Attorney General did, discovering that as many as 72 percent of Airbnb
reservations violated New York law. Despite an effort to be "open and transparent" with cities, even under
subpoena Airbnb only releases anonymized data to city governments — no addresses, no names.

Either by automated tools or through simple spreadsheets, trolling through Airbnb can give planners at
least a broad outline of their local market, from average price per night (useful in calculating tax
revenue) to the characteristics of the units available, like number of bedrooms, amenities, and safety
equipment. Even a general map view can help planners see which neighborhoods are most affected or
need greater enforcement.

Using these approaches, researchers have undercut Airbnb's narrative. The Real Deal, a New York-based
real estate journal, found short-term rentals caused residents of some neighborhoods to pay up to an
extra $825 a year in rent by removing units from the market. In New Orleans, far from helping a broad
group of residents, nearly 50 percent of all bookings came from just six percent of listings, with some
hosts making hundreds of thousands of dollars from dozens of properties without paying a cent in
occupancy tax, according to one report.

While Airbnb claims that hosts, on average, book only six days a month, that average conceals a huge
spectrum from abandoned listings to faux-hotels. Using the number of reviews as a proxy for activity,
planners can start to separate the mom-and-pops from the professionals.

More damningly, some reports cut at the heart of Airbnb's supposed bene⥀ts: tourism dollars. San
Francisco's Of⥀ce of Economic Analysis, considering the reduction of long-term residents and housing
caused by full-time hosting, wrote that for every 1,000 units lost to short-term tourist rentals, the city's
economy loses more than $250 million each year, far exceeding the bene⥀t from visitor spending and
hotel taxes.

This is not to say short-term rentals are all bad or all good, just that the reality of these marketplaces is
complex. Planners have to get into the data, fragmented though it may be, in order to begin to categorize
activity for regulation.

Where Does Airbnb Pay its Share?

Airbnb, as part of a "Community Compact" released in November 2015, promises to now "pay its 'fair
share' of hotel and tourist taxes in cities that have them" though the mechanism for doing so, or the way
for cities to participate, remains unclear. In most places, the company relies on hosts to pay all taxes, but
agreements in a handful of cities and states require the company to collect and remit taxes, chie�y hotel
or transient occupancy taxes (as high as 14.5 percent), but also sales and tourism development taxes. The
locations are:

Malibu, California 
Oakland, California 
Palo Alto, California 
San Diego 
San Francisco 
San Jose, California 
Santa Clara, California 
Santa Monica, California 
Chicago 
Florida 
Multnomah County and Portland, Oregon 
North Carolina 
Philadelphia 
Phoenix 
Rhode Island 
Washington State 
Washington, D.C.

Source: Airbnb.com

How to regulate?

For planners, the way forward with regulation is a three-part process.

PART 1



10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 5/10

Establish a baseline level of safety and accountability. In its Terms of Service, Airbnb is very clear,
repeatedly, that the hosts on its platform are 100 percent responsible for following local laws on
everything from safety and zoning to taxation and sex offender registries. While any short-term rental
should have to conform to local building, occupancy, health, and safety codes, it is up to the local planner
to ensure properties are compliant.

The safety of guests, hosts, and neighbors is the highest priority in regulating the short-term rental
market. Airbnb and other companies, as part of their response to local pushback about safety, have
adopted a policy of assisted self-policing for their hosts by offering free smoke detectors or ⥀ll-in-the-
blank emergency plans. But a host does not actually need to prove the existence or operation of any
safety feature in order to list. When I created a test listing, I was able to simply click "Next."

Similarly, Airbnb has slowly evolved on the issue of insurance, shi총ing some responsibility away from the
hosts. In late 2015, the company augmented a "million dollar host guarantee" to protect against damage
caused by its service — which does not cover personal liability, shared or common areas (a big issue for
condos) and is speci⥀cally described as "not insurance" — to a limited million-dollar policy backed by
Lloyd's of London. This system creates a strange network of legal entanglements as Airbnb is both the
policyholder and claims administrator for local hosts, who themselves have their own separate
insurance.

But because many home insurance companies consider short-term renting a commercial use — and thus
not covered under the standard policies — hosts may ⥀nd themselves at the center of a huge and
complicated ⥀ght that would make a trial lawyer drool; if a guest booked on Airbnb burns down a condo
building and a ⥀re⥀ghter is injured in the process, how is that legal mess going to sort itself out?
Additionally, any damages and liabilities beyond a million dollars — assuming Airbnb even pays out —
will fall on the hosts. The easiest solution is to require short-term renters to carry the appropriate
insurance, one that speci⥀cally covers their activity and their level of risk.

But being a good host also means taking steps to avoid imposing on your neighbors' quality of life. No one
wants to deal with loud guests, or litter, or parking issues, whether from a long-term or a short-term
tenant.

Beyond strengthening and enforcing existing nuisance laws, some cities such as Portland, Oregon, and
Santa Monica, California, have tried to include more direct accountability into their regulations; basic
ideas like having hosts give out contact information to neighbors to report bad guests or only allowing
owner-occupied rentals. In this scheme, serial offenders could face punishments that disincentivize their
behavior, such as the loss of short-term rental or commercial permits, escalating ⥀nes, or code
enforcement actions.

Ultimately, despite all the hype about the so-called "sharing economy," short-term rentals are
fundamentally a commercial use, one that cities have regulated successfully in the past as bed-and-
breakfasts, inns, motels, hotels, or SROs. In places that have traditional bed-and-breakfasts, innkeepers
complain that competing with unregulated Airbnb units harms them doubly — as small-business owners
and as residents.

Since the act of hosting is the same regardless of how a unit is booked, then the issues — from safety to
zoning to garbage fees to taxes — are as well. Planners should simply hold a short-term rental unit to the
same standards as any other similar business.

PART 2

Move past simply yes or no. When pressure to "do something" about short-term rentals comes down from
City Hall or up from neighbors, the debate is o총en framed as a yes or no; "anything goes" or "not in my
backyard." The answer will be probably be somewhere in between, and while it can be a laborious
process, tailoring regulation to your city's particular situation can pay dividends.

As I learned at last year's APA conference in Seattle, the experience of a few Colorado destinations can
serve as examples of adapting regulation to local needs.

Durango, a small city that serves as a regional center for the Four Corners, faced tremendous housing
pressures a총er growing rapidly over the past decade. With vacancy rates dipping below one percent in
some neighborhoods, and rents high and incomes �at, groups like college students, retirees, and service
industry workers had increasingly limited options within the city.

At the same time, Durango welcomes thousands of tourists each year, drawn to the nearby natural
beauty, redeveloped downtown, and seasonal festivals. Short-term rentals catered to some visitors, and
the popularity (and notoriety) of these units led Durango's city government to develop new regulation.
Through research and a series of community meetings, Durango's planners were able to identify three
main areas that needed addressing in their city: impacts on tourism, impacts on neighborhoods, and —
most important — impacts on housing.



10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 6/10

A neighborhood encompassing much of the downtown and the local university had an especially tight
market, and neighbors expressed concern about "dark blocks," where the spread of short-term rentals on
speci⥀c streets le총 few permanent residents.

Durango's solution limits the density of allowed short-term units within groups of blocks, effectively
preventing clustering while still accepting the use as permissible. By making a determination that
preserving housing availability was the ultimate community goal, one that both transcended and
intersected with short-term renting, Durango's planners could ⥀t the discussion over Airbnb units into a
larger narrative about the future of their city.

Aspen had a different problem: empty units. A world-famous destination with seasonal ebbs and �ows of
tourists, the city is burdened by a hodgepodge of residential properties — condos, ski villages, second
homes — that sit disused much of the year. By legalizing and standardizing requirements for short-term
rentals, Aspen's planners were able to enhance the city's tourist economy while still maintaining control
over important issues like permitting, taxation, and safety of individual units.

Durango's Street Segment Cap

In order to mitigate the effects of short-term rentals and preserve housing availability, Durango's Land
Use and Development Code creates density limits for these rentals in residential zones. Only one permit
is allowed per street segment. (For corner lots, the permit counts against both adjacent street segments
and the intersection.) While there is no citywide cap on permits, there is a maximum number of permits
available in residential districts.



10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 7/10

Source: Durango Planning Department

Both Durango and Aspen found the key to controlling these concerns was treating short-term rentals as
small businesses, allowing them to justify the use of their regulatory tools like zoning and licensing in
ways that were consistent, understandable, and enforceable.

PART 3

Ensure enforcement on the ground and online. For short-term rentals, as for anything, regulation is only
as good as its enforcement. Cities have struggled in this regard, creating huge opportunities for abuse
while frustrating city of⥀cials and neighbors alike when long-debated ordinances do little to quiet
complaints.

Though it is o총en spoken of as one concept, the short-term rental industry is really made up of two
interrelated markets. One is the multitude of local hosts that interact directly with neighbors. They have
to navigate (or disregard) local ordinances and are, even as absentee investors, a part of the community.

The other market, the listing companies like Airbnb and VRBO, has been harder to engage in
enforcement efforts or tax collection, repeatedly pushing all responsibility to local hosts and
governments.

This policy line — that Airbnb, despite any illegal activity on its site, is essentially blameless — results in
awkward complications for enforcement. In New Orleans, for example, Airbnb has a special tab on its
website giving tips about how hosts can follow city rules: get a permit, pay your taxes, report nuisances,
etc. What it leaves out is telling: that renting for less than 30 days is illegal.

Instead of either con⥀rming permit holders or hard-wiring the law into their business — and thus cutting
down the amount of activity that violates local rules — Airbnb punts. It makes it so that a host would have
to manually set a minimum stay of 30 days on the Airbnb platform to be compliant — no proof of permit
needed.

In other major cities, new short-term rental ordinances become undone by �aws in enforcement. In San
Francisco, a much-discussed ordinance only led to 282 applications — out of 6,000 listings — in the ⥀rst
three months, with only 27 units delisted for bad behavior — evidence, critics say, that the self-policing
and self-reporting model pushed by Airbnb (and the mayor's of⥀ce) is deeply �awed.

In Austin, a총er a New York Times expose found some party houses continue to rage on even a총er racking
up 60 code violations, ⥀nger-pointing ensued: Airbnb blames the city for allowing serial violators to
continue operation, while Austinites wonder why Airbnb keeps letting the houses list.

A simple option, like requiring a listing company to match a permit number to a city database in order to
list, would immediately curb many of the worst abuses and reduce the number of listings that need
monitoring. Unable to convince Airbnb to collaborate on such a system and frustrated by only one in 10
hosts having permits, Portland, Oregon, threatened ⥀ning all the listing companies $500 per violation per



10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 8/10

day for every listing that was not permitted. (Though the city has yet to fully curb illegal listings on
Airbnb, Portland did sue Homeaway for $2.5 million for refusing to pay lodging taxes and ensuring
proper permit inspections.) The enforcement of⥀cer's message was clear: If a city goes through the
hassle of writing a new ordinance, why should anyone without a permit be allowed on these sites?

At the end of the day, the antagonistic system — this sharing economy Wild West in place today — simply
does not work for city governments to enforce their laws, does not help legitimate hosts compete with
"bad actors," and, ultimately, does not allow Airbnb and other short-term rental companies to live up to
their own rhetoric of "belonging everywhere."

Rental units need to be fairly treated as a business, regulations need to be tailored to each city's unique
situation, and enforcement needs to hold everyone accountable. Whether in Silicon Valley or Main Street
USA, the old adage is still true: Good fences make good neighbors.

Jeffrey Goodman is an urban planner and graphic designer based in New Orleans. His work focuses on
the sharing economy, community participation, and data-driven regulation. He has contracted with both
the city of New Orleans and Airbnb, and advised researchers on short-term rentals in San Francisco,
Portland, New Orleans, and New York. Contact him through JBGoodman.com.

Rent Your Driveway

By Kristen Pope

Rooms to rent on Airbnb, VRBO, and other sites aren't the only things up for grabs in many urban
neighborhoods. Another hot commodity going to the highest bidder: parking spaces.

Innovative app developers came up with a solution to this dilemma by creating a slew of apps to rent out
spaces to parking-hungry drivers. However, app designers soon discovered a hitch: It was illegal in many
locations.

Most of these early apps and parking space brokers worked on the premise that a driver about to leave
their public, on-street parking space would log on and let other app users know the location of the soon-
to-be-vacant spot, giving another user ⥀rst dibs (for a fee) on snagging the spot. The new parker's fee,
typically between $5 and $30, would be split between the departing motorist and the app company.

Since many of these apps were essentially renting out public, on-street parking spaces, municipalities
worked quickly to block them. In San Francisco the big players were MonkeyParking, Sweetch, and
ParkModo, and the city attorney sent several such apps cease-and-desist letters in 2014, threatening to
⥀ne drivers up to $300 and the companies up to $2,500 per violation. The letters also noted a lawsuit was
imminent if the apps continued operation in the city.

Then a new — legal — wave of apps came to the city, including SpotHero, ParqEx, and ParkWhiz, allowing
people to rent or exchange private parking spaces, including those in parking garages. Paul Rose, chief
spokesperson for the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency, notes these transactions aren't a
concern if they don't impinge on public safety.

"Any [safety] concerns will come out of blocking the right of way, preventing people from walking on the
sidewalks, or if parking going on in a driveway causes people to walk out into the street," he says.

However, the transaction itself isn't an issue for the agency. "[If] they're leasing spaces that are a part of
private property, that's not something that we would necessarily get involved in," Rose says.

Likewise, Boston of⥀cials aren't too concerned about apps that rent out private property. Public property,
however, is another matter. In 2014, the city passed an ordinance effectively banning the Haystack app,
which let users notify other users — who paid a fee — when they were about to leave a public parking
space. The app claimed it was in the business of exchanging information rather than selling public
property, but the city disagreed.

However, as long as apps comply with city regulations, they're not a problem, according to the Boston
Press Of⥀ce, which said, "Generally, parking apps that allow a private property owner to rent his or her
parking space facilitate a private transaction that does not implicate the city's rules and regulations."

Portland, Oregon, has a far more restrictive policy than Boston or San Francisco. Its zoning rules deem
residential neighborhoods — all single-family and most multifamily zones — un⥀t for many types of
commercial activity, including renting out parking spots.

However, Jill Grenda, supervising planner for Portland's Bureau of Development Services, notes that
enforcement is driven by complaints. "Like any other zoning violation, it's a complaint-driven
enforcement system," she says. "So the city wouldn't know about it unless a grumpy neighbor called our
code enforcement line and said, 'My neighbor has different people parking in their driveway every single
day, and I know because I live next door. Can you come and investigate?'"

Kristen Pope is a Jackson, Wyoming-based freelance writer and editor who writes about planning,
science, conservation, and the outdoors, among other topics. Visit her at kepope.com.



10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 9/10

  (https://www.facebook.com/AmericanPlanningAssociation)   (https://www.youtube.com/user/AmericanPlanningAssn)   (https://twitter.com/APA_Planning)

  (http://instagram.com/americanplanningassociation)   (https://www.linkedin.com/groups?gid=116818)


Back to Top

  Log Out (/logout/) Contact Us (/customerservice/) Privacy Policy (/apaataglance/privacy.htm)

© 2016 APA. All Rights Reserved (/apaataglance/copyright.htm) | Privacy Policy (/apaataglance/privacy.htm)

https://www.facebook.com/AmericanPlanningAssociation
https://www.youtube.com/user/AmericanPlanningAssn
https://twitter.com/APA_Planning
http://instagram.com/americanplanningassociation
https://www.linkedin.com/groups?gid=116818
https://ad.doubleclick.net/ddm/jump/N9515.1858353PLANNING.ORG/B10150788.136203268;sz=180x150;ord=6772788913?
https://www.planning.org/logout/
https://www.planning.org/customerservice/
https://www.planning.org/apaataglance/privacy.htm
https://www.planning.org/apaataglance/copyright.htm
https://www.planning.org/apaataglance/privacy.htm


10/26/2016 Could You Bnb My Neighbor?

https://www.planning.org/planning/2016/feb/bnb.htm 10/10



10/27/2016 What I Think Every Time I See an Airbnb Renter in My Neighborhood – Next City

https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/airbnbgetshousingwrong 1/3

BY PETE HARRISON | OPED | JULY 28, 2016

A

What I Think Every Time I See an Airbnb Renter in My
Neighborhood

(AP Photo/Bebeto Matthews, File)

irn ha had a rough couple of week, particularl in NYC, and I’m not urpried. Airn ha

alwa truck me a a good mall idea ut a terrile ig idea. That’ ecaue it doen’t

undertand houing and in’t deigned to. We are finall tarting to ee wh that i uch a large

prolem, epeciall for certain neighorhood like mine in the at Village.

For man traveler and hot, the idea i aweome. I have had man enjoale Airn experience

acro the countr. I have taed with people renting a room and rented an entire apartment. I’ve alo

ued what were clearl profeional liting. I have never een a hot (wa too rik in m rent-

tailized uilding), ut I can ee the enefit for other. Airn’ mall-cale implementation of

technolog wa revolutionar and gave people feeling the queeze after the receion a chance to earn

and ave ome extra mone.

ut I have een othered  the profeionalization of Airn, oth  it uer and a a compan. It’

one thing to help traveler and hot in a limited etting. It’ another to predicate a multiillion-dollar

https://nextcity.org/daily/author/pete-harrison
http://adfarm.mediaplex.com/ad/ck/10680-225337-62131-0


10/27/2016 What I Think Every Time I See an Airbnb Renter in My Neighborhood – Next City

https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/airbnbgetshousingwrong 2/3

uine model on the income inecurit of it uer or on the profeional aritrage of the rental

houing market.

The “haring econom” ha alwa een a minomer hiding a prolematic economic hift toward

outourcing reponiilit/liailit, undermining emploment tailit and eraing conumer

protection. Airn ha diappointingl drifted further into thi world and the conequence for man

neighorhood and long-term renter ha tarted to ecome apparent.

People chooe to live in a cit, a neighorhood, a uilding and a unit for a complex et of reaon and

variale — all of which connect a group of people at a given time to a given phical place in wa that

might not e o oviou, ut exit nonethele. Thee people add unique experience, ervice and

idea to their communitie for however long the remain there. Over time, a neighorhood form an

identit from thoe collaoration and conflict that make it oth unique and univeral.  haring a

place, purpoefull or incidentall, people have haped it.

Airn dirupt thi, and not in the wa it dirupt the hotel indutr. The peron with that leae,

whether it’ the landlord or a profeional liter, i till haring that pace with all of thoe people in

their uilding and their neighorhood. There i a profound reponiilit that come with that whether

the acknowledge it or not. The hot ha choen to diengage from their home  turning it into a

commodit. Whether or not the have the right to i almot eide the point.

The more alient point i that the are alo forcing their neighor to make that choice  turning the

neighorhood into a commodit a well. The hot ha forced their neighor — who ee tranger

coming and going contantl — to ecome jut a little it le engaged and connected to their home. It’

not jut that the aren’t enefiting financiall, it’ that the are incurring the majorit of the ocial cot

and loing what the thought their home wa when the moved in. Mae the Airn renter i oka

with eing in a cheaper “hotel,” ut their neighor didn’t ign a leae to live in an kind of hotel.

Multipl the tpe of trade-off that come with Airn acro an entire neighorhood and what we are

left with i Hipter Dine World — one that look and mae feel “authentic,” ut one that ha

topped functioning a a neighorhood i uppoed to. Intead, it ecome experiential marketing,

make-elieve for lifetle tourit. Inevital thi devolve a neighorhood into ome land verion of

an other tpe of imilar neighorhood or a kitch verion of itelf.

I ee thi all the time where I live in the at Village. I go out for coffee on Avenue  ever morning and

ee a genuinel nice uropean couple with roller ag looking up from their martphone at apartment

uilding numer. I know the are there ecaue the want to get awa from the tourit part of NYC

and experience what the local ee, ut that jut make me feel like I’m a performer on their vacation.

The go home after a week of experiencing the at Village and another nice couple come ehind

them.

A for the at Village, thoe are people who I can’t uild a local connection with, who won’t e at a

communit oard meeting to voice an opinion aout the at River ferr, or at an MTA meeting aout

the potential L train hutdown, or at a meeting aout the lunch food at the at Village Communit

School. Their primar contriution intead i inadvertentl putting preure on m rent. I don’t dout

that mot Airner are curiou, elf-aware people who don’t want to have a negative impact. ut the



10/27/2016 What I Think Every Time I See an Airbnb Renter in My Neighborhood – Next City

https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/airbnbgetshousingwrong 3/3

ottom line i clear: The more unit there are devoted to Airn, the fewer there are for people who

would e there to advocate for our neighorhood.

All of thi raie quetion a to what a neighorhood i uppoed to e, and who get to decide how it

function. I don’t know the anwer to that, nor do I reall think there i an anwer. There are countle

tpe of neighorhood that function in an numer of capacitie for an numer of purpoe. And, of

coure, the change over time.

The uilt environment i an artificial contruct. There in’t anthing organic aout how a cit i uilt or

organized. Sure, there ma e more rational wa to organize them than other, ut thoe definition

are themelve ujective, ironed out through conflict and compromie, and ultimatel evolve a ociet

evolve. The point i that there are takeholder in thee neighorhood who are contantl truggling

to define what that neighorhood i. It might not alwa e prett, or fair, ut it i vital.

That’ wh Airn’ impact on certain neighorhood i o unprecedented and trouling. ven “ad”

landlord are ultimatel looking for long-term reident to live in their propertie whether the are

renting or purchaing. ut Airn i uilt on the oppoite premie. It want more and more people to

hot on Airn and want more and more people to viit on Airn. It model onl value the viranc

of a neighorhood relative to how attractive it i for tourit to viit.

Mae thi i OK for a peron with a pare room, or for a couple going out of town one weekend, ut

that’ not what Airn want to happen. It can’t jutif it valuation to invetor if it i there jut to help

people make or ave a little extra mone. Airn, whether the admit it or not, ucceed at the expene

of neighorhood. That’ the logical extenion of their market.

I there a wa to take the poitive of Airn, what it get right aout hotel, and remove what it get

wrong aout houing? I’d like to think o. I have had enough poitive experience with Airn on a

micro-level to ee how a different model could find that alance. I jut don’t think it’ going to come

from a $30 illion Silicon Valle compan. It eem like a lot of local government are coming to the

ame concluion.

BECOME A NEXT CITY MEMBER TODAY

Pete Harrion i the co-founder and CO of homeod, a moile network for

landlord and tenant. He i active in affordale houing effort acro NYC

and ha a Mater in Uran Planning from Columia Univerit.

TAGS: AIRBNB, SHARING ECONOMY

https://nextcity.org/membership
https://nextcity.org/daily/tags/tag/airbnb
https://nextcity.org/daily/tags/tag/sharing+economy


REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS:
A Guidebook for Equitable Policy

 March 2016



CREDITS
Authored by:
YASSI ESKANDARI-QAJAR
Policy Director, Sustainable Economies Law Center

JANELLE ORSI
Co-Founder and Executive Director, Sustainable Economies Law Center

With input from*:
JESSICA ARENA
ELIZABETH BURNETT
EUNICE KWON
RICARDO NUNEZ
CAMERON RHUDY
SARA STEPHENS
CASEY STRONG
NEIL THAPAR
CHRIS TITTLE

Design lead:
EUNICE KWON

About SELC: 
Sustainable Economies Law Center (SELC) is a nonprofit that charts the legal 
territory of the new economy, educates people about the possibilities and limits of 
creative economic structures, and advocates for laws that clear the way for com-

munity resilience.

*(this publication does not necessarily represent their positions)

2REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

This report carries a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 license, which means you are 
free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format) and adapt (remix, 
transform, and build upon the material for any purpose, even commercially.) 
For the full legal code, please visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/. 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY -------------------------------------------------------------------  4 

I.  INTRODUCTION ---------------------------------------------------------------------  6

II.  BACKGROUND -----------------------------------------------------------------------  7

III.  POSITIVE & NEGATIVE IMPACTS OF SHORT TERM RENTALS -----  9

IV.  CURRENT LAW -----------------------------------------------------------------------  10

V.  SELC’S RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 THE BASIC COMPONENTS OF AN STR ORDINANCE -----------------    11
  
 A. Establish Clear Definitions  (11)

 B. Reporting and Recordkeeping  (12)

 C. Establish Protections for the Supply and Affordability of Housing  (16)

 D. Create Protections for the Wellbeing of Guests  (20)
 
 E. Establish Oversight, Complaint, and Sanction Procedures for the 
     Wellbeing of Neighbors  (21)

 F. Preserve Neighborhood Quality  (23)

 G. Preserve Public Tax Revenues and Level the Playing Field Between STRs  
     and Commercial Hotels  (24)

 + SAN FRANCISCO: A CASE STUDY  (26)

VI.  GOING BEYONG IMPACT MITIGATION: 
 RESTORATIVE APPROACHES TO REGULATING STRS -----------------  28

3REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Sooner or later, nearly every city will need to address the rapid spread of short-term rentals. 
Though the activity itself is not new, in recent years, companies including Airbnb, VRBO, 
Flipkey, and Homeaway have facilitated and mainstreamed short-term rentals to a point 
where local governments are taking note, and taking action. 

Sustainable Economies Law Center (SELC) offers the following recommendations to assist 
policymakers with the process of drafting a local short-term rental ordinance. SELC’s goal is 
for local governments to craft short-term rental policies that generate inclusive opportuni-
ties for local wealth-creation, while balancing the needs of all members of the community. 
Ideally, the result will be an equitable policy that protects public interests, including housing 
affordability, health and safety, neighborhood quality, and municipal revenues, while retain-

ing reasonable latitude for city residents to host and earn money from short-term guests.

A short-term rental (STR) refers to a room or housing unit that is rented to a person or group 
for a short period of time, typically under 30 nights. The legality of STRs is being questioned 
in cities across the country because most local planning codes define STRs as a commercial 
activity akin to bed and breakfasts or inns, and typically prohibit them in residential areas 
without proper permitting and licensing. 

In addition to legal questions, STRs raise important questions about local priorities and the 
larger role STRs play in cities and neighborhoods. The staunchest proponents of STRs argue 
that hosting short-term guests enables residents to offset the cost of housing, make efficient 
use of otherwise unused space, and benefit directly from tourism dollars and cultural ex-

change. Others are less convinced of the benefits of STRs, arguing that the short-term rental 
of residential units negatively impacts local housing stock, neighborhood quality, public tax 
revenues, and conventional hotels.

In cities with high housing demand, the most contentious issue tends to be the impact of 
STRs on housing availability and affordability. Though STRs may help some hosts occasion-

ally rent a portion of their primary residence, thus offsetting mortgages and rent with the 
added income, a significant number of hosts are using STR platforms to rent multiple homes 
or entire apartment complexes to transient occupants instead of housing local residents. 
In many cases, STRs create a monetary incentive to shift the use of housing from long-term 
residential use to transient use, and without appropriate regulation, STRs will continue to 
reduce the amount of housing available to long-term residents – thereby increasing the cost 
of owning or renting in any impacted area.

In light of the complexity of STR issues, SELC sees a need for municipalities to respond with 
nuanced and comprehensive public policy. We offer this set of issue analyses and policy 
recommendations to assist policymakers, advocates, and residents in shaping such regula-

tions. We emphasize that there is no one-size-fits-all STR regulation. In fact, of the existing 
local STR regulations, no two are exactly alike – and for good reason. Each city must regu-

4REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



late STRs according to its unique set of circumstances and priorities, and should arrive at an 
appropriate and equitable policy through open dialogue with the diversity of stakeholders 
involved. The following are key considerations cities should factor into an STR ordinance. 
In crafting an equitable STR policy, we recommend that municipalities focus on how STRs:
• Impact the supply and affordability of housing;
• Provide economic benefit to those with economic need; and
• Affect neighborhood quality. 

To address these issues, we recommend that municipalities take the following measures, 
where appropriate:
• Set clear definitions that distinguish STRs from commercial hotels;
• Limit STRs to primary residences, distinguishing them from vacation rentals;
• Require registration and recordkeeping;
• Institute a cap on rental nights per year;  
• Establish protections and complaint procedures for guests and neighbors; 
• Limit crowding, noise, and parking strains; and
• Collect transient occupancy tax.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY, CONT.

5REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



Sooner or later, nearly every city will need to address the rapid spread of short-term 
rentals, such as those facilitated by online platforms including Airbnb, VRBO, Flipkey, 
and Homeaway. To help local policymakers and advocates draft comprehensive and 
equitable short-term rental ordinances, Sustainable Economies Law Center (SELC) has 
conducted a broad survey of local short-term rental policies that have emerged over 
the past four years, offering this set of issue analyses and recommendations. SELC’s 
goal is for STR policies to generate inclusive opportunities for local wealth-creation, 
while still balancing the needs of all members of the community.

To create an equitable and appropriate 
short-term rental policy, each city must 
regulate short-term rentals according to its 
unique social and economic circumstances 
and priorities, and should craft solutions 
through open dialogue with the diversity 
of stakeholders involved. Ideally, the result 
will be a policy that protects public inter-
ests such as housing affordability, municipal 
revenues, health and safety, parking, and 
the quality and character of neighborhoods, 
while retaining reasonable latitude for city 
residents to host and earn money from short-
term guests. 

I. INTRODUCTION

6REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

SELC’s goal is for STR 

policies to generate 

inclusive opportunities 

for local wealth-cre-

ation, while still bal-

ancing the needs of all 
members of the com-

munity.



WHAT IS A SHORT-TERM RENTAL?

A short-term rental (STR) refers to a room or housing unit that is rented to a person or 
group for a short period of time, typically under 30 nights. STRs are distinct from long-
term rentals in that the room or unit is rented on a nightly or weekly basis, whereas long-
term rentals must exceed the minimum number of nights required by local laws. Due to 
the brief nature of STR stays, STR guests are typically transient occupants such as travelers 
who would otherwise stay in a hotel or similar accommodation. Long-term rentals, on 
the other hand, typically house individuals who work, attend school, or otherwise wish to 
“permanently” reside in the city.

STRS ARE NOT NEW

STRs are garnering more attention by the day, as are the online platforms that facilitate 
connections and/or payments between STR guests and hosts. But hosting short-term 
guests is not a new phenomenon, nor was it invented by these platforms. Before these 
platforms became available, travelers who wanted a different type of vacation experience 
were already opting to stay with locals rather than in hotels, in order to more fully experi-
ence the culture, food, and lifestyle of the region. Locals who hosted backpackers, “couch 
surfers,” pilgrims, and touring cyclists often did and continue to do so in exchange for 
money or skill trades, to be an ambassador of their locale, or simply to interact with visi-
tors from faraway places. 

STRS ON THE RISE

Within the past several years, both the number of properties available for short-term 
rental, and the frequency with which they are rented, have skyrocketed, transforming the 
activity from a casual and occasional practice to an increasingly formalized and pervasive 
activity in cities from San Francisco to Paris. Online platforms have played an essantial role 
in the STR boom, enabling millions of people around the world to list and browse rentals, 
and to connect, coordinate, and transmit payments through one interface. 

The most popular platform, Airbnb, self-reported that from 2013 to 2014, STR bookings 
in Nashville increased 365 percent, stays in New Orleans increased by 340 percent, and 
stays in Portland, Maine increased by 328 percent.1  With such a sudden increase in STR 
activity and lack of corresponding regulatory action, it’s no wonder cities are now feeling 
the effects of STRs on housing and rental markets, public tax revenues, and neighborhood 
quality.

San Francisco is one of many cities where STRs have caused heated controversy, partic-

ularly around tenant evictions and conversion of residential units to commercial use. A 

1. Airbnb Unveils Top 10 Trending U.S. Travel Destinations for Summer 2014, Airbnb (May 1, 2014), https://
www.airbnb.com/press/news/airbnb-unveils-top-10-trending-u-s-travel-destinations-for-summer-2014.

II. BACKGROUND

7REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



recent memo from the San Francisco Budget and Legislative Analyst states that between 
November 2013 and February 2015, the city had an estimated 5,249 to 6,113 Airbnb 
listings – all during a time when STRs were still illegal.2 Not including STR units listed on 
other platforms or sites, Airbnb units alone were said to amount to 11 to 23.2 percent of 
the city’s vacant units, entire homes listed on Airbnb were estimated to remove 14.8 per-
cent of the total rental housing available for rent citywide, and private and shared rooms 
that might otherwise be occupied by roommates were estimated to take even more units 
off the rental market.3 The same memo stated that STRs could lead to tenant evictions, 
because hosts have a financial incentive to leave the long-term rental market and enter 
the short-term rental market. In fact, the memo revealed that neighborhoods with the 
most intense STR activity also had high numbers of evictions.4  

Numerous other studies and data scraping exposés have continued to illustrate the 
scope of STR use and impact in other cities including San Francisco, New Orleans, Nash-

ville, New York, and Los Angeles.5 New York state Attorney General Eric Schneiderman, 
known for his early investigation of the STR impacts, released a report showing that 
Airbnb rentals in New York City increased from 2,650 in 2010 to 16,500 in 2014, with 
nearly three-quarters of these listings in violation of city or state laws.6 A Los Angeles 
study showed that 90 percent of Airbnb revenues are generated not by hosts who share 
a room in their homes, but by hosts who rent out entire units, and by leasing compa-

nies who rent out two or more entire units.7 Short-term renting in Los Angeles has also 
removed 7,316 rental units from the market, which amounts to the equivalent of seven 
years’ of affordable housing construction.8

Because STR platforms refuse to release detailed usage data, the full extent of STR 
impacts is still unclear. Despite that, the handful of public and independent investiga-

tions into STR impacts on housing, neighborhoods, and tax revenues – though painting 
only a partial picture –provide valuable insights into how STRs are changing cities on the 
ground. These investigations also provide clues about what cities can do to encourage 
fair use of STRs, minimize harms, and penalize those who violate regulations. 

2. San Francisco Budget and Legislative Analyst’s Office, Analysis of the impact of short-term rentals on 
housing, 11 (May 13, 2015), available at http://www.sfbos.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documen-

tid=52601. 
3. Ibid. 
4. Ibid at 30-31.
5. See, for example: Anti-Eviction Mapping Project. Last viewed November 24, 2015. http://www.antiev-

ictionmappingproject.net/airbnbmap.html. Inside Airbnb. Last viewed November 24, 2015. http://inside-

airbnb.com. And, Airbnb and San Francisco: Descriptive Statistics and Academic Research. Alex Marqusee. 
April 12, 2015. 
6. Office of New York State Attorney General Eric Schneiderman, Airbnb in the city, 6 (October 2014). 
7. Roy Samaan, Airbnb, Rising Rent, And The Housing Crisis In Los Angeles, 3 (March 2015), available at 
http://www.laane.org/airbnb-report. 
8. Ibid. 

BACKGROUND CONT.

8REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



STRs can have a positive impact on cities, in that they can:
 

• Contribute to local wealth by giving residents the opportunity to earn money from  
hosting tourists, Fewer tourism dollars go to large corporate hotel chains, and more 
dollars stay within the community;

• Make efficient use of space by allowing residents to host guests in a room or unit   
when it might otherwise be unused;

• Prevent economic hardship and displacement by allowing some residents to use   

STR revenue to make ends meet and stay in their homes; 

• Provide both tourists and hosts with valuable social and cultural exchange; and

• Spread tourist dollars beyond typical hotel and tourism districts by attracting 

travelers to less frequented neighborhoods and businesses.

At the same time, STRs can have a negative impact on cities, in that they can:

• Take long-term rental units off the market, creating a scarcity of housing options, 
and pushing up prices;

• Incentivize property owners to keep rooms and units vacant or even evict long-
term tenants in order to make higher profit per night from short-term renters;

• Unfairly compete with established hotels, inns, and bed and breakfasts when 
STRs are not subject to the same level of taxation or regulation;

• Reduce transient occupancy tax, or “hotel tax” revenues for the city when STR 
hosts evade the tax or avoid remitting the tax on the grounds that they are not oper-
ating a hotel;

• Violate residential zoning codes that are intended to limit noise, traffic, parking 
shortages, and activities incompatible with the character of a neighborhood;

• Adversely impact community cohesion because vacation rentals house a revolving 
circuit of transient occupants who are not connected to or invested in the community; 
and 

• Reinforce class, gender, and racial inequities, because online platforms make it 

easy for users to act on biases when selecting hosts or guests, and because the op-

portunity to rent living space to short-term guests, like most other economic opportu-

nities, disproportionately privileges the privileged. 

III. POSITIVE & NEGATIVE IMPACTS 
OF SHORT-TERM RENTALS

9REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



Many municipal codes prohibit residents from hosting short-term guests in exchange 
for payment unless residents comply with all regulations applicable to commercial ho-

tels and bed and breakfasts. 
These laws tend to require 
zoning approval, compliance 
with health, building, and 
safety laws, and payment 

of a transient occupancy 

tax (TOT), also known as a 
“hotel tax.” Given that such 
laws are generally designed 

for commercial hotels, in the 
absence of a local ordinance 

that tailors such laws to STRs, 
these local laws effectively 
ban STRs. 

Meanwhile, a growing num-

ber of cities and counties 

have crafted local ordinances 
that both legalize some form 
of STRs and impose limitations and regulatory processes that protect public interests. 
These cities and counties include Austin, San Francisco, Portland, Nashville, Santa Mon-

ica, Madison, and many others. Interestingly, of the dozens of new and emerging STR 
ordinances around the U.S., no two regulations are exactly alike. Indeed, the differences 
among them may lend valuable insight into each city’s political priorities, social and eco-

nomic values, and in some cases, their most influential stakeholders. Each municipality 
should calibrate its STR ordinance to its particular social and economic circumstances, 
but there are several basic considerations that all cities and counties should take into 
account when drafting such a policy. These considerations are outlined below.

IV. CURRENT LAW

10REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

Interestingly, of the dozens of 

new and emerging STR laws 

around the U.S., no two regula-

tions are exactly alike. Indeed, 

the differences among them 

may lend valuable insight into 

each city’s political priorities, 

social and economic values, and 

in some cases, their most influ-

ential stakeholders.



Local governments can benefit from adopting more nuanced regulations that simul-
taneously lift any outright ban on STRs, channel STR income-earning opportunities to 
those who need them, and restrict STRs in ways that reduce negative externalities. We 
believe that such short-term rental regulations must be comprehensive. Therefore, in 
this section, we highlight some of the key elements of a short-term rental policy, and 
include examples from local STR regulations throughout the county. Policymakers and 
advocates should adapt these recommendations to local contexts, and involve a diverse 
set of stakeholders in doing so. The result should be an STR regulation that fairly and 
accurately reflects local needs and priorities.

Though adoption of these or similar recommendations ultimately depends on local 
context, we encourage policymakers to still consider the principles that underlie these 
recommendations. That includes setting definitions that effectively frame the issues; 
creating restrictions that preserve housing affordability; devising registration, record-

keeping, and reporting processes that encourage compliance and facilitate effective 
enforcement; and including measures to ensure the safety of guests, the preservation of 
neighborhood quality, and the protection of public revenues.  

A. ESTABLISH CLEAR DEFINITIONS
We recommend that municipalities establish clear definitions that distinguish a “Short-
Term Rental” from a long-term rental, as well as describe the qualities that set STRs 
apart from their more commercial counterparts, including a “Hotel,” “Motel,” “Boarding 
House,” or a “Bed and Breakfast.” In addition to drawing distinctions between STRs and 
other activities or establishments, regulators must also address variations among STRs, 
including whether or not the unit is a the host’s primary residence, and whether or not 

V. SELC’S RECOMMENDATIONS: 
THE BASIC COMPONENTS OF AN STR ORDINANCE

11REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



the STR is occupied by the host during a guest’s stay. Though a municipality’s definition 
of STRs can include more embellishment, our recommended basic definition of STRs 
and STR subcategories are as follows: 

 Short-Term Rental (STR) is the rental of a primary residence or portion there  
 of for a period of less than 30 nights, for which the guest compensates an owner  
 or lessee of the unit.9  

 

 Primary Residence: A housing unit in which an owner or lessee resides for the   
 majority of the year.10

 Hosted Primary Residence STRs: An STR unit is a Hosted Primary Residence   
 STR if the owner or lessee who is hosting a short-term guest occupies that dwell  
 ing unit as his or her primary residence for the majority of the year, and if    
 the owner or lessee hosts one or more guests in a bedroom or some portion of   
 the unit and is generally present for the duration of the rental period.11  

 Un-Hosted Primary Residence STRs: A unit is an Un-Hosted Primary Residence  
 STR if the owner or lessee occupies the dwelling unit as his or her primary resi  
 dence for the majority of the year, but leaves his or her unit for a period of   
 time – for example, over a weekend, when traveling for work, or while on    
 vacation – and rents out all or part of the unit in his or her absence.

 Vacation Rentals: A Vacation Rental is an entire residential unit that is not a pri-  
 mary residence and is rented to guests on a short-term basis, typically under 30   
 nights.12  

B. REQUIRE REGISTRATION AND RECORDKEEPING

Proof of Primary Residency:
We recommend that all STRs be limited to primary residences. As defined above, a 
primary residence is a housing unit in which a renter or owner resides for the majority 
of the year. By definition, a person may have only one primary residence, and it follows 
that a person may have only one STR address. 

9. Though we define short-term as less than 30 nights, a common requirement for tenancy, the minimum 
number of nights for tenancy could be based on existing local tenancy laws if those are more appropri-
ate. 
10.  We suggest defining majority as a minimum of nine months, with variations depending on local cir-
cumstances. If a municipality has an existing definition of primary residence, it could be referenced here. 
11. We define “generally present” as having the host present for an average of 6 hours out of any 24-hour 
period. 
12. The Sustainable Economies Law Center does not consider Vacation Rentals to be short-term rentals, 
but considers them a separate category of transient accommodations. See “Setting Caps on the Number 
of Rental Nights Per Year” in Section C for a description of how Austin, TX, and Nashville, TN regulate 
vacation rentals as a separate and distinct activity. See: Austin, Tx., City Land Development Code § 25-2-
793 (2014), and Nashville, Tenn., Metropolitan Code Ordinance No. BL2014-951, § 6.28.030.Q. (2015). 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

12REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



An STR registration process should require hosts to provide records demonstrating that 
the unit is their primary residence. We recommend that cities follow the example of San 
Francisco and require hosts to show that the unit is listed as the applicant’s residence on 
at least two of the following documents in order to register: motor vehicle registration, 
driver’s license, voter registration, or a utility bill.13 Though the documents listed in San 
Francisco’s administrative code should provide sufficient evidence of primary residency, 
cities could add to the list of acceptable documentation federal and state tax returns 
that reflect the address of the residential unit in question. If primary residency is in dis-

pute, regulators could resort to using the various factors that the IRS uses to determine 
principal residency. 

Registration:
Enforcing the provisions of an STR ordinance, particularly caps on the number of units 
per host, rental nights per year, payment of transient occupancy taxes, and other rec-

ommendations outlined below, necessitates that hosts be accountable to some form 
of local oversight. By requiring STR hosts to register with the Planning Department or 
some similar office, cities will identify a unit being used for short-term rental, a point 
person for complaints, and a party who will be held liable for violations. We suggest 
that cities keep the registration process relatively simple to encourage participation. A 
primary objective of registration should be to collect basic information from hosts and 
to open a line of communication between hosts and the city. As discussed below, we do 
not recommend that approval of registration be contingent on inspection.

Cost of Registration:
We suggest that cities keep both registration costs and subsequent renewal fees as low 
as possible by relying on registration fees only to cover the administrative cost of pro-

cessing registrations, as in Anaheim, CA.14  If registration costs are kept low, cities can 

factor the costs of fielding complaints and enforcing STR laws into the tax rate and fines 
for violations. That way, hosts who comply with the law or only engage in short-term 
rental occasionally will not bear the cost of oversight for those who do not comply. 

Registration Renewal:
Registration renewal could be required yearly (as in Anaheim15 and Dana Point,CA16), 

every two years (as in St. Helena, CA17 and for Type A STRs in Portland, OR18), or follow 

a model like Maui County, HI, where permits are valid for one year but are extended to 
two years if there are no recorded complaints.19 We recommend that cities follow a re-

sponsive approach similar to Maui County’s, where permits are valid for two years unless 

13. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A, § 41A.5.(g)(3)(A) (2015).
14. Anaheim, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 4.05, § 4.05.090 (2014). 
15. Anaheim, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 4.05, § 4.05.070 (2014). 
16. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.055 (2013). 
17. St. Helena, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 17.134, § 17.134.060(F) (2012). 
18. Portland, Or., City Code & Charter ch. 33.207, § 33.207.040(C) (2015). 
19. Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.070(A) (2012). 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

13REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



there are complaints of violation, in which case permits would have to be renewed more 
frequently. Unless regulators rely on yearly permit renewals to inform them of the num-

ber of active STRs, this process would be an effective way to reward law-abiding hosts 
and reduce paperwork for regulators. 

In an effort to encourage compliance with its short-term rental laws, Portland, OR has 
included a provision in its permitting policy wherein an STR permit can be revoked for 
failure to comply with the city’s set of STR rules.20 We recommend that cities adopt a 
provision similar to Portland’s, including withholding permit renewal for a certain amount 
of time after a host is found to be in violation of STR laws.

Reporting and Recordkeeping:
To assist with the oversight and enforcement of ordinance requirements, a city may want 
to require hosts to keep records of guest names, guest contact information, dates of 
stay, indication of the host’s presence or absence during the stay, and revenue earned. 
Cities already requiring this level of detail in recordkeeping include Madison, WI21 and 

Portland, OR, the latter requiring hosts to also maintain guests’ license plate numbers (if 
traveling by car) and a record of the room assigned to each guest.22 Cities could require 
hosts to maintain the records for at least two years and make them available to the city 
upon request when the host is suspected of a violation, or in the event of a randomized 
inspection.23 An alternative process could require hosts to regularly submit reports to 
the city regarding the number of hosted and un-hosted nights the STR was rented, as is 
required in San Francisco.24  

However, the major online STR platforms already collect host, guest, and usage infor-
mation, and if a city decides to require hosts to record and report that data, it could 
also require the STR intermediaries themselves to make some information – such as the 
number of STR units per host, and the number of nights rented per unit – available to 
the Planning Department or other oversight office as a condition for operating in their 
jurisdiction. Cities could require platforms to regularly submit a blanket report of all STR 
activity in their jurisdiction, or to submit the information of suspected violators only as 
requested by the city. Santa Monica, CA requires STR intermediaries to “Disclose to the 
City on a regular basis each home-sharing and vacation rental listing located in the City, 
the names of the persons responsible for each such listing, the address of each such list-
ing, the length of stay for each such listing and the price paid for each stay.”25 We rec-

ommend that other cities wishing to improve recordkeeping and reporting follow suit.
 

Requiring STR platforms to report the information of their customers to local govern-

ment could cause concerns about the information privacy of STR platform users. To 

20. Portland, Or., City Code & Charter ch. 33.207, § 33.207.040(D) (2015). 
21. Madison, Wis., Code of Ordinances ch. 28 § 28.151 “Tourist Rooming House” (h) (2014). 
22. Portland, Or., City Code & Charter ch. 33.207, § 33.207.060 (2015). 
23. Cities may want to require STR hosts to retain records for more than two years in some circumstances, 
such as if they city adopts a private right of action. 
24. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A, § 41A.5(g)(3)(C) (2015). 
25. Santa Monica, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 6.20, § 6.20.050(b) (2015) 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

14REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



address privacy concerns, these intermediaries could require all users, prior to starting 
or continuing to use the service, to authorize the platform to share STR usage data with 
local governments, either regularly or in the event of a suspected violation. If a provi-
sion for STR intermediaries to report data were added to a local ordinance, it would also 
make sense for a host to list, on the municipality’s STR registration application and in 
subsequent reporting and permit renewal, all the platforms that he or she uses to book 
an STR. Adding this question to STR registration would help authorities to cross check 
the self-reported information of suspected violators with data on multiple platforms – 
improving both the reliability of information and facility of enforcement. 

Some will argue that requiring STR platforms to report host, guest, and usage data to 
the city would unduly burden only those platforms that collect such data, and cause STR 
hosts to migrate to platforms that do not collect this information. However, municipali-
ties might consider reporting as a requirement for operating in their jurisdiction, particu-

larly because without this information, local governments would be unable to effectively 
enforce STR laws. In fact, the San Francisco Planning Department itself admitted only 
months after the city’s STR law went into effect that booking data from STR platforms 
was necessary for the effective enforcement of yearly caps and other provisions of the 
ordinance. 

Without reporting from the STR platforms, tracking and regulating STR units to ensure 
hosts are licensed, registered, and in compliance will remain extremely difficult and 
require significant public resources – something most cities are unable or reluctant to 
dedicate to STRs.

Advertisement:
To assist with enforcement, a city should require that hosts include the STR registration 
or permit number on all advertisements. Municipalities that require disclosure of this 
information on advertisements include Austin, TX,26 Maui County, HI,27 Dana Point, CA,28 

San Francisco, CA,29 and St. Helena, CA.30 We recommend that cities require all STR 
advertisements, including listings on STR platforms, to include a valid permit number. 

In addition to requiring hosts to verify the legality of their listed STR with a valid permit 
number, cities could also place responsibility on the STR platforms to list only registered 
STR units, and to remove the listings of any violators. A 2015 ballot initiative in San Fran-

cisco proposed placing such responsibility on any STR platform operating in the city, 
requiring that all listed units be registered with the city, creating a daily penalty for STR 
platforms that list unregistered units, and mandating that platforms remove the listing 
of any unit that has surpassed the yearly rental cap.31  Maui County places some degree 

of responsibility on STR platforms by requiring any intermediary advertising an STR-

26 Austin, Tx., City Land Development Code § 25-2-791(F) (2014).
27. Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.040(A) (2012). 
28. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.080(a)(8) (2013). 
29. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A, § 41A.5(g)(1)(F) (2015).   
30. St. Helena, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 17.134, § 17.134.040(N) (2012). 
31 City of San Francisco Initiative to Restrict Short-Term Rentals, Proposition F (November 2015).

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

15REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



within the county to include or link to the municipality’s STR policies.32  We believe that, 
in addition to informing their users of the law, STR platforms should also be responsible 
for requiring proof that listed STRs comply with the law (e.g., by requiring a valid permit 
number), and removing listings that are in violation of local laws, such as a yearly cap. 

C. ESTABLISH PROTECTIONS FOR THE SUPPLY AND 
AFFORDABILITY OF HOUSING
STRs can escalate housing costs in at least two ways: 1) each room or unit regularly used 
for STRs removes from the market a room or unit that might otherwise have been offered 
to a long-term tenant, and 2) the ability to derive income from a housing unit raises its 
value, raises the tenant’s ability to pay for expensive housing, and thereby raises prevail-
ing housing prices.

Cities have the power to protect multiple public interests by, for example, setting caps on 
the number of allowed STR units per host and number of nights per year that an STR may 
be rented to short-term guests. We recommend that cities allow all residents to engage 
in a limited amount of STR activity within their primary residences, but to set parameters 
based on the interests the city is aiming to protect. 

Preventing Speculation - STRs for Cost-Sharing, Not Profit-Making:
A San Francisco Planning Commission memo framed the STR issue succinctly: “The 
critical questions for policy makers seeking to protect housing are: when does STR make 
more efficient use of unused resources and when does it incentivize the conversion of 
residential space to tourist use?”33  If the underlying purpose of STRs is helping residents 
offset the costs associated with owning or renting their home, an STR ordinance should 
include provisions that prevent people from buying or renting units with the primary goal 
of earning STR income.

In order to deter individuals or entities from buying or renting a unit with the intention to 
subsequently turn a profit from its short-term rental, a city could require that a resident 
have occupied the unit for a minimum number of months or years before hosting STR 
guests. San Francisco’s STR regulations require residents to have occupied their unit for 
at least 60 days prior to hosting STR guests, which starts to address the issue, but is ulti-
mately too short a time period to effectively deter such speculation.34 Furthermore, in cit-
ies experiencing rapid gentrification, requiring a certain length of time of owner or tenant 
occupancy prior to being eligible to host STR guests could channel STR income-gener-
ating opportunities to longer-term residents who risk being crowded out by newer and 
often wealthier neighbors. Cities may find that directing the income-generating power 

32 Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.040(B) (2012). 
33. San Francisco Planning Commission. Administrative Code Text Change Recommendations to Board 
of Supervisors, 10 (April 23, 2015). See: http://commissions.sfplanning.org/cpcpackets/2014-001033PCA.
pdf. 
34. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A, § 41A.4. “Permanent Resident” (2015). 

16REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.



of STRs to longer-term residents could provide those residents with the economic boost 
necessary to combat threats of displacement.

In many circumstances, property owners may find STRs to be a more lucrative option 
than long-term rentals. In order to reduce any incentive to evict tenants, STR regulations 
must pay special attention to rent-controlled units and units that have recently been 

subject to an eviction. To preserve 
the integrity of rent-controlled 
units, cities can limit the amount 
that residents of rent-controlled 
housing may charge for short-term 
rental of their dwelling. San Fran-

cisco’s STR ordinance, though it 
allows renters to host short-term 
guests, limits the amount that a 
tenant in a rent-controlled unit 

may charge short-term guests to 
the equivalent of what the tenant 
pays to the landlord each month.35 

In order to reduce a property 

owner’s incentive to evict tenants 
in order to engage in short-term 
rental, cities with high housing 

demand could prohibit units that have recently been subject to an eviction from being 
registered as an STR.36 A number of high-level San Francisco policymakers recommend-

ed instituting such a limitation, suggesting that units that have been subject to an Ellis 
Act Eviction within the last five years be barred from registering as an STR.  Other Cali-
fornia cities with high housing demand could find that adopting a similar restriction on 
STR registration for recent Ellis Act Eviction units could be a powerful way to prevent 
the tenant abuses and displacement caused by unfettered STR activity.  

Preventing Conversion of Housing Stock & Preserving Residential Use:
Cities should adopt regulations that prevent the physical conversion of residential hous-

ing to transient use. For example, Portland prohibits remodeling or structurally altering 
units that would prevent the structure from being used as a residence in the future. 
Portland even prohibits changes that would make a unit appear “less residential,” for 
example installation of more than three parking spaces, paving of required setbacks, 
and commercial-type exterior lighting.37 

Maui County has attempted to protect housing for permanent residents by deterring 

35. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A, § 41A.4., § 41A.5. (g)(1)(G) (2015). 
36. San Francisco Planning Commission. Administrative Code Text Change Recommendations to 
Board of Supervisors pp. 2, 16. (April 23, 2015). See: http://commissions.sfplanning.org/cpcpack-

ets/2014-001033PCA.pdf. 
37. Portland, Or., City Code & Charter ch. 33.207, § 33.207.050(B)(9) (2014). 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

17REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

If the underlying purpose of 

STRs is helping residents off-

set the costs associated with 

owning or renting their home, 

an STR ordinance should in-

clude provisions that prevent 

people from buying or rent-

ing units with the primary 

goal of earning STR income.



the construction of new homes that are primarily intended for rental to transient guests. 
The region does so by prohibiting short-term rental of single-family structures that were 
constructed less than 5 years prior to the date of application for an STR permit.38   

Setting Caps on the Number of Rental Nights Per Year:
In addition to limiting short-term rentals to primary residences, we recommend that all 
cities (with limited exceptions) set a baseline cap on Un-Hosted STR nights per year. 
In cities where housing supply and affordability is a primary concern, this cap could be 
relatively low, for example, 30 nights per year, as is the case in Madison, WI.39 In cities 

where housing supply is not a major public con-

cern, these caps could be considerably higher and 
adapted over time as the housing climate changes. 
Capping the number of Un-Hosted STR nights per 
year could encourage residents who leave town for 
months on end to rent their homes to longer-term 
tenants, including city residents who are transition-

ing between rental units, or to workers, students, or 

academics staying for a season or semester. 

Unlike Madison, WI, which limits Un-Hosted STRs 
to 30 nights per year, but allows an unlimited 
number of Hosted STR nights per year,40 and unlike 

Santa Monica, which prohibits Un-Hosted STRs but 
allows unlimited Hosted Primary Residence STR 
nights per year,41 we believe that the ideal STR 
ordinance places a total cap on both Hosted STR 
nights per year and Un-Hosted STR nights per year. 

We recommend a cap on both Hosted and 
Un-Hosted STRs for two reasons. The first reason 

is that regulators currently face a great challenge in distinguishing between STRs with a 
host present and STRs that are un-hosted. Indeed, since San Francisco legalized unlim-

ited Hosted STR nights per year, the city’s Planning Department has reported that it is 
“virtually impossible” to discern law-abiding hosts from scofflaws, stating that in order to 
effectively enforce the law, the department would require a straight cap on the number 
of days any unit can be rented out per year (i.e. a cap on both Hosted and Un-Hosted 
STRs).42  As long as STR platforms refuse to make STR records available to regulators, 
and as long as regulating agencies are limited in staff capacity to audit and confirm 
self-reported information, this challenge is likely to persist.

38. Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.030(O) (2012). 
39. Madison, Wis., Code of Ordinances ch. 28, § 28.151 “Tourist Rooming House”(e) (2014). 
40. Madison, Wis., Code of Ordinances ch. 28, § 28.151 “Tourist Rooming House”(f) (2014). 
41. Santa Monica, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 6.20, § 6.20.010(a) (2015). 
42. Phil Matier and Andy Ross, ‘No way of enforcing’ Airbnb law, S.F. planning memo says (March 22, 
2015), http://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/matier-ross/article/No-way-of-enforcing-Airbnb-law-S-F-plan-

ning-6151592.php.

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

18REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



The second reason is that an STR host engaging in Hosted Primary Residence STR 
activities has one or more bedrooms unused and available for travelers (presuming, of 
course, that the host is offering an entire room, rather than a living room couch or por-
tion of some other shared space). If a cap were placed on the number of permissible 
Hosted Primary Residence STR nights per year, and a host reached that cap, the host 
would be prohibited from renting to transient guests for the remainder of the year, and 
would have an economic 
incentive to rent the unused 
bedroom to long-term ten-

ants. 

The STR regulations in Austin, 
TX, and Nashville, TN, bring 
up an interesting question 
of how to limit STR activity. 
Austin includes Vacation Rent-
als as one of several types 

of STR units, and limits their 
density by capping the num-

ber of permissible rental units 

per census tract.43 Similarly, 

Nashville places a 3% cap on 
the percentage of non-owner 
occupied single-family and 

two-family Vacation Rentals 
allowed to legally operate 

in each census tract of the 
county.44 Though a density 
cap may be an approach worth investigating for cities interested in better regulating 
Vacation Rentals, we do not advocate for caps on the total number of permitted Primary 
Residence STRs, as that would place a haphazard limit on who can benefit from limited 
rental of their primary residences to short-term guests. Instead, we recommend that cit-
ies wishing to legalize but limit STR activity restrict STRs to primary residences, and then 
cap the number of permitted STR rental nights per year. 

43. Austin, Tx., City Land Development Code § 25-2-793 (2014). Austin classifies its STRs into three types, 
and the density cap applies only to Type 2 STRs. A Type 2 STR is similar to what is referred to in this brief 
as a Vacation Rental. Type 2 STRs must be single-family, detached residential structures; cannot be not 
owner-occupied or associated with an owner-occupied principal residential unit; and cannot include the 
rental of less than the entire dwelling unit. On February 23, 2016, Austin City Council voted to ban all 
Type 2 STRs, and the City plans to phase out any existing Type 2 STRs in residential areas by 2022. As of 
this writing, the final ordinance language has not been released. 
44. Nashville, Tenn., Metropolitan Code Ordinance No. BL2014-951, § 6.28.030(Q) (2015). The Nashville 
metro area provides an online map illustrating the density of registered non-owner-occupied STRs in each 
census tract. Property owners interested in applying for a non-owner-occupied STR permit can use this 
map as a tool to determine their eligibility. 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

19REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

There may be situations where 

a city will want to refrain from 

capping STRs in any form, such 

as in a city wanting to encour-

age tourism and where housing 

is in relatively abundant supply. 

However, in the absence of ad-

equate protections for housing 

affordability, STRs could esca-

late housing costs and ultimate-

ly drive out lower-income and 

even middle-income residents.



There may be situations where a city will want to refrain from capping STRs in any form, 
such as in a city wanting to encourage tourism and where housing is in relatively abun-

dant supply. However, in the absence of adequate protections for housing affordability, 
STRs could escalate housing costs and ultimately drive out lower-income and even mid-

dle-income residents.

Below, in Section VI, we explore some creative and as yet untested opportunities for 
cities to create selective exemptions to STR caps in order to use STRs as a lever for eco-

nomic development that does not cause or exacerbate resident displacement.

D. CREATE PROTECTIONS FOR THE WELLBEING OF 
GUESTS

Health and Safety Standards:
Cities should require STR hosts to adhere to basic standards for health and safety of 
their guests. For example, the city could deny an STR permit to an applicant whose res-

idential unit has outstanding Planning, Building, Housing, Fire, Health, Police, or other 
applicable City code violations that would make their residence unsafe for short-term 
guests. In addition, cities could require hosts to apply basic safety precautions such as 
working smoke detectors in every bedroom, a carbon monoxide detector, and an evacu-

ation plan that identifies all exits. 

A city may also want to require that hosts provide guests with basic information, includ-

ing proof of STR registration, a list of the minimum safety requirements, instructions for 
lodging a complaint, and the name and contact information for the host and/or another 
responsible party that could assist guests with any problems that arise during the stay. 

Inspections:
Municipalities such as Austin, TX,45 Tillamook County, OR,46 and St. Helena47 and Dana 

Point,48 CA require inspection by the Fire Department, Planning Department, Bureau of 
Development Services, or a building official. Some of these cities provide a building and 
safety self-check list for hosts to prepare for the inspection. 

We do not advocate for an inspection requirement, but might urge cities to create a 
self-inspection checklist that hosts can submit along with registration. Inspections would 
greatly raise the administrative costs for the city and hosts, creating undue barriers par-
ticularly for people who would only host guests during one to two weeks per year. A city 
may, however, wish to require inspections when guests file health & safety complaints.

45. Austin, Tx., City Land Development Code § 25-2-791 (2014). Note that the inspection requirement 
applies only to Vacation Rentals and multifamily unit STRs; it does not apply to Hosted Primary Residence 
STRs. 
46. Tillamook County, Or., Ordinance 69, Section 9(a)(B) (2012). 
47. St. Helena, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 17.134, § 17.134.040(F) (2012), and at § 17.134.080(B). 
48. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.080(a)(3) (2013). 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

20REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



Where STRs are arranged through select online portals, it is important to acknowledge 
that the safety and wellbeing of guests is already partially supported by the guests’ ac-

cess to information and reviews of the hosts. As bookings and profits are largely based 
on good reviews from past guests, hosts are incentivized to provide safe and clean ac-

commodations in order to maintain a good reputation in the review and rating system. 

Insurance:
To ensure that guests have recourse in the event that they are injured during an STR 
stay, cities should require that hosts are covered by an appropriate insurance policy. 

Some examples could include general liability insurance, a homeowners’ insurance 
endorsement, coverage through their STR platform, or other insurance appropriate to 
cover injuries to STR guests or other losses or damages that could result from the op-

eration of an STR. San Francisco requires that hosts carry liability insurance for claims 
up to $500,000, or to conduct STR transactions through an STR platform that provides 
equal or greater coverage.49 Nashville, TN requires STR permit applications to include 
proof of homeowner’s fire, hazard, and liability insurance, with liability insurance cover-
ing no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence.50 Dana Point, CA requires proof of general 
liability insurance with a minimum of $1,000,000 in coverage, along with an agreement 
to indemnify and hold the city harmless for any liability claims.51 Further, the city of Dana 
Point requires STR permit holders to provide current proof of general liability insurance 
during each annual permit renewal.52   

E. ESTABLISH OVERSIGHT, COMPLAINT, AND SANCTION 
PROCEDURES FOR THE WELLBEING OF NEIGHBORS

Oversight:
Enforcement of an STR ordinance can present challenges, particularly in enforcing a cap 
on nights rented. Without access to transactional data from online STR portals, cities 
must rely primarily on hosts’ own self-reporting, complaints by neighbors, and its own 
investigations of suspected violations. As such, a city could require online STR interme-

diaries to release, regularly or upon the city’s request, information about the number 
of nights per year that any listed unit in their city was rented to short-term guests and 
the income received by the host. The city could also mandate that intermediaries do all 
reporting electronically and in a standardized format to make it easier for cities to ag-

gregate data from multiple platforms. Of course, there are already dozens of companies 
and websites facilitating STRs, and it would be too large a burden on cities to discover 
and work with all of them. That being said, even just requiring the biggest players to 
report data could have a big impact on the ability of local regulators to oversee STR 
activity. 

49. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A, § 41A.5(g)(1)(D) (2015). 
50. Nashville, Tenn., Metropolitan Code Ordinance No. BL2014-951, § 6.28.030.D.2. (2015). 
51. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.050(d) (2013). 
52. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.055 (2013). 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

21REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



Avoiding and Addressing Conflict:
Cities should create channels for neighbors to file complaints about nuisance or STRs 
believed to be in violation of rental caps. To make neighbors aware of area STRs, an STR 
ordinance could require that residents applying for an STR permit or license notify adja-

cent neighbors, as is the case in Nashville, TN, where a permit applicant must provide 
proof of written notification to any property owner sharing a common wall or a common 
driveway with the applicant’s unit.53  

For cases where neighbors are disgruntled about STR activity, but a host is neither in 
violation of an ordinance nor creating an objective nuisance, we also recommend that 
cities help fund community mediation services, to give neighbors low-cost conflict reso-

lution mechanisms.

Complaints and Grievances:
A city should establish an accessible system for guests, neighbors, and other stake-

holders to bring to the city’s attention any host that is in violation of the ordinance or 
otherwise creating a nuisance or health and safety risk. Prior to resulting in sanctions, 
the grievance process should 
give hosts a reasonable oppor-
tunity to respond to the city to 
demonstrate compliance and/

or explain measures the host will 
take to eliminate the concern. For 
example, Nashville, TN gives the 
department of codes administra-

tion the ability to revoke a host’s 
STR permit if reports of code 
violation have been received, but 
not without providing fifteen days 
prior written notice of the alleged 
violations to the host and provid-

ing him or her the right to appeal 
the permit denial or revocation.54

 

In addition to creating such a grievance process, a city may also consider creating a 
private right of action that gives certain stakeholders standing to bring a complaint in 
court, provided that the stakeholder has already taken a complaint to the city, and the 
city failed to respond within a specified amount of time. San Francisco’s STR ordinance 
contains a private right of action wherein, following a determination that the STR ordi-
nance has been violated, an interested party (defined as the city, county, unit owner, cer-
tain housing nonprofits, homeowners association associated with the STR unit, perma-

nent resident of the building where the alleged STR is located, or permanent resident or 
owner of a property within 100 feet of the property containing the alleged STR) can 

53. Nashville, Tenn., Metropolitan Code Ordinance No. BL2014-951, § 6.28.030.D.3. (2015). 
54. Nashville, Tenn., Metropolitan Code Ordinance No. BL2014-951, §§ 6.28.030.R.2., 6.28.030.R.3., 
6.28.030.R.4. (2015).

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

22REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



bring civil suit against the host for monetary and injunctive relief. In such a suit, the 
interested party is entitled to attorney’s fees if it prevails in the suit.55 

Sanctions: 
We recommend that cities create a graduated scale of sanctions for hosts who are in 
violation of STR regulations or who are the subject of multiple complaints. 
Sanctions might include:

• Reducing the number of nights per year that a host may rent to STR guests;
• Prohibiting un-hosted nights, particularly where neighbors have complained    

that guests have created a nuisance; 
• Inspection of the unit and a requirement that the host pay for costs of inspection;
• Suspension or revocation of the STR registration or permit; 
• Fines that increase with the number of violations. For example, Dana Point, CA may 

penalize a host $250 for a violation. If, within a single year, the host has    
multiple violations, the fines rise to $500, then to $1,000, and eventually result   
in revocation of the STR permit;56 or

• Ineligibility to reapply for an STR permit for some extended period of time. For   
example, Nashville, TN imposes a one year waiting period on hosts found operating 
an STR without a permit,57 and Maui County, HI makes a violator ineligible    

to apply for a permit for five years.58

STR platforms should also be subject to sanctions for violation an STR ordinance. For 
example, San Francisco’s STR ordinance states that any hosting platform violating its 
responsibilities under the code shall be subject to the city’s administrative penalties and 
enforcement provisions, including payment of civil penalties of up to $1,000 per day for 
the period of noncompliance.59 

F. PRESERVE NEIGHBORHOOD QUALITY
Cities play an important role in shaping the livability of neighborhoods, and STRs have 
the potential to both positively and negatively affect neighborhoods. On the positive 
side, visitors bring income to a neighborhood, both through payments to STR hosts 
and by potentially patronizing neighborhood businesses. However, many residential 
areas are zoned with the goal of preserving a quiet “neighborhood feeling” and pro-

moting social cohesion among neighbors. A constant stream of STR guests can under-
mine both neighborhood character and simple infrastructure, such as adequate supply 
of street parking.

55. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A §§ 41A.4.; 41A.5.(d) (2015).
56. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.090(b) (2013).
57. Nashville, Tenn., Metropolitan Code Ordinance No. BL2014-951, § 6.28.030.R.6.b. (2015). 
58. Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.080(D) (2012).  
59. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A § 41.A.5.(g)(4)(C) (2015). 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

23REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



Limiting Crowding and Noise:
Cities may want to limit the purposes for which residents may host guests. For example, 
Dana Point, CA,60 Anaheim, CA,61 and Maui County, HI62 all limit or prohibit hosting of 
weddings, parties, and other similar gatherings. St. Helena, CA further specifies that a 
party may be no larger than twice the number of guests, with a maximum of 20 party 
guests.63 Both Maui County and St. Helena also impose quiet hours at night.64 

Managing Parking: 
In an effort to address parking concerns, Maui County, HI65, Dana Point, CA66, and Ana-

heim, CA67 have all required hosts to provide off-street parking for STR guests. Because 
these requirements could bar residents of transit-oriented units, dense developments, 
or smaller lots from hosting short-term guests, we recommend against off-street parking 
requirements for STRs. 

G. PRESERVE PUBLIC TAX REVENUES AND LEVEL THE 
PLAYING FIELD BETWEEN STRS AND COMMERCIAL HO-
TELS

Taxing STRs:
Cities attract visitors by investing in and cultivating welcoming public spaces, tourist 

attractions, and basic infrastructure. Cities’ efforts to create welcoming environments for 
visitors provide substantial private benefit to hotels, B&Bs, and STR hosts. By charging a 
Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) or “hotel tax,” cities can recoup part of this benefit and 
invest travelers’ dollars back into the city. 

The hotel tax can be a substantial source of income for cities, generating approximately 
$226 million in annual revenue for Washington D.C., $274 million in San Francisco, and 
$536 million in New York City in recent fiscal years.68 Transient occupancy taxes from STR 
stays hosted through Airbnb are estimated to amount to roughly $11 million per year in 
San Francisco,69 and according to a 2014 estimate published by Airbnb, New York City 
STRs operating through its platform could generate $21 million in annual TOT revenues 

60. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.080(a)(7) (2013). 
61. Anaheim, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 4.05, § 4.05.100.0107 (2014). 
62. Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.030(Q)(4) (2012). 
63. St. Helena, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 17.134, § 17.134.040(J)(4) (2012). 
64. See Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.030(Q)(1) (2012), and St. Helena, Cal., Munic-

ipal Code ch. 17.134, § 17.134.040(J)(1) (2012). 
65. Maui County, Haw., County Code ch. 19.65, § 19.65.030(Q)(3) (2012). 
66. Dana Point, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 5.38, § 5.38.080(a)(5) (2013). 
67. Anaheim, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 4.05, § 4.05.100.0105 (2014). 
68. Alison Griswold, Why Airbnb Desperately Wants to Pay Hotel Taxes. And why some cities won’t let it 
(February 13, 2015), http://www.slate.com/articles/business/moneybox/2015/02/airbnb_hotel_taxes_why_
does_the_sharing_economy_startup_want_to_pay_them.html. 
69. Ibid. 

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.

24REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



for the city.70  If the projected TOT was calculated for all STR units, including those listed 
independently or facilitated by platforms other than Airbnb, the amount of annual TOT 
revenues for municipalities like San Francisco and New York City would likely be consid-

erably higher.

Most cities with new STR ordinances require hosts to pay TOT. Due to the adverse effects 
STRs can have on housing affordability and displacement, we believe that cities should 
designate all or most of the TOT collected from STR activity toward affordable housing 
initiatives and other economic support services for low-income, unemployed, and un-

deremployed residents. This could include investing TOT revenues into community land 
trusts, which are nonprofit housing providers that create permanently affordable homes 
for low-income residents.71 In cities where effective enforcement of STR regulations 
requires additional funds not provided by sanctions and fees, a municipality might also 
consider directing a portion of the TOT from STR activity toward improving oversight and 
compliance. 

Collecting Taxes Through Intermediaries:
To ensure payment of taxes, cities should require that the third party facilitators of STRs 
collect and remit the TOT in the same way that these platforms could be required to 
report residents’ STR activity to cities. STR platforms are in the best position to know who 
is hosting, which units are being rented, and how much revenue is earned. Additionally, 
because these platforms transfer payments from guests to hosts, they can withhold and 
remit the taxes with relative ease. 

San Francisco’s ordinance was the first to require STR platforms and services to collect 
the city’s 14% TOT from guest fees and remit the revenue to the city. In addition, San 
Francisco requires STR platforms to maintain and make available to the city a record 
demonstrating that the TOT has been remitted, and the platforms will remain liable for 
the failure of a user to comply with the requirements of the Business and Tax Regulations 
Code.72 Santa Monica, CA, Portland, OR, and Multnomah County, OR have also required 
STR intermediaries to collect and remit a TOT.73  

70. David Hantman, $21 million more for New York (April 14, 2014), http://publicpolicy.airbnb.com/21-mil-
lion-new-york/. 
71. Community Land Trusts sell or lease homes to low- and middle-income residents while permanently 
retaining ownership of the underlying land. Through this dual ownership system, CLTs insulate the value of 
housing from the fluctuating value of land and can preserve the affordability of housing even in areas with 
substantial increases in land value. 
72. San Francisco, Cal., Administrative Code ch. 41A § 41.A.5.(g)(4)(B) (2015). 
73. The City of Santa Monica charges a 14% TOT. (Santa Monica, Cal., Municipal Code ch. 6.20, § 
6.20.020(a)(3) (2015), and at ch. 6.68, § 6.68.020 (2004).) The City of Portland charges a 6% TOT, and Mult-
nomah County charges 5.5% TOT. See: http://www.portlandoregon.gov/revenue/29976. 

25REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

SELC RECOMMENDATIONS, CONT.



SAN FRANCISCO: A CASE STUDY
For cities wishing to address the housing affordability issues exacerbated by STRs, it is 
helpful to use San Francisco as a case study of what not to do. Even those elements of 
San Francisco’s STR ordinance that were intended to address housing affordability and 
availability were included without the reporting and enforcement mechanisms neces-
sary for their success. Added to that, the San Francisco ordinance only focused on pre-
venting units, but not rooms, from being removed from the long-term rental market.
For cities wishing to address the housing affordability issues exacerbated by STRs, it is 
helpful to use San Francisco as a case study of what not to do. Even those elements of 
San Francisco’s STR ordinance that were intended to address housing affordability and 
availability were included without the reporting and enforcement mechanisms neces-
sary for their success. Added to that, the San Francisco ordinance only focused on pre-
venting units, but not rooms, from being removed from the long-term rental market.

ATTEMPT TO PROTECT THE SUPPLY OF UNITS: ONE SUCCESS AND ONE FAILURE
San Francisco has attempted to prevent the conversion of residential units into primar-
ily transient use by setting a cap on the number of nights per year that a whole unit 
may be rented to short-term guests. The city’s short-term rental ordinance, which went 
into effect on February 1, 2015, limits STRs to primary residences, allows an unlimited 
number of hosted short-term stays (when the host concurrently resides in the unit) and 
places a 90-night cap on the number of un-hosted nights per year that a unit may be 
rented to short-term guests.

26REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS



27REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

SAN FRANCISCO: A CASE STUDY, CONTINUED
Though the 90-night cap on un-hosted rentals was likely prompted by the need to pre-
vent the removal of residential units from the market, in the end it is incredibly difficult 
for regulators to tell the difference between a short-term rental stay that was hosted 
versus one that was un-hosted, even with regular self-reporting requirements. Some 
San Francisco regulators say that their ability to reliably distinguish between hosted and 
un-hosted short-term rentals, as well as the frequency of use, could be greatly improved 
with access to booking data from the short-term rental platforms. However, STR plat-
forms have refused to release this data, and the great majority of San Francisco’s STR 

hosts remain unregistered and outside the reach of the 
city’s new rules. As such, and so long as the city lacks 
mechanisms for reliable reporting and effective enforce-
ment, the provision allowing STR hosts to rent to short-
term guests for up to 365 nights per year so long as 
they are present during the stay essentially opens the 
doors for year-round un-hosted STRs.

In the end, the element of San Francisco’s ordinance 
that would most effectively reduce the conversion of 
residential units is actually its restriction of STRs to 
primary residences. By restricting STRs to primary resi-
dences, the ordinance allows only individuals who ac-
tually live in a unit to host short-term guests in an extra 
room, or to rent out the entire unit to short-term guests 

for up to 90 nights per year when they are away from their homes. It does not, however, 
incentivize landlords to eviction tenants or permit individuals who own multiple residen-
tial units to keep those units empty of tenants in order to rent to short-term guests.74  

SAN FRANCISCO’S FAILURE TO PROTECT THE SUPPLY OF ROOMS:
As stated above, allowing hosts to engage in unlimited Hosted Primary Residence short-
term rentals can reduce the availability and affordability of housing units if unaccompa-
nied by proper reporting and enforcement mechanisms.75 But allowing year-round host-
ed STRs is also problematic for another reason: it creates an incentive for renters and 
owners to remove rooms from the long-term rental market. If a city does not place a 
limit on Hosted Primary Residence STRs, people who might otherwise seek a housemate 
might opt to earn more flexibility or more income per night by using rooms primarily for 
short-term rental. However bedrooms for rent within a unit are a key source of afford-
able housing for single individuals, couples, students, and others who cannot afford to 
rent entire units. Therefore, in cities that are experiencing severe housing pressures, we 
recommend setting a limit on the number of nights per year that rooms can be rented 
to short-term guests, whether hosted or un-hosted. 

74. Such units would be considered Vacation Rentals, and we recommend that cities where low-income and 
middle-income households experience difficulty finding affordable housing units strictly limit or even ban 
Vacation Rentals. See definition of Vacation Rentals in Section V.A. 
75. See definition of Hosted Primary Residence STRs in Section V.A. 



28REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

VI. GOING BEYONG IMPACT MITIGATION:
RESTORATIVE APPROACHES TO REGULATING STRS

Although the recommendations above are aimed at mitigating potential harms of STRs, 
they do not solve the underlying economic imbalances that are damaging communities 
and motivating the pushback against STR platforms. We believe that it is the responsibility 
of cities to find ways to address wealth inequality, income inequality, affordable housing 
shortages, unemployment, under-employment, and poverty. Rather than focusing solely 
on mitigating the harms of STRs, cities could see STRs as a lever for economic change 
that can repair persisting economic problems already impacting communities. Indeed, the 
widespread use of STRs has encroached substantially upon domains under cities’ control, 
namely land use laws and controls on housing supply. For this reason, cities can legitimate-

ly maintain their claim on such domains, and perhaps even go as far as prohibit private 
companies from brokering STRs.

Below, we offer three bold and creative approaches for municipalities interested in har-
nessing the economic benefits of STRs in addressing local economic issues. That we know 
of, no city has yet experimented with the following approaches.

Approach #1: Raising STR Caps on the Basis of Financial Need

Gentrification is a powerful economic and cultural process of neighborhood change. The 
patterns of gentrification can be found in the US and in districts, towns, and cities around 
the world. Complex and multifaceted, gentrification can occur at differing rates and for 
different reasons. One main factor, of course, is wealth and income disparities. Cities con-

cerned by the disruptive and exclusionary effects of gentrification could consider STRs as 
either an agent of gentrification, or a lever against it. 



29REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

GOING BEYONG IMPACT MITIGATION, CONT. 

Allowing high-income residents to earn additional income from STRs might intensify the 
process of gentrification, but allowing low-income residents to earn income from STRs 
has the potential to protect residents who might otherwise be displaced. Though regu-

lating STRs on a household-by-household basis could be challenging to manage, cities 
could help low-income long-term residents use STR income to keep pace with increasingly 
expensive surroundings, remain in place, and benefit from – rather than be displaced by – 
the economic development of the area. 

As STRs have become increasingly popular, many anecdotes have emerged of families, 
senior citizens, and other individuals avoiding foreclosure or eviction as a result of income 
generated by hosting short-term guests. Ideally, the potential for residents to use STR 
income to stay in place would not be fully lost if STR activity was limited by regulation. STR 
regulation could, in fact, offer cities a lever to create income opportunities for populations 

that are most impacted by unemployment and underemployment. Cities could even use 
this lever to selectively raise caps on the number of STR nights per year for households 
that meet objective financial need criteria. 

Granting exemptions to STR caps on a household-by-household basis challenges cities to 
develop clear objective criteria on which to review applications, and makes the granting 
of exemptions somewhat more akin to a form of public benefit, like unemployment bene-

fits. An application process might require the applicant to show that he or she has recently 
become unemployed, recently lost unemployment payments or other public benefits, 
or recently had a substantial increase in monthly rent. A cap exemption could also be 
time-limited, recognizing that the exemption acts as a temporary bridge for an individual 
or household seeking to get back on its feet after a financial blow. Any strategy for raising 
caps on a household-by-household basis should be carefully reviewed for compliance with 
constitutional due process provisions.

Selectively raising caps on a household-by-household basis would create substantial ad-

ministrative costs for a city, but these costs should be seen in the context of the city’s 
economic stabilization and development strategies. Furthermore, the administrative costs 
of such a program could be offset by TOT if the costs were passed to STR hosts through 
added STR taxes.

Approach #2: Keeping Wealth Local with a Municipally-Owned STR 
Platform

In order to recapture wealth that is leaving cities through payments to absentee STR plat-
forms such as Airbnb, cities can prohibit the use of these STR companies, and require that 
residents use a municipally owned platform with functionality similar to that of Airbnb and 
other leading STR intermediaries. While this solution may prove difficult to implement at 
the level of a single city, it would become more financially viable if multiple large cities 
formed a partnership to jointly invest in the development and ongoing maintenance of the 
software. The financial return to cities would be nearly guaranteed, given that fees users 



30REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

GOING BEYONG IMPACT MITIGATION, CONT. 

are accustomed and willing to pay to existing STR platforms would instead go directly to 
the City, providing funds for administration, affordable housing, or investment in other 
city programs. A substantial benefit of a municipal STR platform would be its facilitation 
of oversight and enforcement, because compliance with the law, including TOT remit-
tances, reporting, and permit renewal, could be carried out directly through the plat-
form.

Approach #3: Building Community Wealth Through a Sharing Economy 
Trust

Another bold strategy for using STRs to build community wealth is for a City to create a 
permanent trust for the collection, investment, and distribution of fees from STR book-

ings, much in the same way that the Alaska Permanent Fund pays all Alaska residents 
annual dividends from mineral, gas, and oil revenues.76 Such a trust would ensure that all 
city residents benefit from the economic wealth brought by tourism and travel, and the 
trust could also align residents around the goal of ensuring an adequate supply of hous-

ing for all. Peter Barnes’s book, With Liberty and Dividends for All, describes a variety of 

strategies for creating trusts that pay universal dividends derived from fees collected on 
the use of other assets, such as the atmosphere and intellectual property. In this vision, 
as the recipients of dividends from multiple sources, citizens would ultimately accumu-

late what amounts to a universal basic income. 

We offer this idea because of its potential political viability in comparison to approaches 
that focus primarily on setting caps and investing tax revenue in affordable housing de-

velopment. During a 1999 referendum, 83% of Alaskan voters voted to keep the Alaska 
Permanent Fund in place, demonstrating the potential for universal dividend systems to 
inspire support from citizens across the political spectrum.

To illustrate how this might work with STRs: Imagine that the City of San Francisco char-
ters a corporation called the “San Francisco Sharing Economy Trust.” The stated pur-
pose of the Trust is to support the long-term creation and preservation of an adequate 
housing supply for a socio-economically diverse city. Once chartered, the Trust would be 
somewhat insulated from the dynamics of electoral politics, enabling trustees to make 
decisions that serve the Trust’s purposes, while remaining accountable to San Francis-

co residents, who are the beneficiaries of the Trust. The Trust could be empowered 
to determine the City’s caps on STR rentals, and, separate from the 14% TOT already 
collected by the City, the Trust would be empowered to collect an additional percentage  
of all revenue from STRs. Ideally, the City would mandate that all STR bookings of hous-

ing within its borders be made through a municipally-owned or Trust-owned booking 
platform, rather than a for-profit platform like Airbnb. As such, the 10% to 20% booking 
fee normally collected by companies like Airbnb could go to the Trust. The Trust could 
then raise and lower the fee based on the Trust’s assessment of housing unit supply in 
the city. When housing is in short supply, the Trust might raise the booking fee as high 

76. For more information about the Alaska Permanent Fund, see http://pfd.alaska.gov/.



31REGULATING SHORT-TERM RENTALS

GOING BEYONG IMPACT MITIGATION, CONT. 

as 30% to 40%, thereby giving STR hosts an incentive to put rooms back on the market 
for long-term rental. Because higher fees could ultimately bring higher dividends to city 
residents, residents will directly benefit from the Trust’s efforts to preserve the housing 
supply. 

There are at least three options for the management of the Trust’s funds:

1. The Trust could retain all STR booking income and invest it (in the form of loans) in 
housing developments and purchases designed to preserve long-term affordability, 
such as projects stewarded by community land trusts. When the loans begin to pay a 
return, that income will be divided equally among all city residents and direct-depos-

ited into their bank accounts.
2. The Trust could distribute STR booking income as dividends to residents, without the 

intermediate step of investing it in affordable housing development. 
3. The Trust could strike a balance between the two options above, investing some STR 

booking income and making direct distributions of the rest. 

Like its Alaskan counterpart, the San Francisco Sharing Economy Trust could create an 
online system to administer the funds. City residents could also use the online system 
to register and prove their residency in order to receive the dividend deposit. The Trust 
could set similar eligibility requirements to Alaska’s Fund,77 such as requiring that some-

one have lived in the city for at least one year prior to receiving a divided.

77. See Alaska’s residency verification information here: http://pfd.alaska.gov/Eligibility/EstablishingResi-
dency. 



Cover -  Avmedved. Historic architecture of Washington DC, USA. Adobe Stock 
# 96208528

Page 6 - Hillman, Adrian. Housing Map. Adobe Stock # 29116537

Page 10 - Deberarr. Union Square Park Panoramic Buildings in Manhattan, New 

York City. 

Adobe Stock # 96990481

Page 11 - Mason, John. Freedon Tower. Personal Photograph. https://www.
flickr.com/photos/91451979@N00/15669451332

Page 18 - m00by. Apartments. Personal Photograph. https://www.flickr.com/
photos/m00by/13999128291

Page 22 -  Sawyer, David. House. Personal Photograph. https://www.flickr.com/
photos/18702768@N04/2422497911

Page 26 - Videowokart. San Francisco street view. Adobe Stock # 35656177

Page 27 - Zajda, Tomas. San Francisco Cityscape. Adobe Stock # 86477655

Page 28 -  Burkett, Don. Apartments. Personal Photograph. https://www.flickr.
com/photos/dtburkett/6736172825

PHOTO CREDITS



  
   

   
 

 
 

 

 
RESIDENTIAL RENTALS  

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 
 
 
 

PREPARED FOR 
 

The National Association of Realtors® 

 
 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This paper has been prepared by Robinson & Cole LLP in its capacity as consultant to the 
National Association of Realtors® for informational purposes based on its general experience with 
land use planning, policies, and techniques, along with their implementing laws and regulations.  
The information contained in this document is not intended nor should be construed as a legal 
opinion.  If NAR or any Realtor® Association requires legal advice on any issue addressed in this 
paper, it should consult with its counsel.  



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 

 

14187550-v9 
 

PREFACE ................................................................................................................................. i 

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................. 1 

1.1 Purpose of Paper .................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Scope of Paper ....................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Special Features of Paper ....................................................................................... 2 

SECTION 2. RENTALS AND THE HOUSING MARKET ...................................................... 3 

2.1 Residential Real Estate and the Economy ............................................................. 3 

2.2 Rental Housing Market .......................................................................................... 4 

(a) Urban Rental Housing................................................................................ 5 

(b) Suburban Rental Housing .......................................................................... 5 

(c) Tourist Communities – Short-Term Rental Housing ................................. 5 

(d) College Community – Rental Housing Market ......................................... 7 

(e) Bed and Breakfast Inns .............................................................................. 8 

2.3 Rental Housing and Affordability .......................................................................... 9 

2.4 Short-Term Rentals and the Sharing Economy ................................................... 11 

(a) The Sharing Economy.............................................................................. 11 

(b) Airbnb ...................................................................................................... 12 

SECTION 3. LOCAL GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS ...................................................... 14 

3.1 Regulatory Objectives .......................................................................................... 14 

(a) Protection of Neighborhood Character .................................................... 14 

(b) Revenue.................................................................................................... 17 

(c) Fairer Competition with Licensed Lodging ............................................. 18 

(d) Protection of Renter Safety ...................................................................... 19 

(e) Greater Compliance with Maintenance, Building and Nuisance 

Codes........................................................................................................ 20 

(f) Increased Landlord Accountability .......................................................... 20 

3.2 Moratoria.............................................................................................................. 21 

(a) Generally .................................................................................................. 21 

(b) Application to Rental Housing Problems ................................................ 22 

3.3 Regulations Directed at Residential Rentals ........................................................ 23 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 -ii-  

 

(a) Prohibition................................................................................................ 23 

(b) Amortization ............................................................................................ 23 

(c) Geographically-Based Regulations .......................................................... 25 

(d) Quantitative Restrictions .......................................................................... 26 

(e) Proximity Restrictions ............................................................................. 27 

(f) Registration/Licensing Requirements ...................................................... 27 

(g) Operational Restrictions........................................................................... 28 

(h) Special Permit Requirement/Conditions of Approval ............................. 31 

(i) Remedial Action Requirements ............................................................... 31 

(j) Restriction on Number of Unrelated Individuals Residing in a 

Dwelling Unit........................................................................................... 32 

(k) Neighborhood Conservation Districts...................................................... 33 

(l) Business Licensing Requirement ............................................................. 33 

(m) Taxation of Short-Term Rentals .............................................................. 34 

(n) Crime Free Housing Program .................................................................. 34 

(o) New Strategies to Address Airbnb and other Sharing Economy 

Models...................................................................................................... 36 

3.4 Regulations that Indirectly Affect Residential Rentals ........................................ 37 

(a) Residential Zoning Districts that Prohibit Multifamily 

Development ............................................................................................ 38 

(b) Minimum House Size Requirements ....................................................... 38 

3.5 Regulation by Private Property Associations and Covenants .............................. 39 

3.6 Enforcement and Penalties ................................................................................... 39 

(a) Abatement of Nuisances .......................................................................... 40 

(b) Enforcement of Building and Maintenance Codes .................................. 41 

(c) Penalties ................................................................................................... 42 

SECTION 4. IMPACTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS ON RENTAL PROPERTY 

OWNERS ............................................................................................................. 44 

4.1 Rental Income ...................................................................................................... 44 

4.2 Property Values .................................................................................................... 45 

(a) Value of Existing Rental Properties ......................................................... 45 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 -iii-  

 

(b) Value of Properties Not Previously Used as a Rental.............................. 45 

(c) Resale Value ............................................................................................ 46 

4.3 Operational Costs ................................................................................................. 46 

4.4 Nonconforming Use Status .................................................................................. 48 

4.5 Owner Liability for Action of Tenant .................................................................. 48 

SECTION 5. IMPACTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS ON RENTERS ............................... 50 

5.1 Rental Fees ........................................................................................................... 50 

5.2 Inventory of Rental Units..................................................................................... 50 

5.3 Intrusive Inspection Requirements ...................................................................... 51 

5.4 Mandatory Lease Provisions ................................................................................ 52 

SECTION 6. COMMUNITY IMPACTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS .............................. 53 

6.1 Local Real Estate Market ..................................................................................... 53 

6.2 Property Values .................................................................................................... 55 

6.3 Tourism ................................................................................................................ 55 

6.4 Local Economy .................................................................................................... 57 

6.5 Source of Tax Revenue ........................................................................................ 58 

6.6 Affordable Housing ............................................................................................. 60 

(a) Impact of Short-Term Rentals ................................................................. 60 

(b) Speculative Buying and Investment in Short-Term Rentals .................... 61 

6.7 Governmental Administrative Costs .................................................................... 62 

SECTION 7. UNINTENDED CONSEQUENCES OF RENTAL REGULATIONS ............... 64 

7.1 “Underground Market” for Rental Units ............................................................. 64 

7.2 Uncertainty in the Rental Housing Market .......................................................... 65 

7.3 Potential Liability for Realtors® ......................................................................... 65 

7.4 Unnecessary Duplication of Existing Codes........................................................ 66 

7.5 Shifting Rentals to Areas Where They Currently Are Not a Problem ................. 67 

SECTION 8. RENTAL REGULATIONS AND PROPERTY RIGHTS .................................. 68 

8.1 The Bundle of Property Rights ............................................................................ 68 

8.2 The Right to Rent Private Property ...................................................................... 68 

8.3 Local Government Authority to Regulate............................................................ 69 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 -iv-  

 

(a) Police Power ............................................................................................ 69 

(b) Zoning Power ........................................................................................... 70 

8.4 Authority to Regulate Residential Rentals ........................................................... 71 

(a) Regulation of Residential Rentals Under General Police Power 

Authority .................................................................................................. 71 

(b) Regulation of Residential Rentals Under the Zoning Power ................... 72 

8.5 Limitations on Government Authority to Regulate Rental Housing ................... 72 

(a) General Principle ..................................................................................... 72 

(b) Constitutional Limits on the Police Power .............................................. 73 

(c) Statutory Limitations ............................................................................... 76 

8.6 Regulation of Residential Rentals Under the General Police Power ................... 81 

(a) Findings from NAR Land Use Initiative Program ................................... 81 

(b) Substantive Due Process Applied to Rental Regulations ........................ 81 

(c) Equal Protection Applied to Rental Restrictions ..................................... 82 

(d) Takings Claims Asserted Against Rental Regulations ............................ 83 

(e) Protection Against Unreasonable Search and Seizure in Mandatory 

Inspection Provisions ............................................................................... 84 

(f) Private Property Rights Protection Acts .................................................. 85 

8.7 Regulation of Residential Rentals Through Zoning ............................................ 86 

(a) Findings from NAR Land Use Initiative Program ................................... 86 

(b) Regulation of the “Use” Not the “User .................................................... 87 

8.8 Limits on Outright Ban  or Amortization of Residential Rentals ........................ 89 

SECTION 9. POTENTIAL POSITIVE EFFECTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS ............... 91 

9.1 Greater Compliance with Maintenance, Building and Nuisance Codes .............. 91 

9.2 Stabilization of Neighborhoods ........................................................................... 92 

9.3 Increased Landlord Accountability ...................................................................... 92 

9.4 Increased Tax Revenue ........................................................................................ 93 

9.5 Protection of Long-Term Rental Housing Inventory ........................................... 95 

SECTION 10. STRATEGIES FOR ADDRESSING PROPOSED RENTAL 

REGULATIONS.................................................................................................. 97 

10.1 Question Local Authority to Adopt Rental Regulations ...................................... 97 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 -v-  

 

10.2 Consistency With Statutory Planning and Procedural Requirements .................. 97 

(a) General Plan Consistency Requirement................................................... 97 

(b) Environmental Review Process ............................................................... 98 

10.3 Question the Need for Residential Rental Regulations........................................ 99 

10.4 Suggest Alternatives to Rental Regulations ....................................................... 100 

(a) Enforcement of Existing Ordinances ..................................................... 100 

(b) Adoption of Ordinances that Target Community-Wide Issues .............. 103 

10.5 Stakeholder Input and Collaborative Problem-Solving ..................................... 103 

(a) Input of Stakeholders ............................................................................. 103 

(b) Collaborative Problem Solving .............................................................. 103 

10.6 Propose Best Practice Rental Regulations as Alternatives ................................ 106 

(a) Adopt Narrowly-Tailored Regulations .................................................. 106 

(b) “Grandfathering” Provisions .................................................................. 107 

(c) Quantitative Restrictions ........................................................................ 108 

(d) Operational Restrictions......................................................................... 110 

(e) Licensing/Registration Requirements .................................................... 110 

(f) Inspection Requirements ........................................................................ 111 

(g) Enforcement Provisions ......................................................................... 113 

10.7 Pursue Proactive Strategy: State Legislation to Require More Uniform, 

Fairer, and Market-Sensitive Regulations.......................................................... 116 

10.8 Bring Legal Challenges to Rental Regulations .................................................. 116 

 

Appendix A List of Jurisdictions Cited in White Paper ......................................................... A-1 

Appendix B Index of Key Terms ........................................................................................... B-1 

 



 

i 

 

PREFACE 

 

 

This paper has been prepared by Robinson & Cole LLP in its capacity as national consultant to 

NAR.  The paper is one in a series of white papers that NAR requests be prepared from time to 

time in order to focus on a particular smart growth-related issue that has arisen with sufficient 

frequency in communities around the country to merit a more in-depth analysis.   

 

In 2011, Robinson & Cole prepared a white paper entitled Short-Term Rental Housing 

Restrictions.  During the four year period since NAR’s  publication of that paper, there has been 

a dramatic increase in local government initiatives around the country designed to regulate short 

term rentals.  This new white paper, Residential Rentals – The Housing Market, Regulations, and 

Property Rights, contains both an update of the research in the prior white paper and an 

expanded scope of analysis of issues, including the critical issue of how these regulatory 

initiatives affect property rights.  

 

The analysis in this paper is provided by NAR under its Smart Growth program to help 

REALTORS
® 

at the state and local level better understand the issues involved in these types of 

residential restrictions, and to tailor strategies, as appropriate, to address short-term rental 

housing regulatory initiatives in their communities. 
 

 

Brian W. Blaesser  

    Robinson & Cole LLP 

 October,2015 

 

 

 



 

1 

 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

 

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Purpose of Paper  

This paper was prepared at the request of the National Association of REALTORS
® 

(NAR).  The 

purpose of this paper is to (1) provide an overview of the residential rental housing market; (2) 

explain the problem of rental housing restrictions; (3) categorize and describe the different 

approaches taken by local governments to regulate residential rental housing, including short-

term rentals, in their communities; (4) analyze the issues raised by these different regulatory 

approaches; (5) provide Realtors
®
 with strategies for addressing these issues; and (6) outline 

“best practices” approaches to rental housing regulations that Realtors
®
 can use in discussing the 

issue with local government officials.     

 

1.2 Scope of Paper 

This paper addresses the regulation of both long-term and short-term rental housing.  The term 

“short-term rental housing” typically means a dwelling unit
1
 that is rented for a period of less 

than thirty (30) consecutive days.  However, as discussed in Section 2.4, the term can also mean 

the short-term rental (generally for a period of less than 30 consecutive days) of less than an 

entire dwelling unit, such as a spare bedroom or other space within a home.  In some 

communities, short-term rental housing may be referred to as vacation rentals,
2
 transient rentals,

3
 

or transient vacation rental units.
4
  

 

In general, short-term rental housing differs from bed & breakfasts, hotels, motels, and other 

types of temporary “lodging” uses by providing complete, independent living facilities for one or 

more persons, including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and 

sanitation.  Although a bed & breakfast often is similar in appearance and location to many 

short-term rentals, it is distinguishable by the presence of the owner/operator on-site.
5
  A 

boarding house differs from a short-term rental by having multiple rooms or units for rent and 

common kitchen and dining facilities that are shared by the occupants.
6
  Boarding houses also 

tend to be less transient than short-term rentals.
7
  Similarly, hotels and motels are distinguishable 

from short-term rentals by having separate entrances and an on-site management office.
8
   

                                                 
1
 The International Building Code (“IBC”) defines “dwelling unit” to mean: “A single unit providing complete, 

independent living facilities for one or more persons, including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, 

cooking and sanitation.”  IBC § 202 (2012).   
2
 See, e.g., Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 02-140; Municipal Code of Chicago, Ch. 4-207; City of 

Islamorada, FL Code of Ordinances § 30-1292. 
3
 See, e.g., City of Coronado, CA Municipal Code § 86.78.030; City of Key West, FL Municipal Code § 122-1371. 

4
 See, e.g., Maui County, HI  Code § 19.37; Kauai County, HI  Code § 8.17. 

5
 See Nate Hutcheson, “Short-Term Vacation Rentals: Residential or Commercial Use?,” Zoning News (March 2002, 

American Planning Association) (hereinafter “APA Report”). 
6
 See APA Report at 5.   

7
 See APA Report at 5.   

8
 See APA Report at 5.   



 

2 

 

 

1.3 Special Features of Paper  

 

Jurisdictions with residential rental restrictions that are cited in this paper are listed in  Appendix 

A, List of Jurisdictions Cited.  Key terms used in this paper are defined or explained in the 

context of the discussion.  In order to assist the reader in locating and referencing these terms, 

they are bolded in the text and also listed in Appendix B, Index of Key Terms.   



 

3 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

 

SECTION 2. RENTALS AND THE HOUSING MARKET 

2.1 Residential Real Estate and the Economy 

The residential real estate industry historically has played a significant role in the United States 

economy.  In a healthy market, residential real estate can account for approximately 20% of the 

nation’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP).
1
  Housing-related activities contribute to the GDP in 

two ways: (1) through residential fixed investment (RFI), which generally includes the 

construction of single-family and multifamily structures, residential remodeling, the production 

of manufactured homes, and brokers’ fees; and (2) consumer spending on housing services, 

which includes gross rents (including utilities) paid by renters, as well as owners’ imputed rent 

(i.e., an estimate of how much it would cost to rent owner-occupied units) and utility payments.
2
  

Historically, RFI has averaged approximately 5% of the GDP, while housing services have 

averaged between 12% and 13%, for a combined 17% to 18% of GDP.
3
  

 

Analyses by the National Association of Home Builders (NAHB) indicate that the homebuilding 

and remodeling industry has a broad impact on the U.S. economy:   

 
Probably the most obvious impacts of new construction are the jobs generated for 

construction workers.  But, at the national level, the impact is broad-based, as jobs are 

generated in the industries that produce lumber, concrete, lighting fixtures, heating 

equipment, and other products that go into a home or remodeling project.  Other jobs are 

generated in the process of transporting, storing and selling these projects.  Still others are 

generated for professionals such as architects, engineers, real estate agents, lawyers, and 

accountants who provide services to home builders, home buyers, and remodelers.
4
 

                                                 
1
 See Mark Sprague, “Why housing is important to the economy,” Independence Title (Aug. 1, 2014) (available 

online at http://independencetitle.com/why-housing-is-important-to-the-economy/) (last visited June 4, 2015).   
2
 See Robert Dietz, “Housing’s Share of GDP: 15.5% for the Second Quarter,” NAHB Eye on Housing (Sept. 26, 

2014) (available online at http://eyeonhousing.org/2014/09/housings-share-of-gdp-15-5-for-the-second-quarter/) 

(last visited June 4, 2015).   
3
 See id.  See also The State of the Nation’s Housing 2014 at 8 (Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard 

University, 2014) (available online at http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research/state_nations_housing) (stating that  

“RFI made up just 3.1 percent of GDP in 2013, well below its historical average share of 4.7 percent”); Ray 

Valadez, “The housing bubble and the GDP: a correlation perspective,” Journal of Case Research in Business and 

Economics (June 2010) (available online at http://www.aabri.com/manuscripts/10490.pdf) (stating, in relevant part:  

Traditionally, the line entry “Residential Fixed Investment” in the [U.S Department of Commerce, 

Bureau of Economic Analysis] tables has been used to measure the portion of the GDP dedicated 

to residential fixed investment.  It normally runs approximately 5 percent of Real GDP in the 

U.S….  In combining the Residential Fixed Investment and Housing Services, they contribute to 

approximately 18 percent of the Real GDP in the U.S.).   
4
 Paul Emrath, “Impact of Home Building and Remodeling on the U.S. Economy,” NAHB (Economics and Housing 

Policy Special Studies, May 1, 2014) (available online at http://www.nahb.org/en/research/housing-

economics/housings-economic-impact/impact-of-home-building-and-remodeling-on-the-u-s--economy.aspx) (last 

visited June 4, 2015).   

http://independencetitle.com/why-housing-is-important-to-the-economy/
http://eyeonhousing.org/2014/09/housings-share-of-gdp-15-5-for-the-second-quarter/
http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research/state_nations_housing
http://www.aabri.com/manuscripts/10490.pdf
http://www.nahb.org/en/research/housing-economics/housings-economic-impact/impact-of-home-building-and-remodeling-on-the-u-s--economy.aspx
http://www.nahb.org/en/research/housing-economics/housings-economic-impact/impact-of-home-building-and-remodeling-on-the-u-s--economy.aspx


 

4 

 

While all residential construction contributes to the economy, NAHB’s analysis indicates that, on 

a per-unit basis, single-family construction has a significantly greater impact on the economy.  

For example, NAHB’s national estimates for 2014 on the impact that residential construction had 

on the U.S. economy are as follows: 

 
▪ Building an average single-family home:  2.97 jobs, $110,957 in taxes 

▪ Building an average rental apartment:  1.13 jobs, $42,383 in taxes 

▪ $100,000 spent on remodeling:  0.89 jobs, $29,779 in taxes
5
 

 

Residential construction statistics reported by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD) show that RFI made up approximately 3.1% of the GDP for the first 

quarter of 2015, well below the average of about five percent over the past fifty years.
6
   

 

2.2 Rental Housing Market 

According to U.S. Census Bureau estimates for the first quarter of 2015, the total housing 

inventory for the United States was approximately 133,575,000 housing units, with an overall 

occupancy rate of approximately 87 percent and an overall vacancy rate of approximately 13 

percent.
7
  A breakdown of occupied housing units reveals that approximately 74,018,000 units 

(63.7%) were owner-occupied, while the remaining 42,222,000 units (36.3%) were renter-

occupied.   Between 2005 and 2015, the national trend in residential occupancies has shifted 

away from homeownership and toward rental occupancies.  Nationwide, the homeownership rate 

peaked at 69.1 percent in 2005, but has steadily declined every year since then.
8
  The flip side to 

this decade-long decline in homeownership is the steady increase in the residential rental 

occupancy, which has risen from 30.9 percent of the total housing inventory in 2005 to 36.3 

percent in 2015.
9
    

 

A 2013 report on rental housing in the U.S. prepared by the Joint Center for Housing Studies of 

Harvard University (JCHS) described a confluence of factors that contributed to the recent 

upward trend in rental housing: 

 
The enormous wave of foreclosures that swept the nation after 2008 certainly played a 

role, displacing millions of homeowners.  The economic upheaval of the Great Recession 

also contributed, with high rates of sustained unemployment straining household budgets 

and preventing would-be buyers from purchasing homes.  Meanwhile, the experience of 

the last few years highlighted the many risks of homeownership, including the potential 

loss of wealth from falling home values, the high costs of relocating, and the financial 

and personal havoc caused by foreclosure.  All in all, recent conditions have brought 

                                                 
5
 Id. at 1.  For these estimates, the data on jobs created is shown in full-time jobs, while the term “taxes” represents 

all revenue paid to all levels of government (e.g., federal, state, local, and school district).  The tax estimates also 

include various fees and charges, such as residential permit and impact fees.  See id.   
6
 Ruth Mantell, “At last a tailwind for U.S. economy: housing,” Market Watch (May 19, 2015) (citing New 

Residential Construction in April 2015, U.S. Census Bureau News - Joint Release - U.S. Department of Housing and 

Urban Development (May 19, 2015)).   
7
 “Residential Vacancies and Homeownership in the First Quarter 2015,” U.S. Census Bureau News (April 28, 

2015) (available online at http://www.census.gov/housing/hvs/files/qtr115/currenthvspress.pdf).   
8
 See id. at 5, Table 4, Homeownership Rates for the Unites States: 1995 to 2015.   

9
 See id.  

http://www.census.gov/housing/hvs/files/qtr115/currenthvspress.pdf


 

5 

 

renewed appreciation for the benefits of renting, including the greater ease of moving, the 

ability to choose housing that better fits the family budget, and the freedom from 

responsibility for home maintenance.
10

 

 

Unlike owner-occupied housing, which is comprised predominantly of single-family homes, 

rental housing comes in a variety of configurations.  Contrary to popular perceptions, most rental 

units are not located in large apartment buildings.  Rather, according to the American Housing 

Survey, about 39 percent of rental properties are single-family homes and another 19 percent are 

located in small buildings with just two to four units.
11

  Large apartment buildings (i.e., those 

containing ten or more units) account for approximately 29 percent of all rental housing units 

nationwide.
12

  

 

(a) Urban Rental Housing  

While rental housing is available in communities across the country, it is considerably more  

prevalent in central cities, where land prices tend to be high and low-income households 

generally are more concentrated.
13

  According to a JCHS tabulation of 2011 American Housing 

Survey data, approximately 43 percent of all occupied rental units are located in central cities, 

compared with 29 percent of all households.
14

  The concentration of rental housing rates in urban 

areas is highest in cities of the Northeast, where more than 60 percent of households rent 

compared with 45–50 percent in other regions.
15

   

 

(b) Suburban Rental Housing  

At approximately 40 percent, the share of rental housing units located in suburban areas is 

slightly lower than in urban areas of the county.
16

  The remaining 17 percent of rental homes are 

located in “non-metro” areas.
17

   

 

(c) Tourist Communities – Short-Term Rental Housing  

According to a market study of vacation rentals in the U.S., travelers spent $23 billion on 

vacation rentals in 2012, nearly one-fifth of the total U.S. lodging market.
18

  Though the $23 

billion figure represents a decline in vacation rental revenue from pre-recession levels, the 

                                                 
10

 America’s Rental Housing: Evolving Markets and Needs at 1 (Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard 

University, 2013) (hereinafter “America’s Rental Housing”) (available online at 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/jchs_americas_rental_housing_2013_1_0.pdf).   
11

 America’s Rental Housing at 15. 
12

 America’s Rental Housing at 15.   
13

 America’s Rental Housing at 11. 
14

 America’s Rental Housing at 16. 
15

 America’s Rental Housing at 16. 
16

 America’s Rental Housing at 16. 
17

 America’s Rental Housing at 16.  In America’s Rental Housing, the geographic areas are divided into three 

categories: central city, suburban, and non-metropolitan areas.  Non-metropolitan appears to be a catch-all category 

of all areas other than central city and suburban.    
18

 See Dennis Schaal, “Vacation Rentals in the U.S. Are Now a $23 Billion Industry,” Skift (Oct. 23, 2013) 

(available online at http://skift.com/2013/10/25/vacation-rentals-in-the-u-s-are-now-a-23-billion-industry/) (citing 

the PhoCusWright study “U.S. Vacation Rentals 2009-2014: A Market Reinvented”).    

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/jchs_americas_rental_housing_2013_1_0.pdf
http://skift.com/2013/10/25/vacation-rentals-in-the-u-s-are-now-a-23-billion-industry/


 

6 

 

percentage of vacation rentals that were booked online reportedly doubled from 12% in 2007 to 

24% in 2012.
19

 

 

The short-term rental market can have a significant economic impact on the economy of a state 

or a local community.  The 2014 study “Economic Impact: Florida’s Vacation Rental Industry”
20

 

of the economic impact of approximately 11,000 vacation rental units
21

 in Florida provides an 

illustration of the state-wide impact.  The study estimated that in 2013 the state had a total of 

17,017,768 vacation rental visitors.  Using survey data and visitor spending estimates provided 

by Florida’s official tourism marketing corporation, the study calculated the economic impact of 

vacation rentals in terms of employment, visitor spending, and the overall state economy.  It 

concluded: 

 
▪ Florida’s vacation rental market has a total impact on economic output of $31.1 

billion. 

▪  Florida’s vacation rental industry directly or indirectly supports a total of 322,032 

jobs in Florida annually.   

▪ The total labor income generated by those 322,032 jobs is approximately $12.64 

billion per year. 

▪ The total estimated spending by visitors staying in vacation rental units is $13.43 

billion. 

▪ Total owner-management spending across all licensed rental units in Florida is $3.3 

billion.
22

 

 

Studies also show that the vacation rental industry can have a significant impact on a local 

economy.  A 2013 study of private home rentals by the University of New Orleans Hospitality 

Research Center described the economic impact of private home vacation rentals on the New 

Orleans metro area economy as follows: 

 
In 2013, approximately 100,000 visitors to the New Orleans area stayed in private home 

rentals.  These visitors made a substantial contribution to the New Orleans metro area 

economy.  They generated a total economic impact of $174.8 million, comprised of $99.8 

million in direct spending and $74.9 million in secondary spending.  Visitor spending 

also resulted in the creation or support of nearly 2,200 full-and part-time jobs.  These jobs 

                                                 
19

 See id.   
20

 Economic Impact: Florida’s Vacation Rental Industry (2014, prepared by Thinkspot for the Florida Vacation 

Rental Managers Association) (hereinafter “Florida Vacation Rental Study”) (available online at 

http://gometeoric.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/FVRMAEconImpactReport_FINAL.pdf).   
21

 Consistent with Florida’s statutory definition, the Florida Vacation Rental Study defined “vacation rental” to 

mean “any unit or group of units in a condominium, cooperative, or timeshare plan or any individually or 

collectively owned single-family, two-family, three-family or four-family house or dwelling that is also a transient 

public lodging establishment.  Florida Vacation Rental Study at 3 (citing Florida Stat. § 509.242(1)(c)).  Florida 

statute defines “transient public lodging establishment” to mean:  

any unit, group of units, dwelling, building, or group of buildings within a single complex of 

buildings which is rented to guests more than three times in a calendar year for periods of less than 

30 days or 1 calendar month, whichever is less, or which is advertised or held out to the public as 

a place regularly rented to guests. 

Florida Stat. § 509.013(4)(a)(1). 
22

 Florida Vacation Rental Study at 1.   

http://gometeoric.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/FVRMAEconImpactReport_FINAL.pdf


 

7 

 

are expected to create a total of $56.1 million in additional earnings for residents of the 

New Orleans area. 

 

Visitor spending is also estimated to generate a total of $10.8 million in tax revenue for 

state and local governments.  Of that total, roughly $6.1 million will go to the State of 

Louisiana, and $4.7 million will be claimed by local governments in the New Orleans 

area.
23

 

 

Studies of the local impact of short-term rentals in the Myrtle Beach Area of South Carolina
24

 

and Coachella Valley, California
25

 reached similar conclusions.   The Coachella Valley study, for 

example, concluded that short-term rentals spending was an important part of the tourism 

industry, “ultimately creating thousands of jobs and millions of dollars of earnings and tax 

revenue for the community each year.”
26

  

 

(d) College Community – Rental Housing Market  

Communities that are home to a college or university also face a unique challenge in rental 

housing, namely the conversion of single-family homes to student rentals.   The City of Saint 

Paul, Minnesota, for example, is home to nine colleges and universities.
27

  Though each 

institution provides some degree of housing on campus, the limited supply of on-campus 

housing—and the preference of some students to reside off-campus—results in strong demand 

for housing in the surrounding neighborhoods.
28

  According to a 2012 study of student housing 

under Saint Paul zoning regulations, more than half (3,002 of 5,715) of full-time undergraduate 

students at the University of Saint Thomas’s lived off-campus.
29

  The study found that about 

two-thirds of the students who live off-campus reside in residential neighborhoods located within 

a mile of the UST campus, including 426 single- and two-family homes that were identified in 

UST records as student houses.
30

   

 

The popularity of off-campus housing in college towns has created a market for investors to buy 

single-family homes to hold as a long-term investment or to “fix and flip” for short-term profit.  

The website Investopedia describes the appeal of college-town housing as a possible investment 

opportunity: 

 
Every year, millions of college students flood into college cities and towns.  Those 

students, along with the faculty and staff at their schools, have one common need: 

                                                 
23

 Private Home Rentals: Visitor Survey Results and Economic Impact Analysis 2013 (July 2014, prepared by The 

University of New Orleans Hospitality Research Center for the Alliance for Neighborhood Prosperity) (available 

online at http://neworleanscitybusiness.com/files/2014/09/Private-Home-Rentals-2013.pdf).   
24

 See The Local Impact of Participating Short Term Rentals in the Myrtle Beach Area (Spring 2014, TXP Inc.) 

(available online at http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Myrtle-Beach.pdf).   
25

 See The Local Impact of Participating Coachella Valley Short Term Rentals (Spring 2014, TXP Inc.) (available 

online at http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Coachella-0312141.pdf).   
26

 Id. at 7.   
27

 Student Housing Zoning Study: Report and Recommendations (Saint Paul Planning Commission, May 2012) 

(available online at http://www.stpaul.gov/documentcenter/home/view/20436) (hereinafter the “Saint Paul Student 

Housing Report”).   
28

 See id.   
29

 See id. 
30

 See id.  

http://neworleanscitybusiness.com/files/2014/09/Private-Home-Rentals-2013.pdf
http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Myrtle-Beach.pdf
http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Coachella-0312141.pdf
http://www.stpaul.gov/documentcenter/home/view/20436


 

8 

 

housing.  Consistent demand for housing makes college and university communities 

attractive to people interested in real estate investing…. 

 

Whereas housing demand may fluctuate in other areas, college towns boast a steady flow 

of students, professors and staff, and a percentage of those will always require off-

campus housing.  Most colleges and universities do not have enough on-campus housing 

to satisfy demand, and when school budgets are tight, maintaining and upgrading housing 

can take a back seat to other financial priorities.  Properties that are well-maintained, 

well-marketed, competitively priced and close to amenities can attract buyers and renters 

alike. 

 

Baby boomers are beginning to realize the multiple benefits of investing in real estate in 

these communities.  Many parents are viewing off-campus housing options as something 

that could not only provide a home for their child, but also be an investment that could 

appreciate in value for resale after graduation or provide a place for their own future 

retirement.
31  

 

The investment potential of college town rental housing has led to the publication of “Top Ten” 

lists that annually rank the best college towns for investing in residential properties for rental or 

flipping purposes.  RealtyTrac, for example, “ranked the top 10 college towns for buying rental 

properties, and the top 10 college towns for flipping in 2014,” noting that: 

 
College towns are often insulated from the real estate and economic storms that buffet 

other local housing markets, providing real estate investors a somewhat protected 

environment in which to either buy and hold rental properties for long-term cash flow or 

fix and flip homes for a short-term profit.
32

 

 

For the parents of college-aged children, college-town real estate can provide multiple benefits.  

Buying a house in their child’s college town can be a safe and more cost-effective alternative to 

spending money on rent or dorm fees.
33

  In addition, off-campus housing is also an investment 

that could appreciate in value for resale after graduation or provide a place for their own future 

retirement.
34

   

 

(e) Bed and Breakfast Inns   

A bed and breakfast inn (i.e., “B&B”) is similar to a short-term rental in that it provides 

temporary sleeping accommodations for guests and is often located in a single-family dwelling 

in a residential neighborhood.  Although B&Bs often are similar in appearance and location to 

many short-term rentals, they are distinguishable by the presence of the owner/operator on-site 

                                                 
31

 Katie Adams, “Real Estate Speculation in College Towns,” Investopedia (available online at 

http://www.investopedia.com/articles/mortgages-real-estate/08/real-estate-speculation.asp).   
32

 College Towns: The Best for Real Estate Profiting (RealtyTrac LLC, 2014) (available online at 

http://www.realtytrac.com/content/news-and-opinion/best-college-towns-for-buying-rentals-flipping-in-2014-8156).   
33

 Lara Hertel, “Parents Head to College Towns to Buy Real Estate,” Resort Life Blog (available online at 

http://resortlife.blogs.realtor.org/2010/11/18/parents-head-to-college-towns-to-buy-real-estate/).    
34

 Katie Adams, “Real Estate Speculation in College Towns,” Investopedia (available online at 

http://www.investopedia.com/articles/mortgages-real-estate/08/real-estate-speculation.asp).   

http://www.investopedia.com/articles/mortgages-real-estate/08/real-estate-speculation.asp
http://www.realtytrac.com/content/news-and-opinion/best-college-towns-for-buying-rentals-flipping-in-2014-8156
http://resortlife.blogs.realtor.org/2010/11/18/parents-head-to-college-towns-to-buy-real-estate/
http://www.investopedia.com/articles/mortgages-real-estate/08/real-estate-speculation.asp


 

9 

 

and the breakfast service that that they provide to guests.
35

  For example, the Town of 

Jamestown, North Carolina, defines “bed and breakfast (B&B) inn” to mean “a private residence 

that offers sleeping accommodations to lodgers in 14 or fewer rooms for rent, is the innkeepers 

principal residence while renting rooms, and serves breakfast at no extra cost.”  Communities 

typically regulate B&Bs through their zoning regulations.  Maui County, Hawaii, for example, 

allows B&Bs by right in certain residential zoning districts, subject to certain licensing 

requirements and operational standards.
36

  For example, Maui County requires that the 

owner/proprietor reside on the same lot as the B&B, limits B&Bs to a maximum of six 

bedrooms, and requires that breakfast be made available to onsite guests but prohibits the 

operation of a B&B as a restaurant.
37

  

 

The Professional Association of Innkeepers International (PAII) estimates that there are 17,000 

B&Bs in the United States.
38

  The number of bed and breakfast inns in the U.S. peaked at about 

20,000 between 200 and 2005, but has since declined as a generation of innkeepers retired and 

the economic downturn made it more difficult for aspiring new owners to secure financing.
39

  

According to PAII estimates, the B&B industry is worth approximately $3.4 billion, including 

the value of the inns themselves and the products and services needed to run a B&B, real estate, 

finance, insurance, food and beverage, cleaning, and more.
40

 

 

2.3 Rental Housing and Affordability 

There is no universally accepted definition of “affordable housing.”  U.S. Department of 

Housing and Urban Development (HUD) defines “affordable housing” to mean “housing for 

which the occupant(s) is/are paying no more than 30 percent of his or her income for gross 

housing costs, including utilities.”
41

   

 

Local governments, on the other hand, tend to define “affordable housing” by applying the HUD  

“30 percent rule” to specific income groups.  Portland, Oregon, for example, uses the following 

definition of “affordable housing”: 

 
The term “affordable housing,” “affordable rental housing” or “housing affordable to 

rental households” means that the rent is structured so that the targeted tenant population 

pays no more than 30 percent of their gross household income for rent and utilities.  The 

targeted tenant populations referred to in this section include households up to 80 percent 

of area median family income.
42

 

 

                                                 
35

 See Nate Hutcheson, “Short-Term Vacation Rentals: Residential or Commercial Use?,” Zoning News (March 

2002, American Planning Association). 
36

 See Maui County (HI) Code § 19.64.020 (available online at 

http://www.co.maui.hi.us/DocumentCenter/Home/View/8581).   
37

 See id. § 19.64.030.   
38

 See “The B&B Industry,” Professional Association of Innkeepers International (available online at 

https://innkeeping.site-ym.com/?The_Industry) (last visited June 10, 2015).   
39

 See Alyssa Abkowitz, “A New Crop of Bed and Breakfasts,” The Wall Street Journal (Nov. 27, 2013). 
40

 See The B&B Industry.   
41

 HUD User Glossary (available online at http://www.huduser.org/portal/glossary/glossary_a.html).   
42

 Portland, OR City Code § 30.01.030.A.   

http://www.co.maui.hi.us/DocumentCenter/Home/View/8581
https://innkeeping.site-ym.com/?The_Industry
http://www.huduser.org/portal/glossary/glossary_a.html


 

10 

 

While affordable housing includes both owner-occupied homes and rental housing, quality 

affordable rental housing is the best option for serving the needs of lower-income families.
43

   

Realistically, rental housing is the only option for a significant majority of low- and very low-

income families nationwide.
44

  Housing Virginia observes that, in addition to being the most 

financially realistic option for low- and moderate- income families and families who have 

recently lost a home to foreclosure, rental housing fulfills the needs of other individuals and 

families: 

 
Other people rent because they prefer the lifestyle of renting and may still be as socially 

invested in their community as homeowners typically are.  Among their ranks are both 

former homeowners who are empty- nesters and lifelong renters who don’t want to worry 

about lawns, gutters, and home repairs.  Still others rent because they expect to move 

frequently.  Finally, for some families, affordable rental housing is an important stepping 

stone that allows them to accumulate savings and prepare for homeownership.
45

 

 

In the post-Recession years, the growing demand for rental housing has resulted in a shortage of 

affordable housing nationwide.  According to initial estimates from the American Community 

Survey, the number of cost-burdened renters (i.e., those paying more than 30 percent of 

household income for housing) reached approximately 21.1 million in 2012, more than half of all 

rental households.
46

  The report America’s Rental Housing—Evolving Markets and Needs 

explains that the widespread incidence of cost-burdened rental housing “reflects the gap between 

what lower-income households can afford to pay in rent and what housing costs to build and  

operate across the nation.”
47

  The report states: 

 
An analysis by the National Low Income Housing Coalition (NLIHC) compares the rent 

for a modest two-bedroom home in each state in 2013 to the average hourly wage that 

full-time workers would have to earn to afford that housing.  In the highest-cost states, 

the estimated wage is more than $20 an hour—well above the earnings of a typical renter.  

But even in the lowest-cost states, the wage needed to rent a modest home is at least $12 

an hour, considerably more than the federal minimum wage of $7.25.  In no state did the 

mean hourly wage of renters exceed what was needed to afford a modest home.   

 

While growth in the number of low-income renters is an important factor driving the 

spread of cost burdens, the difficulty of supplying housing at rents these households can 

afford is also a problem.  As a result, the gap between the demand for and supply of 

affordable rentals continues to widen.
48

 

 

As discussed in Section 6 of this paper, there is a growing sentiment among local governments 

that short-term and vacation rentals also contribute to the shortage of rental housing, as more 

rental units that could be rented out as long-term housing are set aside for use as short-term.   

                                                 
43

 TIM IGLESIAS & ROCHELLE E. LENTO, THE LEGAL GUIDE TO AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT at 489 (2nd 

ed., 2011 American Bar Association).   
44

 See id.   
45

 Why is affordable housing important? Is rental housing or homeownership more important?, Housing Virginia 

(available online at http://www.housingvirginia.org/Why-is-affordable-housing-important.aspx).   
46

 America’s Rental Housing at 28. 
47

 America’s Rental Housing at 30. 
48

 America’s Rental Housing at 32. 

http://www.housingvirginia.org/Why-is-affordable-housing-important.aspx


 

11 

 

 

2.4 Short-Term Rentals and the Sharing Economy  

(a) The Sharing Economy 

Like “affordable housing,” the term “sharing economy” has many definitions.  Investopedia 

defines it as an “economic model in which individuals are able to borrow or rent assets owned by 

someone else.  The sharing economy model is most likely to be used when the price of a 

particular asset is high and the asset is not fully utilized all the time.”
49

  The blog 

PeopleWhoShare states that the sharing economy “is a socio-economic ecosystem built around 

the sharing of human and physical resources.  It includes the shared creation, production, 

distribution, trade and consumption of goods and services by different people and 

organizations.”
50

   

 

However the term is defined, the sharing economy is growing at a rate that has outpaced 

governmental regulation and arguably has affected human behavior.  The tech magazine Wired 

described this phenomenon in the 2014 article How Airbnb and Lyft Finally Got Americans to 

Trust Each Other:  

 
The sharing economy has come on so quickly and powerfully that regulators and 

economists are still grappling to understand its impact.  But one consequence is already 

clear: Many of these companies have us engaging in behaviors that would have seemed 

unthinkably foolhardy as recently as five years ago.  We are hopping into strangers’ cars 

(Lyft, Sidecar, Uber), welcoming them into our spare rooms (Airbnb), dropping our dogs 

off at their houses (DogVacay, Rover), and eating food in their dining rooms (Feastly). 

We are letting them rent our cars (RelayRides, Getaround), our boats (Boatbound), our 

houses (HomeAway), and our power tools (Zilok).  We are entrusting complete strangers 

with our most valuable possessions, our personal experiences—and our very lives.  In the 

process, we are entering a new era of Internet-enabled intimacy. 

 

This is not just an economic breakthrough.  It is a cultural one, enabled by a sophisticated 

series of mechanisms, algorithms, and finely calibrated systems of rewards and 

punishments.  It’s a radical next step for the person-to-person marketplace pioneered by 

eBay: a set of digital tools that enable and encourage us to trust our fellow human 

beings.
51

 

 

The idea of homeowners renting out their property to short-term renters is not a new one.  The 

company VRBO—short for Vacation Rental By Owner—was established in 1995 for the 

purpose of facilitating short-term rentals of properties by their owners over the internet.  

However, a more recent entrant into the sharing economy—Airbnb—has revolutionized how the 

short-term rental market operates. 

 

                                                 
49

 See http://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sharing-economy.asp.   
50

 See http://www.thepeoplewhoshare.com/blog/what-is-the-sharing-economy/.   
51

 Jason Tanz, “How Airbnb and Lyft Finally Got Americans to Trust Each Other,” Wired (April 23, 2014) 

(available online at http://www.wired.com/2014/04/trust-in-the-share-economy/).   

http://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sharing-economy.asp
http://www.thepeoplewhoshare.com/blog/what-is-the-sharing-economy/
http://www.wired.com/2014/04/trust-in-the-share-economy/


 

12 

 

(b) Airbnb 

Airbnb was founded in 2007 by a pair of San Francisco roommates who rented three air 

mattresses on their living room floor and cooked breakfast for their guests.  From those humble 

beginnings Airbnb has grown into a company that in October 2014 was valued at $13 billion, 

more than the Wyndham Worldwide or Hyatt hotel chains.
52

  As of September 2015, Airbnb’s 

website touts more than 1,500,000 listings in more than 34,000 cities and 190 countries 

worldwide.
53

  Since its inception, Airbnb reportedly has booked accommodations for more than 

40,000,000 guests worldwide.
54

     

 

Airbnb works by providing an online marketplace for “hosts” to rent out spare rooms or 

properties, and guests to book them.  Hosts can specify the type of accommodation (shared or 

private) and booking periods being offered, set “house rules,” and upload photos.
55

  The Airbnb 

website is fairly easy to use and intuitive for both hosts and guests, with multiple search criteria 

and results that are displayed with an adjacent map view and picture-based listings.
56

  Hosts can 

either allow instant booking or require that a request be submitted first.
57

  Airbnb makes money 

by charging a 6-12% “guest service fee” and a 3% host service fee every time a reservation is 

booked on its online platform.
58

   

 

Studies commissioned by Airbnb suggest that the company’s contribution to the local economy 

can be significant.  A Los Angeles Times article summarized the findings of Airbnb’s Los 

Angeles study as follows: 

 
The tech firm—which typically keeps its data close to its vest—says that it has just under 

4,500 “hosts” in the city of Los Angeles and that they earned a combined $43.1 million 

through the service from May 2013 through April 2014. 

  

After tracking spending by guests and hosts and projecting the effect that money has 

filtering through the region's economy, Airbnb estimates a total economic impact of $312 

million, enough to support about 2,600 local jobs.
59

 

  

A similar study commissioned by Airbnb for the New York City market concluded that Airbnb  

“generated $632 million in economic activity in New York in one year and supported 4,580 jobs 

throughout all five boroughs.”
60

  The New York City study also asserted that Airbnb guests 

spend more time and money in the city than typical tourists: 

                                                 
52

 See “Airbnb’s valuation could soar with new funding raise,” San Francisco Business Times (Mar. 2, 2015) 

(available online at http://www.bizjournals.com/sanfrancisco/blog/techflash/2015/03/airbnb-seeks-20-billion-

valuation-in-new-funding.html).   
53

 See https://www.airbnb.com/about/about-us.   
54

 See id.   
55

 Lizzie Porter, “Airbnb: do the bargains come at a price?,” The Telegraph (Aug. 8, 2014) (available online at 

http://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/travelnews/11020812/Airbnb-do-the-bargains-come-at-a-price.html).   
56

 See id.   
57

 See id.   
58

 See https://www.airbnb.com/support/article/63.   
59

 Tim Logan, “As L.A. weighs regulation, Airbnb touts is economic impact in city,” Los Angeles Times (December 

4, 2014) (available online at http://touch.latimes.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-82176472/).   

http://www.bizjournals.com/sanfrancisco/blog/techflash/2015/03/airbnb-seeks-20-billion-valuation-in-new-funding.html
http://www.bizjournals.com/sanfrancisco/blog/techflash/2015/03/airbnb-seeks-20-billion-valuation-in-new-funding.html
https://www.airbnb.com/about/about-us
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/travelnews/11020812/Airbnb-do-the-bargains-come-at-a-price.html
https://www.airbnb.com/support/article/63
http://touch.latimes.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-82176472/


 

13 

 

  
▪ Airbnb visitors stay on average 6.4 nights (compared to 3.9 for hotel guests) and 

spend $880 at NYC businesses (compared to $690 for average New York visitors).  

  

▪ Airbnb brings visitors to neighborhoods that traditionally have not benefited from 

tourism.  82% of Airbnb listings in New York are outside of the main tourist hotel 

area of midtown Manhattan and the average Airbnb guest spends $740 in the 

neighborhood where that guest stays.
61

 

 

Airbnb also asserts that nearly 75% of its hosts use the money they earn to stay in their homes 

and about 30% of all hosts say hosting helped them to start a new business.
62

  

 

The rapid growth of Airbnb has led to concerns that the conversion of long-term rental properties 

into short-term rentals is having a negative impact on the available supply of long-term rental 

housing in some markets.  An October 2014 report by the New York State Attorney General 

found that in 2013, more than 4,600 residential units in New York City were dedicated primarily 

or exclusively to short-term rentals.
63

  The report, entitled “Airbnb in the City,” noted that most 

of the buildings converted to short-term rentals were located in popular neighborhoods in 

Brooklyn and Manhattan, and observed that: 

 
A dozen buildings in those same neighborhoods had 60 percent or more of their units 

used at least half the year as private short-term rentals, suggesting that the buildings were 

operating as de facto hotels.
64

 

 

Similar concerns have been raised in other communities where Airbnb has grown in popularity.  

In the City of Boulder, Colorado, for example, the City Council directed staff to draft a short-

term rental ordinance out of concern that investors were buying property for use as short-term 

rentals, thereby reducing the supply of long-term and affordable housing for residents.
65

 

 

   

 

 

                                                                                                                                                             
60

 Caroline Moss, “Airbnb Says It Generated $632 Million in Economic Activity in New York,” Business Insider 

(Oct. 23, 2014) (available online at http://www.businessinsider.com/airbnb-632-million-economic-activity-new-

york-2013-10).   
61

 Id.   
62

 Tim Logan, “As L.A. weighs regulation, Airbnb touts is economic impact in city,” Los Angeles Times (December 

4, 2014) (available online at http://touch.latimes.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-82176472/).   
63

 Airbnb in the City (Oct. 2014, New York State office of the Attorney General) (available online at 

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf).   
64

 Id. at 12. 
65

 See Erica Meltzer, “Boulder council: Preserving housing for residents will guide short-term rental regulations,” 

Daily Camera (June 2, 2015) (available online at http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-

short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility).   

http://www.businessinsider.com/airbnb-632-million-economic-activity-new-york-2013-10
http://www.businessinsider.com/airbnb-632-million-economic-activity-new-york-2013-10
http://touch.latimes.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-82176472/
http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf
http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility
http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility


 

14 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

SECTION 3. LOCAL GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS 

3.1 Regulatory Objectives 

Many communities around the country, from major cities to rural towns and tourist destination 

communities, have adopted some form of rental housing regulation.  The growing trend toward 

local regulation of residential rentals is evidenced by the rising number of requests that NAR has 

received for review of proposed rental regulations under the Land Use Initiative program.  From 

2003 to 2008, NAR received a total of eight such requests, for an average of 1.5 requests per 

year.  By contrast, from 2009 to 2014, NAR received 26 requests for review of rental regulations, 

for an average of 4.3 per year.  In 2015, the trend grew more sharply, with twelve requests 

received by NAR by the end of September.   

 

Below is an overview of the most common reasons cited by communities for regulating rental 

housing.       

 

(a) Protection of Neighborhood Character  

New York City’s City Environmental Quality Review (CEQR) Technical Manual describes the 

concept of “neighborhood character” as follows: 

 
Neighborhood character is an amalgam of various elements that give neighborhoods their 

distinct “personality.”  These elements may include a neighborhood’s land use, 

socioeconomic conditions, open space, historic and cultural resources, urban design, 

visual resources, shadows, transportation, and/or noise.
1
   

 

Generally speaking, neighborhoods tend to have at least two defining characteristics: (1) the 

physical character, such as the architecture of buildings and the layout of streets and open spaces; 

and (2) the non-physical character, such as the combination of land uses and density that affect 

the “quality of life” or “livability” of a neighborhood.   

 

The protection of the character of existing residential neighborhoods is the most commonly cited 

municipal purpose for regulating rental housing.  The need to protect the residential character is 

frequently cited by communities in support of a proposed vacation rental ordinance or a 

restriction on single-family home rentals.  Often these communities are responding to complaints 

from permanent residents about the disturbances that may be caused by short-term tenants, 

including excessive noise, late night parties, trespassing, increased traffic, and other activities 

that disrupt the residential character.  

 

                                                 
1
 CEQR Technical Manual at 21-1 (2014 ed., NYC Mayor’s Office of Environmental Coordination) (available 

online at http://www.nyc.gov/html/oec/html/ceqr/technical_manual_2014.shtml).   

http://www.nyc.gov/html/oec/html/ceqr/technical_manual_2014.shtml


 

15 
 

(i) Neighborhood Character: Protection of Neighborhood Livability  

For tourist communities, the rationale is that vacationers and guests who do not have ties to the 

local community are more concerned with maximizing their fun than they are with being good 

neighbors.  This rationale is evident in the City of Venice, Florida’s “resort dwellings” 

ordinance, which prohibits new resort dwellings from being established in certain single-family 

zoning districts:  

 
[The] City council finds that resort dwelling rental activities in single-family 

neighborhoods affects the character and stability of a residential neighborhood.  The 

home and its intrinsic influences are the foundation of good citizenship.  The intent of 

these regulations is to prevent the use of single-family residences for transient purposes 

in order to preserve the residential character of single-family neighborhoods.
2
   

 

In college communities, the rationale is largely the same.  In 2011 the City of Saint Paul, 

Minnesota adopted a one-year moratorium on the conversion of owner-occupied homes to rentals 

in order to temporarily halt the proliferation of new college/university student rental housing in 

neighborhoods of predominantly single-family and duplex housing.  While college students 

might consider single-family home rentals a better option than dormitory housing, and investors 

view them as an investment opportunity, permanent residents of college towns tend to see them 

in a much different light.  A study of student housing and zoning in Saint Paul prepared by the 

Saint Paul Planning Commission (the “Saint Paul Student Housing Study”) summarized the 

impacts that rental housing were believed to have on residential neighborhoods as follows: 

 
The conversion of housing to student occupancy, particularly the conversion of 

previously owner-occupied single-family and duplex housing, has substantially affected 

the character of the neighborhoods in and around the moratorium area and has had a 

negative impact on quality of life for many residents.  Students tend to live at higher 

concentrations of adult residents as compared to rental housing as a whole.  As a result, 

traffic and parking impacts tend to be greater than for rental housing in general.  In 

addition, students as a population have a different lifestyle than the population as a 

whole, and in particular in comparison to families with young children.  Students also are 

a transient population with respect to the neighborhoods they inhabit, and so have less 

connection to the long-term well-being of that neighborhood than more permanent 

residents may.  As a result, noise can be an issue, and inattention to things like litter or 

property appearance can lead to negative associations with students and student housing 

for other residents.  Finally, poor student behavior, exacerbated by alcohol use and abuse, 

can have a dramatic, negative impact on neighborhood livability.  In general, these 

negative impacts associated with student housing are felt more acutely in lower density 

neighborhoods, as the conversion of even a single unit measurably changes the make-up 

of the neighborhood.
3
    

 

Concerns about the protection of neighborhood character are not limited to tourist communities 

and college towns.  Major cities including Los Angeles and San Francisco have adopted 

measures for the purpose of protecting neighborhood character.  In June 2015, two members of 

                                                 
2
 City of Venice, FL Land Development Code § 86-151.   

3
 Student Housing Zoning Study: Report and Recommendations at 2 (Saint Paul Planning Commission, May 2012) 

(available online at http://www.stpaul.gov/documentcenter/home/view/20436).   

http://www.stpaul.gov/documentcenter/home/view/20436


 

16 
 

the Los Angeles City Council proposed an ordinance that would ban people from renting out 

their home or apartment for short-term stays unless the property being rented out is their primary 

residence.  After the measure was introduced, one of the sponsors was quoted as saying: “We 

cannot tolerate how a growing number of speculators are eliminating rental housing and 

threatening the character of our neighborhoods.”
4
  When in July 2015,  the City of San Francisco 

announced the formation of a new agency—the Office of Short-Term Rental Administration and 

Enforcement—to oversee short-term rentals in the city, the mayor cited the need “to protect our 

housing supply and neighborhood character.”
5
  

 

(ii) Neighborhood Character: Protection of Physical Characteristics   

Some communities also cite the need to protect the physical characteristics of their residential 

neighborhoods.  The underlying rationale is that rental properties generally are not owner-

occupied and therefore are less likely to be cared for to the same degree as permanent residences.  

In theory, absentee property owners are presumed to be less diligent about the types of regular 

and routine maintenance tasks typically associated with home ownership, such as lawn 

maintenance, tree and shrub pruning, and exterior painting.  This perspective is evident in the 

Saint Paul Student Housing Study, which asserted that some of the negative impacts of student 

housing can be attributed to the fact that student housing “tends to be almost exclusively rental 

with absentee ownership” and that the owners of student housing “may not observe the same 

standards of property maintenance as residents of owner-occupied properties expect.”
6
    

 

In 2009, the City of Frisco, Texas cited inadequate property maintenance by absentee owners as 

justification for requiring the owners of single-family rental properties to register with the city.  

In particular, the “whereas” clauses of Frisco’s single-family rental ordinance stated that the city 

council “had investigated and determined that some absentee owners of single-family residential 

properties do not have firsthand knowledge of the condition of their properties” and that the 

registration requirement would “prevent the growth of unmaintained properties and … preserve 

and enhance residential neighborhoods and property values.”
7
   

 

The City of Clinton, Mississippi’s “Rental Housing Ordinance” webpage states that the city 

“adopted a Rental Property Ordinance in order to insure the health, safety and welfare of the 

community.”
8
  In response to the question “Why Does The City Have A Rental Inspection 

Program?,” the Rental Housing Ordinance webpage explains: 

 
For years the City responded to complaints from tenants, other nearby rental property 

owners, and residents about the lack of property maintenance on many rental properties.  

                                                 
4
 “L.A. proposal would block Airbnb hosts from creating ‘rogue hotels,’” Los Angeles Times (June 2, 2015) 

(available online at http://touch.latimes.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-83685019/).   
5
 See “San Francisco creates short-term rental agency,” Business Insider (July 2, 2015) (available online at 

http://www.businessinsider.com/r-san-francisco-creates-short-term-rental-agency-2015-7).  
6
 Saint Paul Student Housing Study at 9. 

7
 City of Frisco, Texas, Rental Ordinance – Single-Family Dwelling at 1 (available online at 

http://www.ci.frisco.tx.us/departments/planningDevelopment/codeEnforcement/Documents/Rental%20Ordinance.p

df).  The Frisco Rental Ordinance is codified as Article VIII (Reporting Requirements) of the City of Frisco Code of 

Ordinances).  See http://z2.franklinlegal.net/franklin/Z2Browser2.html?showset=friscoset.   
8
 City of Clinton, MS – Rental Housing Ordinance (available online at 

https://www.clintonms.org/departments/community-development/rental/).   

http://touch.latimes.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-83685019/
http://www.businessinsider.com/r-san-francisco-creates-short-term-rental-agency-2015-7
http://www.ci.frisco.tx.us/departments/planningDevelopment/codeEnforcement/Documents/Rental%20Ordinance.pdf
http://www.ci.frisco.tx.us/departments/planningDevelopment/codeEnforcement/Documents/Rental%20Ordinance.pdf
http://z2.franklinlegal.net/franklin/Z2Browser2.html?showset=friscoset
https://www.clintonms.org/departments/community-development/rental/


 

17 
 

Nearby property owners complained that as a result of poor property maintenance on 

rental properties, their property values were being adversely affected.  This same 

complaint was echoed by other rental property owners who believed that their ability to 

rent, and even their ability to increase rents, was being adversely affected by other errant 

rental property owners in their neighborhoods.
9
 

 

The City of Waconia, Minnesota’s “Housing Ordinance for Rental Property” is another example 

of an ordinance targeting the physical characteristics of rental property—the stated purpose of 

the ordinance is to “provide minimum standards to safeguard life or limb, health and public 

welfare by regulating and controlling the use and occupancy, maintenance and repair of all 

buildings and structures within the City used as rental housing.”
10

 

  

(b) Revenue  

For many communities, particularly those with a robust tourist industry, short-term rentals 

represent a potentially significant source of tax revenue.  In Texas, for example, the state’s Hotel 

Occupancy Tax statute defines the term “hotel” to include any building that offers sleeping 

accommodations for consideration, including a “tourist home” or “tourist house,” and imposes a 

six percent tax on the price paid for such accommodations.
11

  In addition, the Municipal Hotel 

Occupancy Tax statute authorizes Texas cities, towns and villages to impose and collect an 

additional nine percent tax on hotels, including short-term rental properties.
12

  The potential 

revenue available to municipalities with authority to tax short-term rentals is evidenced by a 

2011 study prepared by the city auditor for Austin, Texas, which estimated that the city could 

gain $100,000 to $300,000 annually by collecting taxes on short-term rental properties.
13

  

Communities that desire to collect such taxes often impose registration or licensing requirements 

as a means of identifying properties that are being used for short-term rentals and are therefore 

subject to taxation. 

 

At least one local jurisdiction—Pima County, Arizona—has begun reclassifying properties that 

are used for short-term rental purposes from residential use to commercial use.  These 

reclassifications are done unilaterally by the Office of the County Assessor, resulting in a 

substantial increases in property taxes for affected property owners.
14

  According to the Pima 

County Assessor, the reclassification is justified because “state law defines transient lodging 

establishments as those that rent for less than 30 days at a time” and short-term rentals meet this 

                                                 
9
 Id.   

10
 City of Waconia, MN – Housing Ordinance for Rental Property § 541.01, Subd. 1 (available online at 

http://www.waconia.org/DocumentCenter/Home/View/158).   
11

 See Texas Code §§ 156.001, 156.052.  Accommodations of “at least 30 consecutive days, so long as there is no 

interruption of payment for the period,” are exempt from the tax.  Id. § 156.101. 
12

 See Texas Code § 351.003. 
13

 See “City of Austin begins work on short-term rental regulations; Planning Commission to address safety, tax 

revenue concerns,” (Source: impactnews.com: Central Austin, April 22, 2011).  Austin’s short-term rental 

regulations were adopted in September 2013 as Ordinance No. 20130926-144 (available online at 

http://www.austintexas.gov/edims/document.cfm?id=199458).   
14

 See “Pima County Airbnb owners surprised by new taxes,” Arizona Daily Star, August 22, 2015 (available online 

at http://tucson.com/news/local/govt-and-politics/changes-put-bite-on-short-term-landlords/article_b3efb530-237f-

5533-8cce-03a7dec4eb63.html).   

http://www.waconia.org/DocumentCenter/Home/View/158
http://www.austintexas.gov/edims/document.cfm?id=199458
http://tucson.com/news/local/govt-and-politics/changes-put-bite-on-short-term-landlords/article_b3efb530-237f-5533-8cce-03a7dec4eb63.html
http://tucson.com/news/local/govt-and-politics/changes-put-bite-on-short-term-landlords/article_b3efb530-237f-5533-8cce-03a7dec4eb63.html


 

18 
 

criteria.
15

  In 2015, Pima County reportedly reclassified 235 residential properties to commercial, 

thereby causing the property tax rate on these properties to rise from the residential rate of 10 

percent to the commercial rate of 18 percent.
16

     

 

In June 2015 the State of Rhode Island adopted a budget bill that extended the state’s 7 percent 

sales tax and 1 percent local hotel tax to house and room rentals of 30 days or less.
17

  It also 

imposed a total of 13 percent in taxes on “room resellers” such as Airbnb and Expedia, including 

the 7 percent sales tax, a 5 percent statewide hotel tax, and a 1 percent local hotel tax.
18

    

 

A bill introduced in the Massachusetts General Assembly in January 2015 likewise proposes to 

tax short-term rentals at both the state and local levels.  Bill H.2618 would require that all short-

term rental properties be registered with the state and would impose a 5 percent state excise tax 

on all short-term residential rentals.
19

  Bill H.2618 would also authorize Massachusetts cities and 

towns to impose a local excise tax of up to 6 percent on short-term residential rentals.
20

   

 

In a 2014 report, the Attorney General of the State of New York estimated that, based on the 

city’s hotel room occupancy tax rate of 5.875 percent, private short-term rentals in New York 

City would have incurred more than $33 million in hotel tax liability from 2010 through June 

2014.
21

    

 

(c) Fairer Competition with Licensed Lodging  

Short-term rental restrictions may also be viewed as a means of leveling the playing field 

between short-term rentals and more traditional types of overnight lodging that may be 

specifically regulated under state or local law, such as hotels and bed and breakfasts.  In 2015, 

the American Hotel & Lodging Association (AH&LA) reportedly increased its lobbying efforts 

in a push for stronger regulation of short-term rentals listed on websites such as Airbnb.
22

  In an 

effort to “ensure that short-term rental hosts are held to the same standards as hoteliers,” the 

AH&LA reportedly began working with governments and local hotel associations to address 

subjects such as occupancy tax payment and American with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

compliance.
23

   

 

                                                 
15

 Id. 
16

 Id.   
17

 See “New taxes take effect in R.I.,” Providence Journal (July 2, 2015); see Article 11 of the Rhode Island Fiscal 

Year 2016 Budget (H 5900 Sub A) (available online at 

http://www.budget.ri.gov/Documents/CurrentFY/FY%202016%20Appropriations%20Act%20Final.pdf).   
18

 See id.  
19

 See Massachusetts Bill H.2618, § 2 (2015) (available online at https://malegislature.gov/Bills/189/House/H2618).  

H.2618 was referred to the Joint Committee on Revenue in January 2015.  As of October 14, 2015, H.2618 has not 

been reported out of committee.     
20

 See id. § 3.   
21

 Airbnb in the City at 9 (Oct. 2014, New York State office of the Attorney General) (available online at 

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf). 
22

 See Danny King, “Hotels group seeks more regulation of short-term rentals,” Travel Weekly (May 5, 2015) 

(available online at http://www.travelweekly.com/Travel-News/Hotel-News/Hotels-group-seeks-more-regulation-of-

short-term-rentals/).   
23

 See id. (quoting Vanessa Sinders, AH&LA’s senior vice president of governmental affairs).   

http://www.budget.ri.gov/Documents/CurrentFY/FY%202016%20Appropriations%20Act%20Final.pdf
https://malegislature.gov/Bills/189/House/H2618
http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf
http://www.travelweekly.com/Travel-News/Hotel-News/Hotels-group-seeks-more-regulation-of-short-term-rentals/
http://www.travelweekly.com/Travel-News/Hotel-News/Hotels-group-seeks-more-regulation-of-short-term-rentals/


 

19 
 

In 2015 the California Hotel & Lodging Association (CH&LA) came out in support of Senate 

Bill 593, which proposed to assist cities and counties in collecting Transient Occupancy Taxes 

by requiring online services that facilitate short-term residential rentals (e.g., Airbnb, VHBO, 

and FlipKey) to report the location of the units, the number of days rented, and the amounts 

paid.
24

  CH&LA explained that it supports the bill because its “members simply want a level 

playing field” and that many short-term rental hosts “simply don’t pay the required taxes.”
25

    

 

In some cases, the hotel industry has lobbied for the adoption of short-term rental regulations on 

the grounds that short-term rentals are functionally the same as hotel units and therefore should 

either be taxed and regulated like hotels, or prohibited.  For example, at a June 2011 meeting of 

the Planning Board of Buncombe County, North Carolina, several hoteliers cited unfair 

competition in arguing against the potential repeal of a ban on vacation rentals in the county’s 

more restrictive residential zoning districts.  One industry representative testified that hotels 

“spend many, many hours and many, many dollars abiding by all the regulations that [hotels] are 

require to abide by and that many do not apply to short-term rentals.”
26

  

 

(d) Protection of Renter Safety  

Protecting the health, safety, and welfare of residential renters is often cited as justification for 

the adoption of an ordinance requiring the registration and inspection of residential rental 

properties.  For example, the City of Gary, Indiana has a rental registration and inspection 

program that requires all rental properties in the city to be registered annually and allows anyone 

who resides within 300 feet of a rental unit to file a complaint and cause the unit to be 

inspected.
27

  The protection of renter safety is among the stated purposes of the Gary’s rental 

registration and inspection program, which states that the intent of the program is to “prevent 

unsafe living conditions, overcrowding and violations of laws and ordinance in residential 

housing units; [and] to correct and prevent housing conditions that adversely affect the safety, 

welfare and health of the persons occupying residential rental housing units.”
28

   

 

The protection of renter safety is also sometimes cited as the reason for the adoption of short-

term rental restrictions.  The rationale is that operational restrictions (e.g., occupancy limits 

based on septic system capacity) and inspection requirements are necessary to ensure the safety 

of occupants of short-term rental units.  For example, the City of Big Bear Lake, California has a 

“transient private home rentals” ordinance that is intended, in part, “to ensure . . . that minimum 

health and safety standards are maintained in such units to protect the visitor from unsafe or 

unsanitary conditions.”
29

    

 

                                                 
24

 CH&LA Legislative Action Summit Issues Summary (March 18, 2015) (available online at 

http://www.calodging.com/images/uploads/general/2015_Leg%20Issue_brief.pdf).   
25

 Id.   
26

 “Buncombe planners wade into Asheville-area vacation rental issue again; County debates relaxing the rules,” The 

Asheville Citizen-Times, June 6, 2011. 
27

 See City of Gary, IN Rental Registration/Inspection Program Fact Sheet (available online at 

http://www.gary.in.us/gary-building-department/pdf/Rental_Registration_Fact_Sheet.pdf).   
28

 Id.   
29

 City of Bear Lake, CA Municipal Code § 17.03.310(A).  

http://www.calodging.com/images/uploads/general/2015_Leg%20Issue_brief.pdf
http://www.gary.in.us/gary-building-department/pdf/Rental_Registration_Fact_Sheet.pdf


 

20 
 

(e) Greater Compliance with Maintenance, Building and Nuisance Codes 

Achieving greater compliance with property maintenance, building, and public nuisance codes is 

also cited as a reason for the adoption of an ordinance requiring the registration and inspection of 

residential rental properties.  For example, the City of Gary, Indiana’s rental registration and 

inspection ordinance states that one of its purposes is to “facilitate enforcement of minimum 

standards for the maintenance of existing residential buildings and thereby prevent slums and 

blight.”
30

 

 

Some communities have also sought to improve the level of code compliance in rental properties 

by requiring that all residential rental agreements contain provisions that expressly require 

tenants to comply with all applicable laws.  In 2015 the Town of Kure Beach, North Carolina, for 

example, considered an ordinance that would have required all vacation rental permit holders to 

include in their rental agreements a statement that: 

 
tenants shall not violate federal, state, or local laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations; 

engage in disorderly or illegal conduct; engage in activities or conduct creating or 

resulting in unreasonable noise, disturbances, and public nuisances; allow an 

unreasonable amount of garbage, refuse, and rubbish to accumulate on the property; 

illegally park vehicles in conjunction with their use of the vacation home; and overcrowd 

the vacation home premises.
31

  

 

The proposed ordinance, which was tabled by the Kure Beach Planning and Zoning 

Commission,
32

 also would have required all rental agreements to contain a statement that a 

“material breach” of above-quoted provision would result in a termination of the rental 

agreement.
33

  The rationale is that, if the law itself is not sufficient to deter renters from engaging 

in unlawful conduct, the knowledge that the rental agreement could be terminated—for example, 

for having a party that results in a call to the police—might make renters think twice about their 

behavior.   

 

As discussed in the subsection (f) below, rental regulations may also seek to achieve greater code 

compliance by holding landlords accountable for violations, regardless of whether they are 

directly responsible.    

 

(f) Increased Landlord Accountability 

Increased landlord accountability is also cited as a reason for the adoption of rental regulations.  

The City of Minneapolis, Minnesota makes no attempt to hide its intent to hold landlords 

responsible for the condition of their properties and to hold them accountable for compliance 

                                                 
30

 See City of Gary, IN Rental Registration/Inspection Program Fact Sheet.   
31

 Town of Kure Beach, NC: Proposed Vacation Rental Ordinance § 9(c) (available online at 

http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-

version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf).   
32

 See http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-

ordinance.  
33

 Town of Kure Beach, NC: Proposed Vacation Rental Ordinance § 9(d). 

http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf
http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf
http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-ordinance
http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-ordinance


 

21 
 

with applicable laws.  The Department of Housing Inspections Services maintains a webpage 

entitled “Holding Property Owners Accountable,” which states, in relevant part: 

 
The City of Minneapolis does not tolerate landlords who violate rental licensing 

standards.  We hold property owners responsible for the condition of their properties and 

hold owners responsible to proactively plan for, address and respond to issues of tenant 

behavior.  Landlords are required by law to comply with the conditions of their rental 

license and must be responsive to problems on their properties.  Maintaining a rental 

license in the City of Minneapolis is a privilege. 

 

Unfortunately, the City of Minneapolis has not been able to convince all property owners 

to comply with our laws.  As a result, properties have been condemned for maintenance, 

licenses have been revoked and in some instances, properties have been demolished.
34

 

 

The City of New Braunfels, Texas is another community in which rental property owners are 

held accountable for violations of the short-term rental regulations, even if the violation is 

committed by a tenant.  Section 144-5.17-7(b) (Enforcement/Penalty) of New Braunfels’s short-

term rental ordinance states: “Violations of any subsection of this [ordinance] may revoke the 

short term rental permit in accordance with subsection 144-5.17-8, Revocation.”
35

  Notably, this 

provision does not distinguish between violations that are committed by a tenant (e.g., excessive 

noise or a parking violation) rather than by the owner.   

 

3.2 Moratoria 

(a) Generally 

A governmental moratorium is a suspension by government of a particular activity within its 

jurisdiction.  In the land use regulatory context, it is a type of interim  zoning control that either 

prohibits all development or certain types of development for a defined period of time.
36

  

Moratoria are used by local governments to preserve the status quo or to limit the amount of 

change that can occur during a planning process or while new regulations are being drafted.  A 

leading zoning and land use law treatise explains the rationale for development moratoria as 

follows: 

 
A moratorium on development activity protects the planning process by preventing the 

establishment of uses that, though legal when established, would or might be inconsistent 

with needs ultimately identified by planning studies; uses, structures or lots established 

while new plans or regulations are being drafted may turn out to be “nonconforming” 

with the new regulations, a status that creates legal and practical problems for both the 

public and private sector.  Public knowledge that the government has made, or is about to 

make, studies to alter existing land use controls frequently triggers development activity 

that may frustrate planning efforts.  Developers race to beat the imposition of new 

controls which, they fear, will be more restrictive….  Successful [moratoria] should 

                                                 
34

 City of Minneapolis, MN: Housing Inspections Services – Holding Property Owners Accountable (available 

online at http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/inspections_accountable).   
35

 New Braunfels, TX Code § 144-5.17-7(b) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/tx/new_braunfels/codes/code_of_ordinances).     
36

 See NAR GROWTH MANAGEMENT FACT BOOK § 3.01 (4th ed., 2015).  

http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/inspections_accountable
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/tx/new_braunfels/codes/code_of_ordinances


 

22 
 

preclude the establishment of vested rights in new uses that are likely to become 

nonconforming under new regulations.
37

 

 

(b) Application to Rental Housing Problems 

As applied to long- or short-term rental issues, moratoria have been adopted by communities in 

order to preserve the status quo while perceived problems are studied and/or new rental 

regulations are prepared.  In 2013, the City of La Crosse, Wisconsin adopted a six-month 

moratorium on the “conversion, change, transfer, establishment or registration of any one family 

dwelling into a rental dwelling” in certain residential zoning districts.
38

  The city reportedly 

adopted the moratorium in response to concerns that the conversion of single-family homes from 

owner-occupied dwellings to rental dwellings was having a negative impact on neighboring 

properties, such as a decrease in property values and a decline in the quality of life.
39

  La Crosse 

reportedly used the six-month moratorium period to “study the impact of the conversion of 

[owner-occupied] dwellings to rental dwellings” and to determine whether it was necessary to 

amend the city’s Code of Ordinances in order to properly address those impacts.
40

     

 

Another example is the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, which in 2014 adopted a six-month 

moratorium on the issuance of “minimum rental housing occupancy permits” in certain single-

family zoning districts in order to “protect the status quo, … to study and review the existing 

Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, and to consider a revised ordinance or ordinances to deal with 

the competing interests involved.”
41

  The Cedar Falls moratorium directed staff “to make 

recommendations to the City Council that will resolve the legitimate concerns related to [the 

conversion of single-family owner-occupied or non-rented residential dwellings into rental 

dwellings], and that City staff develop a recommendation for one or more proposed ordinances 

to address such matters.”
42

   

 

In September 2015, the City of Anaheim, California adopted a 45-day moratorium on new short-

term rental applications “to give staff time to consider long-term fixes.”
43

 

 

                                                 
37

 ZONING AND LAND USE CONTROLS, Ch. 22, Moratoria and Interim Development Controls § 22.01 (LexisNexis 

Matthew Bender 2015).   
38

 La Crosse, WI Municipal Code, § 8.07(I); see also Betsy Bloom, “City Oks 6-month ban on rental conversions,” 

La Crosse Tribune (July 12, 2013) (available online at http://lacrossetribune.com/news/local/city-oks--month-ban-

on-rental-conversions/article_face5252-ea9f-11e2-8792-0019bb2963f4.html).  
39

 Lewis Kuhlman, Moratorium on Granting New Rental Registration for Single-Family Homes in the R-1 District, 

Issue brief explaining the need for a moratorium to study rental conversion’s effect on single-family homes and their 

neighborhoods (hereinafter, “Moratorium on Granting New Rental Registration”), City of La Crosse, Planning & 

Development, at 1 (June 7, 2013). 
40

 Id. 
41

 See Cedar Falls, IA, Resolution No. 19,183 at 2, ¶ 1.   
42

 Id. at 2, ¶¶ 5, 6. 
43

 See “Anaheim imposes moratorium on new short-term rentals,” Los Angeles Times, September 16, 2015 

(available online at http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-anaheim-airbnb-20150916-story.html).   

http://lacrossetribune.com/news/local/city-oks--month-ban-on-rental-conversions/article_face5252-ea9f-11e2-8792-0019bb2963f4.html
http://lacrossetribune.com/news/local/city-oks--month-ban-on-rental-conversions/article_face5252-ea9f-11e2-8792-0019bb2963f4.html
http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-anaheim-airbnb-20150916-story.html


 

23 
 

3.3 Regulations Directed at Residential Rentals  

(a) Prohibition 

From the perspective of a short-term rental property owner, the most severe form of restriction is 

an outright ban on short-term rentals.  A short-term rental prohibition may be limited to specific 

neighborhoods or zoning districts, or may be community-wide.  In June 2015, the City of 

Manhattan Beach, California adopted a citywide ban on residential rentals of less than thirty 

days.
44

  Also in 2015, the City of Santa Monica, California adopted a citywide ban on “vacation 

rentals” in which a guest has “exclusive private use of the unit” for less than thirty days.
45

  Santa 

Monica’s ordinance does, however, permit “home-sharing,”
46

 in which the primary resident of 

the property lives “on-site during the visitor’s stay,” provided that the owner obtains a business 

license and pays a 14% hotel tax on all home sharing stays.
47

  As discussed in Section 6.1, the 

concern that rental property owners are converting long-term rentals to short-term rentals, 

thereby causing a decline in the inventory of available rental housing units, has led some 

communities—e.g., Santa Monica—to prohibit short-term rentals unless the unit is occupied by a 

long-term tenant for a minimum number of days annually and during the short-term rental 

period. 

 

In Miami Beach, Florida, short-term rentals are subject to two types of bans: a district-specific 

ban and a citywide ban.  First, Miami Beach’s short-term rental regulation prohibits the rental of 

any apartment unit or townhome for a period of six months or less in certain residential 

districts.
48

  Miami Beach is also an example of a citywide ban, as its land development 

regulations prohibit the rental of any single-family dwelling anywhere in the city (i.e., citywide) 

for a period of six months or less.
49

    

 

(b) Amortization 

Amortization is a type of regulation that enables a community to gradually eliminate 

nonconforming uses by giving the user of the nonconforming use a “designated grace period to 

continue and amortize an investment, after which the nonconforming use must be 

                                                 
44

 See “Manhattan Beach bans short-term rentals,” The Beach Reporter, June 23, 2015 (available online at 

http://tbrnews.com/news/manhattan_beach/manhattan-beach-bans-short-term-rentals/article_d88ef560-19dd-11e5-

a467-53ec06713eb7.html).  
45

 See generally Santa Monica, CA Ordinance  No. CSS (available online at 

http://www.smgov.net/departments/council/agendas/2015/20150512/s2015051207-A-1.htm); see also Sam Sanders, 

“Santa Monica Cracks Down on Airbnb, Bans ‘Vacation Rentals’ Under a Month,” NPR (May 13, 2015) (available 

online at http://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2015/05/13/406587575/santa-monica-cracks-down-on-airbnb-

bans-vacation-rentals-under-a-month).   
46

 The Santa Monica ordinance defines “home-sharing” to mean: “An activity whereby the residents host visitors in 

their homes, for compensation, for periods of 30 consecutive days or less, while at least one of the dwelling unit’s 

primary residents lives on-site, in the dwelling unit, throughout the visitors’ stay.”  Id. § 6.20.010(a).     
47

 Id.   
48

 See Miami Beach, FL Code of Ordinances § 142-1111(a) (Short-term rental of apartment units or townhomes) 

(available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/miami_beach/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=13097).   
49

 See id. § 142-1111(a)(1); see also the City of Miami Beach’s “Vacation/Short-Term Rentals” webpage at 

http://www.miamibeachfl.gov/planning/scroll.aspx?id=69472.    

http://tbrnews.com/news/manhattan_beach/manhattan-beach-bans-short-term-rentals/article_d88ef560-19dd-11e5-a467-53ec06713eb7.html
http://tbrnews.com/news/manhattan_beach/manhattan-beach-bans-short-term-rentals/article_d88ef560-19dd-11e5-a467-53ec06713eb7.html
http://www.smgov.net/departments/council/agendas/2015/20150512/s2015051207-A-1.htm
http://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2015/05/13/406587575/santa-monica-cracks-down-on-airbnb-bans-vacation-rentals-under-a-month
http://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2015/05/13/406587575/santa-monica-cracks-down-on-airbnb-bans-vacation-rentals-under-a-month
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/miami_beach/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=13097
http://www.miamibeachfl.gov/planning/scroll.aspx?id=69472


 

24 
 

discontinued.”
50

  Amortization laws are based on the principle that “the property owner should 

be given time to recoup his investment in land before being forced to discontinue the use without 

compensation.”
51

 

 

The City of Cannon Beach, Oregon provides a good example of an amortization provision in a 

rental ordinance.  In 1992 the Cannon Beach City Council adopted a transient rental ordinance 

that included a provision requiring that “short-term rentals” (defined as a rental period of less 

than two weeks) be discontinued by February 1995, effectively creating a five-year amortization 

period for short-term rentals.
52

  The Cannon Beach City Council extended the amortization 

period to January 2005.
53

 

 

Calaveras County, California’s short-term rental regulations for the Lake Tulloch area provide 

another example.  In general, the Lake Tulloch Short-Term Vacation Rental Regulations allow 

short-term vacation rentals, provided that the an administrative use permit (“AUP”) is obtained 

and certain “conditions of operation” are met.
54

  The conditions of operation include restrictions 

on the number of occupants allowed to stay overnight, compliance with off-street parking 

requirements, and noise control standards.
55

  In order to eliminate nonconforming short-term 

vacation rentals in the Lake Tulloch area, the Lake Tulloch Short-Term Vacation Rental 

Regulations contain the following amortization provision:   

 
Section 20.20.102 - Amortization.  

There is established a phased amortization period following the effective date of the 

adoption of this chapter, for any property rendered nonconforming by its provisions, 

wherein to attain full compliance with the provisions of this article according to the 

following schedule:  

A. Within three months of the effective date, all property owners of nonconforming 

short term vacation rentals shall submit an application for an initial AUP to the 

planning department for processing.  Section 20.20.040 Development Standards, 

Subsection B (maximum occupancy) and Subsection E (off-street parking) shall not 

be limited as part of the first year (twelve months from county approval of the initial 

AUP) for any nonconforming use.  Upon renewal of the initial AUP, Subsection B 

                                                 
50

 ZONING AND LAND USE CONTROLS § 41.04[1].   
51

 Id.  As discussed in 8.2(c)(iii), an amortization law can constitute a taking under the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. 

Constitution if the amortization period is insufficient to allow affected property owners to recoup their investment.    
52

 See City of Cannon Beach, CA – Short Term Rental of Dwelling Units Proposed Ordinance (stating, in relevant 

part):  

In January of 1992, the City Council adopted Ordinance 92-01.  This ordinance established 

regulations for the transient rental of dwelling units, including a provision that the short-term 

rental of dwelling units would be discontinued on February 6, 1997 (this was referred to as the 

amortization period.)  The ordinance defined the transient rental of a dwelling as a rental period of 

less than two weeks. Since 1992, the City Council has extended the amortization period twice, 

most recently to January 1, 2005. 
53

 See id.  
54

 See Calaveras County, CA Code of Ordinances, Ch. 20.20, Lake Tulloch Short Term Vacation Rentals at § 

20.20.30.A (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/calaveras_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22sear

chText%22:%22tot%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemmin

g%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22prod

uctIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=16236).    
55

 Id. § 20.20.050. 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/calaveras_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22tot%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/calaveras_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22tot%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/calaveras_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22tot%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/calaveras_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22tot%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22


 

25 
 

(maximum occupancy) and Subsection E (off-street parking) shall be in full 

compliance with the provisions of this chapter.  

B. Any application filed after three months of the effective date shall be in compliance 

with the provisions of this chapter.  

C. A property owner may demonstrate a short term vacation rental qualifies for 

nonconforming status by providing evidence of legal contracts executed prior to the 

effective date of the ordinance that provide for short term rental of the property for 

dates that are after the ordinance comes into effect; or provide evidence that the 

property owner has paid TOT tax within one year of the date prior to the ordinance 

coming into effect.
56

    

 

In effect, Section 20.20.102 creates a “phased” amortization schedule for existing short-term 

vacation rental properties.  In the first phase, short-term vacation rental property owners are 

allowed to continue without filing an accessory use permit application for a period of three 

months.  In the second phase, short-term rental vacation properties are not required to comply 

with the maximum occupancy and off-street parking requirements for a period of one year.  After 

the one-year amortization period, all short-term vacation rental properties are required to be “in 

full compliance” with Lake Tulloch’s Short-Term Vacation Rental Regulations. 

 

The City of Newport Beach, California has an “amortization and amnesty period” provision in its 

Short Term Lodging Permit ordinance that allows the owners of short term lodgings who did not 

obtain a transient occupancy registration certificate prior to the effective date of the ordinance to 

do so without penalty, provided that an application for the certificate is filed not less than sixty 

days after the effective date of the ordinance.
57

 

 

(c) Geographically-Based Regulations  

Communities that choose to allow short-term rentals often use their zoning authority to regulate 

the use on a geographic basis.  For example, Venice, Florida regulates short-term rental 

properties (referred to locally as “resort dwellings”) only in the city’s Residential Estate (RE) 

and Residential Single Family (RSF) zoning districts.
58

  In June 2015, the City of South Lake 

Tahoe, California considered amending its Vacation Home Rental Code in order to create a two-

tiered districting scheme in which vacation home rentals would be permitted by-right in areas 

where “Tourist Accommodation Uses” were allowed by-right or with a special use permit, but 

would require a special use permit in areas of the city where Tourist Accommodation Uses were 

not authorized.
59

   

                                                 
56

 Id. § 20.20.102.   
57

 See Newport Beach, CA Municipal Code § 5.95.090 (available online at 

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/newportbeach/html/NewportBeach05/NewportBeach0595.html).   
58

 See generally Venice, FL Land Development Code § 86-151 (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/venice/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADERE_CH86LADECO_

ARTVUSRE_DIV9SPUSRE_S86-151REDW).   
59

 See http://slt.granicus.com/GeneratedAgendaViewer.php?view_id=6&event_id=218.  The proposed vacation 

home rental ordinances appear on the “New Business” portion of the South Lake Tahoe City Council agenda as 

items (a) and (b) respectively.  “Tourist Accommodation Uses” include bed and breakfasts, commercial transient 

lodging establishment (e.g., hotels, motels, and tourist cabins), and timeshares.  See “Tourist Accommodation 

Project Information Packet and Checklist,” Tahoe Regional Planning Agency (available online at 

http://www.trpa.org/wp-content/uploads/Tourist_Accommodation_Project_Application.pdf).    

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/newportbeach/html/NewportBeach05/NewportBeach0595.html
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/venice/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADERE_CH86LADECO_ARTVUSRE_DIV9SPUSRE_S86-151REDW
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/venice/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPBLADERE_CH86LADECO_ARTVUSRE_DIV9SPUSRE_S86-151REDW
http://slt.granicus.com/GeneratedAgendaViewer.php?view_id=6&event_id=218
http://www.trpa.org/wp-content/uploads/Tourist_Accommodation_Project_Application.pdf


 

26 
 

 

(d) Quantitative Restrictions 

Rather than regulating where short-term rentals may be located, some communities have chosen 

to regulate how many short-term rentals are allowed to exist at any given time.  This quantitative 

approach represents a compromise between short-term rental owners who argue that they have 

the right to rent their properties on a short-term basis, and opponents who argue that short-term 

rentals should be prohibited as an unlawful commercial use in a residential neighborhood.
60

   

 

(i) Numerical Cap.  Quantitative restrictions may take the form of a fixed limit 

on the total number of short-term rental permits that may be issued at any given time.  For 

example, the City of Santa Fe, New Mexico authorizes the issuance of “up to 350 short term 

rental permits” for residential properties that do not otherwise qualify for permits as an accessory 

dwelling unit, owner-occupied unit, or unit located within a “development containing resort 

facilities.”
61

  Similarly, Maui County, Hawaii limits the number of short-term rental permits that 

may be issued by imposing the following restriction through its Short-Term Rental Homes code: 

The County shall be restricted in approving the number of permits for short-term rental 

homes as distributed per the following community plan areas and as further restricted by 

the applicable community plan:  

1. Hana: 48. 

2. Kihei-Makena: 100; provided that, there are no more than five permitted short-term 

rental homes in the subdivision commonly known as Maui Meadows.  

3. Makawao-Pukalani-Kula: 40. 

4. Paia-Haiku: 88. 

5. Wailuku-Kahului: 36. 

6. West Maui: 88.
62

 

 

                                                 
60

 The question whether governments have the authority to prohibit property owners from renting out their property 

is addressed in Section 8.2. 
61

 See Santa Fe, NM City Code § 14-6.2(A)(5)(b)(v) (available online at 

http://clerkshq.com/default.ashx?clientsite=Santafe-nm).   
62

 See Maui County, HA County Code § 19.65.030.R (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/hi/maui_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT19ZO_ARTIVREMI

AR_CH19.65SHRMREHO). 

http://clerkshq.com/default.ashx?clientsite=Santafe-nm
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/hi/maui_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT19ZO_ARTIVREMIAR_CH19.65SHRMREHO
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/hi/maui_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT19ZO_ARTIVREMIAR_CH19.65SHRMREHO


 

27 
 

(ii) Numerical Ratio. Another type of quantitative restriction that can be used to 

limit the number of short-term rentals within a community is a ratio.  Specifically, a community 

may establish a maximum ratio of short-term rentals to residential dwelling units that cannot be 

exceeded.   A good example of this approach is the Mendocino County, California zoning 

ordinance, which requires that the county maintain a ratio of “thirteen (13) long-term residential 

dwelling units to one (1) single unit rental or vacation home rental.”
63

  An advantage to this 

approach is that, unlike a hard cap, the maximum number of short-term rentals permitted in 

Mendocino County will increase as the number of long-term residential dwelling units in the 

county increases—specifically, for every thirteen long-term residential dwelling units created, 

the county will allow one additional short-term rental permit to be issued.  

 

(e) Proximity Restrictions  

An alternative to restricting the quantity of short-term rental permits that can be issued by a 

numerical cap or ratio is a proximity restriction, which prohibits a short-term rental property 

from being located within a certain distance of another short-term rental property.  For example, 

although it has since been revised to eliminate the proximity restriction, the “Residential 

Vacation Rentals” ordinance of San Luis Obispo County, California, previously contained the 

following provision: 

[N]o residential vacation rental shall be located within 200 linear feet of a parcel 

on the same block on which is located any residential vacation rental or other type 

of visitor-servicing accommodation that is outside of the Commercial land use 

category.
64

 

 

(f) Registration/Licensing Requirements  

Owners who intend to offer their property for rent may be required to register their property with 

the local government.  For example, Garrett County, Maryland requires owners to register their 

property with the Office of Licensing and Enforcement Management and to pay a one-time fee 

as condition precedent to receiving a “transient vacation rental unit license.”
65

  Short-term rental 

licenses often are valid only for a one- or two-year period, requiring property owners to renew 

the licenses―and to pay associated fees―on a regular basis.  In the City of Marco Island, 

Florida, for example, a short-term rental registration must be renewed every year.
66

   

 

Many communities require short-term rental properties to pass certain inspections prior to the 

issuance of a permit, license, or renewal.  For example, as a condition to the issuance of a short-

term rental permit, Tillamook County, Oregon requires property owners to obtain a certification 

                                                 
63

 Mendocino County, CA Code § 20.748.020(A) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/mendocino_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MECOCO_TIT20

ZOOR_DIVIIIMETOZOCO_CH20.748SIUNREVAHORE).     
64

 San Luis Obispo County, CA Code § 23.08.165(c). 
65

 See Garrett County, MD Code of Ordinances § 160.03(A) (available online at 

http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/Maryland/garrettco_md/garrettcountymarylandcodeofordinances?f=templa

tes$fn=default.htm$3.0$vid=amlegal:garrettco_md).  . 
66

 See Marco Island, FL Code of Ordinances § 8-101(d).   

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/mendocino_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MECOCO_TIT20ZOOR_DIVIIIMETOZOCO_CH20.748SIUNREVAHORE
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/mendocino_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MECOCO_TIT20ZOOR_DIVIIIMETOZOCO_CH20.748SIUNREVAHORE
http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/Maryland/garrettco_md/garrettcountymarylandcodeofordinances?f=templates$fn=default.htm$3.0$vid=amlegal:garrettco_md
http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/Maryland/garrettco_md/garrettcountymarylandcodeofordinances?f=templates$fn=default.htm$3.0$vid=amlegal:garrettco_md


 

28 
 

from a building inspector evidencing compliance with all applicable operational standards, 

including minimum fire extinguisher and smoke detector requirements, emergency escape and 

rescue standards, and structural requirements.
67

   

 

The issuance of a rental registration or permit may also be conditioned on the property owner, 

manager, or designated agent
68

 satisfying a mandatory training requirement.  Completion of a 

Landlord Training Program is mandatory for all residential rental license holders in the City of 

Elgin, Illinois.
69

  The Landlord Training Program is taught by police officers from the Crime-

Free Housing Unit and covers multiple topics including criminal and civil tenant screening, 

crime-free lease addenda, civil evictions, and legal issues in rental housing.
70

 

 

(g) Operational Restrictions   

Communities that permit long-term or short-term residential rentals often impose performance-

type standards on the operation of rental properties.  The rationale for this approach is that, rather 

than banning residential rentals, communities can mitigate the negative impacts often attributed 

to rental occupancies (e.g., overcrowding and disruptive conduct) by establishing a set of rules 

governing the occupation and operation of rental properties.  Operational restrictions typically 

are found in rental regulations that contain a registration or permit requirement.  In some cases, a 

violation of an operational regulation can result in the suspension or revocation of a rental 

permit, penalties that ostensibly give rental property owners a strong incentive to judiciously 

screen tenants and to operate the rental in conformance with applicable regulations.  Below are 

examples of types of operational restrictions that are frequently incorporated into rental 

regulations:  

 

(i) Maximum Occupancy Limits   

This type of restriction limits the maximum overnight occupancy of a rental property based on 

the number of bedrooms in the home and/or on the septic capacity of the property.  For example, 

the Isle of Palms, South Carolina limits the overnight occupancy of short-term rentals to two 

persons per bedroom plus an additional two persons.
71

  In Sonoma County, California, the 

maximum occupancy of a vacation rental home on a conditional septic system is set as the 

amount “equal to the design load of the septic system.”
72

 

 

                                                 
67

 See Tillamook County (OR) Short Term Rental Ordinances, Sections 6 (Standards) and 9.A.b (Short Term Rental 

Permit Application Requirements). 
68

 For a discussion of designated agent or designated representative requirements, see Section 3.3(g) of this paper. 
69

 See City of Elgin, IL Landlord Training Program (available online at 

http://www.cityofelgin.org/index.aspx?nid=1194).   
70

 See id.   
71

 See Isle of Palms, SC City Code § 5-4-202(1) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/sc/isle_of_palms/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT5PLDE_CH

4ZO_ART9SHRMRE_S5-4-202MAOVOC).   
72

 See Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(f)(2) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH26SOCOZORE_A

RT88GEUSBUEXUILI_S26-88-120VARE).   

http://www.cityofelgin.org/index.aspx?nid=1194
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/sc/isle_of_palms/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT5PLDE_CH4ZO_ART9SHRMRE_S5-4-202MAOVOC
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/sc/isle_of_palms/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT5PLDE_CH4ZO_ART9SHRMRE_S5-4-202MAOVOC
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH26SOCOZORE_ART88GEUSBUEXUILI_S26-88-120VARE
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH26SOCOZORE_ART88GEUSBUEXUILI_S26-88-120VARE


 

29 
 

(ii) Rental Period 

This restriction places a limit on the number of times a property may be rented for short-term 

occupancy.  For example, the City of Santa Fe, New Mexico limits short-term rental units to a 

maximum of 17 rental periods per calendar year and permits no more than one rental within a 

seven consecutive day period.
73

 

(iii) Parking Requirements 

This operational restriction may require that the short-term rented property provide more off-

street parking than comparable properties that are occupied by owners or long-term tenants.  For 

example, Coconino County, Arizona’s vacation home rental ordinance requires that all vacation 

home rentals have one on-site parking space per bedroom, that all on-site parking spaces have 

“improved surfaces,” and that all vehicles be parked on-site in the improved parking spaces.
74

  

By contrast, the Coconino County Zoning Ordinance requires that a single-family home in a 

residential district have two off-street parking spaces, regardless of the number of bedrooms.
75

 

 

(iv) Noise Levels 

This operational restriction applies specific noise level limitations to activities associated with 

short-term rental properties.  Sonoma County’s vacation rental ordinance, for example, contains 

an “Hourly Noise Metric” table that imposes specific quantitative noise level limits on vacation 

rentals during “activity hours” (9:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.) and “quiet hours” (10:00 p.m. to 9:00 

a.m.).
76

  Other communities impose a significantly less precise noise limits on vacation rentals.  

The “Noise and Disturbance” provision of Coconino County’s vacation home rental ordinance, 

for example, simply states that a vacation rental “shall not be utilized in any manner that 

produces excessive noise … or any disturbances that disturb the peace and quiet enjoyment of 

neighboring residences.”
77

 

 

(v) Posting 

This requires owners to prominently display a copy of the operational restrictions and contact 

information for the owner, manager, or other representative of the rental property.  The short-

term rental regulations adopted by the City of New Braunfels, Texas, for example, contain the 

following “tenant indoor notification” requirement: 

 
The operator shall post in a conspicuous location of the dwelling the following minimum 

information:  

(1) Maximum number of occupants. 

(2) Location of required off-street parking, other available parking and prohibition of 

parking on landscaped areas.  

                                                 
73

 See Santa Fe, NM City Code § 14-6.2(A)(6)(a)(ii) (available online at 

http://clerkshq.com/default.ashx?clientsite=Santafe-nm).  
74

 See Coconino County, AZ , Vacation Home Rental Ordinance § 24.12(F)(6) (available online at 

http://www.coconino.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/9775).  
75

 See generally Coconino County, AZ, Zoning Ordinance § 19.2.   
76

 See Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(f)(6). 
77

 See Coconino County, AZ , Vacation Home Rental Ordinance § 24.12(F)(4). 

http://clerkshq.com/default.ashx?clientsite=Santafe-nm
http://www.coconino.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/9775


 

30 
 

(3) Quiet hours and noise restrictions. 

(4) Restrictions of outdoor facilities. 

(5) 24-hour contact person and phone number. 

(6) Property cleanliness requirements.  

(7) Trash pick-up requirements, including location of trash cans. 

(8) Flooding hazards and evacuation routes. Including information on the emergency 

siren system.  

(9) Emergency numbers. 

(10) Notice that failure to conform to the occupancy and parking requirements is a 

violation of the City Code and occupant or visitor can be cited.  

(11) Other useful information about the community.
78

   

 

The City of Marco Island, Florida similarly requires that a notice containing 24-hour contact 

information, occupancy and parking limits for the unit, trash and recycling pick-up days, and a 

summary of the city’s noise ordinance be “conspicuously posted” in each rental dwelling.
79

 

 

(vi) Mandatory Lease Provisions 

Some communities also require rental property owners to incorporate the operational restrictions 

into all rental agreements.  For example, in addition to requiring that the performance standards 

established for vacation rentals be posted in a prominent place within the unit, Sonoma County 

expressly requires that the owner “include them as part of all rental agreements.”
80

  

 

(vii) Emergency Access Requirements 

If located behind a locked gate or within a gated community, short-term rental units may be 

required to provide a gate code or lockbox with keys to local police, fire, or emergency services 

departments.
81

 

 

(viii) Designated Representatives 

This operational requirement mandates that that the rental property owner provide a current 24-

hour working phone number of the owner, manager, or other designated representative to local 

officials and, in some cases, to property owners within a certain distance of the rental unit.  For 

example, Marco Island, Florida requires that a designated contact be named on each short-term 

rental registration application and that the designated contact be “available for contact by the 

City for each hour or each day, seven days per week.”
82

  Some communities also specifically 

                                                 
78

 New Braunfels, TX Code § 144-5.17-4(g). 
79

 See Marco Island, FL Code of Ordinances § 8-103 (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/marco_island/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchT

ext%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemmin

g%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22prod

uctIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=14000).   
80

 Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(f)(15). 
81

 See, e.g., Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(f)(14). 
82

 Marco Island, FL Code of Ordinances § 8-102(1).   

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/marco_island/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22p
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/marco_island/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22p
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/marco_island/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22p
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/fl/marco_island/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22p


 

31 
 

require that the designated representative be available during all rental periods within a certain 

distance (e.g., a one-hour drive) of the rental property.
83

 

 

(ix) Trash and Recycling Facility Storage 

This operational restriction requires that trash and recycling bins be stored in a location that is 

not visible from public rights-of-way.  Section 5.25.070 of the City of Palm Springs, California 

vacation rental ordinance, for example, states: “Trash and refuse shall not be left stored within 

public view, except in proper containers for the purpose of collection by the collectors and 

between the hours of five a.m. and eight p.m. on scheduled trash collection days.”
84

 

 

(h) Special Permit Requirement/Conditions of Approval 

Rentals are sometimes classified as a special use or a conditional use in a community’s land use 

regulations.  Under the Sonoma County Zoning Regulations, a vacation rental may be allowed by 

right or as a special use, depending on whether the application satisfies the applicable standards.  

Section 26-88-120(c) of the Sonoma County Zoning Regulations (Permit Requirements) states:   

 
Vacation rentals that meet the standards outlined in this section shall be allowed as 

provided by the underlying zoning district, subject to issuance of a zoning permit.  

Vacation rentals that exceed the standards in this section may be permitted, subject to the 

granting of a use permit.
85

 

 

Where a special use or conditional use permit is required for a rental use, the permit granting 

authority typically has the authority to impose conditions of approval on the permit in order to 

mitigate any potential negative impacts of the use on neighboring properties or the community.  

The “use permit” provisions of the Sonoma County Zoning Regulations, for example, expressly 

authorize the board of adjustment to “designate such conditions in accordance with the use 

permit, as it deems necessary to secure the purposes of this chapter and may require such 

guarantees and evidence that such conditions are being or will be complied with.”
86

      

  

(i) Remedial Action Requirements 

Some rental regulations require that the property owner or its agent take action in response to a 

complaint or to remedy a known violation.  In Marco Island, Florida, a designated contact 

person—who must be available for contact 24-hours a day, 7-days a week—must respond to a 

complaint within one hour of receiving a call from the city.
87

  Section 8-102(1) of the Marco 

Island Code further requires that the designated contact take steps to address the complaint and 

report back to the city: 

                                                 
83

 See, e.g., Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(f)(13). 
84

 Palm Springs, CA Municipal Code § 5.25.070(i). 
85

 Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(c).  Under the Sonoma County Code, a “use permit” is a 

discretionary permit issued by the board of zoning adjustments for use a specific site for a particular purpose.  Id. § 

26-92-070. 
86

 Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-92-080(a). 
87

 Marco Island, FL Code of Ordinances § 8-102(1). 



 

32 
 

 
The designated contact shall promptly make at least three (3) attempts following the 

receipt of a complaint from the City to contact the tenants and resolve the complaint.  The 

designated contact person is also responsible for documenting the complaint; the date and 

time of receipt of the complaint from the city; the date and time of attempts to contact the 

tenant(s) and the result of the contact; the nature of the response by the tenant(s); and 

forwarding that documentation to the City Manager within one (1) hour of their response 

to the initial complaint.
88

 

 

The Residential Rental Registration and Remedial Action Program adopted by the City of 

Charlotte, North Carolina requires the owner of any residential rental property that reaches a 

certain level of “disorder activity” (e.g., reported violent crimes) to meet with police officials and 

to prepare a Remedial Action Plan to address the problem.
89

  The Remedial Action Plan is a 

“written plan agreed upon and signed by both the Police Official and Owner whereby the Owner 

agrees to implement redial measures on a residential rental property” and is based on the 

procedures and practices set forth in the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police Department guidebook 

Remedial Action Plan Manual: A Guide to Managing Rental Properties to Prevent Crime.
90

    

 

(j) Restriction on Number of Unrelated Individuals Residing in a Dwelling Unit 

In order to address overcrowding and rentals by large groups of students or vacationers, many 

communities restrict the number of unrelated individuals that can reside together in a dwelling 

unit.  This type restriction is typically found in a land use or zoning regulation.  For example, the 

Coconino County Zoning Ordinance defines “family” to mean “any number of individuals 

related by blood, marriage, affinity or legal adoption/guardianship, or a group of not more than 

five (5) unrelated persons living together as a single housekeeping unit in a single dwelling unit 

sharing common cooking facilities.”
91

  The five unrelated persons maximum is made applicable 

to vacation rentals by expressly limiting the overnight occupancy of a vacation rental unit to a 

“family.”
92

       

 

The same approach is sometimes used by communities—often college towns—to address 

perceived problems caused by the conversion of owner-occupied single-family homes to rental 

housing for students.  In 2015 the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa amended its rental housing code to 

reduce the number of unrelated persons who can rent housing together from four to either two or 

three in certain residential zoning districts.
93

  The reduced unrelated persons occupancy 

restriction was one of several approaches that Cedar Falls considered as a means of addressing 

perceived problems caused by groups of college students renting single-family homes in 

residential neighborhoods.   

 

                                                 
88

 Id. 
89

 Charlotte, NC Residential Rental Registration and Remedial Action Program §§ 6-584, 585.   
90

 See id. § 6-856(d).  The Remedial Action Plan Manual: A Guide to Managing Rental Properties to Prevent Crime 

(CMPD, Nov. 2009) is available online at 

http://charmeck.org/city/charlotte/CMPD/resources/Ordinances/Documents/RemedialActionPlan2010.pdf.    
91

 Coconino County Zoning Ord. § 17(s).   
92

 Coconino County Zoning Ord. § 24.12(D)(2). 
93

 See Cedar Falls, IA, Ordinance No. 2836 (available online at 

http://www.cedarfalls.com/DocumentCenter/View/3715).   

http://charmeck.org/city/charlotte/CMPD/resources/Ordinances/Documents/RemedialActionPlan2010.pdf
http://www.cedarfalls.com/DocumentCenter/View/3715


 

33 
 

As discussed in Sections 8.2(c) and 8.2(d) of this paper, laws that restrict the number of 

unrelated persons permitted to reside together can raise issues under the Equal Protection Clause 

of the 14th Amendment and the federal Fair Housing Amendments Act.     

 

(k) Neighborhood Conservation Districts   

Another approach that has been used by communities to address perceived problems with the 

conversion of owner-occupied single-family homes to rental units is the neighborhood 

conservation district.  In general, a neighborhood conservation district is an “area that has a 

clear and consistent character defined by geographical boundaries” and is “established with the 

specific intention of conserving the neighborhood character of the designated district.”
94

  In 2014 

the City of Steubenville, Ohio adopted an ordinance enabling property owners in certain single-

family zoning districts to petition the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council to 

establish district use regulations in their residential neighborhoods in order to restrict rental use 

of single-family detached dwellings.
95

 The stated intent of the neighborhood conservation 

districts was to “preserve the attractiveness, desirability and privacy of residential neighborhoods 

by precluding all or certain types of rental properties, thereby precluding the deleterious effect 

rental properties can have on a neighborhood such as property deterioration, increased density, 

congestion, and noise and traffic levels leading to the reduction of property values.”
96

   

 

The neighborhood conservation district approach was also considered by the City of Galveston, 

Texas, where a member of the city council proposed an ordinance that would allow property 

owners to “zone out” short-term rental housing by petitioning for a rezone.
97

  Under the 

proposal, in order to submit a petition for a rezoning to a “short-term-rental-banning R-0 Single 

Family Residential Zoning District,” the request must come from an area where 75 percent of 

dwellings are single family owner-occupied, of which 75 percent of these homeowners must sign 

a petition agreeing to a ban on short-term rentals and commercial uses.
98

  The proposal 

reportedly was based on a neighborhood conservation district zoning category previously 

adopted by the city.
99

     

 

(l) Business Licensing Requirement 

Another type of requirement that is sometimes imposed on rental property owners is a business 

license.  For example, Section 6.26.020 of Provo, Utah’s Rental Dwellings code states: “It is 

unlawful for any person to keep, conduct, operate or maintain a rental dwelling or a short-term 

rental dwelling within the City without a business license for such dwelling.”
100

  Unlike zoning 

permits, which generally run with the land, business licenses typically are personal to the license 

                                                 
94

 City of Seattle, Neighborhood Conservation Districts, Overview (available online at 

http://www.seattle.gov/council/rasmussen/ncd.htm).   
95

 See Steubenville, OH, Neighborhood Conservation District Ordinance § 1175.02. 
96

 Id.   
97

 “Councilwoman: Use petitions for rezoning: Residential neighborhoods could ask to restrict short-term rentals,” 

Galveston News (Feb. 19, 2015) ( available online at http://www.stroag.org/20150219_galvnews.html).   
98

 Id.  
99

 Id.  
100

 Provo (UT) City Code § 6.26.020(1) (available online at 

http://www.codepublishing.com/ut/provo/?provo06/Provo0626.html).   

http://www.seattle.gov/council/rasmussen/ncd.htm
http://www.stroag.org/20150219_galvnews.html
http://www.codepublishing.com/ut/provo/?provo06/Provo0626.html


 

34 
 

holder and are not transferrable.  Provo’s Rental Dwelling code follows this approach, stating 

that a “business license for a rental dwelling or a short-term rental dwelling is not transferable 

between persons or structures.”
101

  Consequently, the buyer of a rental property in Provo must 

obtain a new rental dwelling or short-term rental business permit before renting out the property.  

 

Other cities that require a business license for operation of a short-term rental include Newport 

Beach, California;
102

 Telluride, Colorado;
103

 and Las Vegas, Nevada.
104

 

 

(m) Taxation of Short-Term Rentals  

As discussed in Section 3.1(b) above, short-term rentals can be a significant source of tax 

revenue for communities with a robust tourist industry.  In order to capture that tax revenue, 

some states classify short-term rentals as a hotel or tourist accommodation in their tax codes.  

Texas’s Hotel Occupancy Tax statute, for example defines the term “hotel” to include any 

building that offers sleeping accommodations for consideration, including a “tourist home” or 

“tourist house,” and imposes a six percent tax on the price paid for such accommodations.
105

  

Texas also authorizes Texas cities, towns and villages to impose and collect an additional nine 

percent tax on hotels, including short-term rental properties.
106

   

 

A bill introduced in the Massachusetts General Assembly in January 2015 would likewise tax 

short-term rentals at both the state and local level.  Bill H.2618 would require that all short-term 

rental properties be registered with the state, would impose a 5 percent state excise tax on all 

short-term residential rentals, and would also authorize Massachusetts cities and towns to impose 

a local excise tax of up to 6 percent.
107

 

  

(n) Crime Free Housing Program 

Some communities have implemented a crime free housing program aimed at improving the 

safety of multi-family rental housing by taking steps to reduce criminal activity.  One such 

program is the Crime Free Multi-Housing Program, which has been adopted by nearly 2,000 

cities in the United States.
108

  The Crime Free Multi-Housing Program was developed by the 

                                                 
101

 Id. § 6.26.020(2).   
102

 See City of Newport Beach, CA – Short Term Rentals (available online at 

http://www.newportbeachca.gov/government/departments/finance/revenue-division/short-term-rentals).  
103

 See Town of Telluride, CO – Short Term Rental Restrictions in the Residential Zone Districts (stating: “All short 

term rentals are subject to sales tax, excise tax and business licensing requirements.”) (available online at 

http://www.telluride-co.gov/DocumentCenter/View/260).   
104

 See City of Las Vegas, NV – Short Term Residential Rental (requiring a business license for short-term 

residential businesses) (available online at 

http://www5.lasvegasnevada.gov/LCAT/Bus_Lic_Instructions.aspx?Category=S01&CategoryName=Short%20Ter

m%20Residential%20Rental%20(PM)).   
105

 See Texas Code §§ 156.001, 156.052.  Accommodations of “at least 30 consecutive days, so long as there is no 

interruption of payment for the period,” are exempt from the tax.  Id. § 156.101. 
106

 See Texas Code § 351.003 (Municipal Hotel Occupancy Tax).   
107

 See Massachusetts Bill H.2618, §§ 2, 3 (2015). 
108

 See Crime Free Multi-Housing Program (available online at http://www.crime-free-association.org/multi-

housing.htm).   

http://www.newportbeachca.gov/government/departments/finance/revenue-division/short-term-rentals
http://www.telluride-co.gov/DocumentCenter/View/260
http://www5.lasvegasnevada.gov/LCAT/Bus_Lic_Instructions.aspx?Category=S01&CategoryName=Short%20Term%20Residential%20Rental%20(PM))
http://www5.lasvegasnevada.gov/LCAT/Bus_Lic_Instructions.aspx?Category=S01&CategoryName=Short%20Term%20Residential%20Rental%20(PM))
http://www.crime-free-association.org/multi-housing.htm
http://www.crime-free-association.org/multi-housing.htm


 

35 
 

Mesa, Arizona Police Department in 1992 and is designed to reduce crime, drugs, and gangs on 

apartment properties.
109

     

 

The Crime Free Multi-Housing Program generally consists of the following three phases, each of 

which must be completed under the supervision of the local police department: 

 
Phase I - Management Training (8-Hours) Taught by the Police 

▪ Crime Prevention Theory  

▪ CPTED
110

 Theory (Physical Security) 

▪ Benefits of Resident Screening  

▪ Lease Agreements and Eviction Issues  

▪ Crime Free Lease Addendum  

▪ Key Control and Master Key Use  

▪ On-Going Security Management Monitoring and Responding to Criminal Activity 

▪ Gangs, Drugs Activity, and Crime Prevention  

▪ Legal Warnings, Notices & Evictions Working Smarter With the Police Fire and Life 

Safety Training Community Awareness 

 

Phase II - CPTED - Survey by the Police  

▪ Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design Survey (CPTED) 

▪ Minimum door, window, and lock standards compliance inspection 

▪ Minimum exterior lighting standards evaluation 

▪ Key Control procedures evaluation  

▪ Landscape maintenance standards compliance  

 

Phase III - Community Awareness Training 

▪ Annual crime prevention social taught by property management and police 

▪ Community awareness and continuous participation is encouraged 

▪ Full certification (gold certificate) permits the right to post the Crime Free Multi-

Housing Program sign and advertise membership in the Crime Free Multi-Housing 

Program in the print media using the official logo.  This certificate expires every year 

unless renewed following compliance with Phases I & II.
111

 

 

Property managers can become individually certified after completing training in each phase and 

the property becomes certified upon successful completion of all three phases.
112

  The anticipated 

benefits of the Crime Free Multi-Housing Program are reduced police calls for service, a more 

stable resident base, and reduced exposure to civil liability.
113

    

  

In most communities, rental property owner participation a crime free housing program is 

voluntary.  However, some communities have made participation mandatory for rental properties 

that exceed an established threshold for criminal activity.  For example, in the City of 

Hagerstown, North Carolina, participation in the police department sponsored Crime Free 

                                                 
109

 See id.   
110

 CPTED is an acronym for “Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design.”   
111

 See http://www.hagerstownmd.org/index.aspx?nid=505; see also http://www.crime-free-association.org/multi-

housing.htm.   
112

 See id.   
113

 See id.   

http://www.hagerstownmd.org/index.aspx?nid=505
http://www.crime-free-association.org/multi-housing.htm
http://www.crime-free-association.org/multi-housing.htm


 

36 
 

Housing Seminar for landlords generally is voluntary.
114

  However, if a landlord receives notice 

of more than one “qualifying call” to the police department or one qualifying call that involves a 

felony, then the landlord is required to attend a four-hour program as a condition on the issuance 

of a rental facility license.
115

   

 

(o) New Strategies to Address Airbnb and other Sharing Economy Models 

The rapid growth of Airbnb—an online platform that enables a “host” to rent out a spare room or 

an entire home to a guest—has led some communities to develop new strategies to address the 

perceived negative impacts of the practice.  From the local government perspective, a key 

concern is that the potential profit from short-term rentals has created an incentive for rental 

property owners and investors to convert long-term rental properties into short-term rentals, 

thereby reducing the available supply of long-term rentals and driving up rental prices in the 

local market.  To counter this trend, some communities have adopted short-term rental 

regulations that expressly require that the owner or “host” reside in the dwelling unit for a 

minimum number of days each calendar year.  For example, San Francisco’s short-term 

residential rental ordinance requires that a “permanent resident” occupy a short-term rental unit 

for at least 275 days per calendar year and that the permanent resident maintain records 

demonstrating compliance with the requirement for a period of two years.
116

  Portland, Oregon’s 

Accessory Short-Term Rentals ordinance contains a similar requirement, which states: 

 
A Type A accessory short-term rental must be accessory to a Household Living use on a 

site.  This means that a resident must occupy the dwelling unit for at least 270 days 

during each calendar year, and unless allowed by Paragraph .040.B.2 or .040.B.3, the 

bedrooms rented to overnight guests must be within the dwelling unit that the resident 

occupies.
117

 

 

Another concern is that online hosting platforms make it easier for an owner to use their home as 

a short-term rental without obtaining the necessary governmental permits or paying required 

lodging or use taxes.  One way communities have addressed this issue is by requiring that the 

online hosting platform notify potential hosts that listing their property for rent is subject to local 

regulation.  An example of this approach is San Francisco’s “Requirements for Hosting 

Platforms” provision, which states, in relevant part: 

 
All Hosting Platforms shall provide the following information in a notice to any user 

listing a Residential Unit located within the City and County of San Francisco through 

the Hosting Platform’s service.  The notice shall be provided prior to the user listing the 

Residential Unit and shall include the following information: that Administrative Code 

Chapters 37 and 41A regulate Short-Term Rental of Residential Units; the requirements 

                                                 
114

 See Hagerstown, NC Rental Facilities Code § 197-7(A) )(available online at 

http://www.hagerstownmd.org/DocumentCenter/View/2317).   
115

 See id. § 197-7(B). 
116

 San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(1) (available online at 

http://www.sfbos.org/ftp/uploadedfiles/bdsupvrs/ordinances14/o0218-14.pdf).   
117

 Portland, OR  Code § 33.207.040(A)(1) (available online at 

http://www.portlandonline.com/auditor/index.cfm?c=28197&a=501886).   

http://www.hagerstownmd.org/DocumentCenter/View/2317
http://www.sfbos.org/ftp/uploadedfiles/bdsupvrs/ordinances14/o0218-14.pdf
http://www.portlandonline.com/auditor/index.cfm?c=28197&a=501886


 

37 
 

for Permanent Residency and registration of the unit with the [Planning Department]; and 

the transient occupancy tax obligations to the City.
118

 

 

A bill introduced in the California State Legislature in 2015 proposed that online hosting 

platforms be required to notify potential hosts that listing their residence for rent on the platform 

might constitute a violation of their lease and could result in legal action by the landlord, 

possibly including eviction.
119

   

 

Some communities have also addressed the taxation issue by requiring that the online hosting 

platform remit the required tax payment.  San Francisco imposes such a requirement: 

 
A Hosting Platform shall comply with the requirements of the Business and Tax 

Regulations Code by, among any other applicable requirements, collecting and remitting 

all required Transient Occupancy Taxes, and this provision shall not relieve a Hosting 

Platform of liability related to an occupant’s, resident’s, or Business entity’s failure to 

comply with the requirements of the Business and Tax Regulations Code.
120

   

 

Other cities that require online hosting platforms to collect taxes on behalf of a resident/host 

include Washington, D.C.; Portland, Oregon; San Jose, California; and Chicago.
121

   

 

Communities have also attempted to address host and tenant liability by requiring that the short-

term rental host maintain a minimum amount of liability insurance.  In San Francisco, for 

example, short-term rental owners are required to maintain liability insurance in an amount of 

not less than $500,000 and any tenants must be named as additional insured.
122

  Other cities that 

short-term rental hosts to carry liability insurance include Nashville, Tennessee;
123

 Lincoln City, 

Oregon;
124

 and Chicago.
125

 

 

3.4 Regulations that Indirectly Affect Residential Rentals 

                                                 
118

 San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(4)(A).   
119

 See SB 761 (amended May 19, 2015) (available online at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-

bin/postquery?bill_number=sb_761&sess=CUR).  
120

 San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(4)(B). 
121

 See “Airbnb is about to start collecting hotel taxes in more major cities, including Washington,” The Washington 

Post (January 29, 2015) (available online at 

http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2015/01/29/airbnb-is-about-to-start-collecting-hotel-taxes-in-

more-major-cities-including-washington/).   
122

 San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(1)(D). 
123

 See “Nashville is About to Regulate Airbnb, But Enforcement is Another Story,” Nashville Public Radio 

(February 17, 2015) (available online at http://nashvillepublicradio.org/post/nashville-about-regulate-airbnb-

enforcement-another-story).   
124

 See Lincoln City, OR – Vacation Rental Dwelling License Code § 5.14.060.B.7 (requiring that an applicant for a 

vacation rental dwelling license carry “liability insurance which expressly covers the vacation rental operations on 

the subject property in the amount of at least $500,000, combined single limit.”) (available online at 

http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/LincolnCity/html/lincolncity05/lincolncity0514.html).  
125

 See “Vacation Rental Fact Sheet,” (City of Chicago, Dept. of Business Affairs & Consumer Protection) (stating 

that vacation rental license applicants must provide to the city a “certificate of insurance evidencing homeowner’s 

fire, hazard and liability insurance, and general commercial liability insurance with limits of not less than 

$1,000,000 per occurrence”) (available online at http://chicago47.org/wp-content/uploads/Vacation-rental-

factsheet.pdf).  

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/postquery?bill_number=sb_761&sess=CUR
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/postquery?bill_number=sb_761&sess=CUR
http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2015/01/29/airbnb-is-about-to-start-collecting-hotel-taxes-in-more-major-cities-including-washington/
http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/wonkblog/wp/2015/01/29/airbnb-is-about-to-start-collecting-hotel-taxes-in-more-major-cities-including-washington/
http://nashvillepublicradio.org/post/nashville-about-regulate-airbnb-enforcement-another-story
http://nashvillepublicradio.org/post/nashville-about-regulate-airbnb-enforcement-another-story
http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/LincolnCity/html/lincolncity05/lincolncity0514.html
http://chicago47.org/wp-content/uploads/Vacation-rental-factsheet.pdf
http://chicago47.org/wp-content/uploads/Vacation-rental-factsheet.pdf


 

38 
 

(a) Residential Zoning Districts that Prohibit Multifamily Development  

As noted in Section 2.1 of this paper, a substantial percentage of the residential rental units in the 

United States are located in multifamily buildings.  According to the American Housing Survey, 

about 19 percent of rental properties are located in small buildings with just two to four units, 

while large apartment buildings (i.e., those containing ten or more units) account for 

approximately 29 percent of all rental housing units nationwide.
126

  Given the importance of 

multifamily apartment buildings in the rental market, zoning regulations that prohibit 

multifamily development in residential zoning districts can have a substantial impact on 

residential rentals. 

The American Planning Association report Zoning as a Barrier to Multifamily Housing 

Development found zoning to be a significant barrier to multifamily development in the Boston, 

Massachusetts area:   

In the Boston study area, where housing prices and rents are high and rising, there was 

clear evidence of barriers to multifamily housing.  Although a significant share of the 

existing housing stock is multifamily, many communities have little or no land zoned for 

multifamily use, and multifamily housing starts have fallen precipitously.  Analyses of 

local zoning codes and regulations also support the conclusion that there exist regulatory 

barriers to multifamily development.
127

   

By contrast, the report found that in Portland, Oregon, “significant quantities of land are zoned 

for multifamily use throughout the metropolitan area, and … rents remain below many other 

metropolitan areas.”
128

   

(b) Minimum House Size Requirements  

Residential rentals can also be indirectly affected by a regulation that imposes a minimum floor 

area requirement on single-family homes.  For example, in the City of Arcadia, California, the 

zoning regulations for the R-O First One-Family Zone require that a single-family home “contain 

not less than one thousand two hundred (1,200) square feet of floor area, exclusive of porches, 

garages, entries, patios and basements.”
129

  It can reasonably be argued that a minimum house 

size requirement forces developers to build larger, more expensive homes that are more likely to 

be owner-occupied than rental housing.   

 

 

                                                 
126

 America’s Rental Housing at 12. 
127

 Zoning as a Barrier to Multifamily Housing Development at 66 (American Planning Association, Planning 

Advisory Service Report No. 548, 2007) (available online at 

http://www.huduser.gov/portal/Publications/pdf/zoning_MultifmlyDev.pdf).   
128

 See id.   
129

 Arcadia (CA) Zoning Regulations § 9251.1.1 (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/ca/arcadia/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=ARTIXDIUSLA_CH2ZORE_PT

5REZO_DIV130000220001500012500FIOMIZO).   

http://www.huduser.gov/portal/Publications/pdf/zoning_MultifmlyDev.pdf
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/arcadia/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=ARTIXDIUSLA_CH2ZORE_PT5REZO_DIV130000220001500012500FIOMIZO
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/arcadia/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=ARTIXDIUSLA_CH2ZORE_PT5REZO_DIV130000220001500012500FIOMIZO


 

39 
 

3.5 Regulation by Private Property Associations and Covenants   

In addition to governmental regulation, rentals may also be subject to private regulation.  These 

private controls typically are found in the covenants, conditions, and restrictions (CC&Rs) 

adopted by a homeowners association (HOA).  CC&Rs can control virtually any aspect of a 

residential community, such as the use of property, the exterior color of a home, pets, or 

landscaping.  CC&Rs an also be written to prohibit property owners from renting their homes.      

 

Note: In most states, the requirements for the creation of an HOA and the adoption of CC&Rs 

are governed by state statute.  For example, in Florida HOAs are governed by Chapter 720 

(Homeowners’ Associations) of the Florida Statutes.  Another example is the state of 

Washington, where homeowners’ associations are governed by Chapter 64.38 of the Revised 

Code of Washington.
130

     

 

Because the vacation rental concept is a relatively new one (the company Vacation Rentals by 

Owner, better known as VRBO, was established in 1995), the CC&Rs adopted by HOAs that 

were established long ago may not address vacation rentals.  Without an explicit prohibition in 

the CC&Rs, it may be difficult for an HOA to prevent a property owner from renting out a home.  

For example, in one case in the state of Washington, a planned residential community had 

adopted CC&Rs that restricted the use of lots to single family residences and prohibited the use 

of any lot for commercial purposes.
131

  Although the covenants generally were silent on the 

subject of rentals, the HOA argued that vacation rentals were a commercial use that was 

expressly prohibited by the CC&Rs.
132

  The Washington Supreme Court, however, rejected the 

HOA’s argument, ruling that rentals, no matter how long the term, are a residential use because 

the renter uses the home for the same purpose as the owner, namely “eating, sleeping, and other 

residential purposes.”
133

  It also rejected the argument that the payment of business and 

occupation taxes detracted from the residential character of the rental use.
134

    

 

3.6 Enforcement and Penalties  

Communities typically enforce their rental regulations (a) in accordance with a generally 

applicable enforcement provision contained in the code of ordinances or zoning ordinance, or (b) 

through a specific enforcement provision incorporated into the rental regulations.  Article 9 of 

the Isle of Palms, South Carolina Code of Ordinances is one example of a short-term rental 

ordinance that contains no specific enforcement provision, but is enforced under a generally 

applicable penalty provision.
135

   Under the Isle of Palms Code of Ordinances, violation of the 

short-term rental ordinance is subject to the same penalties and procedures as a violation of any 

                                                 
130

 Other examples of state HOA statutes are: the Texas Residential Property Owners Protection Act (Title 11, 

Chapter 209, of the Texas Property Code); the North Carolina Planned Community Act (Chapter 47F of the North 

Carolina General Statutes); and the Minnesota Common Interest Ownership Act (Chapter 515B of the Minnesota 

Statutes).   
131

 Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, 327 P.3d 614, 617 (Wash. 2014). 
132

 Id. at 618-19.   
133

 Id. at 620. 
134

 Id.   
135

 See generally Isle of Palms, SC City Code §§ 5-4-201 to -206 (Short-Term Rentals) and § 5-4-7 (Violations and 

Penalties). 



 

40 
 

other provision the zoning code.  Potential penalties for a violation are established under Section 

5-4-7 of the Code of Ordinances, which states: 

 
In case a structure or land is or is proposed to be used in violation of this chapter, the 

Zoning Administrator may, in addition to other remedies, issue and serve upon a person 

pursuing such activity or activities a stop order requiring that such person immediately 

cease all activities in violation of this chapter. 

 

Any person violating any of the provisions of this chapter shall be deemed guilty of a 

misdemeanor and shall for each violation, upon conviction thereof, be punished as 

provided in section 1-3-66.  Each day that a violation continues shall constitute a separate 

offense.
136

 

 

By contrast, the short-term rental ordinances of Sonoma County, California and Santa Fe, New 

Mexico contain specifically applicable enforcement provisions.  Under Section 26-88-120(g) of 

the Sonoma County vacation rental ordinance, individuals who register an initial complaint about 

a vacation rental property are directed to the contact person identified in the zoning permit or use 

permit issued for the property.  Subsequent complaints are addressed to code enforcement 

officials who are responsible for conducting an investigation to determine whether there was a 

violation of a zoning or use permit condition.  Code enforcement may accept neighbor 

documentation consisting of photos, sound recordings and video as proof of an alleged violation.  

If code enforcement verifies that a violation has occurred, then a notice of violation is issued and 

a penalty may be imposed in accordance with Chapter 1 of the Sonoma County Code.  In 

addition, under Section 26-88-120(g)(1), code enforcement officers are also given the discretion 

to schedule a revocation hearing with the board of zoning adjustment.  If a vacation rental permit 

is revoked, then a new zoning or use permit for a vacation rental may not be reapplied for or 

issued for a period of at least one year.
137

  Santa Fe’s short term rental unit ordinance includes a 

specific provision that authorizes the city to revoke a short term rental permit upon conviction 

for a third violation of the ordinance.
138

   

 

Communities can also address many of the negative impacts often attributed to rental properties 

(e.g., excessive noise, late night parties, and insufficient property maintenance) by enforcing 

existing provisions of their code of ordinances or zoning ordinance.  Below are some examples. 

 

(a) Abatement of Nuisances 

The term “nuisance” is generally defined as “a condition, activity, or situation (such as a loud 

noise or a foul odor) that interferes with the use or enjoyment of property.”
139

  A nuisance can 

either be “private,” meaning it affects a private right not common to the public or causes a 

specific injury to one or a small number of people, or “public,” meaning it unreasonably 

interferes with a right common to the general public.
140

   

 

                                                 
136

 Isle of Palms, SC City Code § 5-4-7 (Emphasis added). 
137

 See generally Sonoma County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(g). 
138

 See Santa Fe, NM City Code § 14-6.2(A)(6)(a)(iv). 
139

 BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY at 1233 (10th ed., Thomson Reuters).   
140

 See id. at 1235 (defining “private nuisance” and “public nuisance”).   



 

41 
 

Local governments generally have the power to regulate and abate public nuisances but not 

private nuisances.
141

  For example, the Marco Island City Code defines “public nuisance” to 

mean: 

 
the commission or omission of any act, by any person, or the keeping, maintaining, 

propagation, existence or permitting of anything, by any person, by which the life, health, 

safety, or welfare of any person may be threatened or impaired.  Additionally, permitted 

uses and conditional uses in any residentially zoned area which create smoke, dust, noise, 

odor, vibration, or glare which by themselves or in combination may be harmful or 

injurious to human health or welfare or which unreasonably interfere with the customary 

use and enjoyment of life or property are a public nuisance.
142

  

 

In addition, Section 18-36(4) of the City Code provides that: “No owner, lessee, occupant, guest, 

or agent for the owner shall allow the keeping of a public nuisance on any property, developed or 

undeveloped.”  Marco Island’s public nuisance ordinance also requires that the “owners, lessees, 

occupants or agents for the owner of developed and undeveloped lots shall control all excessive 

growth of grasses or weeds within the right-of-way adjacent to their property by cutting or 

removing the grasses and weeds, and shall maintain the right-of-way free from any accumulation 

of abandoned property, litter, pollution, or other matter.”
143

  Under Section 18-37 (Abatement of 

nuisances) Marco Island has the authority to levy fines and to order the abatement of public 

nuisances.   

 

The City of Raleigh, North Carolina’s public nuisance code likewise makes it unlawful to make, 

maintain, or fail to abate a public nuisance.
144

  If a public nuisance is not abated within ten days 

after written notice is given by the city, then the city can abate the conditions constituting the 

public nuisance and place a lien on the property to recover the cost of abatement plus a $175 

administrative fee.
145

   

 

(b) Enforcement of Building and Maintenance Codes 

In addition to their building codes, many communities have adopted property maintenance codes 

that all property owners must satisfy.  Rather than drafting their own property maintenance code, 

communities often adopt (sometimes with amendments) the International Property Maintenance 

Code (IPMC), which contains a comprehensive set of interior and exterior property maintenance 

requirements.
146

  According to the International Code Council (ICC), as of February 2015, the 

                                                 
141

 EUGENE MCQUILLIN, 6A THE LAW OF MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS § 24:62 (3d. ed., 2015).   
142

 Marco Island, FL City Code § 18-32. 
143

 Marco Island, FL City Code § 18-36(5) 
144

 See City of Raleigh, NC – Health, Sanitation and Public Nuisances Code § 12-6002 (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/nc/raleigh/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%2

2:%22%5C%22public%20nuisance%5C%22%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSear

ch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22C

ODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=DIVIICOGEOR_PT12LIRE_CH6HESAPUNU_S12-

6004NUPRENABGRPR).   
145

 See id. § 12-6003.   
146

 See generally International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 ed. (International Code Council) (available online 

at http://publicecodes.cyberregs.com/icod/ipmc/index.htm).   

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/nc/raleigh/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22%5C%22public%20nuisance%5C%22%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/nc/raleigh/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22%5C%22public%20nuisance%5C%22%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/nc/raleigh/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22%5C%22public%20nuisance%5C%22%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/nc/raleigh/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22%5C%22public%20nuisance%5C%22%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/nc/raleigh/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22%5C%22public%20nuisance%5C%22%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%
http://publicecodes.cyberregs.com/icod/ipmc/index.htm


 

42 
 

IPMC has been adopted, with or without limitations, by hundreds of local jurisdictions in 38 

states and the District of Columbia.
147

   

 

(c) Penalties 

(i) Revocation or Suspension of Rental License  

In some communities that impose licensing or permit requirements on residential rentals, the 

violation of the rental regulation can result in the suspension or revocation of a rental license or 

permit.  For example, Sonoma County’s vacation home rental code authorizes the code 

enforcement officer to schedule a revocation hearing with the board of zoning adjustments upon 

determination that a violation has occurred.
148

  If the vacation rental permit is revoked, then it 

cannot be reapplied for or re-issued for a period of at least one year.
149

   

 

Another example is Minneapolis, Minnesota’s “Rental Dwelling License” code, which 

authorizes the city council to “deny, refuse to renew, revoke, or suspend” a rental dwelling 

license for any dwelling that fails to comply with applicable licensing standards.
150

  The 

Minneapolis City Council apparently is not shy about using the revocation penalty—the 

Minneapolis Housing Inspections Services website states: “We have increased our license 

revocations in the past few years for owners who have violated one or more rental license 

standards.  Since 2005, the City of Minneapolis has increased the number of rental license 

revocations by over 500%.”
151

   

 

Minneapolis also makes it difficult for an owner whose rental dwelling license has been revoked 

to become relicensed.  Pursuant to Section 244.1910 (Licensing Standards) of the Rental 

Dwelling License code, any person who has had a license revoked is prohibited from obtaining 

any new rental dwelling licenses for a period of three years.
152

  In addition, any person who has 

had two or more licenses revoked or canceled is ineligible to hold a rental dwelling license for a 

period of five years.
153

   

 

(ii) Fines 

The most common form of penalty for violation of a rental code is a monetary fine.  The 

maximum fine amount for violation of a local ordinance or regulation in many cases is set by 

state statute.  For example, in Illinois the maximum fine for violation of a municipal ordinance, 

                                                 
147

 See International Codes—Adoption by State (Feb. 2015) (available online at 

http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/stateadoptions.pdf); see also International Codes—Adoption by Jurisdiction 

(Feb. 2015) (available online at http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/jurisdictionadoptions.pdf).   
148

 Sonoma County Code § 26-88-120(g)(1). 
149

 Id.   
150

 See City of Minneapolis, MN – Rental Dwellings License Code § 244.1940 (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/mn/minneapolis/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT12HO_CH24

4MACO_ARTXVIREDWLI).   
151

 See City of Minneapolis, MN – Housing Inspections Services – Holding Property Owners Accountable (available 

online at http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/inspections_accountable).   
152

 See City of Minneapolis, MN – Rental Dwellings License Code § 244.1910(a)(13). 
153

 See City of Minneapolis, MN – Rental Dwellings License Code § 244.1910(a)(13). 

http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/stateadoptions.pdf
http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/jurisdictionadoptions.pdf
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/mn/minneapolis/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT12HO_CH244MACO_ARTXVIREDWLI
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/mn/minneapolis/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT12HO_CH244MACO_ARTXVIREDWLI
http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/inspections_accountable


 

43 
 

with limited exceptions, is $750 for any one violation.
154

  Other examples are the state of 

Montana, which limits the maximum fine for violation of a local ordinance to $500,
155

 and 

Minnesota, which has a statutory limit of a $1,000 fine for violation an ordinance.
156

  

 

Under many local regulations each day of a continuing violation (e.g., repeatedly renting a 

dwelling unit without a required permit) is considered a separate offense.  An example of this 

approach is the enforcement provision of Marco Island’s short-term rental ordinance, which 

states, in relevant part: “Any violation of the provisions of this Article may be prosecuted and 

shall be punishable as provided in section 1-14, or chapter 14, of the City of Marco Island Code 

of Ordinances, including but not limited to: (1) a fine of up to $500 per violation, per day of 

continuing repeating violations.”
157

  In Maui County, Hawaii, the penalty for operating an illegal 

transient vacation rental (i.e., without a permit) is an initial fine of $1,000 plus a daily fine of up 

to $1,000 per day.
158

   

 

                                                 
154

 See 65 ILCS 5/1-2-1. 
155

 See Montana Code § 7-5-109.   
156

 See Minnesota Stat. Ann. § 609.034.   
157

 Marco Island, FL Code of Ordinances § 8-104(b). 
158

 See Maui County, HA – Transient Vacation Rentals webpage (available online at 

http://www.mauicounty.gov/faq.aspx?TID=82).    

http://www.mauicounty.gov/faq.aspx?TID=82


 

44 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

 

SECTION 4. IMPACTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS ON RENTAL PROPERTY 

OWNERS  

4.1 Rental Income  

For some residential rental property owners, the adoption of rental regulations may result in the 

loss of rental income altogether.  The most obvious example is an owner of property located in a 

zoning district where short-term rentals are no longer allowed under a local ordinance.
1
  In areas 

where rentals are allowed, other property owners might face the loss of rental income due to their 

inability, for financial or other reasons, to satisfy the requirements for obtaining a permit, such as 

minimum off-street parking or structural requirements.  As discussed in Section 10.4(f) below, 

some rental regulations might also cause an owner to lose all rental income because of 

suspension or revocation of a rental permit, even if the reason for suspension or revocation is 

beyond the owner’s control (e.g., tenant behavior). 

 

There are several ways in which a rental regulation might also result in a decrease in rental 

income.  An ordinance that restricts the number of times a short-term rental property may be 

rented per year could have a significant impact on the property’s income potential.  Santa Fe, 

New Mexico, for example, limits short-term rentals to 17 rental periods per year.
2
  A maximum 

overnight occupancy provision could also negatively affect the income potential of a rental 

property by reducing the number of guests to whom a home may be rented.  Maximum 

occupancy restrictions are often included in local land use regulations
3
 and are a common 

element of short-term rental restrictions.
4
   

 

Rental restrictions can also cause a reduction in rental income where they have the effect of 

narrowing the field of potential tenants or discouraging vacationers from renting a home.  For 

example, an ordinance that prohibits short-term occupants from parking a recreational vehicle on 

site or on the street might deter families who travel by RV from renting a home in Santa Fe.
5
   

 

                                                 
1
 As discussed in Section 4.4, if a zoning amendment changes residential rentals from a permitted use to a prohibited 

use, a rental use that was lawfully established prior to the adoption of the zoning amendment may be allowed 

continue as a nonconforming use under state and local zoning laws.     
2
 See Santa Fe, NM City Code § 14-6.2(A)(6)(a)(ii)(B). 

3
 See, e.g., Minneapolis, MN Zoning Code § 546.30 (limiting the occupancy of dwelling units in certain residential 

zoning districts to “one (1) family plus up to two (2) unrelated persons living together as a permanent household, 

provided that the family plus the unrelated persons shall not exceed a total of five (5) persons”).      
4
 See, e.g., Sonoma County’s vacation rental ordinance, which generally limits the overnight occupancy of vacation 

rentals to “a maximum of two (2) persons per sleeping room or guestroom, plus two (2) additional persons per 

property, up to a maximum of twelve (12) persons, excluding children under three (3) years of age.”  Sonoma 

County, CA Code of Ordinances § 26-88-120(f)(2) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH26SOCOZORE_A

RT88GEUSBUEXUILI_S26-88-120VARE). 
5
 Section 14-6.2(A)(6)(a)(ii)(E) of the Santa Fe Short Term Rental Ordinance states: “Occupants shall not park 

recreational vehicles on site or on the street.” 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH26SOCOZORE_ART88GEUSBUEXUILI_S26-88-120VARE
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH26SOCOZORE_ART88GEUSBUEXUILI_S26-88-120VARE


 

45 

 

4.2 Property Values 

Rental regulations can affect the value of an affected property in different ways, depending on 

whether the property was used as a rental prior to the adoption of the regulation.   

  

(a) Value of Existing Rental Properties 

In general, the value of a home that was used as a rental prior to the adoption of restrictions, but 

is either prohibited or restricted from future use as a rental, can be expected to decrease.  That is 

particularly true in vacation destination communities, where homeowners often purchase second 

homes as investment properties.
6
  These potential buyers often plan to use the second home as a 

short-term rental property until they retire or otherwise become able to maintain the property as 

their full-time residence.
7
   Such buyers would tend to be less interested in purchasing in an area 

where the short-term rental market is highly uncertain or is constrained by burdensome 

regulations.  

 

In some circumstances, it is conceivable that a short-term rental ordinance could increase the 

value of those homes that were used as short-term rentals prior to the adoption of the restrictions 

and become lawfully licensed for use under the new regulations.  Under the general economic 

principle of supply and demand, if an ordinance has the effect of reducing the supply of short-

term rental properties and the demand for short-term rental properties rises or remains constant, 

then the value of individual properties licensed as short-term rental properties after the adoption 

of regulations can be expected to rise.   

  

(b) Value of Properties Not Previously Used as a Rental  

The impact of rental restrictions on the value of properties that were not used as rentals prior to 

adoption of the restrictions will also vary.  The value of a property that becomes licensed as a 

rental for the first time under a new ordinance conceivably could increase if the quantity of 

rental properties on the market falls as a result of the ordinance.  It is conceivable that a rental 

regulation could also have a positive effect on the value of homes that are not licensed or used as 

a rental.  For example, in residential neighborhoods where the existence of short-term rentals is 

considered a negative, an ordinance that prohibits future short-term rental activity in those 

neighborhoods could positively affect the value of homes in these locations. 

 

Despite the popular notion that rentals have a negative impact on the value of neighboring 

single-family homes, there appears to be little empirical evidence to support or quantify that 

conclusion.
8
  A 2007 report on opposition to multifamily rental housing, the Harvard University 

                                                 
6
 See Anne Miller, “Next Investment: Vacation Home or Income Property?,” Realtor.com (April 23, 2014) 

(available online at http://www.realtor.com/advice/whats-best-option-next-investment-vacation-home-income-

producing-rentals/) (discussing the investment strategy of purchasing and holding a “vacation home or second home 

for many years with the goal of vacationing there, perhaps renting it out to others and retiring there, or selling the 

property when its market value has increased”).     
7
 See id.   

8
 See Michael Estrin, “Do rentals decrease nearby home values?,” Bankrate.com (available online at 

http://www.bankrate.com/finance/real-estate/do-rentals-decrease-home-values.aspx) (quoting William Rohe, 

Director of the Center for Urban and Regional Studies at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill: “I think 

http://www.realtor.com/advice/whats-best-option-next-investment-vacation-home-income-producing-rentals/
http://www.realtor.com/advice/whats-best-option-next-investment-vacation-home-income-producing-rentals/
http://www.bankrate.com/finance/real-estate/do-rentals-decrease-home-values.aspx


 

46 

 

Joint Center for Housing Studies (JCHS) described how residents’ concerns about property 

values often prompt local regulations:   

 
Concerns that multifamily rental housing will lower the value of their single-family 

houses has driven many residents to oppose new apartment developments in or near their 

neighborhoods.  Proposals for low-income apartments are especially likely to trigger 

property value concerns, but even market rate rental housing can give rise to arguments 

that apartments lower property values and damage the community’s reputation.  Local 

officials often echo these property value claims, either because they believe lower 

property values will injure their communities tax base or reputation or because they want 

to sound responsive to constituent concerns.
9
 

 

The JCHS report found that most of the research done on the subject concluded that “in general, 

neither multifamily rental housing, nor low-income housing, causes neighboring property values 

to decline.”
10

   

 

(c) Resale Value 

Regulations that permit short-term rentals but require the owner to obtain a nontransferable 

license or permit may have a negative impact on the resale value of affected property.  A 

potential second home buyer who plans to periodically rent out the property in order to offset 

their purchase and operation and maintenance costs would tend to be less interested in 

purchasing in an area where the right to use a property as a short-term rental market is highly 

uncertain.  The lack of certainty as to whether a home could be used a short-term rental might 

also make it more difficult for buyers to secure financing for a second home, because the 

potential purchaser would not be able to give the lender assurances that there will be a contingent 

stream of income to offset the carrying costs of the property, if necessary. 

 

4.3 Operational Costs 

Rental regulations tend to increase the cost of owning and operating a rental property in a 

number of ways.  The regulations typically require owners to pay an up-front registration or 

permit fee and may also require payment of additional licensing fees on an annual or other 

recurring basis.  In Marathon, Florida, for example, short-term rentals are subject to an initial 

licensing fee of $750 and subsequent renewal fees of $500 per year.
11

  Inspection requirements 

can also add to the cost of operating a residential or short-term rental since, in most cases, the 

inspections are performed at the owner’s expense.  In Minneapolis, Minnesota, the conversion of 

                                                                                                                                                             
there is a stigma about renters, but the research just isn’t there to say for certain that a given amount of rental 

properties in a neighborhood brings values down by a specific amount.”).  
9
 Mark Obrinsky & Debra Stein, Overcoming Opposition to Multifamily Rental Housing at 10 (March 2007, Joint 

Center for Housing Studies, Harvard University) (available online at 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/rr07-14_obrinsky_stein.pdf).   
10

 Id.   
11

 See City of Marathon, Florida Vacation Rental License Application Form (available online at 

http://www.ci.marathon.fl.us/download/download.php?id=824).   

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/rr07-14_obrinsky_stein.pdf
http://www.ci.marathon.fl.us/download/download.php?id=824


 

47 

 

an owner-occupied home to a rental property requires that the property be inspected for 

compliance with the Housing Maintenance Code.
12

  The fee for this inspection is $1,000.
13

 

 

Performance standards may also require an owner to undertake costly improvements in order to 

obtain a rental permit.  An owner may be required to expand or pave an existing driveway in 

order to satisfy a minimum parking requirement or to upgrade electrical or sewer systems in 

order to qualify for a permit.  Seattle’s Rental Registration and Inspection Ordinance, for 

example, requires that all rental housing be inspected for compliance with the city’s Housing and 

Building Maintenance Code and receive a certificate of compliance before a rental housing 

registration will be issued.
14

   

 

In addition, a rental property owner who resides out of state may have to hire a property manager 

in order to satisfy a requirement that a designated representative be available at all times and 

within a certain proximity of the unit during any rental period.  The City of Prior Lake, 

Minnesota requires that a “local agent” be designated for all short-term rentals.  Section 315.407 

of Prior Lake’s Short-Term Rental Code states, in relevant part: 

 
No short-term rental permit shall be issued without the designation of a local agent.  The 

agent must live and work within 30 miles of the dwelling unit.  The Agent may, but is not 

required to be, the owner.  One person may be the agent for multiple dwelling units.  At 

all times, the agent shall have on file with the Code Enforcement Officer a primary and a 

secondary phone number as well as a current address.  The agent or a representative of 

the agent shall be available 24 hours a day during all times that the dwelling unit is being 

rented at the primary or secondary phone number to respond immediately to complaints 

and contacts relating to the dwelling unit.  The Code Enforcement Officer shall be 

notified in writing within two (2) business days of any change of agent.  The agent shall 

be responsible for the activities of the tenants and maintenance and upkeep of the 

dwelling unit and shall be authorized and empowered to receive service of notice of 

violation of the provisions of City ordinances and state law, to receive orders, and to 

institute remedial action to effect such orders, and to accept all service of process 

pursuant to law.
15

 

 

Depending on location, property management fees for a vacation rental home can run anywhere 

from 10 percent to 30 percent of the rental fees.
16

         

 

                                                 
12

 See City of Minneapolis, MN Rental License Fees (available online at 

http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/rental/inspections_rentlicensefee).   
13

 See id.   
14

 See generally Seattle, WA Housing Code, Ch. 22.214 (Rental Registration and Inspection Ordinance) (available 

online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT22BUCOCO_SUBTITLE_IIH

OCO_CH22.214REREINOR).   
15

 City of Prior Lake, MN Short-Term Rental Code § 315.407 (available online at 

http://www.cityofpriorlake.com/documents/STRentalLicense.pdf).   
16

 See Dan Weisman, “How to Manage Your Vacation Property When You’re Out of Town,” Rentals.com Company 

Blog (available online at http://blog.rentals.com/how-to-manage-your-vacation-property-when-you%E2%80%99re-

out-of-town/).   

http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/rental/inspections_rentlicensefee
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT22BUCOCO_SUBTITLE_IIHOCO_CH22.214REREINOR
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/wa/seattle/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT22BUCOCO_SUBTITLE_IIHOCO_CH22.214REREINOR
http://www.cityofpriorlake.com/documents/STRentalLicense.pdf
http://blog.rentals.com/how-to-manage-your-vacation-property-when-you%E2%80%99re-out-of-town/
http://blog.rentals.com/how-to-manage-your-vacation-property-when-you%E2%80%99re-out-of-town/


 

48 

 

Operational costs may also be increased by a rental regulation that requires the property owner to 

carry a minimum amount of liability insurance.  In San Francisco, for example, short-term rental 

owners are required to maintain liability insurance in an amount of not less than $500,000.
17

   

  

4.4 Nonconforming Use Status 

A property that was used as a rental prior to the adoption of an ordinance that no longer allows 

rentals may become a nonconforming use under state and local zoning laws.  Although state and 

local laws zoning laws typically allow nonconforming uses to continue, the right to alter or 

expand a nonconforming use is usually limited and often requires the issuance of a special 

permit, or an equivalent form of zoning relief, from the local planning commission or board of 

appeals.  The nonconforming use provisions of the City of Bend, Oregon’s Development Code 

are a good example of this type of restriction: 

 
Where, at the time of adoption of this code, a use of land exists that would not be 

permitted by the regulations imposed by this code and was lawful at the time it was 

established, the use may be continued as long as it remains otherwise lawful, provided: 

 

A.    Expansion Prohibited. No such nonconforming use shall be enlarged, increased or 

extended to occupy a greater area of land or space than was occupied at the effective date 

of adoption or amendment of this code.  No additional structure, building or sign shall be 

constructed on the lot in connection with such nonconforming use of land. 

 

B.    Location. No such nonconforming use shall be moved in whole or in part to any 

portion of its lot, or any other lot, other than that occupied by such use at the effective 

date of adoption or amendment of this code, unless such move would bring the use into 

conformance with this code.
18

 

 

In addition, a nonconforming use that is discontinued for a specific period of time (typically one 

or two years) may be deemed abandoned, and thereafter prohibited from resuming at a future 

date.
19

 

  

4.5 Owner Liability for Action of Tenant 

Under some rental regulations, the property owner can be held liable and penalized for a 

violation that was committed by the tenant.  Section 24.12(H)(2) of the Coconino County 

Vacation Rental Ordinance, for example, states: “the property owner … shall be the party 

responsible for compliance with all provisions of this section and all applicable laws.”
20

  On its 

face, this provision appears to make the property owner responsible (and subject to penalty, 

potentially including the revocation of the vacation rental permit) for any violation that occurs on 

                                                 
17

 San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(1)(D). 
18

 City of Bend, OR Development Code § 5.2.100 (available online at http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/bend/).   
19

 See, e.g., City of Bend, OR Development Code § 5.2.100(C) (stating: “If the [nonconforming] use is discontinued 

or abandoned for any reason for a period of more than 12 months, any subsequent use of the land shall conform to 

the applicable standards and criteria specified by this code for the land use district in which such land is located.”).   
20

 See Coconino County, AZ , Vacation Home Rental Ordinance § 24.12(H)(2) (available online at 

http://www.coconino.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/9775). 

http://www.codepublishing.com/OR/bend/
http://www.coconino.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/9775


 

49 

 

a rental property, regardless of whether the violation was committed by a tenant or by the owner 

himself.
21

   

 

                                                 
21

 See Coconino County, AZ , Vacation Home Rental Ordinance §§ 24.12(H)(2), 24.12(I)(c).   



 

50 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

 

SECTION 5. IMPACTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS ON RENTERS 

5.1 Rental Fees  

As discussed in Section 4.3, the adoption of rental regulations can increase the cost of owning 

and operating a rental property in many ways.  A rental property owner might have to pay 

registration, permit, and inspection fees.  He may also have to undertake costly improvements, 

such as paving an existing driveway to satisfy a minimum parking requirement, or incur the 

expense of hiring a local property manager in order to satisfy a requirement that a designated 

representative requirement.   

 

To the extent that local market conditions will allow, rental property owners are likely to 

increase rental rates as a means of recovering these added costs.  If regulations expose a property 

owner to the risk of incurring a fine or having the owner’s rental license suspended or revoked, 

then the owner may also increase the minimum security deposit as a means of deterring tenants 

from engaging in behavior that might violate the rental regulations.     

 

5.2 Inventory of Rental Units 

Rental regulations can cause a decline in the inventory of rental units in a community.  For 

example, zoning regulations may prohibit short-term rentals in single-family residential zoning 

districts or within certain areas or neighborhoods.  An owner who successfully operated a short-

term rental property without complaint prior to the adoption of licensing requirements may be 

barred from continuing the rental use if the property does not conform to the new licensing 

criteria.  More generally, owners may simply decide that they do not want to assume the 

increased cost and risk of continuing to use their property as a short-term rental, and withdraw 

their properties from the inventory of short-term rentals in the community. 

 

Some communities have argued that the growing popularity of short-term rentals—

predominantly through Airbnb and other online platforms—has had a negative effect on the 

inventory of available long-term rental properties.  A 2014 report by the New York State 

Attorney General, for example found that in 2013 more than 4,600 residential units in New York 

City were dedicated primarily or exclusively to short-term rentals.
1
  The report, noted that most 

of the buildings converted to short-term rentals were located in popular neighborhoods in 

Brooklyn and Manhattan, and observed that: 

 
A dozen buildings in those same neighborhoods had 60 percent or more of their units 

used at least half the year as private short-term rentals, suggesting that the buildings were 

operating as de facto hotels.
2
 

 

                                                 
1
 Airbnb in the City (Oct. 2014, New York State office of the Attorney General) (available online at 

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf).   
2
 Id. at 12. 

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf


 

51 

 

Similar concerns have been raised in other communities where Airbnb has grown in popularity.  

In the City of Boulder, Colorado, for example, the City Council directed staff to draft a short-

term rental ordinance out of concern that investors were buying property for use as short-term 

rentals, thereby reducing the supply of long-term and affordable housing for residents.
3
  

 

5.3 Intrusive Inspection Requirements 

Rental regulations often require that a rental unit be inspected for compliance with applicable 

building and fire codes and other local regulations prior to the issuance of a rental license or 

permit.  Some also require that rental units be inspected on a regular basis (e.g., annually) or 

upon any change in tenancy or ownership.  These inspections normally are performed by a local 

building inspector or other code enforcement personnel and may require that both the exterior 

and the interior of the building be inspected.  In Marco Island, Florida, for example, short-term 

rentals are subject to “an initial inspection to ensure compliance with the applicable Florida 

Building Code, and Fire Prevention Code provisions” and annual re-inspections thereafter.
4
 

 

From the tenant’s perspective, a mandatory rental unit inspection can be intrusive and 

burdensome.
5
  Depending on the scope of the required inspection, the tenant may have to allow 

inspector to enter the rental unit and provide access to bedrooms, bathrooms, and other areas of 

the unit where a person’s expectation of privacy is greatest.   

  

As discussed in Section 8.2(c), rental inspection requirements can raise serious concerns under 

the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, which safeguards the “right of the people to be 

secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.”
6
  

For example, rental regulations that contain an inspection requirement typically do not contain a 

provision that expressly requires the inspector to have a warrant to inspect a rental property.  An 

ordinance may also be unclear as to what notice, if any, must be given to the owner and tenants 

of a rental property before an inspection is conducted.   

 

In addition, a rental regulation may not adequately define the parameters of the required 

inspection.  For example, it is not clear whether the inspections required by Marco Island’s short-

term rental ordinance are limited to the exterior of the building, or if the building interior is also 

subject to inspection.   

 

                                                 
3
 See Erica Meltzer, “Boulder council: Preserving housing for residents will guide short-term rental regulations,” 

Daily Camera (June 2, 2015) (available online at http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-

short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility).   
4
 Marco Island, FL Code § 8-101(c).  A limited exception to the annual re-inspection requirement is carved out for 

short-term rental dwellings that were permitted after March 1, 2002—those rentals are subject to biennial re-

inspections through 2025, and annual re-inspections thereafter.  See id.    
5
 In a case involving municipal code inspections, the U.S. Supreme Court declared that “administrative searches of 

the kind at issue here are significant intrusions upon the interests protected by the Fourth Amendment.”
5
  See 

Camara v. Municipal Court of City & Cty. of San Francisco,  387 U.S. 523, 534 (1967) (citing Frank v. State of 

Maryland, 359 U.S. 360, 79 S. Ct. 804 (1959)).   
6
 U.S. Const., amend. IV.  Any government action that intrudes on a person’s “reasonable expectation of privacy” 

violates the Fourth Amendment, and “[h]omes and other residences are virtually always areas in which a person 

residing has a reasonable expectation of privacy.”  William E. Ringel, Searches and Seizures Arrests and 

Confessions § 2:2 (2011). 

http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility
http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility


 

52 

 

 

 

5.4 Mandatory Lease Provisions   

Rental regulations can also affect tenants by requiring that residential rental agreements contain 

certain provisions that otherwise might not be included.  In 2015 the Town of Kure Beach, North 

Carolina, for example, considered an ordinance that would have required all vacation rental 

permit holders to include in their rental agreements a statement that: 

 
tenants shall not violate federal, state, or local laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations; 

engage in disorderly or illegal conduct; engage in activities or conduct creating or 

resulting in unreasonable noise, disturbances, and public nuisances; allow an 

unreasonable amount of garbage, refuse, and rubbish to accumulate on the property; 

illegally park vehicles in conjunction with their use of the vacation home; and overcrowd 

the vacation home premises.
7
  

 

The proposed ordinance, which was tabled by the Kure Beach Planning and Zoning 

Commission,
8
 also would have required all rental agreements to contain a statement that a 

“material breach” of above-quoted provision would result in a termination of the rental 

agreement.
9
   

 

By requiring that these provisions be included in every rental agreement, a rental regulation like 

the one proposed in Kure Beach would, in effect, make any violation of the rental regulation or 

any other applicable law a breach of the rental agreement, thereby placing the tenant at risk of 

eviction or other action by the landlord, in addition to any enforcement action taken by the 

government.  Absent such a regulatory mandate, it is unlikely that a residential rental agreement 

or short-term rental lease would include these type of provisions.      

   

                                                 
7
 Town of Kure Beach, NC: Proposed Vacation Rental Ordinance § 9(c) (available online at 

http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-

version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf).   
8
 See http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-

ordinance.  
9
 Town of Kure Beach, NC: Proposed Vacation Rental Ordinance § 9(d). 

http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf
http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf
http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-ordinance
http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-ordinance


 

53 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

SECTION 6. COMMUNITY IMPACTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS 

6.1 Local Real Estate Market 

In vacation destination communities, many property owners depend on the income gained from 

short-term rentals to afford the cost of living or to pay their mortgages, real estate taxes, 

association dues, and other expenses.
1
  If that income is taken away or severely reduced by short-

term rental restrictions, the only alternative for those homeowners might be to sell their homes 

immediately in order to avoid foreclosure or a distressed sale.  A widespread ban on short-term 

rentals that results in a substantial number of homes being sold or foreclosed upon may flood the 

market, causing property values to fall and remain depressed for a period of time.    

 

Some communities believe that short-term rental regulations are necessary to protect the supply 

of available long-term rental housing units.  The report Airbnb, Rising Rent, and the Housing 

Crisis in Los Angeles used a 21-unit apartment building to describe how Airbnb creates an 

incentive for rental property owners to convert long-term rental housing to short-term rental 

units: 

 
Located one block from the Venice Boardwalk, the 21 units in the Morrison [Apartments 

in Venice Beach] are covered by the City of Los Angeles Rent Stabilization Ordinance.  

Coldwell Banker Commercial (CBC) recently listed the Morrison for sale.  In an 

Exclusive Offering Memorandum obtained by a member of the Venice Neighborhood 

Council, CBC presents the conversion of the Morrison to AirBnB units as the prudent 

financial choice for prospective owners. 

 

CBC estimates that a landlord could expect about $200,000 in net annual income by 

renting these rent-controlled units out on the open market.  If the new landlord converts 

the building into AirBnB units, CBC estimates they could expect to bring in more than 

$477,000 per year, assuming a 67 percent occupancy rate.  The projected rate of return 

under the Morrison’s residential configuration is estimated to be 5.6 percent, while the 

projected rate of return for configuring the Morrison as an AirBnB building is 13 

percent.
2
   

 

The Los Angeles report used data on “whole apartments” listed on Airbnb to describe how short-

term rentals affect the supply of available long-term housing: 

 
Whether a market is digital or physical, basic economic principles of supply and demand 

are still operative.  Traditionally, the rental housing market and the hospitality industry 

do not intersect.  However, AirBnB has created a platform that allows landlords to pit 

                                                 
1
 According to an Airbnb survey of its users, 62% noted that income generated via Airbnb helped them to stay in 

their homes.  See Short-Term Rentals and Impacts on the Apartment Market at 4 (Rosen Consulting Group, Oct. 

2013) (available online at http://publicpolicy.airbnb.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Short-

TermRentalsandImpactonApartmentMarketNY1.pdf).   
2
 Airbnb, Rising Rent, and the Housing Crisis in Los Angeles at 16 (LAANE, March 2015) (available online at 

http://www.laane.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/AirBnB-Final.pdf). 

http://publicpolicy.airbnb.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Short-TermRentalsandImpactonApartmentMarketNY1.pdf
http://publicpolicy.airbnb.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Short-TermRentalsandImpactonApartmentMarketNY1.pdf
http://www.laane.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/AirBnB-Final.pdf


 

54 

 

tourist dollars against renter dollars.   Landlords can potentially earn significantly more 

money by converting traditional rental stock into AirBnB units, as many appear to have 

done.  

 

Los Angeles cannot afford to lose housing units.  The Los Angeles Department of City 

Planning’s Housing Needs Assessment shows that the city needs an additional 5,300 

units of affordable housing each year to keep up with demand.  However, Los Angeles 

developers have only averaged about 1,100 units of affordable housing per year since 

2006.  The 7,316 whole apartments currently listed on AirBnB represents nearly seven 

years’ of affordable housing construction at the current rate of housing development.
3
 

 

A May 2015 report by the San Francisco Budget and Legislative Analyst’s Office on the impact 

of short-term rentals on housing in the city (the “San Francisco BLA Report”) also concluded 

that short-term rentals have a negative impact on the supply of housing available for the long-

term rental market.
4
  The San Francisco BLA Report divided Airbnb users into two categories: 

(1) “casual hosts,” defined as hosts who occasionally make their residences available for short-

term rentals for supplemental income; and (2) “commercial hosts,” defined as those who 

probably do not live or could not live in their short-term rental unit and therefore rent it out as a 

means of generating income.
5
  To assess the impact of short-term rentals on the city’s available 

housing stock, the San Francisco BLA Report focused solely on commercial host data, since 

casual hosts presumably reside in their units full-time.
6
  The report estimated that 1,251 entire 

homes or apartments were listed by commercial hosts on Airbnb and assessed the impact of 

those listings as follows: 

 
At 0.3 percent, the estimated 1,251 entire units being rented out by commercial Airbnb 

hosts is relatively small compared to the entire 376,083 units of housing in San Francisco, 

but larger when compared to the number of units available for rent at any one time, which 

was reported to be 8,438 in 2013 by the American Community Survey conducted by the 

U.S. Census Bureau.  From this perspective, entire homes listed by commercial hosts take 

away an estimated 14.8 percent of the total rental housing available for rent Citywide, 

and private and shared rooms that might otherwise be occupied by roommates take even 

more units off the rental market.
7
 

 

The 2014 report “Airbnb in the City” by the New York Attorney General (the “NY AG Report”) 

reached a similar conclusion in its analysis of “commercial users” of Airbnb.
8
  It stated: 

 
Thousands of residential units in New York City were dedicated primarily or exclusively 

to private short-term rentals.  In 2013, over 4,600 unique units were each booked as 

                                                 
3
 Id. at 16.   

4
 Policy Analysis Report: Analysis of the Impact of Short-Term Rentals on Housing (San Francisco Budget and 

Legislative Analyst, May 13, 2015) (available online at ’s Office 
5
 See San Francisco BLA Report at 2.   

6
 See San Francisco BLA Report at 11. 

7
 See San Francisco BLA Report at 11 (emphasis added). 

8
 Airbnb in the City (Oct. 2014, New York State office of the Attorney General) (available online at 

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf).  The NY AG Report defined “commercial user” as a small group 

of  hosts (6%) who “dominated the platform during [the study] period, offering up to hundreds of unique units, 

accepting 36 percent of private short-term bookings, and receiving $168 million, 37 percent of all host revenue.”  Id. 

at 2.   

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf


 

55 

 

private short-term rentals for three months of the year or more.  Of these, nearly 2,000 

units were each booked as private short-term rentals on Airbnb for at least 182 days—or 

half the year.  While generating $72.4 million in revenue for hosts, this rendered the units 

largely unavailable for use by long-term residents.  Notably, more than half of these units 

had also been booked through Airbnb for at least half of the prior year (2012).
9
   

 

By contrast, a 2013 report by the Rosen Consulting Group (the “RCG Report”) concluded that 

the number of housing units made available for short-term rental use is too small to have a 

meaningful impact on the overall housing market in New York City: 

 
The impact of short-term rentals on supply/demand forces in urban housing markets are 

minimal, but admittedly difficult to quantify.  RCG believes that the New York housing 

market is driven by local economic fundamentals, including job creation and 

demographic trends.   The moderate pace of hiring in the region combined with a large 

demographic wave of young adults within the prime renter-age cohort provided a strong 

level of housing demand.  With short-term rentals in particular, while the number of 

listings increased substantially in recent months, the number of housing units relative to 

the overall size of the residential stock is too small to impact housing trends.
10

 

 

The RCG Report concludes: “While short-term rental activity is on the rise throughout the world, 

facilitated by technology and firms such as Airbnb, it is not having a meaningful impact on rental 

housing markets.
11

   

 

6.2 Property Values 

Rental regulations can affect property values in different ways.  Generally speaking, if identified 

negative impacts of long-term or short-term rentals in a district or neighborhood are reduced or 

eliminated by rental regulation, then property values in the district or neighborhood may 

increase.  On the other hand, the restrictions imposed on the use of properties by a rental housing 

regulation may cause property values in the district or neighborhood to decrease.  The precise 

impact that a rental regulation has on property values will depend on various factors, including 

the general character of the community (e.g., vacation destination versus non-destination 

community), the precise terms of the ordinance, local and national economic conditions, and 

local real estate market conditions. 

  

6.3 Tourism 

Short-term rental restrictions may negatively impact local tourism in several ways.  First, they 

can have a negative impact on the occupancy rates of vacation rentals by increasing the per-

person cost of short-term rentals.  Local regulations can increase the per-person cost of a rental 

by limiting the maximum occupancy of a short-term rental unit.  Short-term rental restrictions 

may also cause rental property owners to increase their rental rates and minimum security 

deposits in order to cover the increased cost of operating a short-term rental and the risk of 

                                                 
9
 Id. at 12. 

10
 Short-Term Rentals and the Impact on the Apartment Market at 3 (Rosen Consulting Group, Oct. 2013) (available 

online at http://publicpolicy.airbnb.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Short-

TermRentalsandImpactonApartmentMarketNY1.pdf).   
11

 Id. at 5.   

http://publicpolicy.airbnb.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Short-TermRentalsandImpactonApartmentMarketNY1.pdf
http://publicpolicy.airbnb.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Short-TermRentalsandImpactonApartmentMarketNY1.pdf


 

56 

 

incurring a fine or having their rental licenses revoked or suspended.  All else being equal, the 

higher rental rates paid by smaller groups of tenants, increase the per-person cost of short-term 

rentals in communities with short-term rental ordinances.   

 

Second, tourists who become aware of the new restrictions may perceive them as being 

motivated by, and evidence of, an “anti-tourist” sentiment among full time residents of the 

community.  Regulations that single out short-term rentals for different treatment may implicitly 

brand short-term renters as being potentially disruptive even though an individual tenant may 

have done nothing wrong.  Provisions that allow random inspections of short-term rentals 

without imposing reasonable restrictions on the time or manner of those inspections may be 

perceived as an invasion of privacy and an unreasonable disruption of a family vacation.  A 

perceived anti-tourist sentiment may ultimately discourage tourists from vacationing in that 

community.  

 

A January 2010 report prepared by the Napa Valley Vacation Rental Alliance, argued that the 

availability of short-term rental properties could determine where a family or group of friends 

vacationing together chooses to stay.  The report states: 

 
Throughout the world, some travelers prefer private dwellings to hotels.  For instance, 

those traveling as a family or group of friends often want spacious accommodations and 

kitchens.  This market segment will not substitute conventional lodging if vacation 

rentals are not provided, they will simply go elsewhere.  Thus, by eliminating vacation 

rentals, Napa County would deter a substantial number of visitors who currently spend on 

restaurants, wine, attractions and services and who would instead spend for leisure 

outside our County.
12

   

 

The 2008 study “Economic Impact of Transient Vacation Rentals (TVRs) on Maui County”
13

 

commissioned by the Realtors
®
 Association of Maui (the “Maui TVR Study”) reached a similar 

conclusion.  Acknowledging that “the TVR industry is concerned about . . . the potential 

enactment of legislation meant to marginalize [the TVR] industry, and the potential economic 

consequences of such policies,” the Maui TVR Study concluded: 

 
The extent of the loss of the TVR industry due to government regulations depends to 

what extent TVR visitors substitute an alternative Maui County accommodation type to 

TVRs if they are unavailable or not sufficiently available to meet the current and 

expected future demand level for their accommodation type.  In a global market place 

with alternatives to Maui destinations offering a literal potpourri of accommodation 

experiences, the modern, well-informed and sophisticated visitor can find the 

accommodations experience that best fits their tastes and preferences.   

 

Based on the increasing market share of TVRs on Maui from 2000 to 2006 relative to 

other accommodation types one can reasonably surmise that the modern visitor 

                                                 
12

 Napa Valley Vacation Rental Alliance (NVVRA): A Coalition of Napa County Stakeholders (prepared for Napa 

County by Napa Valley Vacation Rental Alliance (NVVRA), Jan. 2010) (available on-line at 

http://wwwhite.com/nvvra/media/WHY%20CODIFYING%20VACATION%20RENTALS%20NOW%20IS%20G

OOD%20PUBLIC%20POLICY.pdf).   
13

 “Economic Impact of Transient Vacation Rentals (TVRs) on Maui County,” prepared by Dr. Thomas Loudat & 

Dr. Prahlad Kasturi for the Realtors
®
 Association of Maui (Jan. 8, 2008) (hereinafter the “Maui TVR Study”). 

http://wwwhite.com/nvvra/media/WHY%20CODIFYING%20VACATION%20RENTALS%20NOW%20IS%20GOOD%20PUBLIC%20POLICY.pdf
http://wwwhite.com/nvvra/media/WHY%20CODIFYING%20VACATION%20RENTALS%20NOW%20IS%20GOOD%20PUBLIC%20POLICY.pdf


 

57 

 

increasingly prefers a TVR or its equivalent experience.  Thus, even though elimination 

of Maui TVRs may not result in the loss of all TVR visitors who may substitute an 

alternative Maui County accommodation type yet available, we would still expect a 

significantly negative economic impact in Maui County if TVRs are eliminated or 

significantly reduced.
14 

  

Recent studies show that short-term rentals account for a significant portion of the lodging 

market.  A market study of vacation rentals in the U.S. found that travelers spent $23 billion on 

vacation rentals in 2012, nearly one-fifth of the total U.S. lodging market.
15

   

 

The 2014 study “Economic Impact: Florida’s Vacation Rental Industry”
16

 used survey data and 

visitor spending estimates provided by Florida’s official tourism marketing corporation to 

calculate the economic impact of vacation rentals in terms of employment, visitor spending, and 

the overall state economy.  It concluded: 

 
▪ Florida’s vacation rental market has a total impact on economic output of $31.1 

billion. 

▪  Florida’s vacation rental industry directly or indirectly supports a total of 322,032 

jobs in Florida annually.   

▪ The total labor income generated by those 322,032 jobs is approximately $12.64 

billion per year. 

▪ The total estimated spending by visitors staying in vacation rental units is $13.43 

billion. 

▪ Total owner-management spending across all licensed rental units in Florida is $3.3 

billion.
17

 

 

As discussed in Section 6.4, the vacation rental industry can also have a significant impact on 

local economies.   

 

6.4 Local Economy 

Local economies that depend heavily on the tourist economy are more susceptible to the 

potential impacts of short-term rental restrictions.  Even a slight impact on tourism in these 

communities can have a significant negative effect on the viability and success of restaurants, 

retail establishments, and other local businesses that provide services to tourists.  The potential 

dollar impacts of a reduction in visitor numbers due to a short-term rental restriction is illustrated 

by the daily spending calculations of the Maui TVR Study, which calculated that transient 

vacation rental visitors spent an average of $159.16 per day in Maui County.
18

  Based on 2006 

transient vacation rental visitor data (105,967) and a 6.85 day average length of stay, the study 

                                                 
14

 Maui TVR Study at 1-2. 
15

 See Dennis Schaal, “Vacation Rentals in the U.S. Are Now a $23 Billion Industry,” Skift (Oct. 23, 2013) 

(available online at http://skift.com/2013/10/25/vacation-rentals-in-the-u-s-are-now-a-23-billion-industry/) (citing 

the PhoCusWright study “U.S. Vacation Rentals 2009-2014: A Market Reinvented”).    
16

 Economic Impact: Florida’s Vacation Rental Industry (2014, prepared by Thinkspot for the Florida Vacation 

Rental Managers Association) (hereinafter “Florida Vacation Rental Study”) (available online at 

http://gometeoric.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/FVRMAEconImpactReport_FINAL.pdf).   
17

 Florida Vacation Rental Study at 1.   
18

 See Maui TVR Study at 16.   

http://skift.com/2013/10/25/vacation-rentals-in-the-u-s-are-now-a-23-billion-industry/
http://gometeoric.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/FVRMAEconImpactReport_FINAL.pdf


 

58 

 

concluded that transient vacation rentals produced more than $115 million in total revenue from 

lodging, food and beverage, entertainment, shopping, and other county businesses and services.
19

 

 

Studies also demonstrate the significant impact that the vacation rental industry can have on local 

economies.  A 2013 study of private home rentals by the University of New Orleans Hospitality 

Research Center described the impact of private home vacation rentals on the New Orleans 

metro area economy as follows: 

 
In 2013, approximately 100,000 visitors to the New Orleans area stayed in private home 

rentals.  These visitors made a substantial contribution to the New Orleans metro area 

economy.  They generated a total economic impact of $174.8 million, comprised of $99.8 

million in direct spending and $74.9 million in secondary spending.  Visitor spending 

also resulted in the creation or support of nearly 2,200 full-and part-time jobs.  These jobs 

are expected to create a total of $56.1 million in additional earnings for residents of the 

New Orleans area. 

 

Visitor spending is also estimated to generate a total of $10.8 million in tax revenue for 

state and local governments.  Of that total, roughly $6.1 million will go to the State of 

Louisiana, and $4.7 million will be claimed by local governments in the New Orleans 

area.
20

 

 

Studies on the local impact of short-term rentals in the Myrtle Beach Area of South Carolina
21

 

and Coachella Valley, California
22

 reached similar conclusions.   The Coachella Valley study, for 

example, concluded that short-term rentals spending was an important part of the tourism 

industry, “ultimately creating thousands of jobs and millions of dollars of earnings and tax 

revenue for the community each year.”
23

   

  

6.5 Source of Tax Revenue  

Short-term rental restrictions can be a significant source of tax revenue in communities that are 

authorized by state law to impose and collect a tax on short-term rentals.  For example, in 2014 

the City of Newport Beach, California reportedly collected approximately $1.95 million in short-

term rental tax revenue.
24

  The City of San Clemente, California, reportedly collects about 

$280,000 per year on just 300 registered short-term rental properties.
25

   

 

Airbnb has used the lure of significant tax revenue in its attempts to legitimize its presence in 

jurisdictions where the short-term rental of a home is unlawful.  For example, on April 15, 2015 

                                                 
19

 See Maui TVR Study at 16-17 
20

 Private Home Rentals: Visitor Survey Results and Economic Impact Analysis 2013 (July 2014, prepared by The 

University of New Orleans Hospitality Research Center for the Alliance for Neighborhood Prosperity) (available 

online at http://neworleanscitybusiness.com/files/2014/09/Private-Home-Rentals-2013.pdf).   
21

 See The Local Impact of Participating Short Term Rentals in the Myrtle Beach Area (Spring 2014, TXP Inc.) 

(available online at http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Myrtle-Beach.pdf).   
22

 See The Local Impact of Participating Coachella Valley Short Term Rentals (Spring 2014, TXP Inc.) (available 

online at http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Coachella-0312141.pdf).   
23

 Id. at 7.   
24

 “Rental properties: Beach cities balancing potential revenue with parties, loud music, disrespect,” Orange County 

Register, May 26, 2015) (available online at http://www.ocregister.com/articles/beach-663028-rentals-short.html).   
25

 Id.   

http://neworleanscitybusiness.com/files/2014/09/Private-Home-Rentals-2013.pdf
http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Myrtle-Beach.pdf
http://www.stradvocacy.org/media/TXP-STRAC-Impact-Report-Coachella-0312141.pdf
http://www.ocregister.com/articles/beach-663028-rentals-short.html


 

59 

 

(Tax Day) the company sent a letter to the New York State Legislature stating that it would like 

to pay tens of millions of dollars in hotel and tourist taxes to the state.
26

  The letter read: 

 
Dear Members of the New York State Senate and Assembly, 

 

As New York families finish their taxes, we write to once again renew our request to 

work with you to ensure the Airbnb community can contribute even more tax revenue to 

the State. 

  

While other companies frequently attempt to avoid paying taxes, Airbnb has been 

working with governments around the world to help collect more tax revenue.  We 

provide 1099 forms to help our hosts pay income taxes on the money they earn while 

sharing their space.  We have also begun collecting and remitting hotel and tourist taxes 

in San Francisco, Portland, San Jose, Chicago, Washington, D.C., and Amsterdam and 

will expand this initiative to include other jurisdictions in the coming weeks and months.  

  

We would like to implement a similar  program in New York, but current State and New 

York City tax rules do not allow Airbnb to help collect and remit hotel and tourist taxes 

on behalf of our hosts and guests. 

  

We were hopeful that New York State would address this matter in this year’s budget. 

Unfortunately, one of the casualties of this year’s budget negotiations was a provision 

governing taxes in online marketplace transactions that could have generated millions of 

dollars of vital revenue for New Yorkers. 

 

The tax on electronic commerce would have required certain websites (or marketplace 

providers) to collect New York sales tax on sales made by remote sellers. It would have 

also enabled Airbnb to help collect and remit tens of millions of dollars in hotel and 

tourist taxes to the State of New York on behalf of our hosts and guests, the benefits of 

which would have been felt in every corner of our state. 

  

We continue to urge State and City leaders to let our community contribute more tax 

revenue to New York.  We urge members of the New York State Senate and Assembly to 

pass at least the portion of this legislation that would allow Airbnb to collect and remit 

taxes as quickly as possible. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely, 

David Hantman 

Airbnb
27

 

 

Airbnb has estimated that it could produce as much as $65 million annually in hotel occupancy 

taxes in New York state alone.
28

   

                                                 
26

 “Why Airbnb just wrote a letter to New York legislators begging to pay more taxes,” Business Insider (April 15, 

2015) (available online at http://www.businessinsider.com/airbnb-sends-letter-to-ny-state-legislature-2015-4). 
27

 Id.  
28

 See “As It Seeks New Regulations in NY, Airbnb Estimates It Would Collect $65 Million in Taxes There,” 

Techrunch (Jan. 16, 2015) (available online at http://techcrunch.com/2015/01/16/airbnb-65-million-in-ny/).   

http://www.businessinsider.com/airbnb-sends-letter-to-ny-state-legislature-2015-4
http://techcrunch.com/2015/01/16/airbnb-65-million-in-ny/


 

60 

 

 

In Massachusetts, the General Assembly is deliberating a bill that would impose a 5 percent state 

excise tax on short-term residential rentals and authorize cities and towns to impose a local 

excise tax of up to 6 percent.
29

  A 2014 report commissioned by the Island Housing Trust 

concluded that somewhere between 20 and 25 percent of homes on Martha’s Vineyard are rented 

at some point in the year.
30

  Using a 5 percent tax rate, the report estimated a local tax on short-

term rentals could yield a revenue stream of $3.4 million for summer rentals alone, and nearly 

double that amount ($6.3 million) including offseason rentals.
31

 

 

6.6 Affordable Housing  

(a) Impact of Short-Term Rentals  

Short-term rentals can affect housing costs in a community.  When property owners elect to rent 

their homes on a short-term basis rather than renting on a longer-term basis (e.g., by the season 

or by the year), “they essentially squeeze the supply of housing, pushing up the demand, and 

subsequently, the cost” of housing in the community.
32

  As discussed in Section 6.1, an analysis 

of Airbnb rentals in Los Angeles described how short-term rentals can affect the supply of 

affordable housing: 

The Los Angeles Department of City Planning’s Housing Needs Assessment shows that 

the city needs an additional 5,300 units of affordable housing each year to keep up with 

demand.  However, Los Angeles developers have only averaged about 1,100 units of 

affordable housing per year since 2006.  The 7,316 whole apartments currently listed on 

AirBnB represents nearly seven years’ of affordable housing construction at the current 

rate of housing development.
33

 

 

In vacation destination communities, where land prices tend to be inflated and second homes are 

prevalent, long-term rental housing often is in short supply.  A study of affordable housing in the 

Rocky Mountain communities observed that the supply of affordable housing is especially 

problematic in resort communities: 

 
In most Rockies resort communities there simply are not enough affordable housing 

units, forcing locals to commute hours to work while second-homes sit vacant; in these 

areas affordable housing is a crisis.  Second, third, or even fourth-home owners flooding 

Rocky Mountain resort towns transform small, inexpensive communities surrounding 

resort destinations into towns resembling Gucci-fringed Aspen and faux-cowboy Jackson 

                                                 
29

 See Massachusetts Bill H.2618 §§ 2, 3 (2015). 
30

 See “Senator Wolf backs legislation to allow towns to tax vacation rentals,” MV Times (June 10, 2015) (available 

online at http://www.mvtimes.com/2015/06/10/senator-wolf-backs-legislation-to-allow-towns-to-tax-vacation-

rentals/).   
31

 See id. 
32

 See Nate Hutcheson, “Short-Term Vacation Rentals: Residential or Commercial Use?,” Zoning News (March 

2002, American Planning Association) (hereinafter “APA Report”).   
33

 Airbnb, Rising Rent, and the Housing Crisis in Los Angeles at 16.   

http://www.mvtimes.com/2015/06/10/senator-wolf-backs-legislation-to-allow-towns-to-tax-vacation-rentals/
http://www.mvtimes.com/2015/06/10/senator-wolf-backs-legislation-to-allow-towns-to-tax-vacation-rentals/


 

61 

 

Hole.  Finding affordable housing for locals and service workers in these communities is 

difficult when the median house price is far from affordable, given their annual income.
34

 

 

The Town of Breckenridge, Colorado, home to the Breckenridge Ski Resort and within close 

proximity to three other ski resorts in Summit County, exemplifies the problem.  A 2014 case 

study of affordable housing in Breckenridge explained how the high-end second home market 

has effectively priced local residents out of the real estate market.   

 
As of 2010, Breckenridge had a population of 4,540 persons.  Residents resided in only 

28% of the 6,911 housing units in town—meaning about 1,946 housing units were 

occupied by year-round residents, with the remaining 4,965 units occupied by temporary 

visitors and owned by second homeowners. 

 

Home prices far exceed what local can afford to pay for housing.  The average sale price 

of residences in … Breckenridge was $585,509 ($382 per square foot).  These are 

affordable for households earning … $135,000 per year.  In comparison, the median 

household income in 2012 was … $70,000 in Breckenridge.  The average wage paid in 

the County was only $33,000. 

 

Because the cost of construction in the area and the premium that housing marketed to 

second homeowners can demand, much of the private market builds to meet visitor 

demands.  This means that even attached condominium product that may otherwise be 

affordable for locals are typically high-amenity with high homeowner association fees 

that make them unaffordable.
35

   

 

Beach communities likewise can suffer from a shortage of long-term rental housing.  On the 

Island of Martha’s Vineyard, only 44 percent of houses are occupied year-round.
36

  With a strong 

market demand for seasonal homes, the median home price of $650,000 would require a 

purchaser to have an income of $132,000, more than twice the Vineyard’s median income of 

$57,553.
37

  Year-round rental housing, the most affordable option on the Vineyard, has been 

described as “virtually nonexistent.”
38

   

 

(b) Speculative Buying and Investment in Short-Term Rentals  

In some cases, allowing short-term rentals may fuel speculation in rising housing markets by 

allowing investors to cover the carrying costs of a house for a period of time while the property 

                                                 
34

 Wiley Rogers, “Affordable Housing in the Rockies: Housing a Region in Transition at __ (2008 Colorado College 

State of the Rockies Report Card) ( available online at https://www.coloradocollege.edu/dotAsset/293cae6f-8a9e-

4a33-bff0-d37f17197b3b.pdf).   
35

 The Impact of Affordable Workforce Housing on Community Demographics, Economies, and Housing Prices and 

Options—Case Study: The Town of Breckenridge, Colorado at 4-5 (WSW Associates, Jan. 2014) (hereinafter 

“Breckenridge Case Study”) (available online at http://www.affordableownership.org/wp-

content/uploads/2015/03/Impacts-of-Workforce-Housing.pdf).   
36

 Martha’s Vineyard Island Plan – Section 8, Housing at 8-2 (Martha’s Vineyard Commission, 2009) (available 

online at http://www.islandplan.org/doc.php/Island%20Plan%20-%208.%20Housing.pdf?id=2654).   
37

 Id. at 8-2. 
38

 Barry Stringfellow, “Martha’s Vineyard housing shortage reaches critical mass,” MV Times (Feb. 18, 2015) 

(available online at http://www.mvtimes.com/2015/02/18/marthas-vineyard-housing-shortage-reaches-critical-

mass/).   

https://www.coloradocollege.edu/dotAsset/293cae6f-8a9e-4a33-bff0-d37f17197b3b.pdf
https://www.coloradocollege.edu/dotAsset/293cae6f-8a9e-4a33-bff0-d37f17197b3b.pdf
http://www.affordableownership.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Impacts-of-Workforce-Housing.pdf
http://www.affordableownership.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Impacts-of-Workforce-Housing.pdf
http://www.islandplan.org/doc.php/Island%20Plan%20-%208.%20Housing.pdf?id=2654
http://www.mvtimes.com/2015/02/18/marthas-vineyard-housing-shortage-reaches-critical-mass/
http://www.mvtimes.com/2015/02/18/marthas-vineyard-housing-shortage-reaches-critical-mass/


 

62 

 

appreciates in value and then sell it for a profit.
39

  This concern was voiced by the City Council 

of Boulder, Colorado in June 2015, then it directed staff to prepare a short-term rental ordinance 

in order to address the problem of investors buying so much property for use as short-term 

rentals that they were “displacing housing for residents.”
40

   

 

6.7 Governmental Administrative Costs  

Rental regulations tend to create additional administrative burdens on local government, 

including the processing of permit, licensing and registration applications.  In addition, local 

building officials are likely to be faced with an increased volume of required inspections.  Code 

enforcement personnel and the police officers may be required to assume additional enforcement 

duties under a rental ordinance.  For example, when the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin expanded 

its Residential Rental Inspection Program in January 2010, it published a “Frequently Asked 

Questions” webpage that addressed the a question about fees by explaining that the fees were 

necessary to “offset the cost of additional staff needed” to implement the program.
41

   

 

In the City of Lancaster, California, a fiscal analysis of a proposed Rental Housing Business 

License and Preservation Program detailed the following impacts to the city: 

 
Increase permanent staff by adding three Code Enforcement Officers and one 

administrative clerk in the Code Enforcement Division of the Housing & Neighborhood 

Revitalization Department to implement the Rental Inspection Program and the Group 

Home Ordinance.  Hiring of additional staff will require an ongoing annual increase to 

the budget as follows: $273,000 salaries and fringe benefit, $9,000 vehicle fuel, 

$1,350.00 for uniforms and one time increase of $17,000 for office equipment, furniture 

and supplies and $60,000 to purchase vehicles.  The budget amend above reflects salary 

costs and rental inspection revenues for 6 months.
42

 

 

In a vacation-destination community, the financial burden of administering a short-term rental 

ordinance may be substantial, particularly where a high volume of short-term rental properties 

causes the local government to hire additional staff or pay increased overtime costs to current 

staff in order to implement the short-term rental program.  When the City of Santa Monica, 

California passed an ordinance that prohibits residents from renting out their home when they’re 

not present, the city determined that it would need to hire additional staff in order to enforce the 

measure.
43

  In April 2015, Santa Monica’s acting chief administrative officer for code 

                                                 
39

 See id.   
40

 See Erica Meltzer, “Boulder council: Preserving housing for residents will guide short-term rental regulations,” 

Daily Camera (June 2, 2015) (available online at http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-

short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility).   
41

 City of Milwaukee, WI  - Frequently asked Questions for Residential Rental Inspection (RRI) Program (available 

online at http://city.milwaukee.gov/DNS/RRI).   
42

 City of Lancaster, CA – Staff Report on Proposed Ordinance for Rental Housing Business License and 

Preservation Inspection Program (Jan. 9, 2007) (available online at 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=12&ved=0CCMQFjABOAo&url=ht

tp%3A%2F%2Fwww.cityoflancasterca.org%2FModules%2FShowDocument.aspx%3Fdocumentid%3D1479&ei=C

9WeVbWRCcurNunkurgK&usg=AFQjCNGThK8KZla0-L6NlDzwl6gH7jrtUA).   
43

 “Santa Monica council unanimously approves Airbnb regulations; hosts to pay tax,” 89.3 KPCC (May 13, 2015) 

(available online at http://www.scpr.org/news/2015/05/12/51625/airbnb-says-santa-monica-proposed-legislation-is-

u/).   

http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility
http://www.dailycamera.com/news/boulder/ci_28240692/boulder-short-term-rental-owners-plea-flexibility
http://city.milwaukee.gov/DNS/RRI
http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=12&ved=0CCMQFjABOAo&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.cityoflancasterca.org%2FModules%2FShowDocument.aspx%3Fdocumentid%3D1479&ei=C9WeVbWRCcurNunkurgK&usg=AFQjCNGThK8KZla0-L6NlDzwl6gH7jrtUA
http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=12&ved=0CCMQFjABOAo&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.cityoflancasterca.org%2FModules%2FShowDocument.aspx%3Fdocumentid%3D1479&ei=C9WeVbWRCcurNunkurgK&usg=AFQjCNGThK8KZla0-L6NlDzwl6gH7jrtUA
http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=12&ved=0CCMQFjABOAo&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.cityoflancasterca.org%2FModules%2FShowDocument.aspx%3Fdocumentid%3D1479&ei=C9WeVbWRCcurNunkurgK&usg=AFQjCNGThK8KZla0-L6NlDzwl6gH7jrtUA
http://www.scpr.org/news/2015/05/12/51625/airbnb-says-santa-monica-proposed-legislation-is-u/
http://www.scpr.org/news/2015/05/12/51625/airbnb-says-santa-monica-proposed-legislation-is-u/


 

63 

 

enforcement determined that, due to the “proliferation of Airbnb,” the city needed to hire two 

additional code enforcement officers and one administrative staff person in order to crack down 

on the problem of illegal short-term rentals.
44

   

 

In the City of Boulder, Colorado, a staff report on a proposal to expand the city’s rental licensing 

code to expressly permit short-term rentals stated that the regulation of short-term rentals “will 

require the expenditure of city funds for which there is no budget” and “will require additional 

staff.”
45

 

 

                                                 
44

 “Santa Monica Officials Look to Crack Down on Illegal Short Term Rentals,” Santa Monica Lookout, April 24, 

2015 (available online at http://www.surfsantamonica.com/ssm_site/the_lookout/news/News-2015/April-

2015/04_24_2015_Santa_Monica_Officials_Look_To_Crack_Down_on_Illegal_Short_Term_Rentals.html).  
45

 City of Boulder, CO – City Council Agenda Staff Report (June 2, 2015) (available online at https://www-

static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/short-term-rentals-city-council-1-201506021017.pdf).   

http://www.surfsantamonica.com/ssm_site/the_lookout/news/News-2015/April-2015/04_24_2015_Santa_Monica_Officials_Look_To_Crack_Down_on_Illegal_Short_Term_Rentals.html
http://www.surfsantamonica.com/ssm_site/the_lookout/news/News-2015/April-2015/04_24_2015_Santa_Monica_Officials_Look_To_Crack_Down_on_Illegal_Short_Term_Rentals.html
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/short-term-rentals-city-council-1-201506021017.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/short-term-rentals-city-council-1-201506021017.pdf


 

64 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

SECTION 7. UNINTENDED CONSEQUENCES OF RENTAL REGULATIONS  

7.1 “Underground Market” for Rental Units  

Regulations that prohibit or impose high permit and licensing fees, onerous inspection 

requirements, and performance standards that are difficult or costly for owners to satisfy might 

have the unintended effect of creating an underground market for short-term rentals, in which 

owners continue to rent their properties without obtaining the requisite permits.
1
  For example, in 

2013—a year before the City of Portland, Oregon passed an ordinance legalizing, but regulating, 

short-term rentals—as many as 1,000 Portland residents reportedly were renting out a home or a 

room in their home through online rental platforms such as Airbnb and VRBO.
2
  In the City of 

Santa Monica, California, city officials believed that as many as 1,700 illegal short-term vacation 

rentals were operating in the city, triggering a need for the city to hire additional code 

enforcement and administrative personnel to address the problem.
3
   

 

According to the article “How to Safely Make Money on Short-Term Rentals,” short-term rentals 

are often used as a way to avoid foreclosure and can cover a substantial portion of the mortgage 

on a vacation home: 

 
According to vacation rental website HomeAway, about 21% of its customers listed a 

property in 2009 after a recent job loss, the inability to sell a home or foreclosure risk.  It 

makes sense: 48% of customers with financed properties can cover 75% of their 

mortgage by renting it short-term.
4
 

 

Owners who depend on rental income to pay their mortgages to pay the maintenance costs of a 

second home may be willing to risk incurring fines and other penalties if an ordinance creates 

obstacles that cannot be overcome or that may make it economically infeasible to obtain a rental 

permit.
5
   

                                                 
1
 See “Short-Term Rental Apartments Face Rising Calls for Regulation, The New York Times, July 17, 2014 

(available online at http://www.nytimes.com/2014/07/18/greathomesanddestinations/short-term-rental-apartments-

face-rising-calls-for-regulation.html) (quoting Homeaway’s chief strategy officer as saying that “Overly restrictive 

laws or bans are akin to the U.S.’s Prohibition era in the 1930s.  They are ineffective and drive the activity 

underground, which is clearly detrimental to all.”).    
2
 See “House rentals hide in shadows: Web short-term vacation rooms proliferate while avoiding hotel taxes and 

oversight,” Portland Tribune, Jan. 3, 2013 (available online at http://portlandtribune.com/pt/9-news/125888-house-

rentals-hide-in-shadows).   
3
 “Santa Monica Officials Look to Crack Down on Illegal Short Term Rentals,” Santa Monica Lookout, April 24, 

2015 (available online at http://www.surfsantamonica.com/ssm_site/the_lookout/news/News-2015/April-

2015/04_24_2015_Santa_Monica_Officials_Look_To_Crack_Down_on_Illegal_Short_Term_Rentals.html). 
4
 “How to Safely Make Money on Short-Term Rentals,” Fox Business, Sept. 14, 2011 (available online at 

http://www.foxbusiness.com/personal-finance/2011/09/14/how-to-safely-make-money-on-short-term-rentals/).   
5
 See “Renting rooms one way to avoid foreclosure,” Seattle Times, July 23, 2010 (available online at 

http://www.seattletimes.com/business/real-estate/renting-rooms-one-way-to-avoid-foreclosure/); see also “More 

destinations shut the door on vacation rentals, USA Today, August 6, 2010 (commenting that the ban on short-term 

rentals in New York City apartments, most of which are already prohibited under many condominium and co-op 

bylaws, “will simply go further underground”).    

http://www.nytimes.com/2014/07/18/greathomesanddestinations/short-term-rental-apartments-face-rising-calls-for-regulation.html
http://www.nytimes.com/2014/07/18/greathomesanddestinations/short-term-rental-apartments-face-rising-calls-for-regulation.html
http://portlandtribune.com/pt/9-news/125888-house-rentals-hide-in-shadows
http://portlandtribune.com/pt/9-news/125888-house-rentals-hide-in-shadows
http://www.surfsantamonica.com/ssm_site/the_lookout/news/News-2015/April-2015/04_24_2015_Santa_Monica_Officials_Look_To_Crack_Down_on_Illegal_Short_Term_Rentals.html
http://www.surfsantamonica.com/ssm_site/the_lookout/news/News-2015/April-2015/04_24_2015_Santa_Monica_Officials_Look_To_Crack_Down_on_Illegal_Short_Term_Rentals.html
http://www.foxbusiness.com/personal-finance/2011/09/14/how-to-safely-make-money-on-short-term-rentals/
http://www.seattletimes.com/business/real-estate/renting-rooms-one-way-to-avoid-foreclosure/


 

65 

 

 

7.2 Uncertainty in the Rental Housing Market  

A rental regulation that makes a required rental permit non-transferrable can introduce a degree 

of uncertainty into to rental market.  For example, under the City of Anaheim, California’s short-

term rental program short-term rentals permits are non-transferable—any change in ownership 

requires that a new rental permit application be submitted and a new registration fee paid.
6
  The 

non-transferability of a short-term rental creates uncertainty about whether a buyer will be 

allowed to rent out a home in order to offset the purchase and maintenance costs, which could 

have a negative impact on the market for second homes.  In a community with a strong second-

home market, the result could be that houses will decrease in value because they will appeal only 

to the limited market of buyers who have no interest in making the property available to short-

term renters.  The lack of certainty as to whether a home could be used a vacation rental might 

also make it more difficult for buyers to secure financing for a second home in those areas, 

because the potential purchaser will not be able to give the lender assurances that there will be a 

contingent stream of income to offset the carrying costs of the property, if necessary. 

 

A short-term rental regulation that authorizes the suspension or revocation of a short-term rental 

permit can also introduce a degree of uncertainty in the short-term rental housing market.  

Vacation travelers often reserve short-term housing accommodations several months in advance 

of a planned vacation, particularly when the stay is planned during a destination’s peak visitation 

period.  Under those circumstances, for example, it is conceivable that a family may make a 

reservation and pay a deposit several months in advance of a holiday ski vacation only to 

discover later that the home they had reserved is no longer available because its short-term rental 

permit was suspended or revoked.  In some cases, by the time a vacation home renter makes that 

discovery, it may be too late to find suitable alternative short-term housing, leaving the 

vacationer with a negative impression of the local community―an impression that the vacationer  

is likely to share with others. 

 

7.3 Potential Liability for Realtors®  

Rental regulations have the potential to expose Realtors
®
 to liabilities and penalties for a 

violation.  For example, in 2014 the City of Fairlawn, Ohio considered adopting an amendment 

to its landlord licensing code that contained the following provision: 

 
Landlord License Required. Any owner, agent, person or entity desiring to receive 

income from the rental of an apartment, house or other residential dwelling unit must 

possess a Landlord License before receiving rental income.
7
 

 

This language could be interpreted to require that a Realtor
® 

have a landlord license if he or she 

collects rent from a tenant.  This concern might arise, for example, if the Realtor
® 

serves a 

management function for a landlord who resides elsewhere, or even, possibly, if the Realtor
®
 

                                                 
6
 See City of Anaheim, CA – Short-Term Rental Program (available online at 

http://www.anaheim.net/articlenew2222.asp?id=5284).   
7
 See City of Fairlawn, OH – Proposed Ordinance 2014-073 § 1504.05(a) (available online at 

http://www.cityoffairlawn.com/DocumentCenter/View/3426).   

http://www.anaheim.net/articlenew2222.asp?id=5284
http://www.cityoffairlawn.com/DocumentCenter/View/3426


 

66 

 

marketing the property for lease needs to collect a deposit of first month’s rent with the signing 

of a new lease.   

 

The proposed Fairlawn ordinance also contained a provision that forbid an “owner, agent or 

person in charge” of a residential unit from renting or leasing it for residential occupancy unless 

the owner obtained a certificate of inspection for the rental unit in question.  This provision can 

be read as imposing an affirmative duty on an agent—e.g., a Realtor
®
 who is brokering a 

residential property for lease or rent—to ensure that the property owner has a current inspection 

certificate before having a prospective tenant enter into a lease agreement.  A violation of either 

of these provisions would subject a Realtor
®
 to potential administrative and/or criminal penalties 

under Chapter 1520 of the Fairlawn City Code.  

 

7.4 Unnecessary Duplication of Existing Codes 

As discussed in Section 3.1, communities often adopt rental regulations for the purpose of 

protecting the residential neighborhoods from the negative impacts that often are associated with 

rental housing, such as excessive noise, late night parties, trespassing, increased traffic, and other 

activities that disrupt the neighborhood character.  In order to address these perceived negative 

impacts, communities often include performance-type standards in their rental regulations, such 

as maximum occupancy restrictions, noise limitations, and minimum parking requirements.  To 

the extent that the conditions addressed by these performance standards (i.e., overcrowding, 

excessive noise, and off-street parking) are attributable to rental properties, the adoption of 

performance standards generally makes sense.  However, these types of performance standards 

can unnecessarily duplicate existing provisions of a community’s building, nuisance, and other 

codes.  Generally speaking, such duplication will result in regulatory provisions that are either 

redundant or inconsistent.    

 

For example, the rental regulations that were proposed for the City of Marco Island, Florida in 

2014 were intended to “insure [that] property owners adjacent to rental units are not being 

adversely impacted by unruly renters (noise, trash, vehicle parking).”
8
  To address those 

concerns, the proposed rental regulations included provisions that banned noise disturbances 

after 10:00 pm, required trash to be stored in covered containers, and established minimum off-

street parking requirements for rental properties.
9  

While these provisions arguably made sense, 

the Marco Island City Code already contained generally applicable provisions that addressed 

noise (Article IV – Noise Control), trash (Article II – Nuisance, Litter, Weed, Plant, and Right-

of-Way Control Ordinance), and parking (Article II, Stopping, Standing and Parking).    

 

A similar duplication of existing code provisions arose with respect to the vacation rental 

ordinance proposed for Sonoma County, California in 2010.  The proposed ordinance contained 

a set of “Performance Standards” that were intended to “ensure that vacation rentals are 

compatible with and do not adversely impact surrounding residential and agricultural uses.”  The 

proposed “Performance Standards,” which included noise limits and trash and recycling 

                                                 
8
 See City of Marco Island, FL - Proposed Rental Regulations and Planning Board Memorandum, August 6, 2014 

(available online at http://www.cityofmarcoisland.com/modules/showdocument.aspx?documentid=15739).   
9
 See id.   

http://www.cityofmarcoisland.com/modules/showdocument.aspx?documentid=15739


 

67 

 

requirements, likewise duplicated generally applicable provisions of existing Sonoma County 

codes.   

 

7.5 Shifting Rentals to Areas Where They Currently Are Not a Problem 

As discussed in Sections 3.3(a) and (c), communities sometimes respond to concerns about 

short-term rentals by banning them in certain neighborhoods or zoning districts.  For example, a 

community might ban short-term rentals from all or some of its designated single-family zoning 

districts.  In 2015, the resort town of Ocean City, Maryland debated the creation of a new zoning 

district that would ban residential rentals for a term of less than a year.
10

  The proposed R-1A 

single-family residential district was substantially similar in all respects to the R-1 single-family 

residential district that already existed under the Ocean City Zoning Ordinance, with the 

exception that the proposed R-1A district would prohibit short-term rentals, while the existing R-

1 district did allow short-term rentals.   

 

The proposal to establish the R-1A district is reportedly was driven by the residents of a 

particular neighborhood known as the Mallard Island subdivision.  A newspaper article reported 

that nearly 80 percent of the property owners in the Mallard Island subdivision signed a petition 

requesting that the neighborhood be rezoned to R-1A, even though the district does not currently 

exist.
11

  The City Zoning Administrator explained the proposal as follows: 

  
What is being requested by the Mallard Island subdivision is they will like a hybrid single 

family residential district … an R-1A single family district will prohibit short-term 

rentals and allow only year-round rentals where you cannot rent less than 12 months.  It 

would protect single family neighborhoods from not having transient rentals.
12

  

 

If established by the City Council of Ocean City,
13

 the proposed R-1A district presumably would 

benefit Mallard Island (which reportedly generates most of the complaints received by Ocean 

City about short-term rentals) and other neighborhoods that are opposed to short-term rentals.  

However, the R-1A district could have the effect of shifting short-term rentals away from 

Mallard Island and into other Ocean City neighborhoods where they currently are not a problem.     

 

   

 

                                                 
10

 See “Ocean City returns to question of vacation rentals,” The Baltimore Sun, July 7, 2015 (available online at 

http://touch.baltimoresun.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-83943420/).   
11

 “OC Weighing New Housing District That Would Prohibit Short-Term Rentals in Certain Areas,” The Dispatch 

(May 7, 2015). 
12

 Id.  
13

 As of July 2015, the city council was still debating the proposal.  See “Ocean City returns to question of vacation 

rentals,” The Baltimore Sun, July 7, 2015. 

http://touch.baltimoresun.com/#section/-1/article/p2p-83943420/


 

68 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

SECTION 8. RENTAL REGULATIONS AND PROPERTY RIGHTS  

8.1 The Bundle of Property Rights 

Property ownership in the United States is commonly expressed metaphorically as a “bundle of rights” 

or a “bundle of sticks.”
1 

 The concept of property ownership as a bundle of rights “is an abstract notion 

that analytically describes property as a collection of rights vis-à-vis others, rather than rights to a 

‘thing,’ like a house or a piece of land.”
2 

 The bundle of rights pertaining to ownership includes the 

rights to possess and use the property, the right to exclude others from the property, and the right to gain 

income from the property by “foregoing personal use . . . and allowing others to use it.”
3
  At the same 

time, zoning and environmental regulations impose limitations on the “absolute” nature of property 

ownership.  Today, it is commonly understood and generally accepted that some degree of such 

regulation is a condition of owning property under our American system. 

 

8.2 The Right to Rent Private Property 

Among the core rights that a property owner typically has, and that an owner does not expect to 

be deprived of by regulation, is the right to lease or rent the property on a temporary basis to 

another party.  That party temporarily acquires, in exchange for payment of rent, one of the 

“sticks” in the bundle of property rights—the right to use and occupy the property for the agreed 

upon rental period to the exclusion of all others.
4
   

 

In a 2001 decision that invalidated a variance condition prohibiting a home from being used for 

rental purposes, the Supreme Court of Connecticut recognized the bundle of rights view of 

property ownership and identified the “right of rent” as one of the sticks in that bundle.  The 

Court stated: 

 
[It] is undisputable that the right of property owners to rent their real estate is one of the 

bundle of rights that, taken together, constitute the essence of ownership of property….  

The question that the present case poses, therefore, is whether, under the facts of this 

case, the continued maintenance of the no rental condition serves “a legal and useful 

purpose.”  We conclude that it does not. 

 

Owners of a single-family residence can do one of three economically productive things 

with the residence: (1) live in it; (2) rent it; or (3) sell it.  Thus, if the owners of a single-

family residence do not choose, for reasons of family size or other valid reasons, to live 

                                                 
1
 See Denise R. Johnson, Reflections on the Bundle of Rights, 32 VERMONT L. REV. 247 (2007) (hereinafter 

“Johnson”).   
2
 Johnson at 247. 

3
 Johnson at 253. 

4
 See J.E. Penner, The “Bundle of Rights” Picture of Property, 43 UCLA L. REV. 711 (1996) (noting that 

conventional “bundle of rights” formulation and various views of the “bundle of rights”). 



 

69 

 

in the house they own, their only viable options are to rent it or to divest themselves 

entirely of their ownership by selling it.
5
   

 

In invalidating the variance condition, the court observed: 

 
Stripping the plaintiffs of essentially one-third of their bundle of economically productive 

rights constituting ownership is a very significant restriction on their right of ownership.  

In addition, when the variance was granted in 1986, the no rental condition deprived the 

plaintiffs only of the right to rent their property on a seasonal basis.  With the change in 

the zoning regulations, however, the plaintiffs now also have lost the more significant 

right to rent their property on a year-round basis, resulting in a total loss of the right to 

rent.
6 
  

 

Though the Gangemi decision pertained to a variance condition prohibiting a home from being 

used for rental purposes, the reasoning of the Supreme Court of Connecticut can be applied to 

the general context of residential rental regulations. 

 

8.3 Local Government Authority to Regulate  

An ordinance that outright prohibits property owners from renting their homes, or restricts their 

right to rent by subjecting residential rentals to a discretionary permit requirement, clearly 

impairs the fundamental right of private property owners to rent their properties by stripping 

them of “one-third of their bundle of economically productive rights” that constitute ownership.   

The question is the degree to which this significant governmental restriction of a productive 

property right has been held to be valid, and under what circumstances. 

In general, rental regulations are adopted under the general police power delegated to local 

governments by the state constitution or by statute, or pursuant to the zoning authority granted to 

local governments by a state zoning enabling statute.  These sources of local regulatory authority 

are discussed below. 

(a) Police Power  

The concept of “police power” is generally understood  to mean “the exercise of the sovereign 

right of a government to promote order, safety, health, morals and the general welfare of society 

within constitutional limits.”
7
  The police power is an inherent attribute of sovereignty that does 

not depend on a constitutional reservation.
8
   Because the police power resides in the states, it is 

generally held that local governments have no police power unless it has been delegated to them 

                                                 
5
 Gangemi v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals of the Town of Fairfield, 763 A.2d 1011, 1015-16 (Conn. 2001) (citing J. 

DUKEMINIER & J. KRIER, PROPERTY at 86 (3d ed. 1993) (stating (“[property] consists of a number of disparate 

rights, a ‘bundle’ of them: the right to possess, the right to use, the right to exclude, the right to transfer”).  

(Emphasis added) 
6
 Id. at 1016. (Emphasis added) 

7
 See 6 ROHAN: ZONING AND LAND USE CONTROLS, Ch. 35, Sources of Zoning Power, § 35.03[1] (LexisNexis 

Matthew Bender) (hereinafter “ROHAN”). 
8
 EUGENE MCQUILLIN, 6A THE LAW OF MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS § 24:2 (3d. ed., 2015) (hereinafter 

“MCQUILLIN”). 



 

70 

 

by the state constitution or by enabling legislation.
9
  For example, in Ohio the police power is 

delegated to municipalities by Article 18, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State of Ohio, 

which states:  

 
Municipalities shall have authority to exercise all powers of local self-government and to 

adopt and enforce within their limits such local police, sanitary and other similar 

regulations, as are not in conflict with general laws.
10

 

 

Article XI, Section 7 of the California Constitution contains a similarly broad grant of authority: 

“A county or city may make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary, and other 

ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws.”
11

   

 

(b) Zoning Power 

The zoning power—generally defined as the governmental right to control the use of real 

property—is a form of the police power.
12

  The power to zone is exercised primarily by local 

government.  However, as noted above, local governments have no inherent police powers and 

therefore have no inherent power to zone.  Consequently, before a local government can legally 

exercise the zoning power, it must receive a delegation of that power from the sovereign that 

inherently possesses it, namely, the state.   

 

In the landmark decision Village of Euclid v. Amber Realty Co.,
13

 the U.S. Supreme Court made 

clear that the police power was the source of local zoning power.  In validating the zoning 

ordinance adopted by the Village of Euclid, Ohio, the Court stated: 

 
The ordinance now under review and all similar laws and regulations must find their 

jurisdiction in some aspect of the police power, asserted for the public welfare.  The line 

in which this field separates the legitimate from the illegitimate assumption of power is 

not capable of precise delimitation.  It varies with circumstances and conditions.  A 

regulatory zoning ordinance, which would be clearly valid as applied to grate cities, 

might clear be invalid as applied to rural communities….  Thus the question whether the 

power exists to forbid the erection of a building of a particular kind or of a particular use, 

like the question whether a particular thing is a nuisance, is to be determined, not by 

abstract consideration of the building or of the thing considered apart, but by considering 

it in connection with the circumstances and locality.
14

   
 

Today, the vast majority of states have authorized local governments to enact zoning regulations 

through enabling legislation.
15

  Many of these enabling laws were modeled in whole or in part 

after the Standard Zoning Enabling Act, a model act prepared by the Commerce Department in 

1924 that provided for a general delegation of power from the state to a municipality to regulate 

the basic power to zone.    

                                                 
9
 See id.   

10
 Ohio Const. Art. 18 § 3.   

11
 California Const. Art. XI § 7.   

12
 MCQUILLIN § 35.01. 

13
 Village of Euclid v. Amber Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365 (1926) 

14
 Id. at 388.   

15
 See ROHAN § 35.03[2][b] (citing the zoning enabling statutes enacted by 45 states). 



 

71 

 

 

8.4 Authority to Regulate Residential Rentals 

(a) Regulation of Residential Rentals Under General Police Power Authority 

Communities that have adopted a rental ordinance often cite the general police power as the 

source of their authority to regulate residential rentals.  The adopted ordinances typically begin 

with a series of “whereas” clauses (i.e., findings) that describe the alleged adverse impacts that 

rentals have on neighboring properties or the community, followed by a finding that the 

regulation of such rental properties is necessary to promote the public health, safety and welfare. 

 

One example of this approach is the vacation rental ordinance adopted by the Village of Bal 

Harbour, Florida in May, 2011.
16

  Several “whereas” clauses of the Bal Harbour ordinance 

describe the negative impacts of vacation rentals on residential neighborhoods, stating in relevant 

part that: 

 
[Vacation rentals] can result in incompatible adverse impacts on neighborhoods, 

including, but not limited to, increased noise, garbage, litter and traffic, changes to the 

private residential character of the neighborhood ... increase[d] demands on water and 

wastewater and on the Village’s code enforcement, police, fire and emergency services 

beyond those demands created by residential dwelling units ... [and that] short-term 

vacation rental use and longer term residential use are generally incompatible due to the 

rapid turnover associated with short-term vacation rental use and its disruptive effect on 

the peaceful use and enjoyment of residential areas ....
17

 

 

The “whereas” clauses conclude that the “regulation of vacation rentals is necessary to protect 

the public health, safety, and welfare of the Village, its residents and its visitors” and that “the 

adoption of [the vacation rental ordinance] is in the best interest and welfare of the residents of 

the Village.”
18

  The Bal Harbour ordinance also expressly cites Article VII, Section 2 of the 

Florida Constitution, and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, which “provide municipalities with the 

authority to exercise any power for municipal purposes, except where prohibited by law, and to 

adopt ordinances in furtherance thereof.”
19

 

  

Another example is the vacation rental licensing ordinance adopted by the City of Evanston, 

Illinois, which cites Article VII, Section (6)a of the Illinois Constitution as the source of its 

authority to “exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs” and to “adopt ordinances ... and regulations that protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of its residents.”
20

  Section 5-9-1 of the Evanston ordinance states: “The purpose of this 

                                                 
16

 Bal Harbour Village, FL – Ordinance No. 2011-549, Providing for Vacation Rental Use Regulations (available 

online at http://www.balharbourgov.com/static/sitefiles/events/BHV20120919075459.pdf).   
17

 Id. at 2.   
18

 Id. at 2-3 (emphasis added).   
19

 Id. at 2.   
20

 Evanston (IL) Ordinance No. 50-O-13 (Enacting a New Title 5, Chapter 9 of the City Code to Require the 

Licensing of Vacation Rentals) (available online at https://www.cityofevanston.org/assets/50-O-

13%20Licensing%20%20of%20Vacation%20Rentals%20Ordinance.pdf).   

http://www.balharbourgov.com/static/sitefiles/events/BHV20120919075459.pdf
https://www.cityofevanston.org/assets/50-O-13%20Licensing%20%20of%20Vacation%20Rentals%20Ordinance.pdf
https://www.cityofevanston.org/assets/50-O-13%20Licensing%20%20of%20Vacation%20Rentals%20Ordinance.pdf


 

72 

 

Chapter is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare by licensing the operation of 

Vacation Rentals within the City of Evanston.”
21

  

   

(b) Regulation of Residential Rentals Under the Zoning Power 

As discussed in Section 8.3(b), the zoning power of local government is a form of the police 

power.  Consequently, state zoning enabling statutes generally contain the same “public health, 

safety and welfare” language contained in constitutional or statutory provisions delegating the 

police power to local government.  For example, the general grant of zoning authority in 

Michigan’s zoning  enabling statute states, in relevant part:  

A local unit of government may provide by zoning ordinance for the regulation of land 

development and the establishment of one or more districts within its zoning jurisdiction 

which regulate the use of land and structures ... to promote public health, safety, and 

welfare.
22

    

Communities that choose to regulate short-term rentals as a land use—e.g., by designating short-

term rentals a special use or conditional use and requiring a discretionary permit—typically do so 

through an amendment to their zoning regulations.  For example, the City of Venice, Florida 

adopted its “resort dwellings” ordinance—which prohibits new resort dwelling units in the RE 

and RSF single-family zoning districts—as Section 86-151 of the city’s Land Development 

Code.
23

  Miami Beach, Florida, which bans short-term rentals in certain residential districts, also 

adopted its short-term rental regulations as an amendment to its zoning code.
24

      

8.5 Limitations on Government Authority to Regulate Rental Housing  

(a) General Principle  

A key characteristic of the police power is that it is a “reasonable preference of public over 

private interests.”
25

  The lawful exercise of the police power necessarily interferes in some 

respects with the rights of individuals, but “is justified on the ground and only to the extent that it 

is required in order to protect the personal and property rights of others, and advance the best 

interests of society.”
26

  Court decisions have established that property owners are entitled to use 

and enjoy their property subject only to the reasonable exercise of the police power.  A law or 

regulation that deprives an owner of a property right “cannot be sustained under the police power 

unless due regard for the public health, safety, comfort, or welfare requires it.”
27

 

 

  

                                                 
21

 Evanston (IL) City Code § 5-9-1.   
22

 Michigan Zoning Enabling Act § 125.3201(1) (emphasis added).   
23

 City of Venice, FL Land Development Code § 86-151 (Resort Dwellings). 
24

 The Miami Beach, FL short-term rental regulations are codified in various sections of Chapter 142 (Zoning 

Districts and Regulations) of the Miami Beach Code of Ordinances.   
25

 MCQUILLIN § 24.5 (citing City of West Covina v. Perkins, 525 U.S. 234 (1999), Miller v. Schoene, 276 U.S. 272 

(1928)).   
26

 MCQUILLIN § 24.5.   
27

 MCQUILLIN § 24.22 (citations omitted).   



 

73 

 

(b) Constitutional Limits on the Police Power 

Local government regulations can raise federal constitutional questions based on federal 

constitutional provisions that are drawn from the Bill of Rights
28

 and the supremacy clause
29

 

which, together, establish the “floor” of federally protected rights, below which states and local 

governments may not go in imposing regulations.   But the constitutions of the states and related 

court decisions can expand (i.e., give greater protection) on these rights. 

 

(i) Due Process  

The right to due process exists under both federal constitutional law and state constitutional law.  

The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution prohibits any governmental action that 

deprives “any person of … liberty or property, without due process of law.”  This clause 

imposes both substantive and procedural requirements.
30

  The substantive component of the 

federal due process clause, known as “substantive due process,” tests the governmental purposes 

implemented by land use regulations.  To satisfy substantive due process, a regulation must 

advance a legitimate governmental purpose.
31

  In general, a local land use ordinance will survive 

a federal substantive due process challenge if there exists a “rational relationship” between the 

provisions of the ordinance and a legitimate governmental interest.
32

  A local ordinance may be 

challenged on federal substantive due process grounds either on its face, or as applied to a 

particular case.  When a landowner makes a facial challenge to a zoning ordinance, “he or she 

argues that any application of the ordinance is unconstitutional.”
33

  On the other hand, when a 

landowner makes an as applied challenge, he or she attacks “only the specific decision that 

applied the ordinance to his or her property, not the ordinance in general.”
34

   The federal 

constitutional claim is that the ordinance or provision, on its face or as applied, violates 

substantive due process because there is no rational relationship between the provision or 

ordinance in question and a legitimate governmental purpose. 

 

The corollary to this federal substantive due process requirement is the requirement under state 

constitutions that every local enactment “bear a rational relationship to a legitimate governmental 

purpose and be free from arbitrary and capricious governmental actions.”
35

   The state 

constitutional claim is that the ordinance or provision, on its face or as applied, bears no rational 

relationship to a legitimate governmental purpose and therefore is arbitrary and capricious. 

 

 

                                                 
28

 The first ten amendments to the U.S. Constitution. 
29

 This clause, found in the second paragraph of Article VI of the federal constitution, states that there are certain 

minimum constitutional requirements that the states must observe.   
30

 Generally speaking, the principle of procedural due process is that when the state or federal government acts in 

such a way that denies a citizen of a life, liberty, or property interest, the person must first be given notice and the 

opportunity to be heard.   
31

 See SALKIN § 15:2.   
32

 See id.   
33

 WMX Technologies, Inc. v. Gasconade County, 105 F.3d 1195, 1198-99 n.1 (8th Cir. 1997) (emphasis added). 
34

 See SALKIN § 15:2. 
35

 MCQUILLIN § 24.29.   



 

74 

 

(ii) Equal Protection  

Equal protection guarantees also are found under both federal constitutional law and state 

constitutional law.  The federal Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

commands that no state shall “deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of 

the laws,” which states the basic principle that all persons similarly situated should be treated 

alike.
36

  The general rule is that a state or local law is presumed to be valid and will be sustained 

if the classification drawn by the law is rationally related to a legitimate state interest.
37

  If a local 

or state law does not involve a suspect classification (e.g., one that treats persons differently on 

the basis of  race, alienage, or national origin) or a fundamental right (e.g., the right to vote, the 

right to interstate travel), then an equal protection challenge is analyzed under the rational basis 

test.  The rational basis test is a deferential test, under which an ordinance generally will be 

upheld by a court if there is any “reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a 

rational basis for the classification.”
38

  Moreover, under the rational basis test a legislative body 

is not required to articulate its reasons for enacting an ordinance, because “[i]t is entirely 

irrelevant for constitutional purposes whether the conceived reason for the challenged distinction 

actually motivated the legislature.”
39

  This means that a court may find a rational basis for a law 

or ordinance, even if it is one that was not articulated by the legislative body. 

 

A 2009 law review article observed that state equal protection principles are similar to but, in 

some cases, extend beyond the scope of federal equal protection:   

 
Similar wording on state and local governmental duties are repeated in many American 

state constitutions.  In South Carolina, Illinois, Louisiana, Maine, North Carolina, 

Nebraska, Georgia, and Montana, no person is to be “denied the equal protection of the 

laws.”  In Texas and Massachusetts, constitutional equalities are more specific as it is 

declared that equality under law “shall not be denied or abridged because of sex, race, 

color, creed, or national origin.”  Equal protection sometimes is an affirmative duty, 

rather than a constraint, as in Kansas where governments “are instituted for th[e] equal 

protection and benefit” of “the people.”  “While the federal conception of equality has 

become relatively static, its state counterpart is dynamic ... [so that c]onstitutional 

equality is now a joint federal and state enterprise.”
40

  

 

Since 2000, as a result of the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Village of Willowbrook v. Olech,
41

 

“selective enforcement” claims in land use cases may also be brought under the Equal Protection 

clause.  Selective enforcement claims generally assert that a municipality arbitrarily applied its 

land use ordinance to a conditional use permit or other land use approval, or that enforcement of 

the ordinance was arbitrarily selective.
42

  In Olech, the village refused to supply water to the 

                                                 
36

 See generally Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 216 (1982). 
37

 See generally Schweiker v. Wilson, 450 U.S. 221, 230 (1981); United States Railroad Retirement Board v. Fritz, 

449 U.S. 166, 174-175 (1980); Vance v. Bradley, 440 U.S. 93, 97 (1979); New Orleans v. Dukes, 427 U.S. 297, 303 

(1976). 
38

 United States Railroad Retirement Bd. v. Fritz, 449 U.S. 166, 101 S. Ct. 453, (1980). 
39

 FCC v. Beach Communications, Inc., 508 U.S. 307, 113 S. Ct. 2096 (1993). 
40

 Jeffery A. Parness, American State Constitutional Equalities, 45 GONZAGA L. REV. 773, 780 (2009/10).   
41

 Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 120 S. Ct. 1073 (2000).   
42

 BRIAN W. BLAESSER & ALAN C. WEINSTEIN, FEDERAL LAND USE LAW & LITIGATION § 1:20 (Thomson-

Reuters/West: 2015) (hereinafter “BLAESSER & WEINSTEIN”).   



 

75 

 

plaintiffs unless they granted the village an easement that it had not required of other property 

owners.  It was alleged that the village did so to retaliate for the plaintiffs having brought an 

earlier, unrelated suit against the village.  The question before the Supreme Court was whether 

an individual who does not have a suspect classification or fundamental interest claim can 

nevertheless establish a “class of one” equal protection violation when vindictiveness motivated 

the disparate treatment.  The Court held: 

 
Our cases have recognized successful equal protection claims brought by a “class of 

one,” where the plaintiff alleges that she has been intentionally treated differently from 

others similarly situated and that there is no rational basis for the difference in 

treatment.  In so doing, we have explained that “‘the purpose of the equal protection 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is to secure every person within the State’s 

jurisdiction against intentional and arbitrary discrimination, whether occasioned by 

express terms of a statute or by its improper execution through duly constituted 

agents.’”
43

 

 

From a plaintiff’s perspective, the difficult part of the Olech decision is its requirement that 

selective enforcement claims involve intentional treatment.  Moreover, it is unclear whether the 

intentional treatment rule requires merely an intent to do an act or, more specifically, the intent to 

harm or punish an individual for the exercise of lawful rights.
44

  Since Olech, most cases 

involving “class of one” equal protection claims that assert selective enforcement have not been 

successful.
45

 

(iii) Takings  

It is well established that a land use regulation that is excessively restrictive may constitute a 

“taking” of property for which compensation must be paid under the state constitution and the 

Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.
46

   The prevailing test for 

determining whether a regulatory taking has occurred was established in the landmark case of 

Penn Central Transportation Co. v. City of New York,
47

 decided by the United States Supreme 

Court in 1978.  The Penn Central test requires a balancing of the public and private interests 

involved in each case, weighing the following three factors: (1) the economic impact of the 

regulation on the property owner; (2) the extent to which the regulation interferes with the 

property owner’s “distinct investment-backed expectations;” and (3) the character of the 

governmental action (i.e., physical invasion v. economic interference).
48

 

 

                                                 
43

 Olech, 528 U.S. at 564 (citations omitted).   
44

 See BLAESSER & WEINSTEIN § 1:20.   
45

 See generally BLAESSER & WEINSTEIN § 1:20, fn. 7.   
46

 PATRICIA E. SALKIN, 2 AMERICAN LAW OF ZONING § 16:1 (5th ed. 2008) (hereinafter “SALKIN”).   
47

 Penn Central Transportation Co. v. City of New York, 438 U.S. 104, 98 S. Ct. 2646 (1978).   
48

 SALKIN § 16:9 (citing Penn Central, 438 U.S. at 124).   



 

76 

 

As discussed in Section 8.3(d)(ii) of this paper, some states have adopted private property rights 

protection laws that generally require a state or local government to pay compensation to a 

landowner when a land use regulation causes any decrease in the value of affected property.  The 

less demanding standard of these statues (i.e., any decrease in property value versus the loss of 

all economically viable use) makes them more likely to succeed than a takings claim.   

(iv) Unreasonable Search and Seizure  

From the perspective of affected property owners and tenants, a rental regulation—and in 

particular, its inspection requirements—can raise serious concerns under the Fourth Amendment 

of the U.S. Constitution, which safeguards the “right of the people to be secure in their persons, 

houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.”
49

  In Camara v. 

Municipal Court of City & County of San Francisco,
50

 the U.S. Supreme Court held that the 

Fourth Amendment applies to civil searches (e.g., municipal code inspections) as well as 

criminal searches.
51

   

 

(c) Statutory Limitations 

(i) Statutes Limiting Local Authority to Regulate Residential Rentals 

States generally have not enacted legislation that specifically addresses the authority of local 

governments to regulate short-term rentals.  An exception to this general rule is the state of 

Florida, which in 2011 enacted legislation that specifically limited the authority of local 

governments to regulate or prohibit short-term rentals.  Section 509.032(7) of the Florida 

Lodging Statute (entitled “Preemption
52

 Authority”) stated, in relevant part: 

 
A local law, ordinance, or regulation may not restrict the use of vacation rentals, 

prohibit vacation rentals, or regulate vacation rentals based solely on their 

classification, use, or occupancy.  This paragraph does not apply to any local law, 

ordinance, or regulation adopted on or before June 1, 2011.
53

 

 

However, in 2014 the Florida State Legislature amended Section 509.032(7) in a manner that 

expanded the authority of local governments to regulate vacation rentals.
54

  Where the 2011 

statute prohibited Florida municipalities from regulating vacation rentals “based solely on their 

                                                 
49

 U.S. Const., amend. IV.  Any government action that intrudes on a person’s “reasonable expectation of privacy” 

violates the Fourth Amendment, and “[h]omes and other residences are virtually always areas in which a person 

residing has a reasonable expectation of privacy.”  William E. Ringel, Searches and Seizures Arrests and 

Confessions § 2:2 (2011). 
50

 Camara v. Municipal Court of City & Cty. of San Francisco,  387 U.S. 523 (1967). 
51

 See Camara, 387 U.S. at 534. 
52

 “Preemption” is a doctrine based on the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution that holds that certain matters 

are of such national, as opposed to local, character that federal laws preempt or take precedence over state laws on 

such matters.  As such, a state may not pass a law inconsistent with the federal law.  The doctrine of state law 

preemption holds that a state law displaces a local law or regulation that is in the same field and is in conflict or 

inconsistent with the state law.  Article VI, Section 2, of the U.S. Constitution, commonly referred to as the 

“Supremacy Clause,” provides that the “Constitution, and the Laws of the United States … shall be the supreme 

Law of the Land.” 
53

 Fla. Stat. § 509.032(7)(b) (2011).  
54

 See Ch. 2014-71, Laws of Florida. 



 

77 

 

classification, use, or occupancy, the 2014 amendment now only prohibits municipalities from 

regulating the “duration or frequency of vacation rentals.”  As revised, Section 509.032(7) now 

states, in relevant part: 

 
(b)  A local law, ordinance, or regulation may not prohibit vacation rentals or regulate 

the duration or frequency of rental of vacation rentals.  This paragraph does not 

apply to any local law, ordinance, or regulation adopted on or before June 1, 2011. 

 

(c)  Paragraph (b) does not apply to any local law, ordinance, or regulation exclusively 

relating to property valuation as a criterion for vacation rental if the local law, 

ordinance, or regulation is required to be approved by the state land planning agency 

pursuant to an area of critical state concern designation.
55 

 

After the 2014 amendment went into effect, the Florida Attorney General was asked whether 

Section 509.032(7)(b) permitted cities to regulate the location of vacation rentals through zoning.  

In Opinion No. 2014-09, the Attorney General responded: 

 
Section 509.032(7)(b), Florida Statutes, as amended by Chapter 2014-71, Laws of 

Florida, allows a local government to regulate vacation rentals, but continues to preclude 

any local law, ordinance or regulation which would prohibit vacation rentals or restrict 

the duration or frequency of vacation rentals.  It would appear therefore, that zoning may 

not be used to prohibit vacation rentals in a particular area where residential use is 

otherwise allowed.
56

 

 

As of the date of this paper, Florida appears to be the only state to have enacted legislation that 

expressly grants or limits the authority of local governments to regulate or prohibit short-term 

rentals.  It is conceivable, however, that the Florida law may become a model for other states.  

This would appear to be the most likely in those states where short-term rentals comprise a 

meaningful segment of the tourist lodging industry.   

 

(ii) Fair Housing Laws 

In 1968, Congress enacted the comprehensive federal Fair Housing Act (the “FHA”) as Title 

VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968.
57

  The FHA initially prohibited discrimination on the basis 

of “race, color, religion, or national origin” and was amended in 1974 to prohibit discrimination 

based on “gender.”
58

  The FHA was further amended in 1988 by the enactment of the Fair 

Housing Amendments Act (the “FHAA”), which added to its prohibitions discrimination based 

on handicap or familial status (i.e., families with children).
59

   

                                                 
55

 Fla. Stat. § 509.032(7). 
56

 See Florida AGO 2014-09 (available online at 

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/5DFB7F27FB483C4685257D900050D65E).   
57

 Fair Housing Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3591 et seq. 
58

 Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, Pub. L. No. 93-383, 88 Stat. 633, 729 (1974). 
59

 Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988, 42 U.S.C. § 3604.  The FHA, as amended by the Fair Housing 

Amendments Act of 1988, is hereinafter referred to as the FHAA.   

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/5DFB7F27FB483C4685257D900050D65E


 

78 

 

 

The FHAA prohibits discrimination in the sale, rental, and financing of housing based on race, 

color, religion, sex, national origin, familial status, or a disability.
60

  Under the FHAA, it is 

unlawful “[t]o refuse to sell or rent after the making of a bona fide offer, or to refuse to negotiate 

for the sale or rental of, or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person 

because of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin.”
61

  It is likewise unlawful  

to refuse to make “reasonable accommodations” to facilitate occupancy by handicapped 

persons.
62

  

 

Under the FHAA, “handicap” is broadly defined to include any person: (1) with a physical or 

mental impairment which substantially limits one or more of such person’s major life activities; 

(2) with a record of having such an impairment; or (3) regarded as having such an impairment.
63

   

The FHAA applies not just to direct providers of housing, such as landlords and real estate 

companies, but also to municipalities, as well as banks and other lending institutions.
64

  The 

FHAA provides that any state or local regulation “that purports to require or permit any action 

that would be a discriminatory housing practice under this subchapter shall to that extent be 

invalid.”
65

   

 

Of relevance to the OHI Amendments, the FHAA applies to local zoning restrictions that result 

in housing discrimination against people with handicapped status.
66

  A zoning ordinance could 

violate the FHAA either by discriminating against people with handicapped status on its face or 

in its implementation.   In particular, local zoning restrictions and decisions may violate the 

FHAA provisions prohibiting acts that “otherwise make unavailable or deny”
67

 a dwelling 

because of handicap and that make unlawful the “refusal to make reasonable accommodations”
68

 

to afford the handicapped equal housing opportunity.   

 

The FHAA definition of discrimination against handicapped persons includes the “refusal to 

make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices or services, when such 

accommodations may be necessary to afford [a handicapped] person equal opportunity to use 

and enjoy a dwelling.”
69

  The courts have applied this “reasonable accommodations” duty in the 

context of local governmental land use and zoning regulation.
70

  In determining whether a 

proposed “accommodation” is reasonable and required by the FHAA in this regulatory context, 

the courts generally apply a “balancing of interests” standard, including consideration of:  

                                                 
60

 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Title VIII: Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity 

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/progdesc/title8 (last visited 

April 30, 2015); 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a). 
61

 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a) (emphasis added). 
62

 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B).   
63

 RATHKOPF’S THE LAW OF ZONING AND PLANNING § 25:9 (4th ed.) (hereinafter “RATHKOPF”) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 

3602(h)). 
64

 U.S. Department of Justice, The Fair Housing Act, http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/hce/housing_coverage.php 

(last visited April 30, 2015). 
65

 42 U.S.C. § 3615. 
66

 See RATHKOPF § 25:8.   
67

 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1). 
68

 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B) (emphasis added).   
69

 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B) (emphasis added). 
70

 See RATHKOPF § 25:10.   

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/progdesc/title8
http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/hce/housing_coverage.php


 

79 

 

 
(1)  whether the accommodation proposed is necessary to provide an equal opportunity 

for housing;  

(2)  the degree of the fiscal or administrative burdens imposed on the governmental 

defendant by the proposed accommodation; and  

(3)  the extent to which the proposed accommodation will adversely impact legislative 

goals or policies.
71

  

 

A leading treatise on zoning law provides the following examples of “reasonable 

accommodations” that have been required in cases involving local zoning regulations: 

 
In the context of zoning restrictions, waiver of a specific restriction may be required 

unless to do so imposes undue fiscal or administrative burdens on the municipality or 

significantly undermines the basic zoning policy furthered by the restriction.  As a 

practical matter, courts have been inclined to require the waiver of minor violations or 

unduly burdensome restrictions.  In particular cases, courts may require the waiver of 

zoning district allowed use restrictions, yard and setback restrictions, unduly burdensome 

safety requirements, distancing requirements, and restrictions on the number of unrelated 

or allowed occupants.  Permit conditions imposed must be related to the actual needs and 

abilities of the group home residents.
72

 

 

Zoning ordinances often restrict the number of unrelated occupants who may reside together in a 

single-family zoning district.  The FHAA specifically exempts from its scope “reasonable local, 

state, or federal restrictions regarding the maximum number of occupants permitted to occupy a 

dwelling.”
73

  The circuit courts initially were divided as to whether this exemption extended to 

zoning restrictions based on the number of unrelated occupants.  The U.S. Supreme Court settled 

the dispute in the 1995 case of City of Edmonds v. Oxford House, Inc., which held that the 

exemption does not apply to limitations on unrelated occupants.
74

  The following excerpt from a 

leading treatise on planning and zoning law summarizes the key points of the City of Edmonds 

decision:   

 
In City of Edmonds, the ordinance defined “family” as “an individual or two or more 

persons related by genetics, adoption, or marriage, or a group of five or fewer persons 

who are not related by genetics, adoption, or marriage.”  Only a family, as defined, could 

reside in a single-family zone.  The city took the position that its single-family 

restrictions were covered by the exception and were therefore outside the reach of the 

Fair Housing Act.  Oxford House argued that the exemption should apply only when a 

maximum occupancy restriction exists for all occupants, not just unrelated occupants.  In 

the Supreme Court’s 6-3 decision, Justice Ginsburg, in ruling that the city’s restriction 

was not exempt under the Fair Housing Act, stated:  

 

The defining provision at issue describes who may compose a family unit; it does 

not prescribe “the maximum number of occupants” a dwelling unit may house.  

We hold that … [the Fair Housing Act] does not exempt prescriptions of the 

family-defining kind, i.e., provisions designed to foster the family character of a 

                                                 
71

 RATHKOPF §§ 25:10, 25:15 (citations omitted).   
72

 RATHKOPF § 25:15. 
73

 42 U.S.C. § 3607(b)(1). 
74

 City of Edmonds v. Oxford House, Inc., 514 U.S. 725, 115 S. Ct. 1776 (1995). 



 

80 

 

neighborhood. Instead, … [the] absolute exemption removes from the FHA’s 

scope only total occupancy limits, i.e., numerical ceilings that serve to protect 

overcrowding in living quarters. 

 

Throughout the opinion, the Supreme Court contrasted the city’s family-defining 

restrictions with true maximum occupancy restrictions, which “cap the number of 

occupants per dwelling, typically in relation to available floor space or the number and 

type of rooms.”  In a passage that should give municipal officials clear guidance about 

the kind of restrictions that are not exempt from the Fair Housing Act, the Court 

observed:  

 

But Edmonds’ family composition rule surely does not answer the question: 

“What is the maximum number of occupants permitted to occupy a house?”  So 

long as they are related “by genetics, adoption, or marriage,” any number of 

people can live in a house.  Ten siblings, their parents and grandparents, for 

example could dwell in a house in Edmonds’ single-family residential zone 

without offending Edmonds’ family composition rule.
75

  

 

Notably, City of Edmonds did not hold that a limitation on the number of unrelated occupants per 

se violates the FHAA, only that such restrictions do not qualify for the statutory exemption and 

therefore are subject to a discrimination and reasonable accommodation analysis.  The lower 

courts have disagreed about whether such occupancy restrictions violate the FHAA where they 

are facially neutral (i.e., applicable to all unrelated persons, not just to the handicapped).
76

  

 

A rental regulation that limits the number of unrelated persons who can rent a home arguably 

raise the same issues as an ordinance that restricts the number of unrelated persons allowed to 

reside in a single-family home.    

 

(iii) Private Property Rights Protection Acts 

As discussed in Section 8.3(c)(iii) of this paper, it is very difficult for a landowner to succeed on 

a takings challenge to a land use regulation due to the need to show that no economically viable 

use of the land remains.  However, some states have adopted statutes that protect private 

property rights by requiring state and local governments to pay compensation where a land use 

regulation inordinately burdens, restricts, or limits private property without amounting to an 

unconstitutional taking.   

 

One example is the Bert J. Harris, Jr. Private Property Rights Protection Act, (the “Bert Harris 

Act”) adopted by the Florida Legislature in 1995.  The Bert Harris Act states, in relevant part:   

 
When a specific action of a governmental entity has inordinately burdened an existing 

use of real property or a vested right to a specific use of real property, the property owner 

of that real property is entitled to relief, which may include compensation for the actual 

loss to the fair market value of the real property caused by the action of government.
77

 

 

                                                 
75

 RATHKOPF § 25:16 (quoting City of Edmonds, 115 S. Ct. at 1779, 1782) (emphasis added).   
76

 RATHKOPF § 25:16 (citations omitted).   
77

 Fla. Stat. § 70.001(2). 



 

81 

 

Another example is Arizona’s Private Property Rights Protection Act
78

 (the “Arizona Private 

Property Rights Protection Act” or “Act”), which was passed by the voters in November 2006 as 

Proposition 207.  The Arizona Private Property Rights Protection Act requires the state and local 

governments to pay compensation to the landowner when a land use regulation results in any 

decrease in the value of a property.
79

  Section 12-1134 of the Act (Diminution in value; just 

compensation) states: 

 
If the existing rights to use, divide, sell or possess private real property are reduced by the 

enactment or applicability of any land use law enacted after the date the property is 

transferred to the owner and such action reduces the fair market value of the property the 

owner is entitled to just compensation from this state or the political subdivision of this 

state that enacted the land use law.
80

 

 

As discussed in Section 8.6(e) of this paper, at least one Arizona city has already been forced to 

defend a short-term rental ordinance against a claim for just compensation under the Act.   

 

8.6 Regulation of Residential Rentals Under the General Police Power 

(a) Findings from NAR Land Use Initiative Program 

As noted in Section 8.4(a), communities that have residential rental regulations often adopt them 

under their general police power  authority (which is delegated to local governments by the state 

constitution or statute) to promote the public health, safety, and welfare.  An analysis of 

proposed rental regulations reviewed by Robinson & Cole under the NAR Land Use Initiative 

Program reveals that 67% of the rental regulations reviewed were proposed for adoption under 

the general police power.  An analysis of these proposed police power (i.e., non-zoning) 

regulations further revealed that the regulatory techniques most frequently used in these non-

zoning rental regulations were: registration or licensing requirements, which were included in 

86% of all non-zoning proposals; inspection requirements, which were included in 54% of all 

non-zoning proposals; and maximum occupancy restrictions, noise limits, and geographic 

restrictions, each of which appeared in 25% of all non-zoning rental regulations reviewed.   

These common types of rental restrictions—and any other restriction that is adopted under the 

general police power—are subject to the constitutional and statutory limitations on the police 

power discussed in Section 8.5(b) of this paper.  Below are examples of how these constitutional 

and statutory limitations have been applied by the courts to rental regulations. 

(b) Substantive Due Process Applied to Rental Regulations 

In a 1991,
81

 the California Court of Appeals upheld the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea’s transient 

rental ordinance on both substantive due process and equal grounds.”
82

  In rejecting these claims, 

the court found that the ordinance was “rationally related” to the goals and policies set forth in 

                                                 
78

 Arizona Rev. Stat. §§ 12-1131 through 12-1138. 
79

 See Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-1131 et seq.; see also Jeffrey L. Sparks, Land Use Regulation in Arizona After the 

Private Property Rights Protection Act, 51 ARIZ. L. REV. 211 (2009).   
80

 Id. (quoting Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-1134(A)). 
81

 Ewing v. City of Carmel-by-the-Sea, 234 Cal. App. 3d 1579 (6th Dist. Cal. 1991). 
82

 Id. at 1596. 



 

82 

 

the city’s general plan, as well as the stated purpose of the R-1 district.
83

  In support of its 

conclusion, the court explained that short-term rentals were inconsistent with the residential 

character of the community: 

 
It stands to reason that the “residential character” of a neighborhood is threatened when 

a significant number of homes—at least 12 percent in this case, according to the 

record—are occupied not by permanent residents but by a stream of tenants staying a 

week-end, a week, or even 29 days.  Whether or not transient rentals have the other 

“unmitigatable, adverse impacts” cited by the council, such rentals undoubtedly affect 

the essential character of a neighborhood and the stability of a community.  Short-term 

tenants have little interest in public agencies or in the welfare of the citizenry.  They do 

not participate in local government, coach little league, or join the hospital guild.  They 

do not lead a scout troop, volunteer at the library, or keep an eye on an elderly neighbor. 

Literally, they are here today and gone tomorrow—without engaging in the sort of 

activities that weld and strengthen a community.
84

 

 

Referring back to its discussion of Carmel’s stated goals, the court concluded:  

 
We have already determined that the ordinance is rationally related to the stated goal.  

Carmel wishes to enhance and maintain the residential character of the R-1 District.  

Limiting transient commercial use of residential property for remuneration in the R-1 

District addresses that goal.
85

 

 

In general, a short-term rental restriction seems likely to survive substantive due process scrutiny 

if the local jurisdiction articulates a legitimate governmental interest (e.g., the protection of 

residential character in predominantly single-family neighborhoods), and can produce some 

findings connecting short-term rental activity to the types of neighborhood and community 

impacts described in Carmel’s transient rental ordinance. 

(c) Equal Protection Applied to Rental Restrictions 

As noted above, the plaintiffs in the case Ewing v. City of Carmel-by-the-Sea also challenged the 

city’s transient rental ordinance on equal protection grounds.  Because the California Court of 

Appeals found that Carmel-by-the-Sea’s transient rental ordinance did not involve a suspect 

classification or a fundamental right, it likewise rejected the plaintiff’s equal protection claim 

under the same deferential rational basis test discussed above in connection with substantive due 

process claims.
86

 

                                                 
83

 See id. at 1589.   
84

 Id. at 1591. 
85

 Id. at 1596. 
86

 See id. (applying the rational basis test in upholding the city’s transient rental ordinance on equal protection 

grounds).   



 

83 

 

In an Arkansas case,
87

 the plaintiffs asserted an equal protection claim against a City of Norfolk 

ordinance that restricted short-term rentals to the BI Commercial Business Central District.  The 

plaintiff argued that the ordinance treated them arbitrarily and differently than others regarding 

the rental of residential property.
88

  After finding that there was a legitimate purpose for the 

short-term rental ordinance (namely that it addressed concerns brought by residents about the 

short-term rental use of a home in a residential neighborhood), the court summarily denied the 

equal protection claim on the ground that that the ordinance “bears a rational relationship to the 

city’s purpose for enacting the ordinance.”
89

 

(d) Takings Claims Asserted Against Rental Regulations 

In a 1993 case, the Oregon Supreme Court upheld the short-term rental ordinance adopted by the 

City of Cannon Beach.
90

  The Cannon Beach ordinance (Ordinance 92-1) prohibited the creation 

of new transient occupancy uses and required existing transient occupancy uses to end by 1997.  

The petitioners, a group of rental property owners, claimed that Ordinance 92-1 constituted a 

taking of property without just compensation under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.
91

  

The Supreme Court of Oregon, however, upheld the ordinance, focusing ultimately on the 

economic impact of the restrictions:   

 
We next consider whether Ordinance 92-1, by prohibiting transient occupancy, denies 

property owners economically viable use of their properties.  We conclude that it does 

not.  On its face, Ordinance 92-1 permits rentals of dwellings for periods of 14 days or 

more.  The ordinance also permits the owners themselves to reside in the dwellings.  

Although those uses may not be as profitable as are shorter-term rentals of the 

properties, they are economically viable uses.
92

 

 

As the court’s analysis indicates, plaintiffs who challenge a short-term rental restriction as a 

taking of property face an uphill battle.  As a practical matter, it is difficult to argue that a short-

term rental prohibition denies the owner of all economically viable use of his land, particularly 

where longer-term rentals are still allowed. 

Nevertheless, in 2015 a Texas appellate court upheld the issuance of a temporary injunction 

prohibiting the Village of Tiki Island, Texas from implementing an ordinance that banned short-

term rentals, despite evidence that the ordinance reduced the value of the plaintiff’s property by 

less than ten percent.
93

  In affirming the temporary injunction, the court observed that the 

ordinance “had an economic impact on [plaintiff’s] property, that she had a reasonable, 

investment-backed expectation that she could engage in short-term rentals … [and that the] 

allegations, taken as true and construed liberally in her favor, establish a viable taking claim.”
94

 

                                                 
87

 Aamodt v. City of Norfolk, 2011 WL 4499364 (W.D. Ark).   
88

 Id. at *3. 
89

 Id. at *3.    
90

 Cope v. City of Cannon Beach, 855 P.2d 1083 (Or. 1993).   
91

 See id. at 1084. 
92

 Id. at 1086-87 (internal citations omitted). 
93

 See Village of Tiki Island v. Ronquille, 2015 WL 1120915 (Tex. App. Houston (1st Dist.)).   
94

 Id. at *16.   



 

84 

 

(e) Protection Against Unreasonable Search and Seizure in Mandatory 

Inspection Provisions   

As of the date of this paper, it does not appear that an unreasonable search and seizure claim 

against an inspection provision contained in a rental regulation has been decided by the appellate 

courts.  However, such claims have been decided in the context of a mandatory inspection 

requirement under a municipal building code.   

The case of Camara v. City of San Francisco involved a San Francisco ordinance that gave city 

inspectors the right to enter any building at reasonable times “so far as may be necessary for the 

performance of their duties.”
95

  After refusing on three occasions to give inspectors access to his 

apartment without a search warrant, a tenant was prosecuted under another ordinance that made 

it a crime to refuse to comply with the inspectors’ requests.
96

  The tenant argued that the 

warrantless search requested by the building inspectors violated his Fourth Amendment rights.
97

 

The Court agreed, stating: 

 
In summary, we hold that administrative searches of the kind at issue here are significant 

intrusions upon the interests protected by the Fourth Amendment, that such searches 

when authorized and conducted without a warrant procedure lack the traditional 

safeguards which the Fourth Amendment guarantees to the individual, and that the 

reasons put forth in Frank v. State of Maryland and in other cases for upholding these 

warrantless searches are insufficient to justify so substantial a weakening of the Fourth 

Amendment’s protections.
98

   

 

In 1984, and again in 2002, the Florida Attorney General issued advisory opinions that addressed 

the question whether a local government inspector had the authority to enter onto private 

premises to conduct an inspection or assure compliance with local codes without (a) the consent 

of the owner or occupant, or (b) a warrant.
99

  Following substantially the same discussion of the 

Fourth Amendment protection against unreasonable searches and seizures—and its counterpart 

under the Florida Constitution, Article I, section 12—both opinions reach the same conclusion, 

stating, in the same words: 

 
[I]t is my opinion that a municipal code inspector is without authority to enter onto any 

… residential property to assure compliance with or to enforce the various technical 

codes of the municipality or to conduct any administrative inspections or searches 

without the consent of the owner … or occupant of such premises, or without a duly 

issued search or administrative inspection warrant.
100

  

 

                                                 
95

 Camara v. Municipal Court of City & Cty. of San Francisco,  387 U.S. 523, 526 (1967). 
96

 Camara, 387 U.S. at 527. 
97

 Camara, 387 U.S. at 527. 
98

 Camara, 387 U.S. at 534 (citing Frank v. State of Maryland, 359 U.S. 360, 79 S. Ct. 804 (1959)).   
99

 See Attorney General Opinion 84-32 (available online at 

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/486093F9C929D04A85256583006C8F9C); see also Attorney 

General Opinion 2002-27 (available online at 

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/830A105DC73A104D85256B910071CDD4). 
100

 AGO 2002-27. 

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/486093F9C929D04A85256583006C8F9C
http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/printview/830A105DC73A104D85256B910071CDD4


 

85 

 

A rental regulation that authorizes municipal inspectors to enter upon a rental property of the 

purpose of conducting a mandatory inspection but does not explicitly require that the inspector 

obtain the consent of the owner or occupant or a duly issued search or administrative inspection 

warrant are vulnerable to claims that the regulation does not conform to the requirements of the 

Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.   

(f) Private Property Rights Protection Acts    

As noted in Section 8.4(c)(iii), the Arizona Private Property Rights Protection Act (the “Act”) 

requires that state and local governments pay compensation to the landowner when a land use 

regulation results in any decrease in the value of a property.
101

  Section 12-1134 of the Act 

(Diminution in value; just compensation) states: 

 
If the existing rights to use, divide, sell or possess private real property are reduced by the 

enactment or applicability of any land use law enacted after the date the property is 

transferred to the owner and such action reduces the fair market value of the property the 

owner is entitled to just compensation from this state or the political subdivision of this 

state that enacted the land use law.
102

 

 

In the case Sedona Grand, LLC. v. City of Sedona, the plaintiff, a residential property owner, 

filed a claim under the Act asserting that Sedona’s short-term rental ordinance (which effectively 

banned vacation rentals) caused the plaintiff “to suffer losses as a result of the reduction of its 

previously existing rights to use, lease and sell” its property.
103

  As an initial matter, the court 

ruled that the Sedona ordinance “regulates transactions involving the possession of real property, 

and is therefore a land use law within the meaning of [the Act].”
104

  The city argued that the 

short-term rental ordinance was exempt under Section 12-1134(B)(1) of the Act, which provides 

an exemption for land use laws that are enacted for “the protection of the public’s health and 

safety.”
105

  In particular, Sedona argued that the stated purpose of the ordinance was to “to 

safeguard the peace, safety and general welfare of the residents of Sedona and their visitors and 

guests.”
106

  But the court rejected Sedona’s argument, stating: 

 
We hold that a mere declaration of purpose is insufficient to invoke the exemption, and 

that a government entity seeking to avoid paying compensation must present evidence 

that its principal purpose in passing a land use law is one that qualifies for exemption 

under the Act.
107

 

 

The court further explained that under the Act a local government “must establish by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the law was enacted for the principal purpose of protecting 

                                                 
101

 See Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-1131 et seq.; see also Jeffrey L. Sparks, Land Use Regulation in Arizona After the 

Private Property Rights Protection Act, 51 ARIZ. L. REV. 211 (2009).   
102

 Id. (quoting Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-1134(A)). 
103

 Sedona Grand, LLC. v. City of Sedona, 229 Ariz. 37, 39, 270 P.3d 864, 866 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2012). 
104

 City of Sedona, 229 Ariz. at 40. 
105

 City of Sedona, 229 Ariz. at 41 (quoting A.R.S. § 12-1134(B)(1)).   
106

 City of Sedona, 229 Ariz. at 42 (quoting Sedona Code § 8-4-2 (Statement of Purpose)).   
107

 City of Sedona, 229 Ariz. at 38. 



 

86 

 

the public’s health and safety before the exemption can apply.”
108

  The court found that Sedona 

failed to satisfy this burden and explained its reasoning as follows: 

 
Here, the nexus between prohibition of short-term occupancy and public health is not 

self-evident, and the governing body must do more than incant the language of a statutory 

exception to demonstrate that it is grounded in actual fact.  Indeed, the Ordinance’s own 

text suggests that its purpose is to protect the character of neighborhoods.  This may be a 

desirable goal to policy makers, but neighborhood character and public health are entirely 

distinct concepts.  To invoke the exception, the City must provide evidence beyond mere 

“legislative assertion” to carry the burden that the Act assigns to it.
109

  

 

Consequently, the court ruled that Sedona’s short-term rental ordinance was not exempt from the 

Act and remanded the matter to the trial court for further determinations. 

8.7 Regulation of Residential Rentals Through Zoning  

(a) Findings from NAR Land Use Initiative Program 

As noted in Section 8.4(b), local governments also regulate residential rental regulations through 

zoning—one third (33%) of the proposed rental regulations reviewed by Robinson & Cole under 

the NAR Land Use Initiative Program were proposed for adoption as an amendment to the 

community’s zoning ordinance.  An analysis of these proposed zoning regulations further 

revealed that the regulatory techniques most frequently used in zoning rental regulations were: 

registration or licensing requirements, which were included in 79% of all zoning proposals; 

geographic restrictions, which appeared in 64% of all zoning proposals; maximum occupancy 

restrictions, which appeared in 43% of all zoning proposals reviewed; noise limits, which 

appeared in 21% of all zoning proposals; and quantitative restrictions and inspection 

requirements, each of which appeared in 14% of all zoning-based rental regulations reviewed.   

It is evident from this analysis of Land Use Initiative requests that rental regulations that are 

adopted through zoning often incorporate many of the same types of provisions that  police 

power-based rental regulations typically would contain.  Because zoning is a form of the police 

power, the incorporation of police power-type provisions (e.g., registration or licensing 

requirements, maximum occupancy restrictions, noise limits, and inspection requirements) in 

zoning-based rental restrictions is not surprising.     

 

Because zoning is a form of the police power, any rental regulation adopted by local government 

through zoning is subject to the same constitutional and statutory limitations on the police power 

discussed in Sections 8.5(b) and 8.6 of this paper.  In addition, rental regulations adopted through 

zoning are subject to limitations applicable to the zoning power.   

 

                                                 
108

 City of Sedona, 229 Ariz. at 42 (emphasis added). 
109

 City of Sedona, 229 Ariz. at 43. 



 

87 

 

(b) Regulation of the “Use” Not the “User” 

A key characteristic of local zoning power is the well-recognized principle is that “zoning deals 

with land use, not the owner, operator, or occupant of the land.”
110

  Zoning inherently pertains to 

land rather than to the landowner—it “deals basically with land use and not with the person who 

owns or occupies it.”
111

  The purpose of zoning is to separate  

incompatible land uses, and to provide for an orderly and comprehensive scheme of land 

development within the community that facilitates the adequate provision of 

infrastructure resources and the overall comfort, convenience, and welfare of the 

community.
112

 

 

Neither the form of one’s interest in property (i.e., owner or renter) nor the duration of the 

occupancy (e.g., short-term vs. long-term) is relevant to the issue of use.  Courts have 

consistently interpreted “residential use” to mean the use of property “for living purposes, as a 

dwelling, or as a place of abode.”
113

  The transitory or temporary nature of a rental use does not 

defeat its residential status.
114

 

 

In a 2006 case decided by the Court of Appeals of Maryland, the question before the court was 

whether a restrictive covenant that restricted the use of lots to “single family residential purposes 

only” prohibited the owners of affected lots from renting their homes on a short-term basis.
115

  

The court observed that “the crux of the [plaintiff’s] argument is that a homeowner’s use of his 

or her home ‘primarily to make money’ by renting it does not constitute a ‘residential use,” even 

though the tenant uses the home as a residence for a short term.”
116

  The court rejected the 

plaintiff’s argument, stating” 

 
While the owner may be receiving rental income, the use of the property is 

unquestionably “residential.”  The fact that the owner receives rental income is not, in 

any way, inconsistent with the property being used as a residence.  The [plaintiffs], by 

focusing entirely upon the owner’s receipt of rental income, ignore the residential use by 

the tenant.
117

 

 

The Court of Appeals of Maryland further explained that: 

 
“Residential use,” without more, has been consistently interpreted as meaning that the use 

of the property is for living purposes, or a dwelling, or a place of abode.  The word 

“residential” has been applied to apartment buildings, fraternity houses, hotels, and bed 

                                                 
110

 RATHKOPF’S THE LAW OF ZONING AND PLANNING § 2:16 (Zoning regulates the use of land—Identity or status of 

land users) (hereinafter “RATHKOPF”) (citing cases in Connecticut, Iowa, Louisiana, Maryland, New Hampshire, 

New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and Washington). (Emphasis added) 
111

 See FGL & L Prop. Corp. v. City of Rye, 485 N.E. 986, 989 (N.Y. 1985).   
112

 RATHKOPF § 1:12. 
113

 Lowden v. Bosley, 909 A.2d 261, 267 (Md. 2006).  
114

 See id.  See also In re Toor, 59 A.3d 722, 727 (Vt. 2012); Estates at Desert Ridge Trails Home Owners’ 

Association v. Vazquez, 300 P.3d 736 (N.M. Ct. App. 2013).   
115

 Lowden v. Bosley, 909 A.2d 261 (Md. 2006). 
116

 Id.  
117

 Id.   



 

88 

 

and breakfasts, because such structures are used for habitation.  The transitory or 

temporary nature of such use does not defeat the residential status.   

 

The [plaintiffs], as well as some out-of-state case on which they rely, seem to view the 

owner’s receipt of income from a residential tenant as inconsistent with “residential” use.  

There is no inconsistency.  The owner’s receipt of rental income in no way detracts from 

the use of the properties as residences by the tenants.  There are many residential uses of 

property which also provide a commercial benefit to certain persons.  Both in Maryland 

and in a great majority of other states, over 30 percent of homes are rented rather than 

owned by the families residing therein, thus providing much rental income to landlords.  

In addition to conventional rentals, a commercial benefit may be realized from residential 

property by persons holding ground rents, mortgages, or deeds of trust.  When a property 

is used for a residence, there simply is no tension between such use and a commercial 

benefit accruing to someone else.
118

 

 

In a 2014 case, the Washington Supreme Court likewise ruled that residential rentals, no matter 

how long the term, are a residential use because the renter uses the home for the same purpose as 

the owner, namely “eating, sleeping, and other residential purposes.”
119

 State courts in Indiana
120

 

and Alabama
121

 have also ruled that short-term rentals are a residential use.   

 

At least one court has also ruled that the payment of business and occupation taxes did not 

detract from the residential character of the rental use.
122

   

 

Consistent with these principles, zoning restrictions that limit the use of land based on the 

identity or status of the users of the land generally will be held invalid by the courts.
123

  A zoning 

regulation that “limits the use of land based on the race, economic status, age, blood relationship, 

or identity of the user or owner may be held invalid on either due process or equal protection 

grounds as a restriction by classification that is unrelated to any legitimate public purpose.”
124

  

Such restrictions also may be held ultra vires, that is, as beyond the scope of authority delegated 

by a zoning enabling act.
125

  A controlling rationale in such cases is that while zoning authorizes 

regulation of the use of land, it may not be exercised as an ad hominem privilege to control the 

landowner or occupant.
126

 

 

                                                 
118

 Id. (Emphasis added) 
119

 Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, 327 P.3d 614, 620 (Wash. 2014). 
120

 See RATHKOPF’S THE LAW OF ZONING AND PLANNING § 81:11 (4th ed.) (hereinafter “RATHKOPF”) (citing 

Siwinski v. Town of Ogden Dunes, 949 N.E.2d 825 (Ind. 2011) (holding that homeowners’ short-term rental of their 

home was a violation of town’s ordinance prohibiting commercial use of property)). 
121

 See id. (citing Slaby v. Mountain River Estates Residential Ass’n, Inc., 2011 WL 4790638 (Ala. Civ. App. 2011) 

(holding that cabin owners’ short-term rental of their property did not violate the terms of the restrictive covenant 

limiting the use of the property to single-family residential purposes because they rented their property to groups 

who used the cabin for residential purposes only)). 
122

 Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Association, 327 P.3d at 620.   
123

 RATHKOPF § 1:12.   
124

 Id.   
125

 Id.   
126

 5 RATHKOPF’S LAW OF ZONING AND PLANNING § 81:4 (4th ed. 2010) (emphasis added) (internal citations 

omitted).   



 

89 

 

8.8 Limits on Outright Ban  or Amortization of Residential Rentals 

An ordinance that outright prohibits property owners from renting their homes, either on a 

citywide basis or within certain residential zoning districts, clearly impairs the fundamental right 

of private property owners to rent their properties by stripping them of “one-third of their bundle 

of economically productive rights” that constitute ownership.  Consequently, an outright ban is 

more likely to be held invalid than an ordinance that permits residential rentals, but regulates 

them through reasonable licensing or registration requirements or operational restrictions.  In 

fact, many of the short-term rental cases discussed in Sections 8.6 and 8.7 of this paper pertained 

to either a partial
127

 or citywide
128

 ban on short-term rentals.    

Because they are the most onerous type of residential rental regulation, outright bans implicate 

virtually every type of constitutional or statutory limit on the police power, including takings and 

state private property rights protection laws.  As noted in Section 3.3(b) of this paper, 

amortization is, in effect, a type of ban that includes a grace period (generally a set number of 

months or years) in order to give affected property owners time to recoup their investment before 

being forced to discontinue the use without compensation.  The majority rule is that provisions 

for amortization of nonconforming uses are valid if the amortization period is reasonable.
129

  In 

determining the reasonableness of an amortization period, the courts generally seek to balance 

the public gain that will be gained from the particular regulation against the private loss 

sustained by the property owner.
130

  As a result, the validity of an amortization clause does not 

depend on precise compensation of an owner’s monetary loss where the public good outweighs 

the private loss.
131

 

However, in some states amortization of a nonconforming use is per se unconstitutional.  For 

example, in a 1991 case the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled that “municipalities lack the 

power to compel a change in the nature of an existing lawful use of property.”
132

  In reaching 

that conclusion, the court reasoned that: 

A lawful nonconforming use establishes in the property owner a vested property right 

which cannot be abrogated or destroyed, unless it is a nuisance, it is abandoned, or it is 

extinguished by eminent domain.   

... 

                                                 
127

 See Ewing v. City of Carmel-by-the-Sea, 234 Cal. App. 3d 1579 (6th Dist. Cal. 1991); Aamodt v. City of Norfolk, 

2011 WL 4499364 (W.D. Ark); and Cope v. City of Cannon Beach, 855 P.2d 1083 (Or. 1993). 
128

 See Village of Tiki Island v. Ronquille, 2015 WL 1120915 (Tex. App. Houston (1st Dist.)). 
129

 ROHAN § 41.04[3] (citing a North Carolina case in which an amortization period of three years was upheld).   
130

 See id.   
131

 See id.   
132

 Pennsylvania Northwestern Distributors, Inc. v. Zoning Hearing Board of  the Township of Moon, 584 A.2d 

1372, 1374 (Pa. 1991).   



 

90 

 

The Pennsylvania Constitution, Pa. Const. art. I, § 1 ... protects the right of a property 

owner to use his or her property in any lawful way that he or she so chooses. If 

government desires to interfere with the owner's use, where the use is lawful and is not a 

nuisance nor is it abandoned, it must compensate the owner for the resulting loss. A 

gradual phasing out of nonconforming uses which occurs when an ordinance only 

restricts future uses differs in significant measure from an amortization provision which 

restricts future uses and extinguishes a lawful nonconforming use on a timetable which is 

not of the property owner's choosing.
133

     

Under this reasoning, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled that “amortization and 

discontinuance of a lawful pre-existing nonconforming use is per se confiscatory and violative of 

the Pennsylvania Constitution, Pa. Const. art. I, § 1.”
134

 

 

 

  

                                                 
133

 Id.  
134

 Id.   



 

91 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

SECTION 9. POTENTIAL POSITIVE EFFECTS OF RENTAL REGULATIONS  

This section discusses the potential positive effects that rental regulations can have on a 

community.  Not surprisingly, these potential positive effects are closely aligned with the 

regulatory objectives (i.e., the reasons cited by communities for adopting rental regulations) 

discussed in Section 3 of this paper.  These positive effects are described as “potential” because, 

as of the date of this paper, there is virtually no empirical evidence demonstrating that rental 

regulations have produced such positive effects. 

 

9.1 Greater Compliance with Maintenance, Building and Nuisance Codes  

As discussed in Section 3.1(e), achieving a greater level of compliance with property 

maintenance, building, and public nuisance codes is sometimes cited as justification for the 

adoption of rental regulations.  For example, the City of Gary, Indiana’s rental registration and 

inspection ordinance states that its purpose is to “facilitate enforcement of minimum standards 

for the maintenance of existing residential buildings and thereby prevent slums and blight.”
1
   

 

Communities seeking to increase the level of code compliance in rental properties typically do so 

by requiring that rental properties be registered with or licensed by the local government, and 

providing in the regulations that the registration or license can be suspended or revoked for 

violation of any applicable law.  For example, the “Rental Dwelling License” code adopted by 

the City of Minneapolis, Minnesota  authorizes the city council to “deny, refuse to renew, 

revoke, or suspend” a rental dwelling license for any dwelling that fails to comply with 

applicable licensing standards.
2
  Sonoma County, California’s vacation home rental code 

similarly authorizes the county code enforcement officer to schedule a revocation hearing with 

the board of zoning adjustments upon determination that a violation has occurred.
3
     

 

Some communities have also sought to improve the level of code compliance in rental properties 

by requiring that all residential rental agreements contain provisions that expressly require 

tenants to comply with all applicable laws.  In 2015 the Town of Kure Beach, North Carolina, 

for example, considered an ordinance that would have required all vacation rental permit holders 

to include in their rental agreements a statement that “tenants shall not violate federal, state, or 

local laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations.”4
  The proposed ordinance, which was tabled by the 

Kure Beach Planning and Zoning Commission,
5
 also would have required all rental agreements 

                                                 
1
 See City of Gary, IN Rental Registration/Inspection Program Fact Sheet.   

2
 See City of Minneapolis, MN – Rental Dwellings License Code § 244.1940 (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/mn/minneapolis/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT12HO_CH24

4MACO_ARTXVIREDWLI).   
3
 Sonoma County Code § 26-88-120(g)(1). 

4
 Town of Kure Beach, NC: Proposed Vacation Rental Ordinance § 9(c) (available online at 

http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-

version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf).   
5
 See http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-

ordinance.  

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/mn/minneapolis/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT12HO_CH244MACO_ARTXVIREDWLI
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/mn/minneapolis/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_TIT12HO_CH244MACO_ARTXVIREDWLI
http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf
http://townofkurebeach.org/Data/Sites/1/media/government/planning-zoning/proposed-vacation-rental-ordinance-version-four-final-2-5-15.pdf
http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-ordinance
http://www.wect.com/story/28694632/kure-beach-officials-decide-against-using-proposed-rental-property-ordinance


 

92 

 

to contain a statement that a “material breach” of above-quoted provision would result in a 

termination of the rental agreement.
6
  The rationale is that, if the law itself is not sufficient to 

deter renters from engaging in unlawful conduct, the knowledge that the rental agreement could 

be terminated—for example, for having a party that results in a call to the police—might make 

renters think twice about their behavior.   

 

9.2 Stabilization of Neighborhoods  

As discussed in Section 3.1(a), the protection of neighborhood character is the most commonly 

cited municipal purpose for regulating rental housing.  The need to protect the residential 

character is frequently cited as justification for a proposed vacation rental ordinance or a 

restriction on single-family home rentals.  Communities generally cite the need to protect 

neighborhoods from the types of disturbances that often are associated with short-term tenants, 

such as excessive noise, late night parties, trespassing, increased traffic, and other activities that 

disrupt the residential character.  They also cite the need to protect the physical characteristics of 

residential neighborhoods.  The underlying rationale is that rental properties generally are not 

owner-occupied and therefore are less likely to be cared for to the same degree as permanent 

residences.   

 

In theory, rental regulations can protect the residential character and stabilize neighborhoods in 

two ways.  First, a regulation can prohibit rentals outright (either citywide or in certain zoning 

districts) or restrict the number of rentals permitted within the community by adopting a 

quantitative restriction or a proximity restriction.
7
  In the alternative, communities may choose to 

permit long-term or short-term residential rentals, but address the perceived negative impacts by 

imposing performance-type standards on the operation of rental properties.  The rationale for this 

approach is that, rather than banning residential rentals, communities can mitigate the negative 

impacts often attributed to rental occupancies (e.g., overcrowding and disruptive conduct) by 

establishing a set of rules governing the occupation and operation of rental properties.  For a 

comprehensive discussion of operational restrictions, see Section 3.3(g).    

 

9.3 Increased Landlord Accountability  

Closely related to greater compliance with property maintenance, building, and public nuisance 

codes is the potential for increased landlord accountability.  Some rental regulations hold 

landlords accountable any violation that occurs on a rental property, regardless of whether the 

landlord is directly responsible.  An example of this approach is the City of Minneapolis, 

Minnesota, which states the following on a webpage entitled “Holding Property Owners 

Accountable”:  

 
The City of Minneapolis does not tolerate landlords who violate rental licensing 

standards.  We hold property owners responsible for the condition of their properties and 

hold owners responsible to proactively plan for, address and respond to issues of tenant 

behavior.  Landlords are required by law to comply with the conditions of their rental 

                                                 
6
 Town of Kure Beach, NC: Proposed Vacation Rental Ordinance § 9(d). 

7
 See Section 3.3(d) for a discussion of the quantitative restrictions and Section 3.3(e) for a discussion of proximity 

restrictions.   



 

93 

 

license and must be responsive to problems on their properties.  Maintaining a rental 

license in the City of Minneapolis is a privilege.
8
 

 

The effectiveness of Minneapolis’s no-tolerance policy, however, is open to question, as the 

same webpage states:  

 
Unfortunately, the City of Minneapolis has not been able to convince all property owners 

to comply with our laws.  As a result, properties have been condemned for maintenance, 

licenses have been revoked and in some instances, properties have been demolished.
9
 

 

The City of New Braunfels, Texas also holds rental property owners accountable for violations 

of the short-term rental regulations, even if the violation is committed by a tenant.  Section 144-

5.17-7(b) (Enforcement/Penalty) of New Braunfels’s short-term rental ordinance states: 

“Violations of any subsection of this [ordinance] may revoke the short term rental permit in 

accordance with subsection 144-5.17-8, Revocation.”
10

   

 

9.4 Increased Tax Revenue 

Rental regulations can benefit communities by generating additional tax revenue by either  

improving the rate of collection in a community where rentals already are required to pay a 

lodging or use tax, or by imposing a new tax on rentals.  The potential revenue from a lodging or 

use tax on rental properties can be significant, particularly for communities with a robust tourism 

industry.   

 

Given the rapid growth of Airbnb and other online short-term rental platforms, a common 

concern among municipalities is that online hosting platforms make it easier for an owner to use 

their home as a short-term rental without paying required lodging or use taxes.  For some 

communities, the amount of tax revenue not being collected from short-term rentals may be 

significant.  According to a 2014 report by the Attorney General of the State of New York, 

private short-term rentals in New York City incurred more than $33 million in unpaid hotel taxes 

from 2010 through June 2014.
11

  Airbnb itself has estimated that it could produce as much as $65 

million annually in hotel occupancy taxes in New York state.
12

 

 

Communities that have been more successful in collecting taxes on short-term rental activity 

include the City of Newport Beach, California, which collected approximately $1.95 million in 

                                                 
8
 City of Minneapolis, MN: Housing Inspections Services – Holding Property Owners Accountable (available online 

at http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/inspections_accountable).   
9
 Id.    

10
 New Braunfels, TX Code § 144-5.17-7(b) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/#!/tx/new_braunfels/codes/code_of_ordinances).     
11

 Airbnb in the City at 9 (Oct. 2014, New York State office of the Attorney General) (available online at 

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf). 
12

 See “As It Seeks New Regulations in NY, Airbnb Estimates It Would Collect $65 Million in Taxes There,” 

Techrunch (Jan. 16, 2015) (available online at http://techcrunch.com/2015/01/16/airbnb-65-million-in-ny/).   

http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/inspections/inspections_accountable
https://www.municode.com/library/#!/tx/new_braunfels/codes/code_of_ordinances
http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf
http://techcrunch.com/2015/01/16/airbnb-65-million-in-ny/


 

94 

 

short-term rental tax revenue in 2014,
13

 and the City of San Clemente, California, which 

reportedly collects about $280,000 per year on just 300 registered short-term rental properties.
14

 

 

To improve the collection of taxes, some communities have adopted regulations requiring that 

online hosting platforms
15

—rather than the hosts—collect and remit the required tax payments.  

San Francisco imposes such a requirement: 

 
A Hosting Platform shall comply with the requirements of the Business and Tax 

Regulations Code by, among any other applicable requirements, collecting and remitting 

all required Transient Occupancy Taxes, and this provision shall not relieve a Hosting 

Platform of liability related to an occupant’s, resident’s, or Business entity’s failure to 

comply with the requirements of the Business and Tax Regulations Code.
16

   

 

In January 2015, the City of Portland, Oregon amended its short-term rental ordinance to require 

online “booking agents” to “collect, report and remit transient lodging taxes” to the city.
17

  The 

“findings” adopted by the City Council made clear that the amendment was specifically intended 

to improve the rate of tax collection from short-term rentals, stating, in relevant part: 

 
2.  The City is aware that … [many] Short-Term Rental Hosts (“Hosts”) have not 

registered with the Revenue Division and are not collecting and/or remitting the 

appropriate transient lodging or business license (income) taxes….   

  

3.  The City has determined that finding these non-compliant Hosts and properties is 

difficult as they are often rented or “booked” through online agents (“Booking 

Agents”) that refuse to provide the short-term rental location address or contact 

information of the Host, or to remit transient lodging taxes on behalf of the Hosts…. 

 

4.  The City believes that compelling Booking Agents to provide Host information will 

raise compliance, permit fees and transient lodging tax revenue….   

 

5.  The City believes that, to the extent Booking Agents are booking rooms and 

accepting payments on behalf of their Hosts, they should also collect and remit the 

City transient lodging tax on behalf of their Hosts.
18

 

 

                                                 
13

 “Rental properties: Beach cities balancing potential revenue with parties, loud music, disrespect,” Orange County 

Register, May 26, 2015) (available online at http://www.ocregister.com/articles/beach-663028-rentals-short.html).   
14

 Id.   
15

 San Francisco defines “online hosting platform” to mean: 

A person or entity that provides a means through which an Owner may offer a Residential Unit for 

Tourist or Transient Use. This service is usually, though not necessarily, provided through an 

online platform and generally allows an Owner to advertise the Residential Unit through a website 

provided by the Hosting Platform and provides a means for potential tourist or transient users to 

arrange Tourist or Transient Use and payment, whether the tourist or transient pays rent directly to 

the Owner or to the Hosting Platform. 

San Francisco Code § 41A.4. 
16

 San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(4)(B). 
17

 See City of Portland, OR – Ordinance Amending Transient Lodgings Tax (available online at 

http://media.oregonlive.com/front-porch/other/Short-term%20rental%20ordinance.pdf).   
18

 Id. § 1 (emphasis added). 

http://www.ocregister.com/articles/beach-663028-rentals-short.html
http://media.oregonlive.com/front-porch/other/Short-term%20rental%20ordinance.pdf


 

95 

 

According to an “impact statement” attached to the Portland ordinance, the requirement that 

online Booking Agents collect and remit the transient lodging tax to the city will yield an 

additional $500,000 in revenues annually.
19

    

 

9.5 Protection of Long-Term Rental Housing Inventory 

In some communities, the rapid growth of Airbnb and other online hosting platforms has raised 

the concern that rental property owners and investors are converting long-term rental properties 

into short-term rentals, thereby reducing the available supply of long-term rentals and driving up 

rental prices in the local market.  As discussed in Section 6.1, an analysis of Airbnb rentals in 

Los Angeles described how short-term rentals can affect the supply of affordable housing: 

The Los Angeles Department of City Planning’s Housing Needs Assessment shows that 

the city needs an additional 5,300 units of affordable housing each year to keep up with 

demand.  However, Los Angeles developers have only averaged about 1,100 units of 

affordable housing per year since 2006.  The 7,316 whole apartments currently listed on 

AirBnB represents nearly seven years’ of affordable housing construction at the current 

rate of housing development.
20

 

 

Short-term rentals can affect housing costs in a community.  When property owners elect to rent 

their homes on a short-term basis rather than renting on a longer-term basis (e.g., by the season 

or by the year), “they essentially squeeze the supply of housing, pushing up the demand, and 

subsequently, the cost” of housing in the community.
21

   

 

To prevent the loss of long-term rental housing, some communities have adopted regulations that 

expressly require that short-term rental “hosts” reside in the dwelling unit for a minimum number 

of days each calendar year.  For example, San Francisco’s short-term residential rental ordinance 

requires that a “permanent resident” occupy a short-term rental unit for at least 275 days per 

calendar year and that the permanent resident maintain records demonstrating compliance with 

the requirement for a period of two years.
22

  Portland, Oregon’s Accessory Short-Term Rentals 

ordinance contains a similar requirement, which states: 

 
A Type A accessory short-term rental must be accessory to a Household Living use on a 

site.  This means that a resident must occupy the dwelling unit for at least 270 days 

during each calendar year, and unless allowed by Paragraph .040.B.2 or .040.B.3, the 

bedrooms rented to overnight guests must be within the dwelling unit that the resident 

occupies.
23

 

     

                                                 
19

 See id.   
20

 Airbnb, Rising Rent, and the Housing Crisis in Los Angeles at 16 (LAANE, March 2015) (available online at 

http://www.laane.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/AirBnB-Final.pdf).   
21

 See Nate Hutcheson, “Short-Term Vacation Rentals: Residential or Commercial Use?,” Zoning News (March 

2002, American Planning Association).   
22

 San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(1) (available online at 

http://www.sfbos.org/ftp/uploadedfiles/bdsupvrs/ordinances14/o0218-14.pdf).   
23

 Portland, OR  Code § 33.207.040(A)(1) (available online at 

http://www.portlandonline.com/auditor/index.cfm?c=28197&a=501886).   

http://www.laane.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/AirBnB-Final.pdf
http://www.sfbos.org/ftp/uploadedfiles/bdsupvrs/ordinances14/o0218-14.pdf
http://www.portlandonline.com/auditor/index.cfm?c=28197&a=501886


 

96 

 

The vacation rental ordinance adopted in 2015 by the City of Santa Monica, California takes a 

similar approach.  Santa Monica’s “Home Sharing and Vacation Rentals” ordinance divides 

short-term rentals into two categories: (1) “vacation rentals,” in which a guest has “exclusive 

private use of the unit” for less than thirty days; and (2) “home-sharing,” in which the primary 

resident of the property lives “on-site during the visitor’s stay.”
24

  Under the “Home Sharing and 

Vacation Rentals” ordinance, vacation rentals are banned citywide, while home-sharing is 

permitted, provided that the owner obtains a business license and pays a 14% hotel tax on all 

home sharing stays.
25

      

 

                                                 
24

 See generally Santa Monica, CA Ordinance  No. CSS (available online at 

http://www.smgov.net/departments/council/agendas/2015/20150512/s2015051207-A-1.htm); see also Sam Sanders, 

“Santa Monica Cracks Down on Airbnb, Bans ‘Vacation Rentals’ Under a Month,” NPR (May 13, 2015) (available 

online at http://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2015/05/13/406587575/santa-monica-cracks-down-on-airbnb-

bans-vacation-rentals-under-a-month).   
25

 See id.   

http://www.smgov.net/departments/council/agendas/2015/20150512/s2015051207-A-1.htm
http://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2015/05/13/406587575/santa-monica-cracks-down-on-airbnb-bans-vacation-rentals-under-a-month
http://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2015/05/13/406587575/santa-monica-cracks-down-on-airbnb-bans-vacation-rentals-under-a-month


 

97 
 

RESIDENTIAL RENTALS 

The Housing Market, Regulations, and Property Rights 

 

SECTION 10. STRATEGIES FOR ADDRESSING PROPOSED RENTAL 

REGULATIONS 

10.1 Question Local Authority to Adopt Rental Regulations 

The first question that should be asked when a city or town proposes to adopt a residential rental 

ordinance is whether the local legislative body has the authority to do so.  As discussed in 

Section 8.3, communities typically cite the police power or the zoning authority granted by a 

state zoning enabling act as the basis of their authority to adopt rental regulations.  However, 

local officials or a local governing body should not be allowed to skirt the issue by providing a 

general and unsupported reference to the police power or zoning enabling act.  Instead, Realtors
®
 

should question whether the legislative body has sought and received an opinion from its legal 

counsel regarding its authority to adopt the specific type of regulation being considered for 

adoption.  If it has not, then Realtors
®
 should urge local officials to table the proposal pending 

receipt of such a legal opinion.   

 

Realtors
®
 should consider obtaining the advice of local counsel regarding the community’s 

authority to adopt a residential rental regulation, and whether the proposal may be vulnerable to 

challenge on the ground discussed in Section 8 of this paper.          

 

10.2 Consistency With Statutory Planning and Procedural Requirements 

In some states, the adoption of a local law or regulation is subject to statutory planning and 

procedural requirements.  Such statutes may require that a local law or regulation be consistent 

with the community’s general plan or that the potential environmental impacts of the proposed 

law or regulation be determined prior enactment. 

 

(a) General Plan Consistency Requirement 

In some states, the zoning enabling statute requires that the zoning regulations adopted by a 

community be consistent with the community’s comprehensive plan (known in some 

jurisdictions as a general plan or master plan).
1
  For example, Arizona’s enabling legislation 

states, in relevant part: “All zoning and rezoning ordinances or regulations adopted under this 

article shall be consistent with and conform to the adopted general plan of the municipality, if 

any, as adopted under article 6 of this chapter.”
2
  In Rhode Island, where local planning is 

mandated by the Comprehensive Planning and Land Use Regulation Act of 1988, local 

governments are expressly required to “conform [their] zoning ordinances and maps with [their] 

comprehensive plan within eighteen (18) months of plan adoption.”
3
   

 

                                                 
1
 See generally ROHAN: ZONING AND LAND USE CONTROLS § 37.03[3] (discussing the consistency requirements of 

state zoning enabling statutes).   
2
 Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 9-462.01(F).   

3
 R.I. Gen. Laws § 45-22.2-5(a)(3).   



 

98 

 

In light of these consistency requirements, a proposed rental regulation should always be 

reviewed for consistency with the adopted comprehensive plan.  In particular, Realtors
®
 should 

carefully review any chapter of the comprehensive plan that might contain policies relevant to 

long-term or short-term rentals, such as the land use, housing, and economic development 

chapters.  For example, in a vacation destination community, the comprehensive plan is likely to 

contain policies that support local tourism and may establish goals for the expansion of 

recreational opportunities and tourist accommodations.  A rental ordinance that would prohibit or 

restrict short-term rentals arguably would be inconsistent with such policies and goals. 

 

(b) Environmental Review Process 

In some states, the potential environmental consequences of a proposed ordinance must be 

considered prior to adoption by the local legislative body.  For example, in California, the 

California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) applies to state and local government decisions 

to approve or undertake any project that could have adverse environmental consequences.
4
  The 

statute requires a process, rather than a particular outcome.  That process is intended to: 

 
(1) inform government decisionmakers and the public about the potential environmental 

effects of proposed activities; (2) identify the ways that environmental damage can be 

avoided or significantly reduced; (3) prevent significant environmental damage by 

requiring changes in projects, either by the adoption of alternatives or imposition of 

mitigation measures; and (4) disclose to the public why a project was approved if that 

project would have significant environmental effects.
5
 

 

Although some projects are exempt from CEQA and others only require limited review of 

potential environmental consequences, if the agency determines that a project may have 

significant effects on the environment, an environmental impact analysis and report (“EIR”) 

must be performed.  The EIR is only required to cover the impacts of the proposed project, but it 

may be used to analyze broader policy issues, including cumulative and growth-inducing 

impacts, so that the single review process may satisfy CEQA requirements of future projects.
6
 

 

Cities and counties in California that have rental regulations generally have determined that the 

enactment of a rental ordinance does not require CEQA review.  For example, in adopting 

amendments to its vacation rental ordinance in 2010, the Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

found: 

 
The adoption of the proposed regulations is exempt from the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15301 (Existing Facilities) of the State CEQA 

Guidelines because allowing vacation rentals meeting the standards adopted herein to be 

located within existing single-family residences will not involve an expansion of use 

beyond that currently existing; and further, is exempt under Section 15061 (b)(3) because 

it can be seen with certainty that adoption of the Ordinance does not result in a physical 

change in the environment. Implementation of the regulations does not increase 

                                                 
4
 CECILY TALBERT BARCLAY, CURTIN’S CALIFORNIA LAND USE AND PLANNING LAW 151 (30th ed. 2010) 

(hereinafter “CURTIN’S”). 
5
 Id. (citing Cal. Pub. Res. Code §§ 21000, 21001). 

6
 Id. at 162. 



 

99 

 

residential density or the intensity of use as the standards adopted herein are consistent 

with otherwise allowable residential use and any activities that may exceed the residential 

character would be subject to further discretionary review.
7
 

 

Similar findings were made by the cities of Seal Beach,
8
 Rolling Hills,

9
 Aliso Viejo,

10
 and Palm 

Desert, California.
11

  Although communities have generally reached the same conclusion, 

namely that their short-term rental regulations are exempt from CEQA, should actively monitor 

and participate in the public hearing processes and should carefully evaluate the CEQA analysis 

and findings associated with a proposed rental regulation.   

 

10.3 Question the Need for Residential Rental Regulations 

Even if a local government has the authority to adopt a residential rental ordinance, Realtors
®
 

should question whether there truly exists a need for the restrictions.  For example, in some 

cases, the perceived need for a short-term rental ordinance may be based solely on anecdotal 

evidence about the alleged problems caused by short-term rental tenants (e.g., overcrowding, 

excessive noise, late-night parties, or increased traffic or parking problems) rather than on 

documented evidence that short-term rental tenants are causing problems.  If nothing more than 

anecdotal evidence is provided in support of a proposed rental ordinance, the ordinance may be 

vulnerable to claims that it was adopted arbitrarily without any rational basis. 

 

Where proposed rental restrictions appear to be supported solely by anecdotal evidence, 

Realtors
®
 should question whether empirical studies using data from police call logs, code 

enforcement activity, and prosecutorial records have actually established the alleged adverse 

impacts to the community, and the degree to which those impacts are attributable to rental 

properties.  Below are some examples of the types of inquiries Realtors
®
 can make of local 

government officials: 

 

▪ What number of complaints logged by the local code enforcement and police 

departments were generated by residential rentals?  Does the data evidence an 

increase in the number of complaints attributable to rentals over the last five 

years?   

 

▪ How do the complaints concerning rentals relate to the number of individuals 

occupying the rental that is the subject of the complaint?  Does the city or town 

have factual support to justify a proposed occupancy limit for residential rental 

                                                 
7
 Sonoma County, CA Ordinance No. 5908, Sec. 1.5 (available online at http://www.sonoma-

county.org/prmd/docs/vacrent/vacation-rentals-final-ordinance.pdf).   
8
 City of Seal Beach, CA – Ordinance Prohibiting Rental of Residential Property on a Short-Term Basis, Sec. 3.A 

(finding the ordinance to be “categorically exempt from review” pursuant to CEQA Sections  15305 and 

15061(b)(3)) (available online at http://www.cacities.org/Resources-Documents/Policy-Advocacy-Section/Hot-

Issues/vacation-rentals/City-Ordinances/Seal-Beach).   
9
 City of Rolling Hills, CA Ordinance No. 342 (Prohibiting short term rental of single-family residences) (available 

online at http://rolling-hills.org/DocumentCenter/View/856).   
10

 City of Aliso Viego, CA (Ordinance confirming existing prohibition of short-term rentals in residential districts) 

(available online at http://civicaweb.santabarbaraca.gov/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?BlobID=157305).  
11

 City of Palm Desert, CA Ordinance No. 1236 (Requiring a conditional use permit for short-term rentals) 

(available online at http://qcode.us/codes/palmdesert/revisions/1236.pdf).   

http://www.sonoma-county.org/prmd/docs/vacrent/vacation-rentals-final-ordinance.pdf
http://www.sonoma-county.org/prmd/docs/vacrent/vacation-rentals-final-ordinance.pdf
http://www.cacities.org/Resources-Documents/Policy-Advocacy-Section/Hot-Issues/vacation-rentals/City-Ordinances/Seal-Beach
http://www.cacities.org/Resources-Documents/Policy-Advocacy-Section/Hot-Issues/vacation-rentals/City-Ordinances/Seal-Beach
http://rolling-hills.org/DocumentCenter/View/856
http://civicaweb.santabarbaraca.gov/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?BlobID=157305
http://qcode.us/codes/palmdesert/revisions/1236.pdf


 

100 

 

housing and to what extent does this limitation exceed the occupancy limits 

applicable to other types of housing? 

 

▪ Does a specific type of complaint (e.g., noise disturbance, litter or trash, parking 

violations, or late night parties) constitute a large percentage of the total number 

of complaints recorded in the last five years?  If so, does a provision of the local 

zoning or general ordinance already regulate the offending behavior?  If it is 

possible to address the majority of the problems by enforcing existing nuisance 

regulations, rather than by imposing new maximum occupancy limits on rentals, it 

may call into question the need for the proposed ordinance. 

 

▪ Does a disproportionate number of complaints arise from a small number of rental 

properties?  If yes, then a more appropriate response might be to adopt narrowly 

tailored regulations.  An example of this approach would be a regulation that 

would apply only after one or more violations are found on a property, rather than 

imposing the cost and disruption of new regulations on all owners of rental 

property. 

 

10.4 Suggest Alternatives to Rental Regulations 

(a) Enforcement of Existing Ordinances 

Communities that wish to address the potential negative impacts of long-term or short-term 

rentals on residential neighborhoods likely already have regulations in place that are aimed at 

curtailing those types of impacts on a community-wide basis.  In many cases the existing 

ordinances already address the types of behaviors and activity that would be the focus of rental 

performance standards or operational restrictions.  Below are some examples. 

(i) Noise Restrictions 

As discussed in Section 3.1(a)(i) of this paper, excessive noise is a problem that permanent 

residents often attribute to residential rentals, particularly short-term rentals and student rentals 

in a college towns.  However, local governments typically already have a noise control ordinance 

in place that addresses excessive noise.  For example, the City of San Luis Obispo, California’s 

Noise Control Ordinance Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 9.12 of the San Luis Obispo 

Municipal Code) expressly states that any noise in violation of Chapter 9.12 is a public nuisance, 

punishable by civil or criminal action.  The term “noise disturbance” is defined to mean: 

 
any sound which (a) endangers or injures the safety or health of human beings or 

animals, or (b) annoys or disturbs reasonable persons of normal sensitivities, or (c) 

endangers or injures personal or real property, or (d) violates the factors set forth in 

Section 9.12.060 of this chapter. Compliance with the quantitative standards as listed 

in this chapter shall constitute elimination of a noise disturbance.
12

 

 

                                                 
12

 City of San Luis Obispo, CA Municipal Code § 9.12.020(U) (available online at 

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/sanluisobispo/).   

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/sanluisobispo/


 

101 

 

Additionally, specific types of noise violations that commonly arise in residential neighborhoods 

are expressly prohibited by Section 9.12.050 of the San Luis Obispo ordinance, including the 

following: 

 

▪ Noise disturbances that are “plainly audible at a distance of fifty feet from the 

noisemaker,” unless the noise does not penetrate beyond the boundaries of the 

noisemaker’s own premise.
13

 

 

▪ Operating, playing or permitting the operation or playing of any radio, television set, 

phonograph, drum, musical instrument, or similar device between the hours of 10:00 

PM and 7:00 AM in such a manner as to create a noise disturbance audible across a 

property line.
14

 

 

▪ Operating, playing or permitting the operation or playing of any radio, television set, 

phonograph, drum, musical instrument, or similar device in a manner that creates a 

noise disturbance at any time in excess of noise levels defined in Section 9.12.060 

(measured by decibel levels and duration of the disturbance).
15

 

 

(ii) Public Nuisance Ordinance 

As discussed in Section 3.6(a) of this paper, local governments generally have the power to 

declare and abate public nuisances.
16

  For example, the Marco Island City Code defines “public 

nuisance” to mean: 

 
the commission or omission of any act, by any person, or the keeping, maintaining, 

propagation, existence or permitting of anything, by any person, by which the life, health, 

safety, or welfare of any person may be threatened or impaired.  Additionally, permitted 

uses and conditional uses in any residentially zoned area which create smoke, dust, noise, 

odor, vibration, or glare which by themselves or in combination may be harmful or 

injurious to human health or welfare or which unreasonably interfere with the customary 

use and enjoyment of life or property are a public nuisance.
17

  

 

In addition, Section 18-36(4) of the City Code provides that: “No owner, lessee, occupant, guest, 

or agent for the owner shall allow the keeping of a public nuisance on any property, developed or 

undeveloped.”  Marco Island’s public nuisance ordinance also requires that the “owners, lessees, 

occupants or agents for the owner of developed and undeveloped lots shall control all excessive 

growth of grasses or weeds within the right-of-way adjacent to their property by cutting or 

removing the grasses and weeds, and shall maintain the right-of-way free from any accumulation 

of abandoned property, litter, pollution, or other matter.”
18

   

 

Legal remedies to abate public nuisances generally include the filing of a criminal complaint, or 

a civil action, or an administrative abatement. 

                                                 
13

 See San Luis Obispo Municipal Code § 9.12.050(A). 
14

 See San Luis Obispo Municipal Code § 9.12.050(B)(1)(a). 
15

 See San Luis Obispo Municipal Code § 9.12.050(B)(1)(b). 
16

 EUGENE MCQUILLIN, 6A THE LAW OF MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS § 24:62 (3d. ed., 2015).   
17

 Marco Island, FL City Code § 18-32. 
18

 Marco Island, FL City Code § 18-36(5) 



 

102 

 

 

This type of public nuisance ordinance can and should be used by communities as a tool for 

addressing many of the complaints commonly associated with short-term rentals, including late-

night parties, excessive noise, and lack of property maintenance.   

 

(iii) Property Maintenance Standards 

As discussed in Section 3.1(a)(ii), another common complaint is that rental properties generally 

are not owner-occupied and therefore are less likely to be cared for to the same degree as 

permanent residences.  As a result, some communities have cited inadequate property 

maintenance as justification for the adoption of a residential rental ordinance.  For example, the 

City of Frisco, Texas cited inadequate property maintenance by absentee owners as justification 

for requiring the owners of single-family rental properties to register with the city.   

Many communities have adopted property maintenance codes that all property owners must 

satisfy.  Communities often adopt (sometimes with amendments) the International Property 

Maintenance Code (IPMC), which contains a comprehensive set of interior and exterior property 

maintenance requirements.
19

  According to the International Code Council (ICC), as of February 

2015, the IPMC has been adopted, with or without limitations, by hundreds of local jurisdictions 

in 38 states and the District of Columbia.
20

     

(iv) Nighttime Curfews 

To the extent that underage drinking and juvenile crime are a significant contributors to 

excessive noise and party disturbances in short-term rental properties in residential 

neighborhoods, a nighttime curfew ordinance that prohibits persons under the age of 18 years 

from being on or about public streets and public places during specified hours of the day could 

be an effective deterrent.  The effectiveness of nighttime curfews is evidenced by a 2005 survey 

published by National League of Cities, in which 96% of communities that have nighttime 

curfew ordnances reported that they help combat juvenile crime.
21

  It bears noting, however, that 

a juvenile curfew ordinance generally would not be applicable to college students and other 

youthful offenders over the age of eighteen.  To the extent that parties hosted and attended by 

college-aged young people are perceived as causing the disturbances that are of greatest concern, 

a curfew ordinance would probably have little, if any, effect. 

(v) Parking Regulations  

Communities often address the problem of improperly parked vehicles and excessive numbers of 

vehicles parked in residential neighborhoods through off-street parking regulations.  These 

regulations may include provisions that prohibit vehicle parking within front yard setback areas 

                                                 
19

 See generally International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 ed. (International Code Council) (available online 

at http://publicecodes.cyberregs.com/icod/ipmc/index.htm).   
20

 See International Codes—Adoption by State (Feb. 2015) (available online at 

http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/stateadoptions.pdf); see also International Codes—Adoption by Jurisdiction 

(Feb. 2015) (available online at http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/jurisdictionadoptions.pdf).   
21

 See “Youth Curfews Continue to Show Promise, National League of Cities (Jan. 13, 2006) (available online at 

http://www.nlc.org/documents/Find%20City%20Solutions/IYEF/Violence%20Prevention/Instapoll-youth-curfews-

2005.pdf).   

http://publicecodes.cyberregs.com/icod/ipmc/index.htm
http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/stateadoptions.pdf
http://www.iccsafe.org/gr/Documents/jurisdictionadoptions.pdf
http://www.nlc.org/documents/Find%20City%20Solutions/IYEF/Violence%20Prevention/Instapoll-youth-curfews-2005.pdf
http://www.nlc.org/documents/Find%20City%20Solutions/IYEF/Violence%20Prevention/Instapoll-youth-curfews-2005.pdf


 

103 

 

in residential zoning districts and that restrict vehicle parking to hard surface driveways or 

designated parking areas.  Regulations may also prohibit parking on grass areas, sidewalks, or 

within a certain distance of side property lines. 

(b) Adoption of Ordinances that Target Community-Wide Issues 

As discussed in Section 10.4(a), many of the problems commonly attributed to residential rental 

properties (e.g., overcrowding, excessive noise, late-night parties, or increased traffic or parking 

problems) can be addressed by enforcement of noise, public nuisance, property maintenance, and 

parking regulations.  Communities that have not yet adopted such regulations, should be 

encouraged to adopt such generally applicable regulations rather than singling out short-term 

rental properties for regulation. 

10.5 Stakeholder Input and Collaborative Problem-Solving 

(a) Input of Stakeholders 

Realtors
®
 should also urge that local government officials seek and consider input from 

individuals and organizations with a stake in the residential rental industry as early in the process 

as possible.  Stakeholder groups should include representatives of local homeowner associations, 

rental property management associations, the local Realtor
®
 associations, the chamber of 

commerce, local tourism bureau, and other organizations involved in the short-term rental 

industry. 

Realtors
®
 should actively monitor and participate in the public hearing process.  Early on, 

Realtors
® 

should request an invitation to participate in any stakeholder groups formed by the 

local government prior to the public hearing process.  Local governments often allow interested 

parties to discuss their concerns with local officials responsible for drafting and advising the 

local legislative body on a proposed ordinance at the beginning of the process.  To the extent 

possible, Realtors
® 

should take advantage of this opportunity to meet with the local planner or 

other staff members who may be drafting a proposed residential rental ordinance.   

 

State and local open public meetings laws generally require local legislative bodies to publish 

notice of scheduled public hearings, typically in the local newspaper, by posted notice at city or 

town hall, and/or on the official website of the city or town.  If a draft of the proposed rental 

ordinance is available prior to the public hearing, Realtors® should request a copy and review it 

thoroughly in advance of the hearing.
22

  Realtors® should be prepared to submit written 

comments and/or to testify at the public hearing about their concerns with the proposal. 

 

(b) Collaborative Problem Solving  

By inviting stakeholder input, communities can create the opportunity to collaborate with rental 

property owners and associations to address the perceived problems with residential rental 

properties without adopting an ordinance or regulation.  A good example of this collaborative 

problem solving approach is the “Collaboration Corvallis” project, a partnership formed in 2011 

between the city of Corvallis, Oregon, community members, and Oregon State University to 

                                                 
22

 The Realtor
®
 association may obtain assistance in this effort through NAR’s Land Use Initiative program. 



 

104 

 

“enhance the livability of both the community and the university … and to manage the impacts 

of growth at the university and in the city.”
23

  The Collaboration Corvallis project includes a 

number of working groups, each with a specific mission.  The Neighborhood Parking & Traffic 

Mitigation working group, for example, was tasked with recommending effective solutions to 

traffic and parking issues generated by the growth of the university, while the Neighborhood 

Livability work group was formed to “work with community members, neighborhood residents 

and stakeholders, including Oregon State faculty, staff and students to address a wide range of 

livability issues,” including the following: 

 

▪ Recommending municipal code amendments and OSU student conduct standards to 

help achieve and maintain livability standards; and  

▪ Evaluating and recommending funding mechanisms to support [and] enhanced code 

enforcement and student conduct programs.
24

   

 

The Collaboration Corvallis project is an ongoing effort that has produced a number of positive 

results, many of which were recognized by the Corvallis Gazette-Times in an editorial entitled  

“As I See It: Collaboration Corvallis producing results,” the text of which is presented below: 

 
As a new school year approaches, residents can expect to see a number of new or 

expanded initiatives as a result of Collaboration Corvallis, the three-year effort designed 

to strengthen the relationship between the city of Corvallis and Oregon State University. 

 

Now entering its second year, Collaboration Corvallis seeks to enhance community 

livability by understanding and actively addressing issues related to growth and 

development, both at OSU and in the city.  As co-chairs of the collaboration’s Steering 

Committee, we see the importance of this work reflected in the commitment of time and 

expertise shown by work group members, city and university staff, and the community at 

large. 

 

Here’s a look at some of the key actions currently underway that originated from each of 

the three work groups. 

 

Neighborhood Livability: 

 

• This fall, Oregon State is implementing a requirement that first-year students live in 

on-campus housing their freshman year. 

 

•  OSU funded an off-campus living guide to communicate community expectations to 

students and other guests. 

 

•  Special Response Notices to address municipal code violations have increased in 

neighborhoods, with higher fees implemented for initial police responses. 

 

•  OSU added two full-time staff members — and this fall will add two half-time 

graduate student staff members — to the Office of Student Conduct to proactively 

address student behavior on and off campus, and work more closely with local 

                                                 
23

 See Collaboration Corvallis (available online at http://blogs.oregonstate.edu/collaboration/about/).   
24

 See Neighborhood Livability at http://blogs.oregonstate.edu/collaboration/livability/.   

http://blogs.oregonstate.edu/collaboration/about/
http://blogs.oregonstate.edu/collaboration/livability/


 

105 

 

residents, students, community organizations and law enforcement. The new 

employees will expand community outreach, education and enforcement programs in 

Corvallis neighborhoods.  Oregon State also has hired an assistant director of 

fraternity & sorority life, whose duties include building strong relationships between 

fraternities and sororities and community stakeholders. 

 

•  The City Council approved revised ordinances that increase fines for alcohol-related 

issues. 

 

•  The council authorized a local option levy that includes hiring of three additional 

police officers with a focus on livability.  Voters will consider this levy in November. 

 

•  To learn from other college towns and share best practices, the city and OSU joined 

the International Town & Gown Association and sent staff to the association’s 2013 

conference. 

 

Neighborhood Planning: 

 

•  The City Council changed the Land Development Code to change parking 

requirements for four- and five-bedroom units. The council will consider additional 

code changes this fall. 

 

•  OSU is building a new residential hall and expanding occupancy in other residence 

halls to accommodate more on-campus housing. 

 

Parking and Traffic: 

 

•  Corvallis Transit System service has been expanded with increased OSU financial 

support. 

 

•  The city and OSU each substantially increased funding to the Linn-Benton Loop. 

 

•  The City Council has agreed to expand residential parking districts in the city. 

 

•  Oregon State will improve its on-campus shuttle service and expand the use of parking 

facilities on the south side of campus by offering incentives and future variable pricing 

plans for campus parking. 

 

•  OSU has increased funding so additional bikes can be added to the bike loan program 

to expand the ways that students and faculty sustainably move around campus and the 

community.
25

 

 

While some of these actions might be infeasible or impractical for other communities, the 

collaborative approach taken by the City of Corvallis and Oregon State University, and the 

results being achieved by the Collaboration Corvallis project, can serve as a model for the 

                                                 
25

 “As I See It: Collaboration Corvallis producing results,” Corvallis Gazette-Times (Sept. 13, 2013) (available 

online at http://www.gazettetimes.com/news/opinion/as-i-see-it/as-i-see-it-collaboration-corvallis-producing-

results/article_f62afa5e-1c3e-11e3-b9e7-001a4bcf887a.html).   

http://www.gazettetimes.com/news/opinion/as-i-see-it/as-i-see-it-collaboration-corvallis-producing-results/article_f62afa5e-1c3e-11e3-b9e7-001a4bcf887a.html
http://www.gazettetimes.com/news/opinion/as-i-see-it/as-i-see-it-collaboration-corvallis-producing-results/article_f62afa5e-1c3e-11e3-b9e7-001a4bcf887a.html


 

106 

 

communities to emulate in formulating a solution to the perceived problems with residential 

rental properties. 

  

10.6 Propose Best Practice Rental Regulations as Alternatives 

This section presents several types of “best practice” provisions that have been implemented in 

jurisdictions that have residential rental restrictions and which Realtors
®
 may find acceptable, 

depending upon local market conditions.  Each section begins with a brief description of the type 

of best practices.  This description is followed by one or more examples of the best practice 

technique as adopted by local jurisdictions. 

 

(a) Adopt Narrowly-Tailored Regulations 

An effective rental ordinance should be narrowly tailored to address the specific needs of the 

local community.  The potential for over-regulation is a legitimate concern, particularly when a 

proposed ordinance is driven by the vocal complaints of one or more permanent residents about 

their negative experiences with nearby renters.  Residents often complain, for example, that 

short-term rentals are inherently incompatible with residential neighborhoods and demand an 

outright prohibition against the use.  In those circumstances, the concern is that elected officials, 

in an effort to please their constituency, may acquiesce to those demands without carefully 

considering: (a) whether there truly exists a need for short-term rental restrictions; and (b) if a 

need exists, what regulatory approach is best-suited to addressing the particular needs of the 

community.   

 

Residential rental restrictions can be tailored to fit the specific needs of the community in several 

important ways.  As a threshold matter, communities should consider the degree to a rental 

regulation is justified.  If a community’s overriding concern is that a significant number of 

residential properties that are being used as short-term rentals are failing to report and pay local 

and state transient occupancy taxes, then an ordinance requiring short-term rental owners to 

register their properties with the local government and penalizing noncompliance may be 

sufficient to address that concern.  To the extent that short-term rentals are a problem only in 

certain residential neighborhoods, a rationally justified ordinance that applies only in those areas 

would be a more appropriate response than one that regulates the use more broadly, even in areas 

where short-term rentals not only are accepted, but also are highly desired. 

 

The rapid growth of Airbnb and similar online rental platforms has raised the concern that an 

increasing number of owners are converting long-term rental properties into short-term rentals, 

resulting in a decline in the available supply of long-term rental housing.  A related concern is 

that “commercial users” of Airbnb are purchasing rental properties for the purpose converting 

them to short-term rentals.  An October 2014 report by the New York State Attorney General 

found that “commercial users” of Airbnb (i.e., hosts that offered three or more rental units) 

represented just six percent of Airbnb hosts in New York City, but generated 36% of the total 

reservations and 37% of the total Airbnb revenue in the city.
26

  To the extent that the loss of 

available long-term rental housing to short-term rentals is a concern, communities can address 

                                                 
26

 Airbnb in the City (Oct. 2014, New York State office of the Attorney General) (available online at 

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf).   

http://www.ag.ny.gov/pdfs/Airbnb%20report.pdf


 

107 

 

the problem by requiring that the owner or “host” reside in the dwelling unit for a minimum 

number of days each calendar year.  In the alternative, communities may choose to draw a line 

between short-term rentals, in which an entire dwelling unit is rented out, and “home sharing,” in 

which a host rents out a spare room but resides on-site throughout the visitor’s stay.    

 

Best Practice Example: Clatsop County, Oregon.  In Clatsop County, the Comprehensive 

Plan/Zoning Map divides the county into about forty zoning district designations, including more 

than a dozen residential districts.
27

  The county’s short term vacation rental ordinance, however, 

applies only to properties within the Arch Cape Rural Community residential district.
28

  

Comment:  The Clatsop County ordinance is a best practice example of narrowly tailoring 

because it applies only to a specific residential district rather than city-wide.  

Best Practice Example: San Francisco, California.  San Francisco’s short-term residential 

rental ordinance requires that a “permanent resident” occupy a short-term rental unit for at least 

275 days per calendar year and that the permanent resident maintain records demonstrating 

compliance with the requirement for a period of two years.
29

  Comment:  The San Francisco 

ordinance is a best practice example of narrowly tailoring because it addresses the problem of 

converting long-term rental properties into short-term rentals by requiring that a “permanent 

resident” occupy a short-term rental unit rather than banning short-term rentals outright. 

Best Practice Example: Santa Monica, California.  In May 2015 the Santa Monica City 

Council adopted a “Home-Sharing Ordinance” that authorizes “home-sharing, which is defined 

as an activity whereby a resident hosts visitors in their home, for periods of 30 consecutive days 

or less, while at least one of the primary residents lives on-site throughout the visitor’s stay.
30

   

Comment:  The Santa Monica ordinance is a best practice example of narrowly tailoring because 

it addresses the problem of converting long-term rental properties into short-term rentals by 

permitting “home-sharing” rather than banning all types of short-term rentals outright. 

(b) “Grandfathering” Provisions 

Short-term rentals that lawfully existed prior to the enactment of a short-term rental ordinance, 

but are not allowed under the newly adopted ordinance—either because the use is prohibited 

outright or because the applicant is unable to satisfy the criteria for obtaining a permit—should 

be allowed to continue (i.e., “grandfathered”) if the property owner is able to demonstrate that 

the short-term rental use pre-dated the ordinance.  Zoning ordinances typically contain a general 

nonconformity provision that establishes the requirements for a use or structure to secure a legal 

nonconforming status.  However, short-term rental ordinances may also contain specific 

                                                 
27

 See Clatsop County, OR Land and Water Development and Use Ordinance, Table 3.010 (available online at 

http://www.co.clatsop.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/land_use_planning/page/612/zoning_0rdinance_80-

14_codified_08-25-14.pdf).   
28

 See Clatsop County, OR Land and Water Development and Use Ord. § 4.109 (Arch Cape Short Term (Vacation) 

Rentals).     
29

 See San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(1) (available online at 

http://www.sfbos.org/ftp/uploadedfiles/bdsupvrs/ordinances14/o0218-14.pdf).   
30

 See City of Santa Monica, CA – Overview of Home-Sharing Ordinance (available online at 

http://www.smgov.net/Departments/PCD/Permits/Short-Term-Rental-Home-Share-Ordinance/#1._Why).   

http://www.co.clatsop.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/land_use_planning/page/612/zoning_0rdinance_80-14_codified_08-25-14.pdf
http://www.co.clatsop.or.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/land_use_planning/page/612/zoning_0rdinance_80-14_codified_08-25-14.pdf
http://www.sfbos.org/ftp/uploadedfiles/bdsupvrs/ordinances14/o0218-14.pdf
http://www.smgov.net/Departments/PCD/Permits/Short-Term-Rental-Home-Share-Ordinance/#1._Why


 

108 

 

grandfathering clauses that allow short-term rentals in existence on the effective date of the 

ordinance to continue even if the property cannot satisfy the applicable requirements.   

  

Best Practice Example: Kauai County, Hawaii.  Under Section 8-3.3 of the Kauai County 

Code, transient vacation rentals are generally prohibited in the R-1, R-2, R-4, and R-6 residential 

zoning districts, except within the designated Visitor Destination Areas established under the 

Code.  However, under Sections 8-17.9 and 8-17.10, single-family transient vacation rentals in 

non-Vacation Destination Areas that were in lawful use prior to the effective date of the 

ordinance are allowed to continue, subject to obtaining a “Nonconforming Use Certificate.”  To 

obtain a Nonconforming Use Certificate, an owner must provide a sworn affidavit and 

demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Planning Director that the “dwelling unit was being used as 

a vacation rental on an ongoing basis prior to March 7, 2008.”
31

 

 

The owner of operator of a transient vacation rental unit bears the burden of proof in establishing 

that the use is properly nonconforming based on records of occupancy and tax documents, 

including relevant State of Hawaii general excise tax and transient accommodations tax filings, 

federal and/or state income tax returns for the relevant time period, reservation lists, and receipts 

showing payment.
32

  Comment:  The Kauai County ordinance is a best practice example of 

grandfathering because it allows single-family vacation rentals that were lawfully established 

prior to the effective date of the ordinance to continue.     

 

Best Practice Example: Monterey County, California.  Monterey County’s short-term rental 

ordinance grandfathers short-term rental units that were in operation before the ordinance was 

adopted.  Section 21.64.280 of the Zoning Ordinance provides: 

 
Transient use of residential property in existence on the effective date of this Section 

shall, upon application, be issued an administrative permit provided that any such units 

devoted to transient use are registered with the Director of Planning and the 

administrative permit application is filed within ninety (90) days of the effective date of 

this Section….  The owner/registrant shall have the burden of demonstrating that the 

transient use was established. Payment of transient occupancy taxes shall be, but is not 

the exclusive method of demonstrating, evidence of the existence of historic transient use 

of residential property.
33

 

Comment:  The Monterey County ordinance is a best practice example of grandfathering 

because it allows single-family vacation rentals that existed prior to the effective date of the 

ordinance to continue. 

 

(c) Quantitative Restrictions 

From a property owner’s perspective, the use of quantitative restrictions (i.e., fixed caps, 

proximity restrictions, and maximum short-term to long-term occupancy ratios) as a means of 

                                                 
31

 Kauai County Code § 8-17.10(c) (available online at http://qcode.us/codes/kauaicounty/).   
32

 Kauai County Code § 8-17.10(e). 
33

 Monterey County, CA Zoning Ordinance § 21.64.280(d)(1)(b) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/ca/monterey_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT21ZO_CH21.64SP

RE_21.64.280ADPETRUSREPRRE).   

http://qcode.us/codes/kauaicounty/
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/monterey_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT21ZO_CH21.64SPRE_21.64.280ADPETRUSREPRRE
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/monterey_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT21ZO_CH21.64SPRE_21.64.280ADPETRUSREPRRE


 

109 

 

mitigating the impacts of short-term rentals can be viewed in two ways.  On one hand, such 

limitations on the number of short-term rentals allowed in a community are preferable to an 

outright prohibition on the use.  On the other hand, for property owners desiring to enter the 

short-term rental market after the effective date of a short-term rental ordinance, a quantitative 

restriction may act as a barrier to entry.  Quantitative restrictions therefore may constitute a 

reasonable compromise position in circumstances where community support is divided on a 

proposed short-term rental ban.   

 

Jurisdictions considering a quantitative restriction should carefully consider which technique is 

best suited to further the needs and goals of the community.  For example, if a community finds 

that the negative impacts of short-term rentals are manifested only when they exist in clusters or 

in close proximity to one another in a residential neighborhood, then a proximity restriction 

would be a more effective technique than a fixed cap or ratio.  On the other hand for a 

community seeking to maintain a balance between its long-term housing needs and visitor-

oriented accommodations, a maximum ratio of long term residential dwelling units to short-term 

rental permits would be more effective than a fixed cap or proximity restriction. 

 

Best Practice Example: Mendocino County, California.  Section 20.748.005 of the  

Mendocino County Code states that the county’s “single unit rentals and vacation rentals” 

ordinance is intended, in part, “to restore and maintain a balance between the long-term housing 

needs of the community and visitor oriented uses.”
34

  To maintain that balance, the ordinance 

requires the county to “maintain, at all times, for new vacation home rentals or single unit rentals 

approved subsequent to the effective date of this section, a ratio of thirteen (13) long term 

residential dwelling units to one (1) single unit rental or vacation home rental.”
35

  While the 

ordinance does not require any reduction in the number of single unit rentals and vacation rentals 

in existence on the effective date of the ordinance, no new applications may be approved unless 

and until thirteen new residential dwelling units have been completed since the single unit rental 

or vacation home rental permit was approved.
36

  Comment:  The Mendocino County ordinance is 

a best practice example of a quantitative restriction because it allows vacation rentals, subject to 

the maximum ration of one vacation rental per thirteen long term residential dwellings, rather 

than prohibiting vacation rentals outright.   

 

Best Practice Example: San Luis Obispo County, California.  The vacation rental ordinance 

adopted by San Luis Obispo County was adopted for the general purpose of ensuring that short-

term rental uses “will be compatible with surrounding residential uses and will not act to harm 

and alter the neighborhoods they are located within.”
37

  More specifically, the county found that 

“residential vacation rentals have the potential to be incompatible with surrounding residential 

uses, especially when several are concentrated in the same area, thereby having the potential for 

a deleterious effect on the adjacent full-time residents.”
38

  Accordingly, rather than prohibiting 

                                                 
34

 Mendocino County, CA Code § 20.748.005 (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/ca/mendocino_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MECOCO_TIT20ZO

OR_DIVIIIMETOZOCO_CH20.748SIUNREVAHORE).   
35

 Mendocino County, CA Code § 20.748.020(A).   
36

 See Mendocino County, CA Code § 20.748.020(B). 
37

 San Luis Obispo County, CA Code § 23.08.165(1) (available online at 

http://www.slocounty.ca.gov/Assets/PL/Ordinances/vacationrentals.pdf).   
38

 Id.   

https://www.municode.com/library/ca/mendocino_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MECOCO_TIT20ZOOR_DIVIIIMETOZOCO_CH20.748SIUNREVAHORE
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/mendocino_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=MECOCO_TIT20ZOOR_DIVIIIMETOZOCO_CH20.748SIUNREVAHORE
http://www.slocounty.ca.gov/Assets/PL/Ordinances/vacationrentals.pdf


 

110 

 

vacation rentals in county neighborhoods, San Luis Obispo County adopted the following 

proximity restriction on the use: 

 
[N]o residential vacation rental shall be located within 200 linear feet of a parcel on the 

same block on which is located any residential vacation rental or other type of visitor-

servicing accommodation that is outside of the Commercial land use category.
39

 

 

Comment:  The San Luis Obispo County ordinance is a best practice example of a quantitative 

restriction because it addresses the problem of overconcentration of vacation rentals by 

implementing a proximity restriction rather than prohibiting vacation rentals outright. 

 

(d) Operational Restrictions 

Although short-term rental restrictions commonly include some operational restrictions, the 

restrictions often unnecessarily duplicate generally applicable regulations already adopted by the 

local jurisdiction.  Several of these types of regulations are discussed in Section 10.3 above.  In 

general, the types of negative impacts most commonly cited by communities with short-term 

rental restrictions—late-night music and partying, garbage left out on the street on non-pickup 

days, illegal parking, and negligent property maintenance—are community-wide concerns that 

are best regulated with a generally applicable ordinance rather than one that singles out short-

term rentals for disparate treatment.  It stands to reason that the impacts that these types of 

activities have on residential neighborhoods are the same regardless of whether they are 

produced by long-term residents or short-term renters.  Therefore, the best practice technique for 

addressing those concerns is to adopt a general ordinance that governs the activity or behavior in 

all areas of the community. 

(e) Licensing/Registration Requirements 

Virtually all short-term rental ordinances require owners who intend to offer their property for 

use as a short-term rental to obtain a license or permit prior to commencing the use.  In general, 

licensing and registration requirements enable local governments to create and maintain a 

database of dwelling units being operated as short-term rentals for code enforcement and 

transient occupancy tax collection in jurisdictions authorized to collect such taxes.  The 

procedures and criteria for obtaining a short-term rental license or permit should be clearly set 

out in the local ordinance.  Short-term rental licensing and registration applications should be 

processed administratively and without need for a public hearing.  Such licensing/registration 

requirements should not require a conditional use permit or a similar-type zoning permit. 

 

For communities seeking to enhance the collection of transient occupancy taxes, a short-term 

rental ordinance should place the burden of collecting and remitting such taxes on the hosting 

platform (e.g., Airbnb) rather than on individual hosts. 

 

Best Practice Example: City of Palm Springs, California.  In the City of Palm Springs, 

residential property owners are required to register the property as a vacation rental prior to 

commencing the use.  Section 5.25.060 of the Palm Springs Municipal Code requires owners to 

                                                 
39

 San Luis Obispo County, CA Code § 23.08.165(c). 



 

111 

 

submit a registration form that is furnished by the city and that requires certain information to be 

provided, including, for example: (1) the name, address, and telephone number of the owner and 

his agent, if any; (2) the address of the vacation rental unit; (3) the number of bedrooms in the 

rental unit; and (4) evidence of a valid business license issued for the business of operating 

vacation rentals, or submission of a certificate that owner is exempt or otherwise not covered by 

the city’s Business Tax Ordinance for such activity.
40

  Vacation rental registration also requires 

the owner to pay a fee in an amount to be established by the city council, subject to the limitation 

that the registration fee “shall be no greater than necessary to defer the cost incurred by the city 

in administering the [vacation rental registration].”
41

  Comment:  The Palm Springs ordinance is 

a best practice example of a registration requirement because it is not overly burdensome and 

limits the registration fee amount to the costs incurred by the city in administering the 

registration. 

 

Best Practice Example: San Francisco, California.  In San Francisco, online hosting platforms 

are responsible for “collecting and remitting all required Transient Occupancy Taxes.”
42

  

Comment:  The San Francisco ordinance is a best practice example because it makes online 

hosing platforms, rather than hosts, responsible for collecting and remitting the required 

Transient Occupancy Tax. 

 

Best Practice Example: City of Encinitas, California.  In the City of Encinitas, short-term 

rental permits likewise require submittal of an application form and payment of a fee no greater 

than necessary to defer the cost incurred by the city in administering the short-term rental permit 

program.  Short-term rental permits will be granted “unless the applicant does not meet the 

conditions and requirements of the permit, or fails to demonstrate the ability to comply with the 

Encinitas Municipal Code or other applicable law.”
43

  Comment:  The Encinitas ordinance is a 

best practice example of a registration requirement because it limits the registration fee amount 

to the costs incurred by the city in administering the registration. 

(f) Inspection Requirements 

As noted in Section 3.3(f), many communities require rental properties to pass certain 

inspections prior to the issuance or renewal of a rental permit.  However, mandatory  inspection 

requirements arguably do not advance a community’s interests in protecting and maintaining 

residential character or preventing the adverse effects of transient occupancy on residential 

neighborhoods.  Therefore, if a rental ordinance is specifically adopted for reasons related to 

protection of residential character, then a mandatory inspection requirement is unnecessary and 

should not be imposed upon rental property owners.   

 

Best Practice Examples: Douglas County, Nevada and Sonoma County, California.   The 

short-term rental ordinances adopted by these communities were generally adopted for reasons 

related to the impacts of short-term rental uses on residential neighborhoods.  However, none of 

                                                 
40

 City of Palm Springs, CA Municipal Code § 5.25.060 (available online at 

http://www.qcode.us/codes/palmsprings/).   
41

 City of Palm Springs, CA Municipal Code § 5.25.060(b). 
42

 See San Francisco Code § 41A.5(g)(4)(B). 
43

 See City of Encinitas, CA Municipal Code § 9.38.040(A)(3) (available online at 

http://www.qcode.us/codes/encinitas/).  

http://www.qcode.us/codes/palmsprings/
http://www.qcode.us/codes/encinitas/


 

112 

 

these ordinances include a mandatory inspection requirement, either at the time of initial permit 

issuance or thereafter.
44

  Comment:  The Douglas County and Sonoma County ordinances are 

best practice examples because they do not contain a mandatory inspection requirement. 

 

Mandatory inspection requirements may be justified in cases where a short-term rental ordinance 

is adopted for the purpose (at least in part) of ensuring the safety of short-term rental tenants.  

For example, one of the stated purposes of the transient private home rental ordinance adopted 

by the City of Big Bear Lake, California is “to ensure … that minimum health and safety 

standards are maintained in such units to protect the visitor from unsafe or unsanitary 

conditions.”
45

  It stands to reason that a provision requiring inspection of transient private rental 

homes in Big Bear Lake to determine compliance with such minimum health and safety 

standards would further that purpose.   

 

However, even if a mandatory inspection requirement can be justified, the scope of the 

inspection program should be limited to the initial permit issuance and thereafter only on a 

reasonable periodic basis.  Provisions requiring short-term rental units to be inspected annually 

(typically as a condition precedent to the issuance of a permit renewal), such as Section 

17.03.310(D)(2) of the Big Bear Lake ordinance, are unnecessarily burdensome on owners and 

the local government alike.   

 

Best Practice Example: City of Cannon Beach, Oregon.  Under Section 17.77.040 of the 

Cannon Beach Zoning Code, at the time of application for a new transient rental permit (or new 

vacation home rental permit) the dwelling is subject to inspection by a local building official to 

determine conformance with the requirements of the Uniform Housing Code.  Thereafter, twenty 

percent of the dwellings that have a transient rental or vacation home rental permit are inspected 

each year, so that over a five-year period, all such dwellings have been re-inspected.
46

   

Comment: The Cannon Beach ordinance is a best practice example because it establishes a more 

reasonable periodic inspection requirement than the annual requirement that communities often 

impose on short-term rentals.   

 

Best Practice Example: Tillamook County, Oregon.  The Tillamook County Short Term 

Rental Ordinance requires that all short-term rentals be inspected in connection with the initial 

permit application, but thereafter requires an inspection only if (1) there has been a fire, flood or 

other event that caused substantial damage to the structure; (2) the permit was revoked; (3) there 

                                                 
44

 See generally Douglas County, CA County Code § 5.40 (Vacation Rentals in the Tahoe Township) (available 

online at http://dcnvda.org/userpages/CountyCodes.aspx); Sonoma County, CA County Code § 26-88-120 (available 

online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchT

ext%22:%22inspection%22,%22pageNum%22:7,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stem

ming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22

productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=16331).   
45

 City of Bear Lake, CA Municipal Code § 17.03.310(A) (available online at 

https://www.municode.com/library/ca/big_bear_lake/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchTex

t%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming

%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22produ

ctIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=MUNICIPAL_CODE_TIT17LAUS_CH17.03GEPR_17.03.310TRPRHORE).   
46

 See City of Cannon Beach, OR Zoning Code § 17.77.040(A)(2)(a) (available online at 

http://www.qcode.us/codes/cannonbeach/).   

http://dcnvda.org/userpages/CountyCodes.aspx
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22inspection%22,%22pageNum%22:7,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=16331
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22inspection%22,%22pageNum%22:7,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=16331
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22inspection%22,%22pageNum%22:7,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=16331
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/sonoma_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22inspection%22,%22pageNum%22:7,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=16331
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/big_bear_lake/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=MUNICIPAL_CODE_TIT17LAUS_CH17.03GEPR_17.03.310TRPRHORE
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/big_bear_lake/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=MUNICIPAL_CODE_TIT17LAUS_CH17.03GEPR_17.03.310TRPRHORE
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/big_bear_lake/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=MUNICIPAL_CODE_TIT17LAUS_CH17.03GEPR_17.03.310TRPRHORE
https://www.municode.com/library/ca/big_bear_lake/codes/code_of_ordinances?searchRequest=%7B%22searchText%22:%22rental%22,%22pageNum%22:1,%22resultsPerPage%22:25,%22booleanSearch%22:false,%22stemming%22:true,%22fuzzy%22:false,%22synonym%22:false,%22contentTypes%22:%5B%22CODES%22%5D,%22productIds%22:%5B%5D%7D&nodeId=MUNICIPAL_CODE_TIT17LAUS_CH17.03GEPR_17.03.310TRPRHORE
http://www.qcode.us/codes/cannonbeach/


 

113 

 

has been an addition or substantial modification to the structure; or (4) the permit has lapsed for 

more than 180 days.
47

  Comment:  The Tillamook County ordinance is a best practice example 

because it requires that a short-term rental be inspected after the permit is issued only under 

specific limited circumstances. 

 

(g) Enforcement Provisions  

When short-term rental restrictions are adopted pursuant to a local government’s zoning 

authority and incorporated into the jurisdiction’s zoning code, it is reasonable to expect the 

ordinance to be enforced in accordance with the generally applicable enforcement provisions of 

the zoning code, if one exists.  Similarly, it is reasonable to expect that short-term rental 

registration and licensing provisions that are incorporated into a community’s general (non-

zoning) code to be enforced pursuant to the generally applicable code enforcement provision.  

The short term rental regulations adopted in Clatsop County, Oregon and Monterey County, 

California, for example, are enforced in accordance with generally applicable enforcement and 

penalty provisions.
48

   

 

It is not uncommon, however, for communities to enact special enforcement and penalty 

provisions in their short-term rental ordinances.  Many short-term rental ordinances contain 

enforcement and penalty provisions that penalize violations more severely than other types of 

code violations.  In Palm Springs, California, for example, a first violation of the Vacation 

Rental Ordinance is subject to a $250 fine and subsequent violations are subject to a fine of 

$500.
49

  By contrast, under Section 1.06.040 of the Palm Springs Municipal Code, the general 

penalties for code violations are $100 for the first administrative citation and $250 for the 

second.  The Vacation Rental Ordinance does not explain why violations of that ordinance are 

penalized more severely than other types of code violations. 

 

Enforcement provisions should not penalize short-term rental property owners (or their agents) 

for violations beyond their control.  For example, if a short-term rental tenant violates a noise 

level restriction, the property owner should not be held responsible for the violation. 

 

Best Practice Example:  Douglas County, Nevada.  Chapter 5.40 of the Douglas County Code 

regulates vacation home rentals in the Tahoe Township.  Although the vacation home rental 

ordinance imposes certain operational restrictions on permitted rental units (e.g., parking and 

occupancy limitations and trash/refuse container rules), Section 5.40.110 states that a permit may 

be suspended or revoked only for a violation committed by the owner. 

 
5.40.110 Violation and administrative penalties. 

 

A. The following conduct is a violation for which the permit [sic] suspended or 

revoked: 

                                                 
47

 See Tillamook County, OR Short Term Rental Ordinance § 7(d), (e) (available online at 

http://www.co.tillamook.or.us/gov/comdev/documents/STVR/Amendment%201-Ordinance%2069%20Filed.pdf).   
48

 See generally Clatsop County Land and Water Development and Use Ordinance § 4.115; see also Monterey 

County, CA Code of Ordinances § 21.64.280.D.3.   
49

 See City of Palm Springs, CA Municipal Code § 5.25.090(a).   

http://www.co.tillamook.or.us/gov/comdev/documents/STVR/Amendment%201-Ordinance%2069%20Filed.pdf


 

114 

 

1. The owner has failed to comply with the standard conditions specified in 

section 5.40.090(A) of this code; or 

2. The owner has failed to comply with additional conditions imposed pursuant to 

the provisions of section 5.40.090(B) and (C) of this code; or 

3. The owner has violated the provisions of this chapter; or 

4. The owner has failed to collect or remit to the county the transient occupancy 

and lodging taxes as required by Title 3 of this code; or 

5. Any false or misleading information supplied in the application process; or 

6. The permit number was not included in all forms of advertisement; or  

7. The occupancy was not included in all forms of advertisement, or the 

occupancy was not advertised correctly. 
 

Comment:  The Douglas County ordinance is a best practice example because it limits the 

suspension and revocation remedies to violations that are committed by the owner.  A vacation 

rental permit cannot be suspended or revoked due to a violation committed by a vacation rental 

tenant. 

 

Prior to the imposition of fines or other penalties, a short-term rental ordinance should conform 

to the due process requirements established under state law and/or the local jurisdictions charter 

or code of ordinances.  At a minimum, before fines or other penalties are imposed, property 

owners should be given notice of, and an opportunity to cure, any alleged violation, except where 

exigent public safety concerns exist.  As demonstrated in the best practice examples below, 

property owners should be given the opportunity to request a public hearing and have the right to 

appeal a local government’s decision to suspend or revoke a short-term rental permit. 

 

Best Practice Example: City of Encinitas, California.  Under Section 9.38.060 of the City of 

Encinitas short-term rental ordinance, penalties may be imposed and permits may be suspended 

only in accordance with the following provisions: 

 
A. The City Manager shall cause an investigation to be conducted whenever there is 

reason to believe that a property owner has failed to comply with the provisions of 

this chapter. Should the investigation reveal substantial evidence to support a 

finding that a violation occurred, the investigator shall issue written notice of the 

violation and intention to impose a penalty, or penalty and suspend the permit. The 

written notice shall be served on the property owner and operator or agent and shall 

specify the facts which in the opinion of the investigator, constitute substantial 

evidence to establish grounds for imposition of the penalties, or penalties and 

suspension, and specify that the penalties will be imposed and/or that the permit 

will be suspended and penalties imposed within 15 days from the date the notice is 

given unless the owner and/or operator files with the City Clerk the fine amount and 

a request for a hearing before the City Manager.  

 

B. If the owner requests a hearing within the time specified in subsection A of this 

section, the City Clerk shall serve written notice on the owner and operator, by mail, 

of the date, time and place for the hearing which shall be scheduled not less than 15 

days, nor more than 45 days of receipt of request for a hearing. The City Manager 

or his/her designee shall preside over the hearing. The City Manager or his/her 

designee shall impose the penalties, or penalties and suspend the permit only upon a 

finding that a violation has been proven by a preponderance of the evidence, and 



 

115 

 

that the penalty, or penalty and suspension are consistent with this chapter. The 

hearing shall be conducted according to the rules normally applicable to 

administrative hearings. A decision shall be rendered within 30 days of the hearing 

and the decision shall be appealable to the City Council if filed with the City Clerk 

no later than 15 days thereafter, pursuant to Chapter 1.12.
50

    
 

Comment:  The Encinitas ordinance is a best practice example of an enforcement provision 

because it establishes a process for the investigation of complaints and the imposition of 

penalties for violation of the short-term rental ordinance. 

 

Best Practice Example: City of Cannon Beach, Oregon.  Section 17.77.050(B) of the Cannon 

Beach Zoning Code provides another example of the notice and public hearing process afforded 

to short-term rental property owners prior to the imposition of fines or the revocation of a permit. 

 
5. The city shall provide the permit holder with a written notice of any violation of 

subsection (A)(4) of this section that has occurred. If applicable, a copy of the 

warning notice shall be sent to the local representative. 

 

6.   Pursuant to subsections (B)(4)(b) through (d) of this section, the city shall provide 

the permit holder with a written notice of the permit suspension and the reason for 

that suspension. The permit holder may appeal the suspension to the city council by 

filing a letter of appeal with the city manager within twenty days after the date of 

the mailing of the city manager’s order to suspend the permit. The city manager’s 

suspension shall be stayed until the appeal has been determined by the city council. 

The city council shall conduct a hearing on the appeal within sixty days of the date 

of the filing of the letter of appeal. At the appeal, the permit holder may present 

such evidence as may be relevant. At the conclusion of the hearing, based on the 

evidence it has received, the council may uphold, modify, or overturn the decision 

of the city manager to suspend the permit based on the evidence it received. 

 

7. Pursuant to subsection (B)(4)(e) of this section, the city shall provide the permit 

holder with a written notice that it intends to revoke the permit and the reasons for 

the revocation. The city council shall hold a hearing on the proposed revocation of 

the permit. At the hearing, the permit holder may present such evidence as may be 

relevant. At the conclusion of the hearing, based on the evidence it has received, the 

council may determine not to revoke the permit, attach conditions to the permit, or 

revoke the permit. 

 

8.   A person who has had a transient rental occupancy permit or a vacation home rental 

permit revoked shall not be permitted to apply for either type of permit at a later 

date.
51

 

 

Comment:  The Cannon Beach ordinance is a best practice example of an enforcement provision 

because it establishes a process, including written notice to the property owner and a public 

hearing,  before a permit may be suspended or revoked. 

  

                                                 
50

 City of Encinitas, CA Municipal Code § 9.38.060. 
51

 City of Cannon Beach, OR Zoning Code § 17.77.050(B) 



 

116 

 

10.7 Pursue Proactive Strategy: State Legislation to Require More Uniform, Fairer, 

and Market-Sensitive Regulations 

Rather than taking a reactionary approach to proposed rental regulations, Realtors
®
 should 

consider the proactive strategy of pursuing state legislation governing local rental regulations.  

As discussed in Section 8.1(c), the legislative approach has been used with some success in 

Florida, where in 2011 the state legislature enacted a law that specifically limited the authority of 

local governments to regulate or prohibit short-term rentals.  Section 509.032(7) of the Florida 

Lodging Statute (entitled “Preemption Authority”) stated, in relevant part: 

 
A local law, ordinance, or regulation may not restrict the use of vacation rentals, 

prohibit vacation rentals, or regulate vacation rentals based solely on their 

classification, use, or occupancy.  This paragraph does not apply to any local law, 

ordinance, or regulation adopted on or before June 1, 2011.
52

 

 

However, in 2014 the Florida State Legislature amended Section 509.032(7) in a manner that 

expanded the authority of local governments to regulate vacation rentals.
53

  Where the 2011 

statute prohibited Florida municipalities from regulating vacation rentals “based solely on their 

classification, use, or occupancy, the 2014 amendment now only prohibits municipalities from 

regulating the “duration or frequency of vacation rentals.”
54

   

 

Although the 2014 amendment did expand the scope of local authority to regulate vacation 

rentals in Florida, it arguably represented a victory for property rights and vacation rental 

advocates.  That is because the original version of the bill (Senate Bill 356)—which was 

supported by the Florida League of Cities—would have repealed the 2011 legislation, giving 

local governments far greater latitude in regulation vacation rentals, including the authority to 

ban short-term rentals altogether.
55

  Proposed amendments to Senate Bill 356 that would have 

authorized local governments to impose minimum stay requirements on vacation rentals were 

also rejected by the legislature.
56

       

 

10.8 Bring Legal Challenges to Rental Regulations 

As discussed in Section 8, rental regulations may be vulnerable to challenge on several grounds, 

including the authority of the local government to adopt the regulations and whether proper 

procedures were followed by the governing body.  Other potential grounds for legal challenge 

include constitutional due process, equal protection, takings, and unreasonable search and seizure 

claims.  Rental regulations may also be susceptible to challenge on statutory grounds, including 

the Fair Housing Amendments Act and state property rights statutes, such as Arizona’s Private 

                                                 
52

 Fla. Stat. § 509.032(7)(b) (2011).  
53

 See Ch. 2014-71, Laws of Florida. 
54

 See Fla. Stat. § 509.032(7)(b), which states, in relevant part: “A local law, ordinance, or regulation may not 

prohibit vacation rentals or regulate the duration or frequency of rental of vacation rentals.” 
55

 See Florida Senate Bill 356 (2014) – “Filed” version (available online at 

http://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2014/0356/?Tab=BillText). 
56

 See Florida Senate Bill 356 (2014) – “First Engrossed” and “Second Engrossed” versions (available online at 

http://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2014/0356/?Tab=BillText).   

http://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2014/0356/?Tab=BillText
http://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2014/0356/?Tab=BillText


 

117 

 

Property Rights Protection Act and Florida’s Bert J. Harris, Jr. Private Property Rights Protection 

Act. 

 

For Realtors
®
 who are unsuccessful in their opposition to a proposed rental regulation, legal 

action can be an effective strategy for fighting the regulation after it has been adopted.  A 

successful challenge could result in all or a portion of an ordinance being invalidated.  A 

potential positive outcome could also be achieved through settlement.  A local government that 

lacks the necessary resources or is simply loath to engage in a lengthy court may be motivated by 

the filing of a law suit to reconsider a challenged ordinance or possible amendments that could 

result in the case being settled without a trial.              

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

A-1 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

 

LIST OF JURISDICTIONS CITED IN WHITE PAPER 

 
City of Aliso Viejo, CA:  10.2(b) 

City of Anaheim, CA:  3.2(b), 7.2 

City of Arcadia, CA: 3.4(b) 

City of Austin, TX:  3.1(b) 

City of Bear Lake, CA:  3.1(d) 

City of Bend, OR:  4.4 

City of Big Bear Lake, CA:  10.6(e) 

City of Boulder, CO:  2.4(b), 5.1, 6.6(b), 6.7 

City of Boston, MA: 3.4(a) 

City of Cannon Beach, OR:  3.3(b), 8.6(d), 10.6(e), 10.6(f) 

City of Carmel-by-the-Sea, CA:  8.6(b), 8.6(b) 

City of Cedar Falls, IA:  3.2(b), 3.3(j) 

City of Charlotte, NC:  3.3(i) 

City of Chicago, IL:  1.2, 3.3(o) 

City of Clinton, MS:  3.1(a)(ii) 

City of Elgin, IL:  3.3(f) 

City of Encinitas, CA:  10.6(d), 10.6(f) 

City of Evanston, IL:  8.3(b), 8.4(a) 

City of Fairlawn, OH:  7.3 

City of Frisco, TX:  3.1(a)(ii) 

City of Galveston, TX:  3.3(k) 

City of Gary, IN:  3.1(d), 3.1(e), 9.1 

City of Hagerstown, NC:  3.3(n) 

City of Islamorada, FL:  1.2 

City of Isle of Palms, SC:  3.3(g), 3.6 

City of Key West, FL:  1.2 

City of La Crosse, WI:  3.2(b) 

City of Lancaster, CA:  6.7 

City of Las Vegas, NV:  3.3(l) 

City of Lincoln City, OR:  3.3(o) 

City of Los Angeles, CA:  3.1(a)(i), 6.1, 6.6(a), 9.5 

City of Manhattan Beach, CA:  3.3(a) 

City of Marathon, FL:  4.3 

City of Marco Island, FL:  3.3(f), 3.3(g), 3.3(i), 3.6(a), 3.6(c)(ii), 5.3, 7.4 

City of Mesa, AZ:  3.3(n) 

City of Miami Beach, FL:  3.3(a), 8.4(b) 

City of Milwaukee, WI:  6.7 

City of Minneapolis, MN:  3.1(f), 3.6(c)(i), 4.1, 4.3, 9.1, 9.3 

City of Myrtle Beach, SC:  6.3 

City of Nashville, TN:  3.3(o) 

City of New York, NY:  2.4(b) 



 

A-2 

 

City of New Braunfels, TX:  3.1(f), 3.3(g), 9.3 

City of New Orleans, LA:  6.2 

City of Newport Beach, CA:  3.3(b), 3.3(l), 6.5, 9.4 

City of Norfolk, AR:  8.6(c) 

City of Ocean City, MD: 7.5 

City of Palm Desert, CA:  10.2(b) 

City of Palm Springs, CA:  3.3(g), 10.6(d), 10.6(f) 

City of Portland, OR:  2.3, 3.3(o), 3.4(a), 7.1, 9.4 

City of Prior Lake, MN:  4.3 

City of Provo, UT:  3.3(l) 

City of Raleigh, NC:  3.6(a) 

City of Rolling Hills, CA:  10.2(b) 

City of Saint Paul, MN:  3.1(a)(i), 3.1(a)(ii) 

City of San Clemente, CA:  6.5, 9.4 

City of San Francisco, CA:  3.1(a)(i), 3.3(o), 4.3, 6.1, 9.4, 10.6(a), 10.6(d) 

City of San Jose, CA:  3.3(o) 

City of San Luis Obispo, CA:  10.4(a)(i) 

City of Santa Fe, NM:  3.3(d)(1), 3.3(g), 3.6, 4.1 

City of Santa Monica, CA: 3.3(a), 6.7, 7.1, 10.6(a) 

City of Seal Beach, CA:  10.2(b) 

City of Seattle, OR: 4.3 

City of Sedona, AZ:  8.6(f) 

City of South Lake Tahoe, CA:  3.3(c) 

City of Steubenville, OH:  3.3(k) 

City of Telluride, CO:  3.3(l) 

City of Venice, FL:  3.1(a)(i), 3.3(c), 8.4(b) 

City of Waconia, MN:  3.1(a)(ii) 

City of Washington, D.C.:  3.3(o) 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts:  3.1(b), 3.3(m), 6.5 

County of Buncombe County, NC:  3.1(c) 

County of Calaveras County, CA: 3.3(b) 

County of Clatsop County, OR:  10.6(a), 10.6(f)  

County of Coconino County, AZ:  3.3(g), 3.3(j), 4.5 

County of Douglas County, NV:  10.6(e), 10.6(f) 

County of Garrett County, MD:  3.3(f) 

County of Kauai County, HI:  1.2, 10.6(b) 

County of Maui County, HI:  1.2, 3.3(d)(1), 3.6(c)(ii), 6.2, 6.4 

County of Mendocino County, CA:  3.3(d)(2), 10.6(c) 

County of Monterey County, CA:  10.6(b), 10.6(f) 

County of Napa County, CA:  6.2 

County of Pima County, AZ:  3.1(b) 

County of San Luis Obispo County, CA:  3.3(e), 10.6(c) 

County of Sonoma County, CA:  1.2, 3.3(g), 3.3(h), 3.6, 3.6(c)(i), 4.1, 9.1, 10.2(b), 10.6(e) 

County of Tillamook County, OR:  3.3(f), 10.6(e) 

Island of Martha’s Vineyard, MA:  6.5, 6.6(a) 

Region of Coachella Valley, CA:  6.3 



 

A-3 

 

State of Arizona:  8.5(c)(iii), 8.6(f), 10.2(a) 

State of California:  3.3(o), 10.2(b) 

State of Florida:  3.5, 6.2, 6.4, 8.5(c)(i), 8.5(c)(iii) 

State of Illinois:  3.6(c)(ii) 

State of Michigan:  8.4(b) 

State of New York:  3.1(b), 5.2, 6.1, 6.5 

State of Rhode Island:  3.1(b), 10.2(a) 

State of Texas:  3.1(b), 3.3(m) 

State of Washington:  3.5 

Town of Breckenridge, CO: 6.6(a) 

Town of Jamestown, NC:  2.4(c) 

Town of Kure Beach, NC:  3.1(e), 5.4, 9.1 

Village of Bal Harbour, FL:  8.4(a) 

Village of Tiki Island, TX:  8.6(d) 

 



 

B-1 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

INDEX OF KEY TERMS 

 

(Section Number Indicates Where Term is Defined) 
 

Affordable Housing: 2.3 

Amortization:  3.3(b) 

Bed and Breakfast:  2.2(e) 

Bill of Rights:  8.5(b) 

Casual Host:  6.1 

Commercial Host:  6.1 

Due Process:  8.4(c)(i) 

Dwelling Unit:  1.2 

Equal Protection:  8.5(b)(ii) 

Fair Housing Act:  8.5(c)(ii) 

Home Sharing:  9.5 

Moratorium:  3.2(a) 

Neighborhood Character:  3.1(a) 

Neighborhood Conservation District:  3.3(k) 

Nonconforming:  4.4 

Nuisance:  3.6(a) 

Online Hosting Platform:  9.4 

Police Power:  8.3(a) 

Public Nuisance:  3.6(a) 

Rational Basis Test:  8.5(b)(ii) 

Sharing Economy:  2.4(a) 

Short-Term Rental Housing:  1.2 

Supremacy Clause:  8.5(b) 

Taking:  8.5(b)(iii) 

 

 


	2016_1101PlanningAgenda
	2016_1004PlanningMinutes
	2016_1018StudyPlanningMinutes
	Planning Commission Bylaws revised 09282016
	D District Amendment Public Hearing
	D add manufacturing uses 1347.01___Uses_allowed
	218 Vine Street SLUP and Site Plan Review Public Hearing
	IC SLUP application
	IC SPR application
	Item 1- Memo to planning commission for SLUP Submittal rev1
	Item 2- Special Land Use General Standards for Approval
	Item 3- Project Plans (2)
	1
	10
	3
	2
	9
	11
	4
	5
	6
	7
	8

	Item 4- Traffic Study 10-18-16
	Introduction
	Data Collection
	Existing Conditions
	Trip Generation
	Traffic Assignment
	Future Conditions
	On-Site Facilities
	Pick-Up / Drop-Off Area
	Pedestrian Activity

	Conclusions
	Recommendations

	Staff Report School in a R-1b District
	1) The use shall be designed, constructed, operated and maintained so as to be harmonious and compatible in appearance with the intended character of the vicinity.
	Analysis:
	Finding – Met.
	2) The use shall not be hazardous nor disturbing to existing or planned uses in the vicinity.
	Analysis
	Finding – Met.
	3) The use shall be served adequately by existing or proposed public infrastructure and services, including but not limited to, street and highways, police and fire protection, refuse disposal; water, waste water and stormwater facilities; electrical ...
	Analysis:
	4) The use shall not create excessive additional requirements for infrastructure, facilities and services provided at public expense.
	Analysis
	The proposed school requires the vacation of a portion of Vine Street and a vacation and rededication of a portion of Second Street.  These vacations and rededication were approved by the Planning Commission and subsequently approved by the City Commi...
	New curb and gutter is proposed along the east side of Cedar Street from Third Street north to the new Second Street with on-street parking for 12 vehicles.  A new public sidewalk is proposed on the east side of Cedar Street from Third Street to Secon...
	The new school will require similar water and sewer requirements to that of the existing school.  The project Architect has confirmed that low flow plumbing fixtures will be used in the new school. An existing 6-inch water main located on the west sid...
	The proposed redevelopment will utilize an infiltration system located under the proposed parking lot.  Implementing this system will almost completely remove reliance on the City’s storm sewer system.
	The new school will require similar electrical needs to that of the existing school. The school is larger, however, new lighting and mechanical equipment requires less energy consumption.
	Finding - Met
	5) The use shall not involve any activities, processes, materials, equipment or conditions of operation that will be detrimental to any person or property or to the general welfare by reason of excessive production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, gla...
	Analysis
	6) Where possible, the use shall preserve, renovate and restore historic buildings or landmarks affected by the development.  If the historic structure must be moved from the site, the relocation shall be subject to the standards of this section.
	Analysis
	Finding - Met
	7) Elements shall relate to the design characteristics of an individual structure or development to existing or planned developments in a harmonious manner, resulting in a coherent overall development pattern and streetscape.
	Analysis
	8) The use shall be consistent with the intent and purposes of the zoning district in which it is proposed.
	b. A Master Site and Facilities Plan is submitted to and approved by the Planning               Commission showing:
	1. Existing Facilities and Planned facilities for the ensuing 5 years.
	2. Adequate street crossing facilities, pedestrian routes and projected number of pedestrians.
	3. Sufficient areas for motor vehicle and bus circulation routes, together with areas for pick-up and drop-off of students
	4. If child care is provided, the facilities for such use shall be designated in the plan, together with child care hours of operation.
	5. The building and parking areas shall not exceed 70 percent of the lot area.
	Analysis
	Finding - Met
	c. A traffic study must be submitted to the Planning Commission.
	The applicant has prepared a Traffic Impact and Site Circulation Study for the proposed school.
	Finding - Met


	SitePlanChecklist_IC School
	Conditional Rezoning Request Garland Street 3
	PDF Executed Application for Conditional Rezoning
	Cond. Rezoning Final Sub.093016
	DargaWorks Conceptual Plans 09-29-2016-WF
	1.0_DargaWorks
	2.0_DargaWorks
	3.0_DargaWorks
	4.0_DargaWorks
	5.0_DargaWorks
	6.0_DargaWorks
	7.0_DargaWorks
	8.0_DargaWorks
	9.0_DargaWorks
	10.0_DargaWorks

	833 fern memo
	TC Planning
	833 fern maps
	Tourist Home Amendment Set Public Hearing
	Tourist Home Amendment 1332.01___Uses_allowed
	Chapter_868___Tourist_Homes
	tourist home map
	tourist home more circles
	Could You Bnb My Neighbor_
	What I Think Every Time I See an Airbnb Renter in My Neighborhood – Next City
	Regulating Short-Term Rentals a Guidebook for Equitable Policy - SELC
	residential-rentals-white-paper-2015-10-14

